
 

City Hall Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California 

(760) 398-3502      www.coachella.org 

AGENDA 

 

CITY COUNCIL CLOSED SESSION AND 

REGULAR MEETING 

 

 

 OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

 

THE COUNCIL SITTING AS THE COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, COACHELLA FINANCING AUTHORITY, 

COACHELLA EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS CABLE CHANNEL CORPORATION, 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY, AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE COACHELLA REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

October 13, 2021 

5:00 PM Closed Session 

6:00 PM Regular Meeting 
 

 

Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361,  

along with the Governor’s State of Emergency Declaration issued on March 4, 2020, 

this meeting may be conducted via teleconference. 

 

This meeting’s options will be either in-person or via Zoom: 

In-Person Meeting 

Location: 

 

Coachella City Hall 

Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street 

Coachella, CA 

If you would like to attend the meeting via Zoom, here is the link: 

 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88457271898?pwd=REdzU1NoQmpVSFhWTDVaZ0VCekYxdz09  

Or One tap mobile : 16699006833,,88457271898#,,,,*606140# 

Or Telephone: 

     US: +1 669 900 6833   

Webinar ID: 884 5727 1898 

Passcode: 606140 

Spanish: El idioma español está disponible en Zoom seleccionado la opción en la 

parte de abajo de la pantalla 

 Public comments may be received either in person, via email, telephonically, or via Zoom with a limit 

of 250 words, or three minutes: 

o In Real Time:  

If participating in real time via Zoom or phone, during the Public Comment Period, use the “raise 

hand” function on your computer, or when using a phone, participants can raise their hand by pressing 

*9 on the keypad.  

o In Writing:  

Written comments may be submitted to the City Council electronically via email 

to cityclerk@coachella.org. Transmittal prior to the start of the meeting is required. All written 

comments received will be forwarded to the City Council and entered into the record.  

o If you wish, you may leave a message at (760) 262-6240 before 5:30 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

Page 1

http://www.coachella.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88457271898?pwd=REdzU1NoQmpVSFhWTDVaZ0VCekYxdz09
mailto:cityclerk@coachella.org


Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA October 13, 2021 

Page 2 

 

 The live stream of the meeting may be viewed online by accessing the city's website at 

www.coachella.org, and clicking on the "Watch Council Meetings" tab located on the home page, and 

then clicking on the "live" button.  

CALL TO ORDER: - 5:00 P.M. 

ROLL CALL: 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

“At this time the Council/ Board/Corporation/Authority may announce any items being pulled from the Agenda 

or continued to another date or request the moving of an item on the agenda” 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (CLOSED SESSION ITEMS): 

ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: 

1. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property:   1293 6th St. 

City Negotiator:  City Manager and City Engineer 

Negotiating Parties:  Delshuham Investments, LLC 

Under Negotiation:  Price and Terms 

2. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property:   50021 Balboa St. 

City Negotiator:  City Manager and Finance Director 

Negotiating Parties:  RMM Inv. Capital 

Under Negotiation:  Price and Terms 

3. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Significant Exposure to Litigation, Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2)/(e)(1) 

Two (2) Potential Cases 

4. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Initiation of Litigation, Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4) 

One  (1) Potential Case 

RECONVENE REGULAR MEETING: - 6:00 P.M. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

CLOSED SESSION ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

5. Regular Meeting Minutes of September 8, 2021, of the City Council, Coachella Fire Protection District, 

Coachella Sanitary District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and Governmental 

Access Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, and Successor Agency to the Coachella 

Redevelopment Agency 

Page 2

http://www.coachella.org/


Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA October 13, 2021 

Page 3 

 

PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS: 

6. Presentation on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Response Efforts 

7. Capital Improvement Projects Update 

8. Fire Prevention Presentation, "Learn the Sounds of Fire Safety" 

9. Code Enforcement Officer Appreciation Week 

10. Update on City of Coachella Housing Element 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: 

CONSENT CALENDAR: 

(It is recommended that Consent Items be acted upon simultaneously unless separate discussion and/or action is 

requested by a Council Member or member of the audience.) 

11. Voucher Listing — EFT's/Replacement Checks/Permit Refunds/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2021-22 

Expenditures as of October 13, 2021, $4,894,265.53. 

12. B-4 Ranch Change of Zone Project  

Ordinance No. 1183 (Change of Zone 20-07) to change the zoning from R-S (Single Family Residential) 

and R-M (Multiple Family Residential) to R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), and 

Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N) on approximately 56.9 acres of vacant, agricultural land located on the 

north side of Avenue 52, east and west of Education Way (APN: 763-060-048).  City-Initiated.  (Second 

Reading)  

13. Resolution No. 2021-59, Acknowledging receipt of a report made by the Fire Chief of the Riverside County 

Fire Department regarding compliance with the annual inspection of certain occupancies pursuant to 

sections 13146.2 and 13146.3 of the California Health and Safety Code.  

14. Adopt Resolution No. 2021-63 approving an inflation adjustment for the Transportation Unified Mitigation 

Fee for 2021. 

15. Approve an Art in Public Places Proposal for a Glazed Tile Mural by Marnie L. Navarro Depicting the 

Bond Between Parents and their Children in the Amount of $20,000 

16. Authorize the Development Services Department to advertise a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for 

Professional Planning Consultant Services. 

17. Investment Report – June 2021 

18. Investment Report – July 2021 

19. Authorize City Manager to execute a Lease Agreement with Desert Recreation District for use of office 

space at City Hall.  

Page 3



Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA October 13, 2021 

Page 4 

 

20. Authorize the City Manager to execute Grapefruit Blvd Urban Greening and Connectivity Project Change 

Order #29, City Project ST-123. 

21. Authorize appropriation from Undesignated General Fund Reserves for the Veterans’ Pancake Breakfast, 

in the amount of $12,000. 

NEW BUSINESS CALENDAR (LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE): 

22. Resolution No. 2021-62 approving a job title change for Streets Superintendent/Emergency Services 

Coordinator to Streets Supervisor and approving the salary scale for both the Parks Supervisor and Streets 

Supervisor at Grade 34.   

23. Provide staff direction for 2021 Hometown Heroes Honorees. 

24. Art in Public Places - Proposal for a Vietnam War Memorial Art Mural by Artist Autumn Martino and 

Artistic Director Pedro Salcido  

25. Art in Public Places - Proposal for a Mural of Dolores Huerta by Michael Angelo Hernandez  

PUBLIC HEARING CALENDAR (QUASI-JUDICIAL): 

26. Avenue 53 Re-zone Project  

a) Resolution No. 2021-60, Environmental Assessment (EA 21-02) recommending the adoption of a 

Negative Declaration pursuant to the environmental review guidelines of the California Environmental 

Quality Act.  

b) Ordinance No. 1187, Change of Zone (CZ 21-02) to change the zone of approximately 50.6 acres of a 

118-acre site from Manufacturing Service (M-S) to R-M Urban (20-38 du/ac).  The site is located south 

of Ave 53, north of Ave 54, and west of Tyler St. (APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 778‐390‐005, and 

778‐390‐007) - (First Reading) 

27. Kismet Coachella Dispensary – A request to consider an appeal of Planning Commission’s decision to deny 

a 12-month Time Extension for Conditional Use Permit No. 305 to convert an existing vacant commercial 

tenant space into a 3,050 square foot cannabis dispensary with 750 square feet for check-in and waiting 

area, 1800 square feet of retail display area and 500 square feet of rear storage, inventory control and 

packaging to be located in Building 1 located at 1639 and 1645 6th Street; and a 4,500 square foot coffee 

shop, art display and office/event space to be located in Building 2 located at 1657 and 1669 6th Street. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA ITEMS): 

The public may address the City Council/Board/Corporation/ Authority on any item of interest to the public that 

is not on the agenda but is in the subject matter jurisdiction thereof. Please limit your comments to three (3) 

minutes. 

REPORTS AND REQUESTS: 

Council Comments/Report of Miscellaneous Committees. 

City Manager’s Comments. 

Page 4



Agenda CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA October 13, 2021 

Page 5 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 
 

Complete Agenda Packets are available for public inspection on the  

City’s website www.coachella.org. 

 

 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

Page 5

http://www.coachella.org/


 

City Hall Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California 

(760) 398-3502      www.coachella.org 

MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL CLOSED SESSION AND REGULAR 

MEETING 

 

 

 OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

 

THE COUNCIL SITTING AS THE COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, COACHELLA FINANCING AUTHORITY, 

COACHELLA EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS CABLE CHANNEL CORPORATION, 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY, AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE COACHELLA REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

September 08, 2021 

6:00 PM Regular Meeting 
 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  
 

The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Coachella was called to order at 6:01 p.m. by Mayor 

Hernandez in the Council Chamber at City Hall located at 1515 Sixth Street, Coachella.  

 

ROLL CALL: 

Present:  Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez, and Mayor 

Hernandez. 

    

   City Treasurer Aviles, and City Clerk Zepeda 

 

Absent:   Councilmember Beaman Jacinto. 

 

It was announced that Councilmember Beaman Jacinto would be absent from tonight’s meeting.  

Pursuant to Executive Orders N-29-20 and N-08-21 pertaining to the coronavirus/COVID-19, this meeting 

was conducted both in-person and via teleconference/electronically.  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

 

There were no modifications to the agenda. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

The Coachella girls soccer team led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. Special Meeting Minutes of a Coachella City Council Study Session held on August 25, 2021. 

 

 

Page 6

Item 5.

http://www.coachella.org/


Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA September 08, 2021 

Page 2 

 

2. Regular Meeting Minutes of August 25, 2021, of the City Council, Coachella Fire Protection District, 

Coachella Sanitary District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and Governmental 

Access Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, and Successor Agency to the Coachella 

Redevelopment Agency. 

 

Motion:  To approve the minutes as presented. 

 

Made by:  Councilmember Galarza 

Seconded by:  Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez 

Approved:  4-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem 

Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto. 

PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS: 

3. Recognition of the Coachella FC (Futbol Club) Girls Soccer Team Achievement 

4. Presentation on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Response Efforts 

5. Coachella Community Center Feasibility Study Presentation 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: 

Written communication received will be announced as the item comes forward for discussion.  

CONSENT CALENDAR: 

6. Voucher Listing — EFT's/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2020-21 and 2021-22 Expenditures as of September 

8, 2021, $3,772,076.46. 

7. Ordinance No. 1186 approving Change of Zone No. 21-01 to add the Industrial Park Overlay zone (IP) and 

change the existing zone from M-H (Heavy Industrial) to the M-S (Manufacturing Service) Zone on a 1.74 

acre developed parcel located at 86705 Avenue 54, APN 764-280-010 (Adriana Gonzalez), Applicant. 

(Second Reading). 

8. Adopt Resolution No. 2021-54 in Support of Assembly Bill 1400 to Establish the California Guaranteed 

Health Care for All Act and Create CalCare, a Single-Payer Health Insurance Program for all California 

Residents 

Written Communication: Maribel Nunez, Inland Equity Partnership, 9/8/2021 4:18 PM – in support 

9. Resolution No. 2021-58, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Coachella, California, Approving 

Final Parcel Map No. 36872 

10. Authorize extension of Youth Commission Application deadline to October 5, 2021. 

Page 7

Item 5.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA September 08, 2021 

Page 3 

 

11. Authorizing the City Manager to Execute Agreement between the County of Riverside and the City of 

Coachella for Avenue 52 Joint Paving Project, City Project ST-129 

12. Approve Awarding a Contract for the Replacement of 800 Domestic Consumption Meters to J.C. Tuckmar 

Inc., in the amount of $78,040.00 plus 10% contingency.   

13. Authorization to Submit a Proposal for the California Resilience Challenge 

14. Approve a Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Coachella and the County of Riverside 

Department of Environmental Health for the Local Agency Management Program 

15. Investment Report – May 2021 

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation, Consent Calendar Items 6 through 15,  

 

Made by:   Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by:   Councilmember Galarza 

Approved:    4-0, by a unanimous voice vote, with the exception of a 

    3-0-1 vote on Item 7, with the abstention from Councilmember Delgado 

 

Public Comments were moved up to this portion of the meeting being after the 8:00 hour: 
 

1. Christine Madruga 

2. Kirk Geiger 

3. Jeffrey Green 

 

(After Public Comments, the City Council returned to the regular agenda at this point.) 

NEW BUSINESS CALENDAR (LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE): 

The following three items were voted upon simultaneously: 

16. Resolution No. 2021-55 Approving the Ratification of a Two-Year Memorandum of Understanding 

Agreement between the City of Coachella and Teamsters Local 1932, representing the Sanitary and 

Miscellaneous Employees Bargaining Unit 

17. Resolution No. 2021-56 Approving the Ratification of a Two-Year Memorandum of Understanding 

Agreement between the City of Coachella and Teamsters Local 1932, representing the Confidential Mid-

Management Employees Bargaining Unit 

18. Resolution No. 2021-57 Approving Amendments to the City of Coachella Management Employee 

Compensation Plan 

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation 

 

Made by: Councilmember Galarza 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Delgado 

Approved:  4-0, by the following roll call vote: 

Page 8

Item 5.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA September 08, 2021 

Page 4 

 

AYES: Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem 

Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto. 

19. Resolution No. WA-2021-09, Authorizing Coachella Water Authority staff to undertake the bond issuance 

process to refinance the outstanding bonds of the Coachella Water Authority (Authority) and procure new 

financing with the expected interest savings for needed capital improvements. 

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation 

 

Made by: Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Delgado 

Approved:  4-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem 

Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto. 

20. Authorize execution of Agreement for Emergency Services Coordinator Services between the County of 

Riverside and the City of Coachella.  

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation 

 

Made by: Councilmember Delgado 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Galarza 

Approved:  4-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem 

Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto. 

The following three items were voted upon simultaneously: 

21. Authorize the City of Coachella’s Tacos, Tequila and Chavelas Festival budget and beer garden:  

1. Authorize appropriation of The City of Coachella’s Tacos, Tequila and Chavelas event budget of 

$65,000.00 from Undesignated City General Fund Reserves; and   

2. Approval for operation of a beer garden on October 23, 2021 in Veterans Park from 4:00 pm to 8:00 

p.m. 

 (Continued) 

Page 9

Item 5.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA September 08, 2021 

Page 5 

 

Item 21, continued from previous page, was voted upon simultaneously with Items and 22 and 24: 

22. Sponsorship of Raices Cultura for 2021 Dia de los Muertos Celebration in the Amount of $15,000 

See below for Item 23. 

24. Authorize appropriation from Undesignated General Fund Reserves for the Holiday Tree Lighting Event in 

the amount of $45,000 and award of a professional services agreement not to exceed $35,000 to The 

Christmas Kings. 

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation 

 

Made by: Councilmember Galarza 

Seconded by:  Councilmember Delgado 

Approved:  4-0, by the following roll call vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem 

Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto. 

The following item was taken out of order and voted upon after Item 24: 

23. 2021 Synergy Music and Arts Festival Sponsorship: 

1. Sponsorship request for Culturas Music & Arts for $15,000.00 for the 2021 Synergy Music and Arts 

Festival; and 

2. Approval for operation of a beer garden by Culturas Music & Arts on November 13, 2021 at Dateland 

Park from 12:00 noon to 7:00 p.m.; and  

3. Authorize appropriation of Synergy Music and Arts Festival event budget of $28,000.00 from 

Undesignated City General Fund Reserves. (Inclusive of above, plus $13,000 for in-kind services.)      

 

Public Comment: Luz Moreno, via Zoom 

 

Written Communication: Claudia "Citlali" Armenta 9/8/2021 3:33 PM – in support 

  Fred Warzecha (WARZart) 9/7/2021 12:01 PM – in support 

  Gabriela Armenta 9/8/2021 4:09 PM – in support  

  Irene N Rodriguez 9/7/2021 3:00 PM – in support 

  Jon Otterson 9/6/2021 4:23 PM – in support 

  Jonathan Becerra 9/8/2021 3:22 PM – in support 

 

Motion: To approve per staff recommendation, with the sponsorship modification from 

$6,000 to $15,000 

 

Made by: Councilmember Galarza 

Seconded by:  Mayor Pro Tem Gonzalez 

Approved:  4-0, by the following roll call vote: 

Page 10

Item 5.



Minutes CC/CSD/CFPD/CFA/CEGACCC/CWA/SA-RDA September 08, 2021 

Page 6 

 

AYES: Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem 

Gonzalez, and Mayor Hernandez. 

NOES: None.  

ABSTAIN:  None. 

ABSENT:  Councilmember Beaman Jacinto. 

 

The Council resumed with the regular agenda at this point. 

PUBLIC HEARING CALENDAR (QUASI-JUDICIAL): 

None. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA ITEMS): 

With the time being after the 8:00 hour and per Resolution No. 2019-34, Public Comments were moved up (see 

page 3). There were no further comments at this time. 

REPORTS AND REQUESTS: 

Council Comments/Report of Miscellaneous Committees. 

City Manager’s Comments. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business to come before the City Council and the Agencies, Mayor Hernandez adjourned 

the meeting at 9:24 p.m.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

___________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

Page 11

Item 5.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Coachella is committed to ensuring the safety and security of all those living 

in and visiting Coachella; and 

WHEREAS, fire is a serious public safety concern both locally and nationally, and homes are the 

locations where people are at greatest risk from fire; and 

WHEREAS, home fires killed 2,770 people in the United States in 2019, according to the National Fire 

Protection Association® (NFPA®), and fire departments in the United States responded to 339,500 home fires; 

and  

WHEREAS, smoke alarms sense smoke well before you can, alerting you to danger in the event of fire 

in which you may have as little as 2 minutes to escape safely. Working smoke alarms cut the risk of dying in 

reported home fires in half; and 

WHEREAS, Coachella residents should be sure everyone in the home understands the sounds of the 

alarms and knows how to respond. Residents who have planned and practiced a home fire escape plan are more 

prepared and will therefore be more likely to survive a fire; and 

WHEREAS, Coachella residents will make sure their smoke and carbon monoxide (CO) alarms meet 

the needs of all their family members, including those with sensory or physical disabilities; and 

WHEREAS, the 2021 Fire Prevention WeekTM theme, “Learn the Sounds of Fire SafetyTM,” effectively 

serves to remind us it is important to learn the different sounds of smoke and carbon monoxide alarms. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor of the City of Coachella, by the power vested 

in me, do hereby proclaim October 3–9, 2021, as 

  

Fire Prevention Week 
 

throughout this city, and I urge all the people of Coachella to “Learn the Sounds of Fire Safety” for Fire 

Prevention Week 2021 and to support the many public safety activities and efforts of Coachella’s fire and 

emergency services. 

 

IN WITNESS HEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and 

caused the official seal of the City of Coachella, California 

to be affixed this 13th day of October 2021. 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor  

City of Coachella, California 

Page 12

Item 8.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WHEREAS, the State of California has proclaimed the 2nd week of October as Code Enforcement 

Officer Appreciation Week; and 
 

WHEREAS, Code Enforcement Officers provide for the safety, health, and welfare of citizens 

through the enforcement of local, state, and federal laws and ordinances dealing with various issues of 

building, zoning, housing, animal control, environmental, health, and life safety; and 
 

WHEREAS, Code Enforcement Officers have challenging and demanding roles and often do not 

receive recognition for the job they do in improving quality of life for residents and businesses of local 

communities; and  
 

WHEREAS, the role of many Code Enforcement Officers has expanded in recent years with 

jurisdictions increasingly relying on the expertise and training of Code Enforcement Officers in their 

communities; and 
 

WHEREAS, Code Enforcement Officers are dedicated, highly qualified, and highly trained 

professionals who share the goals of preventing neighborhood deterioration, enhancing communities, 

ensuring safety, and preserving property values through knowledge, training, and application of housing, 

zoning, and nuisance laws; and 
 

WHEREAS the City of Coachella recognizes and honor the Code Enforcement Officers that serve 

our community and acknowledge their role in leading the way to improve quality of life within our 

community. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor of the City of Coachella, by the power 

vested in me, do hereby recognize 
  

Code Enforcement Officer Appreciation Week 
 

and encourage all citizens of the City of Coachella in recognizing and expressing our appreciation for the 

dedication and service by the individuals who serve as our Code Enforcement Officers. 

 

IN WITNESS HEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand 

and caused the official seal of the City of Coachella, 

California to be affixed this 13th day of October, 2021. 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor  

City of Coachella, California 

Page 13

Item 9.



Page 14

Item 11.



Page 15

Item 11.



Page 16

Item 11.



Page 17

Item 11.



Page 18

Item 11.



Page 19

Item 11.



Page 20

Item 11.



Page 21

Item 11.



Page 22

Item 11.



Page 23

Item 11.



Page 24

Item 11.



Page 25

Item 11.



Page 26

Item 11.



Page 27

Item 11.



Page 28

Item 11.



Page 29

Item 11.



Page 30

Item 11.



Page 31

Item 11.



Page 32

Item 11.



Page 33

Item 11.



Page 34

Item 11.



Page 35

Item 11.



Page 36

Item 11.



Page 37

Item 11.



Page 38

Item 11.



Page 39

Item 11.



Page 40

Item 11.



Page 41

Item 11.



Page 42

Item 11.



Page 43

Item 11.



Page 44

Item 11.



Page 45

Item 11.



Page 46

Item 11.



Page 47

Item 11.



Page 48

Item 11.



Page 49

Item 11.



Page 50

Item 11.



Page 51

Item 11.



Page 52

Item 11.



Page 53

Item 11.



Page 54

Item 11.



Page 55

Item 11.



Page 56

Item 11.



Page 57

Item 11.



Page 58

Item 11.



Page 59

Item 11.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Gabriel Perez, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: B-4 Ranch Change of Zone Project  

Ordinance No. 1183 (Change of Zone 20-07) to change the zoning from R-S 

(Single Family Residential) and R-M (Multiple Family Residential) to R‐M 

Urban (20‐38 du/ac), R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), and Neighborhood 

Commercial (C‐N) on approximately 56.9 acres of vacant, agricultural land 

located on the north side of Avenue 52, east and west of Education Way (APN: 

763-060-048).  City-Initiated.  (2nd Reading)  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Ordinance 1183 approving Change of Zone No. 20-

07 for the B-4 Ranch Change of Zone Project.  

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

On June 9, 2021 the City Council introduced for first reading, by title only, the attached Ordinance 

No. 1183, for the B-4 Ranch Change of Zone project (“Project”), a  City initiated Change of Zone 

from the existing Single Family Residential (R‐S) and Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) 

designations to R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), and Neighborhood 

Commercial (C‐N) on approximately 56.9 acres north of Avenue 52, and west and east of 

Education Way (APN: 763-060-048)..  

 

The Change of Zone will help create adequate zoning capacity to meet the City’s 5th Cycle 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA), consistent with the adopted Housing Element and 

General Plan. It will also allow a mixture of housing types available to all residents including 

market rate housing and affordable housing. The Project proposes a Change of Zone only, no 

development plans are proposed at this time for the property.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The City of Coachella initiated Change of Zone No. 20-07 at the request of the State of California 

– Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) pursuant to a mandatory re-zoning 

effort called out in the City’s Housing Element.  The Change of Zone’s main purpose is to create 

Page 60

Item 12.



additional “development ready” multifamily residential zoning to accommodate the City’s 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) from the 5th Cycle carryover which is required to be 

completed as part of the City’s 2013-2021 Housing Element. Communities use the RHNA in land 

use planning, prioritizing local resource allocation, and in deciding how to address identified 

existing and future housing needs resulting from population, employment, and household growth. 

The rezoning is anticipated to allow for the development of approximately 1,314 dwelling units as 

shown below in Table 4, Potential Project Units. The project would help create adequate zoning 

capacity to meet the City’s 5th Cycle RHNA Allocation consistent with the adopted Housing 

Element and General Plan.  

 

The Change of Zone will re-designate the property as shown below in Table 1: 

 

Table 1: Current and Proposed Zoning 

 

Current Zoning  

 Residential Single Family (R-S) 

 Residential Multiple Family (R-M) 

Proposed Zoning 

 Residential Multiple Family (R-M) - General: 20-25 Du./Ac. 

 Residential Multiple Family (R-M) - Urban: 20-38 Du./Ac. 

 Neighborhood Commercial (C-N) 

 

The proposed Change of Zone will allow for Multi-Family Residential and Commercial 

Neighborhood uses. The R-M and C-N zones are intended to provide for the establishment and 

expansion of multiple family residential development areas at various medium and high population 

densities, including market rate housing, and related community services. The proposed zones are 

consistent with the project’s land use designations of Urban Neighborhood and Neighborhood 

Center, established by the Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU) and therefore a General Plan 

Amendment is not needed for this project. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Adopt Ordinance No. 1183 (Second Reading) 

2. Take no action.  

3. Continue this item and provide staff with direction.  

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 

Staff recommends Alternative #1 as noted above. 
 
Attachment:    Ordinance No. 1183 – 2nd Reading 

Page 61

Item 12.



ORDINANCE NO. 1183 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA APPROVING CHANGE OF ZONE (CZ 20-07) FROM 

R-S (RESIDENTIAL SINGLE-FAMILY) and R-M (MULTIPLE-

FAMILY RESIDENTILA) to R‐M URBAN (MULTIPLE-FAMILY 

RESIDENTIAL, 20‐38 DU/AC), R‐M GENERAL (MULTIPLE-

FAMILY RESIDENTIAL, 20‐25 DU/AC), AND C-N 

(NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL) ON APPROXIMATELY 56.9 

ACRES OF VACANT, AGRICULTURAL LAND LOCATED ON THE 

NORTH SIDE OF AVENUE 52, EAST AND WEST OF EDUCATION 

WAY (APN: 763-060-048). CITY-INITIATED; PETER RABBIT 

FARMS, OWNER.  

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project, as set forth in Environmental Assessment (EA 20-

04) and Change of Zone (CZ 20-07) consists of the above-referenced application on 

approximately 56.9 acres of vacant agricultural land located on the north side of Avenue 52, 

east and west of Education Way; and the Project seeks to bring the properties into compliance 

with the General Plan’s “Land Use and Community Character Element”; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the General Plan Land Use Map and Sub-Area 1 policies, call for the 

subject property to include medium to high-density residential uses in close proximity to 

commercial uses, and to create an urban pattern that includes short blocks with good street 

connectivity and pedestrian amenities; and,  

 

WHEREAS, Prior to the approval of this Change of Zone (CZ 18-10), the project site 

contains only two zoning districts: R-S (Residential Single-Family) and R-M (Multiple-

Family Residential).  Neither of these two zones provides the proper density and variety of 

housing types envisioned by the General Plan; and, 

 

WHEREAS, to bring the site into compliance with the General Plan, and to comply 

with the City’s Housing Element re-zoning requirements, the City of Coachella Development 

Services with the consent of the Property Owner proposes to create the following Zoning 

Districts: 

 

 R-M General (Multiple-Family Residential, 20 – 25 DU/AC)  

 R-M Urban (Multiple-Family Residential, 25-38 DU/AC)  

 C-N (Neighborhood Commercial); and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City completed Environmental Assessment/Initial Study (EA 20-

04) for the Proposed Project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, as 

amended; and, 
 

WHEREAS, based on this Environmental Assessment/Initial Study the City has 

made a determination that the Project will not have a significant impact on the environment 

and has prepared a Negative Declaration for this Project; and, 

 

Page 62

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1183 

Page 2 

 

 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Intent to Adopt a Negative Declaration was posted with the 

County Clerk and the proposed Mitigated Negative was made available for a 20-day public 

review period commencing on March 25, 2021 and ending on April 13, 2021; and, 

 

WHEREAS, interested and concerned individuals and public agencies had the 

opportunity to review and comment on the proposed Negative Declaration; and, 

 

WHEREAS, findings of the Initial Study indicated that the Proposed Project would 

not create any significant impacts to the environment; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project would not be detrimental to the general health, 

safety and welfare of the community. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on Change of 

Zone No. 20-07 on June 9, 2021 in the Council Chambers, 1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, 

California to consider staff recommendations and prior written and oral testimony regarding 

the project and wherein the public was given an opportunity to testify; and, 

 

WHEREAS, a Negative Declaration was prepared in accordance with the California 

Environmental Quality Act, as amended. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. That the City of Coachella Official Zoning Map be amended as shown on 

the attached Change of Zone 20-07 Map marked “Exhibit A” from R-S (Residential Single-

Family) to R-M Urban (Multiple-Family Residential, 20-38 UN/AC), R-M General 

(Multiple-Family Residential, 20-25 UN/AC) and C-N (Neighborhood Commercial) on 

approximately 56.9 acres of vacant, agricultural land located on the north side of Avenue 52, 

east and west of Education Way (APN: 763-060-048) with the findings listed below. 

 

Findings for Change of Zone 20-07: 

 
1. The Project is consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and implementation 

measures of the Coachella General Plan 2035.  The site has a General Neighborhood 

land use designation and is part of the Subarea 1 – West Coachella Neighborhoods 

policies, that allows for the proposed development.  The proposed change of zone is in 

keeping with the policies of the General Neighborhood land use classification and the 

Project is internally consistent with other General Plan policies for this type of 

development.  
 

2. The Project complies with the applicable land use regulations and development 

standards of the City’s Zoning Code. The Project complies with applicable sections of 

the General Plan and Section 17.80 of the City of Coachella Municipal Code in that the 

subject property is vacant land that will be developed in accordance with the R-M, 

General (Multiple-Family Residential, 20-25 DU/AC), R-M, Urban (Multiple-Family 

Page 63

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1183 

Page 3 

 

 

Residential, 25-38 DU/AC) and C-N (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning development 

standards and the site has conforming width and depth, is generally flat, and can 

accommodate intensive urban development as anticipated in the future. 
 

3. Every use, development of land and application of architectural guidelines and 

development standards shall be considered on the basis of the suitability of the site for a 

particular use or development intended, and the total development, including the 

prescribed development standards, shall be so arranged as to avoid traffic congestion, 

ensure the protection of public health, safety and general welfare, prevent adverse effects 

on neighboring property and shall be in accord with all elements of the general plan. The 

proposed change of zone is compatible with existing surrounding land uses that include 

a variety of residential, institutional, and light industrial uses. There is access to Avenue 

52, which is a major arterial roadway that can accommodate the future traffic/circulation 

needs of the site. 

 

4. The Project will be compatible with neighboring properties with respect to land 

development patterns and application of architectural treatments.  Surrounding 

properties to the project site include multiple-family residential, an elementary school 

and light industrial uses. As such, the Project will be in keeping with the scale, massing, 

and aesthetic appeal of the existing area and future development.  

 

5. The Project will not create any significant impacts to the environment based upon a 

complete and accurate reporting of the environmental impacts associated with the 

Project contained in the Negative Declaration, Initial Study, and administrative record.  

The Negative Declaration and the Initial Study have been completed in compliance with 

CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines, and the City of Coachella’s Local CEQA 

Guidelines. 

 

Section 2. SEVERABILITY. The City Council declares that, should any provision, 

section, paragraph, sentence or word of this ordinance be rendered or declared invalid by any 

final court action in a court of competent jurisdiction or by reason of any preemptive 

legislation, the remaining provisions, sections, paragraphs, sentences or words of this 

ordinance as hereby adopted shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

Section 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after 

its second reading by the City Council. 

 

Section 4. CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this 

Ordinance and shall cause it to be published and circulated in the City of Coachella. 

 
PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 13th day of October 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez 

Mayor 

Page 64

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1183 

Page 4 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney  

Page 65

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1183 

Page 5 

 

 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Ordinance No. 1183 was duly and regularly 

introduced at a meeting of the City Council on the 23rd day of June 2021, and that thereafter the said 

ordinance was duly passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the City Council on the 13th day of 

October 2021. 

 

AYES:  

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC  

Deputy City Clerk 

 

  

Page 66

Item 12.



Ordinance No. 1183 

Page 6 

 

 

“Exhibit A” 

   

 

B-4 RANCH CHANGE OF ZONE PROJECT – CHANGE OF ZONE EXHIBIT  

 

Page 67

Item 12.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Chris Cox, Assistant Fire Marshal  

SUBJECT: Resolution No. 2021-59, Acknowledging receipt of a report made by the Fire 

Chief of the Riverside County Fire Department regarding compliance with the 

annual inspection of certain occupancies pursuant to sections 13146.2 and 

13146.3 of the California Health and Safety Code.  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2021-59, approving the annual 

inspection compliance report to fulfill the new requirements of the California Health and Safety 

Code Sections 13146.2 and 13146.3. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

On September 27, 2018, Governor Brown approved California Senate Bill 1205 (SB1205), which 

added Section 13146.4 to the California Health and Safety Code. The bill requires each fire 

department or district’s administering authority, i.e. City Council to formally acknowledge receipt 

of the compliance report in a resolution or a similar formal document.  To comply with this 

mandate, it is recommended that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2021-59 acknowledging 

receipt of a report made by the Fire Chief of the Riverside County Fire Department regarding 

inspection of certain occupancies as required pursuant to Sections 13146.2 and 13146.3 of the 

California Health and Safety Code.   

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

California Health & Safety Code Section 13146.2 and 13146.3 requires all fire departments, 

including the Riverside County Fire Department, to perform annual inspections in every building 

used as a public or private school, hotel, motel, lodging house, apartment house, and certain 

residential care facilities. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The purpose of SB 1205 is to require fire departments to review and report on the occupancies 

inspected within its jurisdiction as required to be inspected annually by the State. 

 

Page 68

Item 13.



ALTERNATIVES: 

 

Being that this a mandated process, there are no other recommendations or alternatives.    

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There is no direct fiscal impact associated with the staff recommendation. 

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2021-59, approving the annual 

inspection compliance report to fulfill the requirement of Senate Bill 1205 and Section 13146.4 of 

the California Health and Safety Code. 

 

Attachments: Resolution No. 2021-59 

  Senate Bill 1205 

Page 69

Item 13.



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-59 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, ACKNOWLEDGING RECEIPT OF A 

REPORT MADE BY THE FIRE CHIEF OF THE RIVERSIDE COUNTY 

FIRE DEPARTMENT REGARDING COMPLIANCE WITH THE 

ANNUAL INSPECTION OF CERTAIN OCCUPANCIES PURSUANT TO 

SECTIONS 13146.2 AND 13146.3 OF THE CALIFORNIA HEALTH AND 

SAFETY CODE  

 WHEREAS, California Health & Safety Code Section 13146.4 was added in 2018, and 

became effective on January 1, 2019; and  

 WHEREAS, California Health & Safety Code Section 13146.4 requires all fire 

departments, including the Riverside County Fire Department, that provide fire protection services 

to report annually to its administering authority on its compliance with Health & Safety Code 

sections 13146.2 and 13146.3; and 

 WHEREAS, California Health & Safety Code Section 13146.2 and 13146.3 requires all 

fire departments, including the Riverside County Fire Department, that provide fire protection 

services to perform annual inspections in every building used as a public or private school, hotel, 

motel, lodging house, apartment house, and certain residential care facilities for compliance with 

building standards, as provided; and 

 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Coachella intends this Resolution to fulfill the 

requirements of the California Health & Safety Code 13146.4 regarding acknowledgment of the 

Riverside County Fire Department’s compliance with California Health and Safety Code Sections 

13146.2 and 13146.3. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of 

Coachella, California: expressly acknowledges the measure of compliance of the Riverside County 

Fire Department with Health and Safety Code sections 13146.2 and 13146.3 in the City of 

Coachella for the time period of July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021, as follows: 

Section 1.  Educational Group E occupancies, for the purposes of this Resolution, are 

generally those public and private schools, used by more than six persons at any one time for 

educational purposes through the 12th grade.  The Riverside County Fire Department completed 

100% of the annual inspections of the identified Group E occupancies, buildings, structures and/or 

facilities in the City of Coachella.   

Section 2.  Residential Group R occupancies, for the purposes of this Resolution, are 

generally those occupancies containing sleeping units, and include hotels, motels, apartments 

(three units or more), etc. as well as other residential occupancies (including a number of 

residential care facilities).  These residential care facilities have a number of different sub-

classifications, and they may contain residents or clients that have a range of needs, including those 

related to custodial care, mobility impairments, cognitive disabilities, etc.  The residents may also 

Page 70

Item 13.



Resolution No. 2021-59 

Page 2 

 

 

be non-ambulatory or bedridden.  The Riverside County Fire Department completed 100% of the 

annual inspections of the identified Group R occupancies, buildings, structures and/or facilities in 

the City of Coachella. 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 13th day of October 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney  

Page 71

Item 13.



Resolution No. 2021-59 

Page 3 

 

 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-59 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a special meeting thereof, held on the 13th day of 

October 2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:  

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC  

Deputy City Clerk 

  

 

Page 72

Item 13.



SHARE THIS: Date Published: 09/27/2018 09:00 PM

SB-1205 Fire protection services: inspections: compliance reporting. (2017-2018)

 

Senate Bill No. 1205

CHAPTER 854

An act to add Section 13146.4 to the Health and Safety Code, relating to fire protection.

[ Approved by Governor  September 27, 2018. Filed with Secretary of State
 September 27, 2018. ]

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

SB 1205, Hill. Fire protection services: inspections: compliance reporting.

Existing law requires the chief of any city or county fire department or district providing fire protection services
and his or her authorized representatives to inspect every building used as a public or private school within his or
her jurisdiction, for the purpose of enforcing specified building standards, not less than once each year, as
provided. Existing law requires every city or county fire department or district providing fire protection services
that is required to enforce specified building standards to annually inspect certain structures, including hotels,
motels, lodging houses, and apartment houses, for compliance with building standards, as provided.

This bill would require every city or county fire department, city and county fire department, or district required
to perform the above-described inspections to report annually to its administering authority, as defined, on the
department’s or district’s compliance with the above-described inspection requirements, as provided. The bill
would require the administering authority to acknowledge receipt of the report in a resolution or a similar formal
document. To the extent this bill would expand the responsibility of a local agency, the bill would create a state-
mandated local program.

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs
mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.

This bill would provide that, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that the bill contains costs
mandated by the state, reimbursement for those costs shall be made pursuant to the statutory provisions noted
above.

Vote: majority   Appropriation: no   Fiscal Committee: yes   Local Program: yes  

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. Section 13146.4 is added to the Health and Safety Code, to read:

13146.4. (a) Every city or county fire department, city and county fire department, or district required to perform
an annual inspection pursuant to Sections 13146.2 and 13146.3 shall report annually to its administering
authority on its compliance with Sections 13146.2 and 13146.3.

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

Page 73

Item 13.

https://www.facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=https%3A//leginfo.legislature.ca.gov%3A443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml%3Fbill_id=201720180SB1205&t=20172018SB-1205&
https://twitter.com/home?status=20172018SB-1205%20https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov:443/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB1205&


(b) The report made pursuant to subdivision (a) shall occur when the administering authority discusses its
annual budget, or at another time determined by the administering authority.

(c) The administering authority shall acknowledge receipt of the report made pursuant to subdivision (a) in a
resolution or a similar formal document.

(d) For purposes of this section, “administering authority” means a city council, county board of supervisors, or
district board, as the case may be.

SEC. 2. If the Commission on State Mandates determines that this act contains costs mandated by the state,
reimbursement to local agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made pursuant to Part 7
(commencing with Section 17500) of Division 4 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

Page 74

Item 13.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Gabriel Perez, Development Services Director  

SUBJECT: Adopt Resolution No. 2021-63 approving an inflation adjustment for the 

Transportation Unified Mitigation Fee for 2021. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council open the public hearing, take any testimony, and adopt 

Resolution No. 2021-63. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

Resolution No. 2021-63 establishes an inflation adjustment for the Transportation Unified 

Mitigation Fee (TUMF) for fiscal year 2021-22 reflecting the annual Consumer Price Index (CPI) 

increase by 2.1% for the Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario metropolitan area for calendar year 

2020.  This a City Council action item when an action by the Coachella Valley Association of 

Governments (CVAG) Executive Committee approves adjusting the TUMF rates for fiscal year. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The TUMF was established in 1989 as a one-time impact fee charged on all new development 

occurring within the CVAG region.  TUMF funds are applied to transportation-related facilities 

and infrastructure required to address new growth within the Coachella Valley and are intended to 

compliment revenue generated through Riverside County’s Measure A sales tax.   The current 

TUMF rates were adopted in 2018. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

At the June 28, 2021 meeting, the CVAG Executive Committee approved adjusting the TUMF 

rates for fiscal year 2021-2022 by rise 2.1% rise in CPI.  The comparison of current and 

proposed increase in fees is shown below in Table 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

Item 14.



Table 1 –  

TUMF Increase FY 2021-22 

 

 
 

 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Adopt Resolution No. 2021-63 as requested. 

2. Take no action. 

3.  Continue this item and provide staff with direction. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

The total projected collection for TUMF is unknown and is dependent on future development 

activity. The TUMF CPI adjustment will increase the fee by 2.1% compared to the current fee. 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 

 

Staff recommends alternative #1. 

 

Attachments:     

1. Resolution No. 2021-63 

2. August 12, 2021 CVAG Notice of TUMF inflation adjustment 

 

Page 76

Item 14.



RESOLUTION NO.  2021-63 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, APPROVING AN INFLATION 

ADJUSTMENT FOR THE TRANSPORTATION UNIFIED MITIGATION 

FEE (TUMF) COLLECTED BY THE CITY OF COACHELLA FOR NEW 

DEVELOPMENT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021/22. 

 

WHEREAS, WHEREAS, the City of Coachella ("City") is a Member Agency of the 

Coachella Valley Association of Governments ("CVAG"), a joint powers agency consisting of the 

County of Riverside ("County"), the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians, the Cabazon Band 

of Mission Indians, the Torres Martinez Desert Cahuilla Indians, the City of Blythe, and the nine 

cities (Desert Hot Springs, Palm Springs Cathedral City, Rancho Mirage, Palm Desert, Indian 

Wells, La Quinta, Indio and Coachella) situated in the Coachella Valley (collectively, "Member 

Agencies"); and, 

WHEREAS, At the Consumer Price Index for the Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario 

metropolitan area rose by 2.1% for calendar year 2020; and, 

 

WHEREAS, At their June 28, 2021 meeting, the CVAG Executive Committee approved 

adjusting the TUMF rates for fiscal year 2021-2022 by the 2.1% increase in CPI; and, 

 

WHEREAS, this Council, by the adoption of applicable ordinances, as authorized by 

Chapter 4.40 Transportation Mitigation Fee of the City of Coachella, authorized the City Council 

to annually review and, if necessary amend the amount of the mitigation fee to insure that it is a 

fair and equitable method of distributing the costs of the improvements necessary to accommodate 

traffic volumes generated by future growth. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND ORDER AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1.  The above recitals are all true and correct. 

 

Section 2.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to determine or cause to 

be determined the transportation unified mitigation fees to be collected from new development for 

Fiscal Year 2021/2022 as identified in Exhibit A. 

 

Section 3.  This resolution shall become effective upon its adoption. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 13th day of October, 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

Page 77

Item 14.



 

Resolution No. 2021-63 

Page 2 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

  

Page 78

Item 14.



 

Resolution No. 2021-63 

Page 3 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-63 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 13th day of 

October 2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:    

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN: 

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC  

Deputy City Clerk 

 

Page 79

Item 14.



Exhibit A  

Resolution No. 2021-63 

 

 

 

Page 80

Item 14.



 

 

August 12, 2021 

 

William Pattison 

City Manager 

Coachella 

53-990 Enterprise Way 

Coachella, CA 92236 

 

RE: Inflation adjustment for the Transportation Unified Mitigation Fee starting September 

1, 2021 

 

Dear Mr. Pattison: 

 

The Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fee (TUMF) was established in 1989 as a one-time impact 

fee charged on all new development occurring within the CVAG region. Monies collected through 

the TUMF program are applied to transportation-related capital facilities and infrastructure 

required to address new growth within the Coachella Valley and are intended to compliment 

revenue generated through Riverside County’s Measure A sales tax. The current TUMF rates 

were adopted in 2018 and allow for the consideration of an annual inflation adjustment:  

 

The inflation factor shall be the same one utilized by the Coachella Valley Local 
Development Mitigation Fee, based on the Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario Consumer 
Price Index (CPI). Such CPI will be reviewed annually by the Executive Committee which 
will determine whether or not to apply the inflation factor. 

The annual adjustment was implemented in order to avoid steep, though less frequent, 

adjustments covering multiple years’ worth of rising construction costs. 

 

The CPI for the Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario metropolitan area rose by 2.1% for calendar 

year 2020. At their June 28, 2021 meeting, the CVAG Executive Committee approved adjusting 

the TUMF rates for fiscal year 2021-2022 by the same factor. The revised rates are summarized 

on the next page. Please be sure that your staff is aware of this fee increase and that your permit 

software updates to the new values on September 1, 2021. 

 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact Peter Satin, Regional Planner, by 

telephone at 760.346.1127, or by email at psatin@cvag.org.  

Page 81

Item 14.

mailto:psatin@cvag.org


 

 

TUMF Category 
Current 

fee 
Fee as of 

September 1, 2021 

Residential (per dwelling unit)   
Single family detached $2,310 $2,358 

Multi-family attached $1,330 $1,358 
Nursing/congregate care $495 $505 

Non-residential (per 1,000 sq. ft.)   
Retail $6,010 $6,135 
Office $2,390 $2,440 

Industrial $1,215 $1,240 
Fuel-gas (per dispensing unit) $8,610 $8,790 

Fuel-electric (per dispensing unit) $91 $93 
Hotel (per room) $3,510 $3,583 

Golf course (per acre) $920 $939 
 

Sincerely, 

 
Tom Kirk, 

Executive Director 

 

CC: Gabriel Perez, Assistant Development Services Director 

Page 82

Item 14.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Celina Jimenez, Grants Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve an Art in Public Places Proposal for a Glazed Tile Mural by Marnie L. 

Navarro Depicting the Bond Between Parents and their Children in the Amount 

of $20,000 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council consider approving and awarding a grant to Marnie L. 
Navarro in the amount of $20,000 from the City of Coachella’s Art in Public Places Program to 
install a glazed tile mural depicting the bond between parents and their children on exterior wall 
space located on the corner of Vine Street and Seventh Street.  The Culture and Arts Commission 
has reviewed and approved this submission.  

 
BACKGROUND: 

 
On January 1, 2011, the City Council approved Ordinance No. 1034 establishing an Art in Public 
Places Program and implementing a new development impact fee for certain new construction, 

remodeling and reconstruction of public art installations. The purpose of the Art in Public Places 

ordinance is to develop and maintain a visual arts program for the residents and visitors of 

Coachella, to add to the economic vitality of the community, and to enhance the environment 

and unique character of Coachella by providing for the acquisition and maintenance of quality 

works of public art. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The submitted proposal is a painted tile mural project with three main elements that will be 

comprised of hand-glazed tiles and the remainder of the site wall will be painted in complementary 

colors. The theme of the artwork is a “loteria” style design with cards that celebrate the role of 

parents as nurturers. Mothers and fathers are key figures within the nuclear family and serve as 

role models for their children and how they learn about the world around them. Each card will be 

approximately 8’ x 4’ (exact dimensions determined by final placement) and the figures of mother 

and father will be painted in stylized realism with a watercolor effect. The top corner of the site 

wall will feature a sun with sunburst motif at a scale of approximately 5’ x 5’ (exact dimensions 

determined by final placement). The estimated artwork completion date would be December, 2021 

or sooner. 

 

Page 83

Item 15.



The Culture and Arts Commission recommended a reduced award of $16,000. However, after 

conferring with the artist and the City Manager, staff determined that reducing the award would 

impact the artist’s ability to produce such an intricate mural and is therefore recommending that 

City Council award the artist $20,000 dollars. 

 

Budget 

Office/Studio Fees (kiln)    $2,000 

Installation Costs – Labor    $10,000 (hand paint & firing tiles) 

Other Costs – Install Materials/Misc. Supplies $1,000 

Fabrication Costs – Materials    $2,000 (glazes, exterior acrylic) 

Artist Fee      $5,000 

 

TOTAL $20,000 

 

About the Artist  

Marnie L. Navarro is a Coachella Valley-based multidisciplinary artist, educator, owner of 

LIFEWORK Gallery, and lifelong Valley resident. She holds a B.A. in Psychology and a post-

baccalaureate degree in Studio Art from California State University, San Bernardino, and an 

M.F.A. in Interdisciplinary Practice from the School of Visual Arts, New York. 

 

Along with her experience in the visual arts, Ms. Navarro brings business world acumen with 15+ 

years of Health Information Management experience in both the nonprofit and private sectors. She 

is a SEED Lab Fellow with the Caravanserai Project, a program for entrepreneurs focused on social 

impact endeavors at the University of California, Riverside. She currently serves as the Executive 

Director of Raices Cultura, a role which enables her to merge the skills and knowledge as an 

administrator with her excellence in and love for the Arts. 

 

Proposed Mural Design Rendition 

The models in the depictions below will not be dressed in that manner—the subjects will be 

depicted wearing cultural attire. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84

Item 15.



 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Not Approve the Request for the Mural Proposed by Marnie L. Navarro 

2. Provide Alternative Direction 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

If the City Council approves the staff recommendation, the $20,000 will be appropriated in the 

Special Revenue Funds (130) – Development Impact Fees for Public Art for Fiscal Year 2021-

22. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

1. Application 

2. Artist Biography 

Page 85

Item 15.



               
                City of Coachella 
Art in Public Places Application Form 

 

 

Purpose: The purpose of the Public Arts Commission shall be to act in an advisory capacity to the City 

Council on matters pertaining to the enrichment of the community through fine arts, visual arts, 

performing arts, arts education, historic preservation and cultural issues; to serve as an advocate for 

cultural activities and programs within the City; to implement the City’s Art in Public Places Program, 

and to encourage the integration of cultural affairs into the social and economic fabric of the City to 

improve the quality of life for City residents. Art in public places are intended to promote the general 

welfare of the public through the acquisition and installation of public art works (Municipal Code 

Chapter 4.48). 

The completeness of this application, which includes accompanying plans, shall be subject to the review 

of the Planning Division and Development Services Department. If you have any questions while 

completing this application please ask a member of the Planning Division for assistance. Incomplete 

applications will not be accepted (or the process may be delayed).  

Fees apply to: 

1. New commercial and industrial construction 

2. Remodeling or reconstruction of existing commercial or industrial property; 

3. New residential development of two or more units built in the same tract by the same owner or 

developer; 

4. New individual single-family dwelling units in an existing subdivision with a permit valuation 

over $100,000. 

Fees are based on a percentage of the building cost: 

1. One-half of one percent (.005) for new commercial or residential construction; 

2. One-half of one percent (.005) for remodel or reconstruction of existing commercial or industrial 

property; 

3. One quarter of one percent (.0025) for new residential subdivision of two or more units; 

4. One quarter or one percent (.0025) for new individual single-family units constructed in an 

existing subdivision with a building permit over $100,000 for that portion of the building permit 

valuation in excess of $100,000. 

Guidelines for approval and maintenance of art in public places shall include, but are not limited to, the 

following criteria: 

Page 86

Item 15.



A. Quality of the artwork; 

B. Media. All visual art forms may be considered, subject to limitations set by the selection jury or 

the Planning Commission; 

C. Style. Artworks of all schools, styles, and tastes should be considered for the city collection; 

D. Environment. Artworks and art places should be appropriate in scale, material, form and 

content for the immediate, general, social and physical environments with which they relate; 

E. Permanence. Consideration should be given to structural and surface integrity, permanence, 

and protection against theft, vandalism, weathering, excessive maintenance, and repair costs; 

F. Elements of Design. Consideration should take into account that public art, in addition to 

meeting aesthetic requirements, also may serve to establish focal points, terminate areas, 

modify, enhance, or define specific spaces, or establish identity; 

G. Diversity. The public arts program should strive for diversity of style, scale, media, artists—

including ethnicity and gender and equitable distribution of artworks and art places throughout 

the city; 

H. Visibility. The art work shall be clearly visible and easily accessible to the public 

I. Site Plan. The application shall include a site plan showing the location of the art work, complete 

with  landscaping, lighting and other accessories to complement and protect the art work 

J. Artist. The art work shall be designed and constructed by persons experienced in the production 

of such art work and recognized by critics and by his or her peers as one who produces works of 

art 

 

PROJECT INFORMATION (PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE) 

Project Business Name: _________________________________________________________________ 

Square Footage of Proposed Development: _________________________________________________ 

Property Address/Location: ______________________________________________________________ 

Assessor’s Parcel Number(s): _____________________________________________________________ 

Project Owner:  ________________________________ Telephone No.: __________________________ 

Owner Address: _______________________________________________________________________ 

City: _________________________________________ State: __________ Zip Code: _______________ 

E-mail Address: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Architect: _____________________________________________________________________________ 

Architect Address: ______________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone No.: ________________________________ Fax No.: ________________________________ 

Page 87

Item 15.



Dev. Project Completion (Estimated): ______________________________________________________ 

AIPP Fee Amount:   $_____________ 

Total Artwork Cost: $_____________ 

 

ARTIST/ARTWORK INFORMATION 

Program Option (Please check one) 
A. ______ Artwork on Site 
B. ______ Donate Artwork to City of Coachella 
C. ______ In Lieu Fee 

 
Artwork Budget $____________ 

 

Artwork Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Artwork Site: __________________________________________________________________________ 

Artwork Material: ______________________________________________________________________ 

Artwork Dimension: ____________________________________________________________________ 

Artist Name: __________________________________  Telephone No.: __________________________ 

Address: _____________________________________ Fax No.: ________________________________ 

City: ________________________________________ State: _________ Zip Code: ________________ 

E-mail Address: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Estimated Artwork Completion Date: ______________________________________________________  

 

 

PROJECT APPLICANT REPRESENTATIVE 

Applicant/Representative  
Name: ______________________________________ Nickname (if any):________________________ 

Company Name:_______________________________________________________________________  

Address:______________________________________ E-mail Address:__________________________ 

City: _________________________________________ State: ________ Zip Code:__________________ 

X

20,000

Untitled (TBD upon completion)
Coachella Fire Department Station

Ceramic tile with pigmented glaze and clear glaze topcoat; exterior paint on remainder of wall 

Dimensions variable
Marnie L. Navarro 760-861-3188

PO Box 5743
Palm Springs CA 92263

mnavarro3@sva.edu
Install Dec 2021 (or sooner TBD)

Marnie L. Navarro

PO Box 5743 mnavarro3@sva.edu

Palm Springs CA 92263

Page 88

Item 15.



Telephone No.: _______________________________ Fax No.: ________________________________ 

I certify under penalty of perjury that all the application information is true and correct: 

Applicant’s Signature: __________________________________________       Date:______________ 

 

Date/Time Received: ____________ Received By: ____________ Amount Received: __________ 

A.P.P # ____________        Receipt No(s): ____________ 

 

 

 

SUBMITAL REQUIREMENTS 

The Submittal Requirements provides the basic information necessary for review by the Development 

Services Department (staff review by City Departments). The Development Services Department may 

determine that additional information is required before further processing can take place. 

 
a. Complete and signed Art in Public Places Application Form 
b. Copy of Fee Receipt for $___________ 
c. One overall concept drawing showing the work in plan, and; 
d. One rendered presentation drawing (plan and elevation), and; 
e. A site plan with building and grade elevation showing the placement of the proposed artwork, 

and; 
f. An artist concept statement, and; 
g. An artist resume or CV, and; 
h. Examples of artist’s previous work, and; 
i. Evidence of the value of the proposed artwork (contract draft showing contract value and 

payment schedule will be sufficient). 
j. Maintenance plan (including frequency and anticipated costs of maintenance and description of 

materials). 
 

 

 

 

 

 

760-861-3188 N/A

Date: 2021.04.26 16:23:16 
-07'00' 04/26/2021

N/A

Page 89

Item 15.



ARTWORK PROPOSAL AND SPECIFICATIONS 

Describe the artwork, its location, materials, installation requirements, and maintenance needs as 

completely as possible. You may use additional paper to complete this section of the application. 

 

1. Artwork Description 

 

 

 

2. Siting 

 

 

 

 

3. Materials with Specifications 

 

 

 

 

4. Fabrication and Installation Procedures 

 

 

 

 

5. Yearly Maintenance and Conservation 

 

 

Please see additional document with artwork description.

Fire department station building wall facing direction of City Hall.

Ceramic tile, pigmented glaze; tile mastic; grout w/ hardener; exterior acrylic paint.

Tiles are hand-painted in the studio & kiln fired; tiles installed onsite + wall painting

Application of anti-graffiti sealant and any lighting maintenance - in-kind via City

Page 90

Item 15.



Budget          Total AIPP FEE $____________ 
 
This worksheet is intended as a budgetary guideline to assist in developing accurate artwork cost 
projections. Once completed, this form should reflect all expenses associated with designing, 
fabricating, and installing the proposed artwork and should equal the public art fee. Differences in total 
expenses, which are less than the fee, will not be refunded at project completion. 
 
Travel       Transportation 
Airfare: _______________________    (Materials or finished artwork) 
Car Rental: ____________________ 
Per Diem@ 
$____________per day__________ 
 
Insurance _____________________   Installation Costs 
       Labor __________________________________ 
       Equipment Rental ________________________ 
Office/Studio __________________   Security ________________________________ 
(Phone, fax, postage, etc.)    Permits ________________________________ 
       Other __________________________________ 
 
Professional Fees 
Architect _____________________________________________________________________________ 
Landscape Architect ______________________  Engineer _______________________________ 
 
 
Other Costs (List) ______________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Fabrication Costs 
Materials _____________________________ 
Labor ________________________________  Contingency ____________________________ 
 
Site Preparation     Subtotal _______________________________ 
Landscaping __________________________ 
Electrical ____________________________  Artist Fee ______________________________ 
Plumbing ____________________________ 
Foundation ___________________________  Grand Total _____________________________ 
Other _______________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

$20000

0
0

0 0

0

$2000 kiln fees

$3,500 tile installation, grouting, + transport
TBD

0
0

0

0
0 0

$1000 install materials - tile adhesive, grout, hardener, and misc. supplies (sponges, trowels, buckets, mixer, etc.)

$2000 ceramic tiles, glazes, exterior acrylic

$6500 hand-painting and firing tiles 0

$5000

$20,000

Tile & materials all inclusive of install

Page 91

Item 15.



WORK PLAN/ARTWORK PRODUCTION SCHEDULE (suggested) 

 

Phase I  Design Development 
  Date: 

a. Conceptual design approval by Art in Public Places Commission and City 
Council 

b. Start up meeting with client 
c. Design Development 

Phase II  Design Completion and Commencement of Fabrication & Site Work 
  Date: 

a. Structural approval (client) 
b. Order materials 
c. Begin fabrication 

Phase III Studio Fabrication Completion 
  Date: 

a. Break out fabrication points 
Phase IV Installation Completion 
  Date: 

a. Acquisition of all appropriate certificates and permits 
b. Site preparation 
c. Installation of artwork on site 
d. Site clean up  

Phase V  Final Acceptance 
  Date: 

a. Notification of Completion received by City staff 
b. Final approval from Art in Public Places Commission and City Council 

(submit letter requesting approval) 
c. Application of Certificate of Occupancy 
d. Submittal of Project Completion Notification and request for return of funds 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92

Item 15.



Marnie L. Navarro 
PO BOX 5743 PALM SPRINGS, CA 92263 
E-Mail: mnavarro3@sva.edu
 
Education 
The School Of Visual Arts, Manhattan, New York 06/2014 – 08/2016 
MFA - Art Practice (Interdisciplinary Practice) 

Santa Barbara City College 01/2014 – 12/2015 
Medical Coding Specialist Certificate Program 

California State University San Bernardino 09/2008 – 06/2011 
BA - Studio Art 

California State University San Bernardino 09/2006 – 06/2008 
BA - Psychology 

Instituto Allende (University of Guadalajara), San Miguel de Allende, Mexico 06/2003 – 08/2003 
Summer Residency in Studio Art (Painting, Sculpture, Silversmithing) 

International School of Art, Todi, Italy 06/2001 – 08/2001 
Summer Residency in Studio Art (Painting and Drawing) 

Selected Exhibitions 
The 149: Contemporary Thoughts on the Lynchings of Mexicans 02/2019 
Desert X Parallel Project 
Coachella Valley Art Center, Indio, CA 

The Light Which Reveals the Alarming Ghosts 08/2018 
LIFEWORK Pop-Up @ Coachella Valley Art Center, Indio, CA 

what I Am Allowed to Be 01/2017 
University of Law, La Verne, CA 

The Art Army 07/2016 
Solo Exhibition 
XY Atelier, NYC, NY 

All or Nothing 12/2015 
LIFEWORK Pop-Up @ SPACE Gallery, Pomona, CA 

Sensing Elsewhere (Here) 07/2015 
SVA Chelsea Gallery - New York City, NY 

The Company We Keep 01/2015 
LIFEWORK Pop-Up @ Marks Art Center 
College of the Desert, Palm Desert, CA 

Page 93

Item 15.

mailto:mnavarro3@sva.edu


Page  2
Selected Projects 
The Sky’s The Limit Current Project 
Commissioned tile mural for Nellie Coffman Middle School (PSUSD) 
Cathedral City, CA 

Raices Cultura for Dateland Park Skate Park 12/2020 
Project manager and co-educator; Youth artist team public art project 
Coachella, CA 

Somos Sagrados 11/2020 
Curator for special exhibition, Raices Cultura Dia de Los Muertos at Sunnylands 
Rancho Mirage, CA 

Dream In Color 03/2019 
Collaborative mural with Ed Wenzlaf high school students, (PSUSD) 
Desert Hot Springs, CA 

Amor Universal 10/2018 
Public Art Installation - Invitational The House that Art Built 
City of Indio, CA 

8-Bit Frida 03/2018 
Commissioned tile mural for the Agnes Pelton Society 
Cathedral City, CA 

Raices Cultura for Coachella Music and Arts Festival 2017 – Present 
Art & Creative Director for youth-led festival art installation 

Empowerment Through Art 2016 – Present 
Founder of after-school advanced art program 

LIFEWORK Gallery 10/2011 – Present 
Owner and curator of exhibitions 
Palm Springs, CA / Various

Page 94

Item 15.



Marnie L. Navarro is a Coachella Valley-based multidisciplinary artist, educator, owner 
of LIFEWORK Gallery, and lifelong Valley resident. She holds a B.A. in Psychology and 
a post-baccalaureate degree in Studio Art from California State University, San 
Bernardino, and an M.F.A. in Interdisciplinary Practice from the School of Visual Arts, 
New York. 

Ms. Navarro’s art practice is a combination of a studio-based orientation which 
includes painting, photography, printmaking, video and sound installation, 
performance, as well as public art and a community-based orientation which includes 
art education programs, curatorial projects, and public programming. Her artworks are 
driven by continuous inquiries into the complexity of the psyche, highlighting human 
interconnectedness and behavioral motivation, with projects often resolving in 
unrelated forms such as political paintings, provocative video & sound work, and 
anonymous public interventions. 
 
In 2016, she spearheaded an after-school arts program Empowerment Through Art 
with Palm Springs Unified School District which focuses on empowering youth through 
art and a positive peer dynamic. In 2019, this program was awarded an Anderson 
Children’s Foundation grant to provide this offering within community center settings. 
Ms. Navarro is a champion of arts access for everyone and wholeheartedly believes in 
the power of art to transform individuals and communities.


Along with her experience in the visual arts, Ms. Navarro brings business world 
acumen with 15+ years of Health Information Management experience in both the non-
profit and private sectors. She is a SEED Lab Fellow with the Caravanserai Project, a 
program for entrepreneurs focused on social impact endeavors at the University of 
California, Riverside. She currently serves as the Executive Director of Raices Cultura, 
a role which enables her to merge the skills and knowledge as an administrator with 
her excellence in and love for the Arts. 

Page 95

Item 15.



Work Samples


Page 96

Item 15.








Page 97

Item 15.






Page 98

Item 15.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Gabriel Perez, Development Services Director  

SUBJECT: Authorize the Development Services Department to advertise a Request for 

Qualifications (RFQ) for Professional Planning Consultant Services. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council authorize the Development Services Department to 

advertise a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for Professional Planning Consultant Services. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Development Services Department regularly conducts long-range planning initiatives, both 

City-initiated or mandated by the State of California that requires professional expertise and 

resources not available in-house, such as General Plan Updates, Housing Element Updates, 

Comprehensive Zoning Code amendments, design services, environmental review and community 

plan development.  Additionally, the Department has historically augmented staff’s project 

management capacity on an as-needed basis from planning consultants for current planning 

projects that require discretionary approvals such as cannabis-related projects and La Entrada, 

Desert Lakes, and Vista del Agua Specific Plans.   

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The Development Services Department requests authorization to advertise an RFQ that increase 

the professional bench available for consultant services to City staff on an as-needed basis for a 

period of up to 4 years. There are several projects of significance that will require consultant 

services as follows: 

 Zoning Ordinance/General Plan Consistency Updates: the Zoning Map is inconsistent 

with the General Plan, which has created confusion for residents and the development 

community with respect to land use a development standards.  Currently, The current 

zoning inconsistency results in added costs to residents and developers to rezone property 

and costs to the City to procure professional services to rezone properties to address 

housing capacity for the 5th Cycle Housing Element.   

 Pueblo Viejo Implementation Strategy Plan: On October 23, 2019 Council directed staff 

prepare General Plan Amendment, Zoning Ordinance Amendments, and related 

environmental assessments. Work on this Council directive has yet to commence. 

Page 99

Item 16.



 Coachella Industrial District Build-out Environmental Impact Report (EIR): The City 

Manager will present a future recommendation to Council to pursue a build-out EIR as an 

incentive to attract future industrial development. 

 

The following service categories identify areas the Department will need assistance:   

 

SERVICE CATEGORY SPECIFIC TASKS 

Project Management/Entitlements 

Seeking firms, with a variety of skills, to provide senior 

or principal-level project management assistance on 
major development projects and activities. Selected 

firm(s) will receive general direction from the City’s 

Development Services Director to provide essential 

services as a Project Planner for a specific project(s). 

Long Range Planning 

Work with planning staff on long range planning 

efforts including General Plan Updates and 

amendments, community plans, Zoning Ordinances 

and Zoning Ordinance updates, General Plan and 
Zoning Consistency, and Housing Elements. 

Environmental Review Analysis 

Environmental consultant to prepare CEQA and NEPA 

documents including but not limited to: drafting an 

Initial Study, a Notice of Preparation (NOP), a 

Focused EIR, a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting 

Program, all other required noticing, and supporting 
technical studies, as needed. 

Fiscal Impact Analysis 

Economic/fiscal consultant for comprehensive analysis 

of a proposed project that takes into account increased 

expenditures and revenues in order to evaluate whether 

the proposed new development could generate sufficient 

net positive fiscal impact for the City’s General Fund. 

Respondents shall also provide information on their 

experience with calculating public benefits/value capture 

for larger development projects seeking City 

concessions/land-use changes. Further analysis could 

include: jobs impact/employment generation analysis, 

Opportunity Zone analysis, and other services required 

by the City to process development applications within 

Specific Plans. 

Design Review 
Design professional for architectural design and site 
plan review of development proposals. 

Landscape Architecture 

Design professional for landscape design, including 
creating landscape plans or reviewing submitted 
landscape plans for development project to 
determine quality design and consistency with City 
standards. 

Page 100

Item 16.



ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Authorize the City Manager to advertise the Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for Professional 

Services and allow the City Manager to administratively amend the RFQ (Attachment 1) as 

necessary. 

2. Continue this item and provide staff direction.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

There is no direct fiscal impact.  All professional services utilized will be based on budgeted 

projects or authorized appropriations by the City Council for project-related services. 

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 
 

Staff recommends Alternative #1 as noted above.  

 
 

Attachment:    

1. Draft Request for Qualifications for Consultant Planning Services 

 

Page 101

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 

 -1- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
FOR 

CONSULTANT PLANNING SERVICES 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1515 6th Street 
Coachella, CA 92236 

 

 
  

Page 102

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 

 -2- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

CITY OF COACHELLA 
REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 

CONSULTANT PLANNING SERVICES   

INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS  

 
 

I. GENERAL  

The City of Coachella (“City”) has prepared this Request for Qualification (“RFQ”) and is 
requesting proposals from qualified and interested consultant firms1 (“Proposers”) to provide 
planning-related services.  All Proposers shall be properly licensed for the performance of the 
Services in accordance with California law.    

II. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

The scope of services (“Services”) sought under this RFQ are set forth in more detail in Exhibit 
“A”, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 

The City intends to enter into multiple agreements for the various Services being sought. As 
needed, the City may enter into contract with multiple individuals or firms who provide the same 
Services. Consultant Services will be on an as-needed, on-call basis. Due to the as-needed 
nature of the work, no work is guaranteed on a contract, even if awarded. The term of the 
agreement will be 3-4 years and the scope of work will vary and will be requested on a task order 
basis as the need arises. 

Notwithstanding the inclusion of such Services in the RFQ, the final scope of Services negotiated 
between City and the successful Proposer shall be set forth in the Professional Services 
Agreement (“Agreement”) executed by and between City and the successful Proposer.  A copy 
of the Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein by this reference.   

III. PUBLIC WORKS PREVAILING WAGE AND DIR CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION 

Certain labor categories under this project may be subject to prevailing wages as identified in the 
State of California Labor Code commencing at sections 1720 et seq. and 1770 et seq.  If 
applicable, employees working in these categories at the site must be paid not less than the basic 
hourly rates of pay and fringe benefits established by the California Department of Industrial 
Relations (“DIR”). Copies of the State of California wage schedules are available for review at 
www.dir.ca.gov/dlsr/. In addition, a copy of the prevailing rate of per diem wages will be made 
available at the City’s office upon request.  The successful Proposer shall post a copy of the 
prevailing wage rates at each job site.  It shall be mandatory upon the Proposer to whom the 
Agreement is awarded, and upon any subcontractors, to comply with all Labor Code provisions, 
which include but are not limited to the payment of not less than the said specified prevailing wage 
rates to all workers employed by them in the execution of the Agreement, employment of 
apprentices, hours of labor and debarment of contractors and subcontractors.  

Pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 1771.1, all contractors and subcontractors that wish 

                                                
1Use of the term “firm” shall mean individual proprietorship, partnership, Limited Liability Company, 
corporation or joint venture. 

Page 103

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 

 -3- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

to bid on, be listed in a bid proposal, or enter into a contract to perform public work must be 
registered with the DIR.  No proposal will be accepted nor any contract entered into without proof 
of the Proposer’s and subcontractors’ current registration with the DIR to perform public work.  If 
awarded a contract, the Proposer and its subcontractors, of any tier, shall maintain active 
registration with the DIR for the duration of the project.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
contractor registration requirements mandated by Labor Code Sections 1725.5 and 1771.1 shall 
not apply to work performed on a public works project that is exempt pursuant to the small project 
exemption specified in Labor Code Sections 1725.5 and 1771.1. The contract awarded pursuant 
to this proposal may also be subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the DIR.  

IV. CITY CONTACT  

The principal contact for the City will be [***NAME***], [***TITLE***], ([***telephone #***]), 
([***email***]) or a designated representative, who will coordinate the assistance to be provided 
by the City to the Proposer.  

V. REQUESTS FOR CLARIFICATION 

All questions, requests for interpretations or clarifications, either administrative or technical must 
be requested in writing and directed to the City Contact, identified above.  All written questions, if 
answered, will be answered in writing, conveyed to all interested firms, and posted on the City’s 
website. Oral statements by any persons should be considered unverified information unless 
confirmed in writing. To ensure a response, questions must be received in writing by 2:00 p.m. 
local time five (5) working days prior to the proposal deadline. 

VI. PRE-PROPOSAL MEETING 

Each Proposer is requested to attend a [***INSERT “mandatory” or “non-mandatory”***] pre-
proposal meeting to be held on [***INSERT DATE***], from __ pm to __  pm at [***INSERT 
LOCATION***].  Failure to attend this meeting [***INSERT “will” or “will not”***] preclude a 
Proposer from submitting a proposal.  Attendance at the pre-proposal meeting will ensure the 
Proposer understands the full scope of the Services requested. 

VII. PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS 

Proposal responses must adhere to the requirements set forth in this section, both for content 
and sequence.  Failure to adhere to these requirements or the inclusion of conditions, limitations 
or misrepresentations may be cause for rejection of the submittal. Use 8-1/2” X 11” sheets 
(foldouts are acceptable for charts, etc.) and font size large enough to be easily legible, but not 
smaller than 10 point.  The original proposal and each subsequent copy must be submitted on 
paper, properly bound, appropriately tabbed and labeled in the following order: 

A. Cover Letter.  Provide a cover letter and introduction, including the name and 
address of the organization and individual submitting the proposal, together with the name, 
address, telephone and fax numbers, and e-mail address of the contact person who will be 
authorized to represent the organization, and an expression of the Proposer’s ability and desire 
to meet the requirements of this RFQ.  The letter must be signed by an individual authorized to 
bind the firm contractually. 

Page 104

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 

 -4- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

B. Proposer Statement Of Qualifications.  Describe the Proposer’s resources, 
experience, and capabilities as they relate to providing the Services.  Submit in the order identified 
below: 

1. Executive Summary.  An executive summary should briefly describe the 
Proposer’s qualifications and ability to perform the Services.   

2. Qualifications and Experience. The proposal should:  

a. Provide a description of how the Proposer’s experience, technical 
and professional skills will meet the goals and fulfill the general 
functions identified in this RFQ. 

b. Any key staff members who would be involved in the performance 
of the scope of work. Provide their resumes, describe their 
experience, and identify their proposed role for the Services.   

c. State the number of years the firm has conducted business. 

d. Provide a description of the three most relevant planning contracts 
held within the last five years. 

3. Evidence Of California Licensing. The proposal should include appropriate 
documentation showing the Proposer is properly licensed in the State of California to perform the 
Services. 

4. References. The Proposer shall provide a minimum of four (4) client 
references, preferably city, county, or special district governments for whom the Proposer has 
previously performed planning activities of similar type and scope within the last five (5) years.  

5. Subcontractors.  The Proposer shall identify functions that are likely to be 
subcontracted and identify the subcontractor that is anticipated to perform each function, if known 
at this time. 

C. Proposed Method to Accomplish the Work. Describe the technical and 
management approach to providing the Services to the City.  Proposer should take into account 
the scope of the Services, goals of the City, and general functions required.   

D. Certification of Proposal.  This section shall state: “The undersigned hereby 
submits its proposal and, by doing so, agrees to furnish services to the City in accordance with 
the Request for Qualifications (RFQ), and to be bound by the terms and conditions of the RFQ.”  

E. Cost Proposal.  Proposer shall submit a detailed schedule of hourly rates for all 
staff positions that would be assigned to the proposed Services. Any additional proposed costs 
should also be described in this section. To be considered for more than service category listed 
the Scope of Services, the Proposer should submit a separate cost structure for each, clearly 
delineated. 

VIII. PROPOSAL CONSIDERATIONS 

Page 105

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 

 -5- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

A. No Deviations from the RFQ.  In submitting a proposal in response to this RFQ, 
Proposer is certifying that it takes no exceptions to this RFQ including, but not limited to, the 
Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “B”.  If any exceptions are taken, such exceptions must be 
clearly noted in the proposal and may be reason for rejection of the proposal.  As such, Proposer 
is directed to carefully review the proposed Agreement and, in particular, the insurance and 
indemnification provisions therein. 

B. Collusion.  By submitting a Proposal, each Proposer represents and warrants that 
its Proposal is genuine and not a sham or collusive or made in the interest of or on behalf of any 
person not named therein; that the Proposer has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any 
other person to submit a sham Proposal, or any other person to refrain from submitting a Proposal; 
and that the Proposer has not, in any manner, sought collusion to secure any improper advantage 
over any other person submitting a Proposal. 

C. Conflicts of Interest.  Proposers shall comply with all regulations and laws dealing 
with conflict of interest disclosure and reporting.  Proposers shall not be engaged if a conflict of 
interest exists. 

D. Withdrawal of Proposals.  A Proposer may withdraw its proposal before the 
expiration of the time for submission of proposals by notifying and requesting the City’s 
representative remove the Proposer’s submission. 

E. Financial Health and Reputation.  The City reserves the right to consider the 
financial responsibility and general complexity of each Proposer, as well as its reputation within 
the industry to determine if the Proposer has the apparent ability to meet and complete 
successfully the requirements of the work.  Upon request, the Proposer shall provide a financial 
statement, audited if necessary, in addition to any other information requested by the City. 

F. Confidentiality of Proposal.  Proposals submitted in response to this RFQ shall 
be held confidential by City and shall not be subject to disclosure under the California Public 
Records Act (Cal. Government Code section 6250 et seq.) until after either City and the successful 
Proposer have completed negotiations and entered into an Agreement or City has rejected all 
proposals.  All correspondence with the City including responses to this RFQ will become the 
exclusive property of the City and will become public records under the California Public Records 
Act.  The City will have no liability to the Proposer or other party as a result of any public disclosure 
of any proposal or the Agreement.  If a Proposer desires to exclude a portion of its proposal from 
disclosure under the California Public Records Act, the Proposer must mark it as such and state 
the specific provision in the California Public Records Act which provides the exemption as well 
as the factual basis for claiming the exemption.  For example, if a Proposer submits trade secret 
information, the Proposer must plainly mark the information as “Trade Secret” and refer to the 
appropriate section of the California Public Records Act which provides the exemption as well as 
the factual basis for claiming the exemption. If a request is made for information marked 
“Confidential”, “Trade Secret” or “Proprietary” (“Proprietary Information”), the City will provide 
Proposers who submitted the information with reasonable notice to seek protection from 
disclosure by a court of competent jurisdiction.  Proposer shall have five (5) working days after 
receipt of such notice to give City written notice of Proposer's objection to the City's release of 
Proprietary Information. Proposer shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, and its 
officers, directors, employees, and agents from and against all liability, loss, cost or expense 
(including attorney's fees) arising out of a legal action brought to compel the release of Proprietary 
Information.  Proposals which indiscriminately identify all or most of the proposal as exempt from 

Page 106

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 

 -6- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

disclosure without justification may be deemed unresponsive and disqualified from further 
participation in this RFQ. 

IX. EVALUATION CRITERIA  

The proposal evaluation criteria includes:  

• The training, credentials and experience of the Proposer; 

• The demonstrated competence, ability, capacity and skill of the person or firm to perform 
the contract or provide the Services; 

• The capacity of the Proposer to perform the contract or provide the Services promptly, 
within the time specified, and without delay; 

• The sufficiency of the Proposer's financial and other resources; 

• The character, integrity, reputation and judgment of the Proposer; 

• The ability of the Proposer to provide such future service as may be needed; and 

• The price which the Proposer proposes to charge, including whether the price is fair, 
reasonable and competitive, 

During the evaluation process, the City reserves the right, where it may serve the City's best 
interest, to request additional information or clarifications from Proposers, or to allow corrections 
of errors or omissions.  It is the City’s intent to select Proposers best evidencing demonstrated 
competence and professional qualification to perform the Services.   

Following the City’s ranking and determination of the prequalified list of Proposers, the City 
reserves the right to contract with any or none of the prequalified firms. 

Upon selection of Proposers, the City will endeavor to negotiate a mutually agreeable agreement 
with the selected Proposer.  The City reserves the right to contract for services in the manner that 
most benefits the City.  After negotiating a proposed Agreement that is fair and reasonable, City 
staff will make the final recommendation to the City Council concerning the proposed Agreement.  
The City Council has the final authority to approve or reject the Agreement. 

X. SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS 

The proposal must be received no later than ___pm local time, on or before [***INSERT DATE***] 
at the office of: 

City of Coachella 
1515 6th Street  
Coachella, CA 92236 

The envelope should clearly indicate "Proposal for (Project Name)" and Proposer's name and 
address shall appear in the upper left hand corner of the envelope. If more than one envelope is 
required, each envelope shall be legibly numbered below the name of the Proposer, e.g. Envelope 
1 of 3, as required. 

Page 107

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 

 -7- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

The City will not be responsible for proposals that are delinquent, lost, incorrectly marked, sent to 
an address other than that given herein, or sent by mail or courier service and not signed for by 
the City.  Proposals received after this date will be returned to the Proposers unopened. Faxed 
or electronically submitted proposals will not be accepted. 

XI. PROTESTS 

A. Protest Contents. Protests based on the content of the RFQ shall be submitted 
to the City no later than ten (10) calendar days prior to the scheduled proposal submittal deadline. 
If necessary, the proposal submittal deadline may be extended pending a resolution of the protest.  
Proposer may protest a contract award if the Proposer believes that the award was inconsistent 
with City policy or this RFQ is not in compliance with law.  A protest must be filed in writing with 
the City (email is not acceptable) within five (5) business days after receipt of notification of the 
intended contract award. Any protest submitted after 5 p.m. of the fifth business day after 
notification of the intended contract award will be rejected by the City as invalid and the Proposer’s 
failure to timely file a protest will waive the Proposer’s right to protest the contract award.  The 
Proposer’s protest must include supporting documentation, legal authorities in support of the 
grounds for the protest and the name, address and telephone number of the person representing 
the Proposer for purposes of the protest.  Any matters not set forth in the protest shall be deemed 
waived. 

B. City Review. The City will review and evaluate the basis of the protest provided 
the protest is filed in strict conformity with the foregoing. The City shall provide the Proposer 
submitting the protest with a written statement concurring with or denying the protest. Action by 
the City relative to the protest will be final and not subject to appeal or reconsideration.  The 
procedure and time limits set forth in this section are mandatory and are the Proposer’s sole and 
exclusive remedy in the event of protest. Failure to comply with these procedures will constitute 
a waiver of any right to further pursue the protest, including filing a Government Code claim or 
legal proceedings. 

XII. ADDENDA  

The City reserves the right to revise the RFQ prior to the time set to receive proposals.  Revisions, 
if any, shall be made by written addenda.  All addenda issued by the City shall be included in the 
proposal and made part of the RFQ.  Each Proposer shall leave with City its name, address, 
phone and fax numbers, and e-mail address for the purpose of receiving Addenda.  City will cause 
copies of addenda to be mailed, faxed, delivered or e-mailed to such names at such addresses.  
Proposers are responsible for ensuring that they have received any and all addenda.  Each 
Proposer should contact the City to verify that it has received all addenda issued, if any, prior to 
the bid opening.  Failure to acknowledge receipt of all addenda may result in bid rejection. 

XIII. GENERAL CONDITIONS  

A. Amendments to Proposals.  Unless specifically requested by the City, no 
amendment, addendum or modification will be accepted after a proposal has been submitted to 
City.  If a change to a proposal that has been submitted is desired, the submitted proposal must 
be withdrawn and the replacement proposal submitted prior to the deadline stated herein for 
receiving proposals. 

Page 108

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 

 -8- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

B. Non-Responsive Proposals.  A proposal may be considered non-responsive if 
conditional, incomplete, or if it contains alterations of form, additions not called for, or other 
irregularities that may constitute a material change to the proposal. 

C. Costs for Preparing.  The City will not compensate any Proposer for the cost of 
preparing any proposal, and all materials submitted with a proposal shall become the property of 
the City. The City will retain all proposals submitted and may use any idea in a proposal regardless 
of whether that proposal is selected. 

D. Cancellation.  City reserves the right to cancel this request for proposals at any 
time prior to contract award without obligation in any manner for proposal preparation, interview, 
fee negotiation or other associated marketing costs. 

E. Price Validity.  Prices provided by Proposers are valid for 90 days from the 
proposal due date. The City intends to award the contract within this time but may request an 
extension from the Proposers to hold pricing, until negotiations are complete and the contract is 
awarded. 

F. No Commitment to Award.  Issuance of request for qualifications and receipt of 
proposals does not commit the City to award a contract.  City expressly reserves the right to 
postpone the proposal for its own convenience, to accept or reject any or all proposals received, 
to negotiate with more than one Proposer concurrently, or to cancel all or part of this request for 
proposals. 

G. Right to Negotiate and/or Reject Proposals.  City reserves the right to negotiate 
any price or provision, task order or service, accept any part or all of any proposals, waive any 
irregularities, and to reject any and all, or parts of any and all proposals, whenever, in the sole 
opinion of City, such action shall serve its best interests and those of the tax-paying public.  The 
Agreement, if any is awarded, will go to the Proposer whose proposal best meets City’s 
requirements. 

 
END INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS 

 
 

Page 109

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 -9- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

EXHIBIT “A”  

PROPOSED SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The following is a general summary of the scope of Services.  

 

SERVICE CATEGORY SPECIFIC TASKS 

Project Management/Entitlements 

Seeking firms, with a variety of skills, to provide senior 
or principal-level project management assistance on 
major development projects and activities. Selected 
firm(s) will receive general direction from the City’s 
Development Services Director to provide essential 
services as a Project Planner for a specific project(s). 

Long Range Planning 

Work with planning staff on long range planning 
efforts including General Plan Updates and 
amendments, community plans, Zoning Ordinances 
and Zoning Ordinance updates, General Plan and 
Zoning Consistency, and Housing Elements. 

Environmental Review Analysis 

Environmental consultant to prepare CEQA and NEPA 
documents including but not limited to: drafting an 
Initial Study, a Notice of Preparation (NOP), a 
Focused EIR, a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting 
Program, all other required noticing, and supporting 
technical studies, as needed. 

Housing Needs Assessment 

Consultant to review planning applications for the 
purposes of determining a project’s impacts on the 
need for mixed income housing. Consultant would 
compare projected housing need to housing supply to 
estimate the size of expected housing deficits resulting 
from a project. 

Page 110

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 -10- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

Fiscal Impact Analysis 

Economic/fiscal consultant for comprehensive analysis 
of a proposed project that takes into account increased 
expenditures and revenues in order to evaluate whether 
the proposed new development could generate sufficient 
net positive fiscal impact for the City’s General Fund. 
Respondents shall also provide information on their 
experience with calculating public benefits/value capture 
for larger development projects seeking City 
concessions/land-use changes. Further analysis could 
include: jobs impact/employment generation analysis, 
Opportunity Zone analysis, and other services required 
by the City to process development applications within 
Specific Plans. 

Design Review Design professional for architectural design and site 
plan review of development proposals. 

Landscape Architecture 

Design professional for landscape design, including 
creating landscape plans or reviewing submitted 
landscape plans for development project to 
determine quality design and consistency with City 
standards. 

 
 

Page 111

Item 16.



80237.00000\34355417.1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 -11- RFQ FOR CONSULTANT PLANNING 
SERVICES 

 

EXHIBIT “B”  

CITY OF COACHELLA  
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
[ATTACH] 

 

 

Page 112

Item 16.



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

 

STAFF REPORT 

9/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director  

SUBJECT: Investment Report – June 2021 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council receive and file the investment report for June of 2021 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

On May 13, 2020, the City of Coachella along with its component units (Sanitary District, 

Educational & Governmental Access Cable Corporation, Fire Protection District and Water 

Authority) approved and adopted the current “Statement of Investment Policy”. 

 

Pursuant to Section 16 of that policy, the City Treasurer shall provide to the City Council a monthly 

investment report which provides a clear picture of the status of the current investment portfolio. 

This report shall include, at a minimum, the following information for each type of investment 

held in the City’s investment portfolio: the issuer; amount of investment; current market value; 

yield on investment; income generated from investments; dollar amount invested on all securities, 

investments and moneys held by the local agency; and shall additionally include a description of 

any of the local agency’s funds, investments, or programs; and a description of unusual investment 

activity or developments during the month for which the report is prepared. This information shall 

be provided for all City and component unit pooled investments, as well as for bond accounts, 

which are managed by outside Fiscal Agents. 

 

The interest rates presented are the most current rates available as of the date of these reports. The 

market values presented for pooled City investments are based on closing prices for the related 

investments as of the date of these reports. This information was obtained from the Wall Street 

Journal or other reliable sources of market prices. 

 

The Market values presented for investments managed by fiscal agents are based on amounts 

reported by the fiscal agent on their investment statements. The purchase date and type of 

investment are not included for funds held by fiscal agents. 

 

Page 113

Item 17.



Attached is the Treasurer’s Report of Investments which includes an overview on investments 

which provides information on investment activity, withdrawals and deposits, interest earned, 

payment of interest and payment of principal as of the months ended June 30, 2021. In addition, 

this report includes detailed information and current activity on individual investments. 

 

All City investments are in compliance with the guidelines established for Authorized Investments 

as specified in the Investment Policy, Section 8. 

 

There was no unusual investment activity to report. 

 

The City and Districts have sufficient moneys to meet their expenditure requirements for the next 

six months. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

None, this report is receive and file only. 

 

Page 114

Item 17.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED / PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 5/31/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 6/30/2021

CASH ON HAND

 Wells Fargo-General Checking N/A 18,279,350.88 (457,742.81)  -  -  -  17,821,608.07 ①

Wells Fargo-Road Maintenance N/A 1,832,787.87 67,756.56 -  -  -  1,900,544.43 ②

Wells Fargo-Gas Tax N/A 261,537.56 -  -  -  -  261,537.56 ③

 Mechanics Bank - Payroll Acct N/A 172,707.47 1,963.50 -  -  -  174,670.97 ④

Mechanics Bank-Gas Tax N/A (13.79)     (261,551.35)  -  -  171,427.17 ⑤

 Petty Cash N/A 3,500.00 -  -  -  -  3,500.00 ⑥

Total Cash on Hand 20,549,869.99 (649,574.10)  -  -  -  20,333,288.20 

INVESTMENTS

State of California - LAIF 0.26% 4,791,041.15 -  -  -  -  4,791,041.15 ⑦

Investment Management Acct 1.46% 20,630,097.78 - (152,790.95) -  -  20,477,306.83 ⑧

County of Riverside-Investment Pool 0.00% 165,871.68 (165,871.68)  -  -  -  -  ⑩

Total Investments 25,587,010.61 - (152,790.95) -  -  25,268,347.98 

CASH WITH FISCAL AGENT

Union Bank of California varies 471,511.86 (446,065.63)  4.23  -  -  25,450.46 ⑪

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 5.83% 265,702.46 (265,698.62)  -  -  -  3.84 ⑫

Wilmington Trust, N. A. 0.03% 4,798.12 1,222,688.20 - (0.99) - 

Total Cash with Fiscal Agent 742,012.44 510,923.95 4.23  (0.99)  - 1,252,939.63
1,227,485.33    ⑬

Grand Total 46,878,893.04   (138,650.15)       (152,786.72)           (0.99) - 46,854,575.81 

Completed By:

Reviewed By: Nathan Statham-Finance Director

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of June 30, 2021
Fiscal Year 2020-2021

DESCRIPTION

Carmin Torres

1 of 26Page 115

Item 17.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED / PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 5/31/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 6/30/2021

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of June 30, 2021
Fiscal Year 2020-2021

DESCRIPTION

INVESTMENTS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA LOCAL AGENCY INVESTMENT FUND (LAIF)

Successor Agency ( #004) 65-33-004 0.26% 2,496.32             -                      -                         2,496.32             
City General Account ( #171) 98-33-171 0.26% 2,892,170.74      -                      -                         2,892,170.74      
Coachella Sanitary District 70-33-001 0.26% 1,896,249.31      -                      -                         1,896,249.31      
Redevelopment Bonds 11-33-001 0.26% 124.78                -                      -                         124.78                

TOTAL LAIF ACCOUNTS 4,791,041.15      -                      -                         -                      -                      4,791,041.15      ⑦

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT ACC

PFM Funds 1.46% 20,630,097.78    -                      (152,790.95)           20,477,306.83
TOTAL INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT ACCT 20,630,097.78    -                      (152,790.95)           -                      -                      20,477,306.83    ⑧

COUNTY INVESTMENT POOL

County Of Riverside - Fire 0.00% 165,864.16         (165,864.16)        -                         -                      
County Of Riverside - Sanitary 0.00% 7.52                    (7.52)                   -                         -                      

TOTAL COUNTY INVESTMENT POOL 165,871.68         (165,871.68)       -                          -                       -                       -                       ⑩

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 25,587,010.61    (165,871.68)        (152,790.95)           -                      -                      25,268,347.98    

2 of 26Page 116

Item 17.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED / PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 5/31/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 6/30/2021

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of June 30, 2021
Fiscal Year 2020-2021

DESCRIPTION

CASH WITH FISCAL AGENT

UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY

CITY OF COACHELLA WATER: WATER REFUNDING BONDS 2012 SERIES
A/C #: 6712016201 Bond Fund 0.00% 1.50                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.50                    
A/C #: 6712016202 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712016203 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712016204 Reserve Fund 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    

COACHELLA FINANCING AUTHORITY

Successor Agency to the Coachella Redevelopments Agency 2014 Series
A/C #: 6712104701 Debt Service Fund 0.00% 1.66                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.66                    
A/C #: 6712104702 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712104703 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712104704 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    

COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT

WASTEWATER SERIES 2015A
A/C #: 6712148601 Bond Fund 0.00% 2.36                    -                      -                         -                      -                      2.36                    
A/C #: 6712148602 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712148603 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712148604 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    
A/C #: 6712148605 Redemption Fund 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      

COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT: PROJECT FUND 2011
A/C #: 6711963500 Project Fund 2011 0.01% 25,269.44           -                      0.20                        -                      -                      25,269.64           

3 of 26Page 117

Item 17.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED / PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 5/31/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 6/30/2021

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of June 30, 2021
Fiscal Year 2020-2021

DESCRIPTION

COACHELLA SUCCESSOR AGENCY
MERGED PROJECT AREAS BONDS 98 & 99: BONDS 2013
A/C #: 6712071401 Interest Account 0.00% 1.24                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.24                    
A/C #: 6712071402 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712071403 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712071404 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    

SA TO COACHELLA RDA REFUNDING BONDS SERIES 2016A & 2016B
A/C #: 6712160601 Debt Service 0.00% 2.62                    -                      -                         -                      -                      2.62                    
A/C #: 6712160602 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712160603 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712160604 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    

COACHELLA LEASE BONDS 2016
A/C #: 6712179801 Payment Account 0.00% 446,066.63         (446,065.63)        4.03                        -                      -                      5.03                    
A/C #: 6712179802 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712179803 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712179804 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    
A/C #: 6712179805 Project Fund 0.02% 160.41                -                      -                         -                      -                      160.41                

TOTAL UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA 471,511.86         (446,065.63)       4.23                        -                       -                       25,450.46           ⑪

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.

GAS TAX BONDS SERIES 2019
A/C #: 83925300 Debt Service Fund 0.00% 2.46                    -                      -                      -                      2.46                    
A/C #: 83925301 Interest Account 0.00% 90,700.00           (90,699.53)          -                      -                      0.47                    
A/C #: 83925302 Principal Account 0.00% 175,000.00         (174,999.09)        -                      -                      0.91                    
A/C #: 83925304 Reserve Fund 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      

TOTAL WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 265,702.46         (265,698.62)       -                          -                       -                       3.84                     ⑫

4 of 26Page 118

Item 17.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED /  PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 5/31/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 6/30/2021

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of June 30, 2021
Fiscal Year 2020-2021

DESCRIPTION

WILMINGTON TRUST, N. A.

CITY OF COACHELLA TAXABLE PENSION OBLIGATION BONDS
A/C #: 144613-001 Interest Account 0.00% -                      227,485.33 - - - 227,485.33         
A/C #: 144613-002 Principal Account 0.00% -                      1,000,000.00 - - - 1,000,000.00      
A/C #: 144613-003 Cost of Issuance 0.00% 4,798.12             (4,797.13)            - (0.99) - - 
A/C #: 144613-004 Unfunded Liability 0.00% - - - - - - 

TOTAL WILMINGTGON TRUST BANK, N.A. 4,798.12              1,222,688.20      ‐  (0.99) ‐  1,227,485.33       ⑬

TOTAL CASH WITH FISCAL AGENT 742,012.44         510,923.95         4.23 (0.99)  - 1,252,939.63 

5 of 26Page 119

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

U.S. Treasury Bond / Note

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/01/2016 1.750% 01/31/2023

 25,617.19  24,562.69  182.49  23,806.64 10/04/1810/02/18AaaAA+ 25,000.00 912828P38 2.93

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/29/2016 1.500% 02/28/2023

 531,212.50  509,985.30  2,607.07  491,968.75 07/05/1807/02/18AaaAA+ 520,000.00 912828P79 2.74

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 03/31/2016 1.500% 03/31/2023

 189,162.50  182,116.88  697.54  178,185.35 02/12/1902/08/19AaaAA+ 185,000.00 912828Q29 2.44

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 08/01/2016 1.250% 07/31/2023

 142,865.63  137,146.69  729.97  134,071.88 04/04/1904/02/19AaaAA+ 140,000.00 912828S92 2.28

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/15/2013 2.750% 11/15/2023

 375,301.56  356,817.82  1,246.84  358,591.60 03/08/1903/06/19AaaAA+ 355,000.00 912828WE6 2.52

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2016 2.125% 11/30/2023

 479,837.50  455,935.84  827.94  451,770.31 01/09/1901/07/19AaaAA+ 460,000.00 912828U57 2.52

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2018 2.625% 12/31/2023

 73,959.38  70,105.70  4.99  70,207.81 01/31/1901/30/19AaaAA+ 70,000.00 9128285U0 2.56

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 05/01/2017 2.000% 04/30/2024

 684,065.63  656,713.50  2,207.07  657,967.97 06/05/1906/03/19AaaAA+ 655,000.00 912828X70 1.90

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 07/31/2017 2.125% 07/31/2024

 131,308.60  126,194.96  1,107.99  126,933.59 08/05/1908/01/19AaaAA+ 125,000.00 9128282N9 1.80

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 08/31/2017 1.875% 08/31/2024

 469,406.25  457,445.32  2,820.14  461,724.61 09/05/1909/03/19AaaAA+ 450,000.00 9128282U3 1.33

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 10/02/2017 2.125% 09/30/2024

 310,303.13  300,736.80  1,575.75  303,815.43 10/03/1910/01/19AaaAA+ 295,000.00 9128282Y5 1.50

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 10/31/2019 1.500% 10/31/2024

 257,968.75  259,709.29  631.79  261,064.45 01/12/2101/11/21AaaAA+ 250,000.00 912828YM6 0.33

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2017 2.125% 11/30/2024

 447,644.51  431,867.65  764.94  434,844.73 01/07/2001/03/20AaaAA+ 425,000.00 9128283J7 1.63

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2017 2.125% 11/30/2024

 610,903.10  588,158.34  1,043.92  591,917.19 12/04/1912/02/19AaaAA+ 580,000.00 9128283J7 1.69

6 of 26Page 120

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

U.S. Treasury Bond / Note

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/17/2015 2.000% 02/15/2025

 136,459.38  135,277.92  976.80  137,205.86 03/04/2003/02/20AaaAA+ 130,000.00 912828J27 0.85

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2020 0.375% 12/31/2025

 186,378.12  185,716.40  1.94  185,494.92 04/07/2104/05/21AaaAA+ 190,000.00 91282CBC4 0.89

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2020 0.375% 12/31/2025

 343,328.13  348,067.07  3.56  347,867.19 01/12/2101/11/21AaaAA+ 350,000.00 91282CBC4 0.50

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2019 2.625% 01/31/2026

 275,878.13  279,935.08  2,792.14  282,063.87 02/08/2102/04/21AaaAA+ 255,000.00 9128286A3 0.47

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2021 0.375% 01/31/2026

 264,600.00  264,798.34  422.34  264,410.16 02/26/2102/26/21AaaAA+ 270,000.00 91282CBH3 0.80

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/28/2021 0.500% 02/28/2026

 305,253.13  305,948.18  518.07  305,676.95 03/09/2103/05/21AaaAA+ 310,000.00 91282CBQ3 0.79

US TREASURY N/B NOTES

DTD 05/31/2021 0.750% 05/31/2026

 417,571.90  419,094.86  266.80  419,081.25 06/04/2106/02/21AaaAA+ 420,000.00 91282CCF6 0.79

 21,430.09  6,659,025.02  6,496,334.63  1.58  6,488,670.51  6,460,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Supra-National Agency Bond / Note

INTL BK RECON & DEVELOP NOTES

DTD 11/24/2020 0.250% 11/24/2023

 149,569.20  149,742.00  38.54  149,677.50 11/24/2011/17/20AaaAAA 150,000.00 459058JM6 0.32

 38.54  149,569.20  149,742.00  0.32  149,677.50  150,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Municipal Bond / Note

CA ST TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 10/24/2019 2.400% 10/01/2023

 199,266.30  192,173.27  1,140.00  193,801.90 10/24/1910/16/19Aa2AA- 190,000.00 13063DRJ9 1.87

MS ST TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 08/06/2020 0.565% 11/01/2024

 198,916.00  200,000.00  188.33  200,000.00 08/06/2007/24/20Aa2AA 200,000.00 605581MZ7 0.57

OR ST DEPT TRANS TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/17/2020 0.566% 11/15/2024

 134,658.45  135,000.00  97.64  135,000.00 09/17/2009/11/20Aa1AAA 135,000.00 68607DVA0 0.57

7 of 26Page 121

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Municipal Bond / Note

FL ST BOARD OF ADMIN TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/16/2020 1.258% 07/01/2025

 40,398.80  40,236.23  251.60  40,282.80 09/16/2009/03/20Aa3AA 40,000.00 341271AD6 1.11

FL ST BOARD OF ADMIN TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/16/2020 1.258% 07/01/2025

 111,096.70  110,000.00  691.90  110,000.00 09/16/2009/03/20Aa3AA 110,000.00 341271AD6 1.26

LOS ANGELES CCD, CA TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 11/10/2020 0.773% 08/01/2025

 80,022.40  80,000.00  257.67  80,000.00 11/10/2010/30/20AaaAA+ 80,000.00 54438CYK2 0.77

NJ TURNPIKE AUTHORITY TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 02/04/2021 1.047% 01/01/2026

 39,867.20  40,000.00  171.01  40,000.00 02/04/2101/22/21A2A+ 40,000.00 646140DP5 1.05

 2,798.15  804,225.85  797,409.50  1.06  799,084.70  795,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Federal Agency Collateralized Mortgage Obligation

FNA 2018-M5 A2

DTD 04/01/2018 3.560% 09/01/2021

 2,311.69  2,314.03  6.86  2,357.67 04/30/1804/11/18AaaAA+ 2,311.69 3136B1XP4 2.93

FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 05/01/2015 2.791% 01/01/2022

 159,661.65  158,558.51  368.34  159,357.80 05/21/1905/16/19AaaAA+ 158,368.00 3137BHXY8 2.54

FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 11/01/2015 2.716% 06/01/2022

 101,535.91  100,072.64  226.33  100,250.00 04/05/1904/02/19AaaAA+ 100,000.00 3137BLUR7 2.63

FHLMC SERIES K721 A2

DTD 12/01/2015 3.090% 08/01/2022

 101,086.50  99,149.49  254.76  99,780.17 04/09/1804/04/18AaaAA+ 98,937.66 3137BM6P6 2.88

FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 12/01/2012 2.307% 08/01/2022

 101,849.93  100,553.19  192.25  101,476.56 09/09/1909/04/19AaaAA+ 100,000.00 3137AWQH1 1.78

FANNIEMAE-ACES

DTD 04/01/2014 3.346% 03/01/2024

 114,171.56  110,437.16  298.72  112,339.82 12/18/1912/13/19AaaAA+ 107,133.79 3136AJB54 2.14

FHMS K043 A2

DTD 03/01/2015 3.062% 12/01/2024

 118,198.65  113,974.94  280.68  115,448.44 03/25/2003/19/20AaaAA+ 110,000.00 3137BGK24 1.95

 1,627.94  698,815.89  685,059.96  2.33  691,010.46  676,751.14 Security Type Sub-Total

Federal Agency Bond / Note

8 of 26Page 122

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Federal Agency Bond / Note

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/10/2017 1.875% 04/05/2022

 354,735.15  349,991.62  1,567.71  349,947.50 06/29/1706/27/17AaaAA+ 350,000.00 3135G0T45 1.88

FREDDIE MAC NOTES (CALLABLE)

DTD 08/06/2020 0.300% 02/06/2023

 465,100.91  465,000.00  561.88  465,000.00 08/06/2008/03/20AaaAA+ 465,000.00 3134GWLD6 0.30

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 05/22/2020 0.250% 05/22/2023

 305,111.94  304,421.50  82.60  304,081.95 05/22/2005/20/20AaaAA+ 305,000.00 3135G04Q3 0.35

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 06/11/2018 2.750% 06/19/2023

 524,603.00  501,553.75  458.33  503,510.00 01/09/1901/07/19AaaAA+ 500,000.00 3137EAEN5 2.58

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 06/26/2020 0.250% 06/26/2023

 175,032.73  174,661.67  6.08  174,489.00 06/26/2006/24/20AaaAA+ 175,000.00 3137EAES4 0.35

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 07/10/2020 0.250% 07/10/2023

 279,956.04  279,593.72  332.50  279,398.00 07/10/2007/08/20AaaAA+ 280,000.00 3135G05G4 0.32

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 08/21/2020 0.250% 08/24/2023

 184,929.70  184,865.26  163.16  184,811.30 08/21/2008/19/20AaaAA+ 185,000.00 3137EAEV7 0.28

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 09/14/2018 2.875% 09/12/2023

 348,761.16  329,692.54  2,872.60  329,333.40 12/06/1812/03/18AaaAA+ 330,000.00 3135G0U43 2.92

FEDERAL FARM CREDIT BANK (CALLABLE)

DTD 09/21/2020 0.250% 09/21/2023

 249,550.25  249,679.57  173.61  249,575.00 10/09/2010/07/20AaaAA+ 250,000.00 3133EMAM4 0.31

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 12/04/2020 0.250% 12/04/2023

 64,878.00  64,947.93  12.19  64,935.65 12/04/2012/02/20AaaAA+ 65,000.00 3137EAFA2 0.28

FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANKS NOTES

DTD 12/09/2013 3.375% 12/08/2023

 204,036.63  192,812.66  409.69  195,600.04 01/31/1901/30/19AaaAA+ 190,000.00 3130A0F70 2.72

FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK NOTES

DTD 04/16/2020 0.500% 04/14/2025

 198,821.80  199,247.84  213.89  199,008.00 04/16/2004/15/20AaaAA+ 200,000.00 3130AJHU6 0.60

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/24/2020 0.625% 04/22/2025

 259,679.94  259,591.55  311.46  259,464.40 04/24/2004/22/20AaaAA+ 260,000.00 3135G03U5 0.67

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/24/2020 0.625% 04/22/2025

 359,556.84  361,438.77  431.25  361,843.20 06/05/2006/03/20AaaAA+ 360,000.00 3135G03U5 0.52

9 of 26Page 123

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Federal Agency Bond / Note

FREDDIE MAC NOTES (CALLABLE)

DTD 05/29/2020 0.750% 05/28/2025

 199,285.60  199,528.00  137.50  199,400.00 06/09/2006/05/20AaaAA+ 200,000.00 3134GVB31 0.81

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

 173,650.23  175,161.25  34.03  175,201.25 07/07/2007/02/20AaaAA+ 175,000.00 3135G04Z3 0.48

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

 223,264.57  225,889.83  43.75  226,055.25 10/05/2010/01/20AaaAA+ 225,000.00 3135G04Z3 0.40

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

 302,647.54  304,499.14  59.30  304,368.65 06/19/2006/17/20AaaAA+ 305,000.00 3135G04Z3 0.54

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 07/23/2020 0.375% 07/21/2025

 182,566.14  184,251.95  308.33  184,078.70 07/23/2007/21/20AaaAA+ 185,000.00 3137EAEU9 0.48

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 08/27/2020 0.375% 08/25/2025

 192,296.72  194,241.50  255.94  194,087.40 08/27/2008/25/20AaaAA+ 195,000.00 3135G05X7 0.47

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 08/27/2020 0.375% 08/25/2025

 414,177.54  418,051.67  551.25  417,727.80 10/22/2010/21/20AaaAA+ 420,000.00 3135G05X7 0.49

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 09/25/2020 0.375% 09/23/2025

 280,858.38  284,273.37  290.94  284,142.15 09/25/2009/23/20AaaAA+ 285,000.00 3137EAEX3 0.44

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 11/12/2020 0.500% 11/07/2025

 182,987.76  184,421.71  138.75  184,337.70 11/12/2011/09/20AaaAA+ 185,000.00 3135G06G3 0.57

 9,416.74  6,126,488.57  6,087,816.80  0.93  6,090,396.34  6,090,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Corporate Note

IBM CORP BONDS

DTD 01/27/2017 2.500% 01/27/2022

 405,272.00  400,096.98  4,277.78  400,840.00 02/03/1702/01/17A2A- 400,000.00 459200JQ5 2.45

APPLE INC CORP NOTES

DTD 02/09/2017 2.500% 02/09/2022

 445,256.24  438,707.99  4,338.89  433,470.40 01/09/1901/07/19Aa1AA+ 440,000.00 037833CM0 3.01

BB&T CORP (CALLABLE) NOTES

DTD 03/21/2017 2.750% 04/01/2022

 188,234.17  184,353.94  1,271.88  181,564.55 04/05/1804/03/18A3A- 185,000.00 05531FAX1 3.25

UNITED PARCEL SERVICE CORP NOTES

DTD 09/27/2012 2.450% 10/01/2022

 282,184.10  273,234.83  1,684.38  268,545.75 03/05/1803/01/18A2A- 275,000.00 911312AQ9 3.00

10 of 26Page 124

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Corporate Note

ADOBE INC CORP NOTE

DTD 02/03/2020 1.700% 02/01/2023

 102,177.80  99,927.37  708.33  99,863.00 02/03/2001/22/20A2A 100,000.00 00724PAA7 1.75

PFIZER INC CORP NOTES

DTD 03/11/2019 2.950% 03/15/2024

 276,541.98  261,696.86  2,258.39  263,146.00 04/04/1904/02/19A2A+ 260,000.00 717081ES8 2.69

MORGAN STANLEY CORP NOTES 

(CALLABLE)

DTD 04/22/2021 0.731% 04/05/2024

 25,029.93  25,000.00  35.03  25,000.00 04/22/2104/19/21A1BBB+ 25,000.00 61772BAA1 0.73

MORGAN STANLEY CORP NOTES 

(CALLABLE)

DTD 04/22/2021 0.731% 04/05/2024

 75,089.77  75,085.22  105.08  75,094.50 04/22/2104/20/21A1BBB+ 75,000.00 61772BAA1 0.69

AMAZON.COM INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/12/2021 0.450% 05/12/2024

 114,749.65  114,839.76  70.44  114,832.10 05/12/2105/10/21A1AA 115,000.00 023135BW5 0.50

WALMART INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 04/23/2019 2.850% 07/08/2024

 383,606.64  365,343.66  4,930.50  371,235.60 07/12/1907/10/19Aa2AA 360,000.00 931142EL3 2.19

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 09/16/2020 0.653% 09/16/2024

 114,958.83  115,000.00  219.03  115,000.00 09/16/2009/09/20A2A- 115,000.00 46647PBS4 0.65

BANK OF AMERICA CORP (CALLABLE) 

CORPORAT

DTD 10/21/2020 0.810% 10/24/2024

 150,452.10  150,000.00  226.13  150,000.00 10/21/2010/16/20A2A- 150,000.00 06051GJH3 0.81

MICROSOFT CORP (CALLABLE) NOTES

DTD 02/12/2015 2.700% 02/12/2025

 203,315.58  201,896.66  1,980.75  202,921.90 03/17/2103/15/21AaaAAA 190,000.00 594918BB9 0.92

TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORP CORP 

NOTES

DTD 02/13/2020 1.800% 02/13/2025

 61,949.22  60,449.85  414.00  60,586.20 05/26/2005/20/20A1A+ 60,000.00 89236TGT6 1.58

TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORP CORP 

NOTES

DTD 02/13/2020 1.800% 02/13/2025

 92,923.83  90,674.78  621.00  90,879.30 05/26/2005/20/20A1A+ 90,000.00 89236TGT6 1.58

NOVARTIS CAPITAL CORP

DTD 02/14/2020 1.750% 02/14/2025

 304,381.00  302,933.94  1,964.62  305,504.95 05/08/2005/06/20A1AA- 295,000.00 66989HAP3 0.98

11 of 26Page 125

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Corporate Note

CITIGROUP INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/04/2021 0.981% 05/01/2025

 49,932.10  50,000.00  77.66  50,000.00 05/04/2104/27/21A3BBB+ 50,000.00 172967MX6 0.98

CITIGROUP INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/04/2021 0.981% 05/01/2025

 54,925.31  55,139.95  85.43  55,145.75 05/04/2104/28/21A3BBB+ 55,000.00 172967MX6 0.91

GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP INC CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 05/22/2015 3.750% 05/22/2025

 147,275.28  149,373.33  548.44  150,819.30 02/17/2102/12/21A2BBB+ 135,000.00 38148LAE6 0.94

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 06/01/2021 0.824% 06/01/2025

 114,815.89  115,000.00  78.97  115,000.00 06/01/2105/24/21A2A- 115,000.00 46647PCH7 0.82

BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 11/13/2020 0.750% 11/13/2025

 71,443.15  71,287.35  72.00  71,282.88 06/21/2106/17/21A2A+ 72,000.00 110122DN5 0.98

 25,968.73  3,664,514.57  3,600,042.47  1.91  3,600,732.18  3,562,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Certificate of Deposit

SOCIETE GENERALE NY CERT DEPOS

DTD 02/19/2020 1.800% 02/14/2022

 191,713.80  190,000.00  1,301.50  190,000.00 02/19/2002/14/20P-1A-1 190,000.00 83369XDL9 1.80

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANK NY CERT DEPOS

DTD 07/14/2020 0.700% 07/08/2022

 155,728.19  155,000.00  524.42  155,000.00 07/14/2007/10/20A1A 155,000.00 86565CKU2 0.70

NORDEA BANK ABP NEW YORK CERT DEPOS

DTD 08/29/2019 1.850% 08/26/2022

 285,360.88  280,000.00  1,798.61  280,000.00 08/29/1908/27/19Aa3AA- 280,000.00 65558TLL7 1.84

SKANDINAV ENSKILDA BANK LT CD

DTD 09/03/2019 1.860% 08/26/2022

 300,682.00  295,000.00  1,905.21  295,000.00 09/03/1908/29/19Aa2A+ 295,000.00 83050PDR7 1.85

DNB BANK ASA/NY LT CD

DTD 12/06/2019 2.040% 12/02/2022

 148,784.65  145,000.00  238.28  145,000.00 12/06/1912/05/19Aa2AA- 145,000.00 23341VZT1 2.03

CREDIT SUISSE NEW YORK CERT DEPOS

DTD 03/23/2021 0.590% 03/17/2023

 155,247.23  155,000.00  254.03  155,000.00 03/23/2103/19/21Aa3A+ 155,000.00 22552G3C2 0.59

12 of 26Page 126

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

 6,022.05  1,237,516.75  1,220,000.00  1.56  1,220,000.00  1,220,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Asset-Backed Security

HAROT 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/27/2019 2.830% 03/20/2023

 54,366.44  53,775.90  54.96  53,775.07 02/27/1902/19/19NRAAA 53,776.51 43814WAC9 2.83

HYUNDAI AUTO RECEIVABLES TRUST

DTD 04/10/2019 2.660% 06/15/2023

 44,136.02  43,723.58  51.69  43,720.51 04/10/1904/03/19NRAAA 43,726.27 44932NAD2 2.66

HAROT 2019-2 A3

DTD 05/29/2019 2.520% 06/21/2023

 70,385.16  69,512.59  48.66  69,511.26 05/29/1905/21/19AaaNR 69,513.85 43815MAC0 2.52

TAOT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 07/15/2023

 86,532.57  85,402.34  110.46  85,393.96 02/13/1902/05/19AaaAAA 85,409.52 89239AAD5 2.91

ALLYA 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 09/15/2023

 32,018.02  31,672.71  40.97  31,670.72 02/13/1902/05/19AaaNR 31,674.55 02004WAC5 2.91

NAROT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.900% 10/15/2023

 70,017.16  69,142.38  89.12  69,137.04 02/13/1902/05/19AaaNR 69,147.51 65479KAD2 2.90

COPAR 2019-1 A3

DTD 05/30/2019 2.510% 11/15/2023

 65,051.72  64,285.77  71.72  64,279.67 05/30/1905/21/19AaaAAA 64,292.70 14042WAC4 2.51

NAROT 2019-B A3

DTD 05/28/2019 2.500% 11/15/2023

 77,184.48  76,013.00  84.47  76,004.94 05/28/1905/21/19AaaNR 76,022.13 65479HAC1 2.51

HAROT 2020-1 A3

DTD 02/26/2020 1.610% 04/22/2024

 106,450.02  104,986.08  46.96  104,979.42 02/26/2002/19/20AaaNR 105,000.00 43813RAC1 1.61

TAOT 2020-A A3

DTD 02/12/2020 1.660% 05/15/2024

 141,879.51  139,993.18  103.29  139,989.89 02/12/2002/04/20AaaAAA 140,000.00 89232HAC9 1.66

CARMX 2020-1 A3

DTD 01/22/2020 1.890% 12/16/2024

 101,967.72  99,986.15  84.00  99,980.38 01/22/2001/14/20NRAAA 100,000.00 14315XAC2 1.89

HAROT 2021-1 A3

DTD 02/24/2021 0.270% 04/21/2025

 54,948.79  54,999.07  4.13  54,998.99 02/24/2102/17/21AaaNR 55,000.00 43813GAC5 0.27

HART 2021-A A3

DTD 04/28/2021 0.380% 09/15/2025

 44,988.01  44,995.46  7.60  44,995.27 04/28/2104/20/21NRAAA 45,000.00 44933LAC7 0.38

CARMX 2021-1 A3

DTD 01/27/2021 0.340% 12/15/2025

 29,964.30  29,994.59  4.53  29,994.07 01/27/2101/20/21NRAAA 30,000.00 14316NAC3 0.34

13 of 26Page 127

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Asset-Backed Security

CARMX 2021-2 A3

DTD 04/21/2021 0.520% 02/17/2026

 65,086.02  64,986.55  15.02  64,985.99 04/21/2104/13/21NRAAA 65,000.00 14314QAC8 0.52

 817.58  1,044,975.94  1,033,469.35  1.94  1,033,417.18  1,033,563.04 Security Type Sub-Total

 19,987,314.18  20,072,988.87  1.46  68,119.82  20,069,874.71  20,385,131.79 Managed Account Sub-Total

Money Market Mutual Fund

PFM Funds - Govt Select, Instl Cl  92,175.04  92,175.04  0.00  92,175.04 NRAAAm 92,175.04 

 92,175.04  92,175.04  0.00  92,175.04  92,175.04 Liquid Sub-Total

$20,079,489.22 $20,165,163.91 $68,119.82 $20,162,049.75 $20,477,306.83  1.46%

$20,545,426.65 

$68,119.82 

Total Investments

Accrued Interest

Securities Sub-Total

14 of 26Page 128

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Fair Market Value & Analytics

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Value On Cost Amort CostCUSIP Broker Date PriceDated Date/Coupon/Maturity Par at Mkt

Market Unreal G/L Unreal G/LNext Call MarketSecurity Type/Description YTMEffective

Duration

U.S. Treasury Bond / Note

 1,054.50  1,810.55  25,617.19  102.47 TD 25,000.00 912828P38US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/01/2016 1.750% 01/31/2023

0.19 1.56 

 21,227.20  39,243.75  531,212.50  102.16 BNP_PARI 520,000.00 912828P79US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/29/2016 1.500% 02/28/2023

0.20 1.65 

 7,045.62  10,977.15  189,162.50  102.25 TD 185,000.00 912828Q29US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 03/31/2016 1.500% 03/31/2023

0.21 1.73 

 5,718.94  8,793.75  142,865.63  102.05 NOMURA 140,000.00 912828S92US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 08/01/2016 1.250% 07/31/2023

0.27 2.05 

 18,483.74  16,709.96  375,301.56  105.72 TD 355,000.00 912828WE6US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/15/2013 2.750% 11/15/2023

0.33 2.31 

 23,901.66  28,067.19  479,837.50  104.31 BNP_PARI 460,000.00 912828U57US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2016 2.125% 11/30/2023

0.33 2.37 

 3,853.68  3,751.57  73,959.38  105.66 MERRILL 70,000.00 9128285U0US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2018 2.625% 12/31/2023

0.35 2.44 

 27,352.13  26,097.66  684,065.63  104.44 MORGAN_S 655,000.00 912828X70US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 05/01/2017 2.000% 04/30/2024

0.42 2.76 

 5,113.64  4,375.01  131,308.60  105.05 MORGAN_S 125,000.00 9128282N9US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 07/31/2017 2.125% 07/31/2024

0.48 2.98 

 11,960.93  7,681.64  469,406.25  104.31 HSBC 450,000.00 9128282U3US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 08/31/2017 1.875% 08/31/2024

0.50 3.07 

 9,566.33  6,487.70  310,303.13  105.19 HSBC 295,000.00 9128282Y5US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 10/02/2017 2.125% 09/30/2024

0.51 3.15 

(1,740.54)(3,095.70) 257,968.75  103.19 BNP_PAR 250,000.00 912828YM6US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 10/31/2019 1.500% 10/31/2024

0.53 3.26 

 15,776.86  12,799.78  447,644.51  105.33 RBS 425,000.00 9128283J7US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2017 2.125% 11/30/2024

0.55 3.31 

 22,744.76  18,985.91  610,903.10  105.33 NOMURA 580,000.00 9128283J7US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2017 2.125% 11/30/2024

0.55 3.31 

 1,181.46 (746.48) 136,459.38  104.97 MERRILL 130,000.00 912828J27US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/17/2015 2.000% 02/15/2025

0.61 3.50 

 661.72  883.20  186,378.12  98.09 JPM_CHA 190,000.00 91282CBC4US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2020 0.375% 12/31/2025

0.81 4.47 

(4,738.94)(4,539.06) 343,328.13  98.09 BNP_PAR 350,000.00 91282CBC4US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2020 0.375% 12/31/2025

0.81 4.47 

15 of 26Page 129

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Fair Market Value & Analytics

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Value On Cost Amort CostCUSIP Broker Date PriceDated Date/Coupon/Maturity Par at Mkt

Market Unreal G/L Unreal G/LNext Call MarketSecurity Type/Description YTMEffective

Duration

U.S. Treasury Bond / Note

(4,056.95)(6,185.74) 275,878.13  108.19 JPM_CHA 255,000.00 9128286A3US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2019 2.625% 01/31/2026

0.80 4.32 

(198.34) 189.84  264,600.00  98.00 MERRILL 270,000.00 91282CBH3US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2021 0.375% 01/31/2026

0.82 4.54 

(695.05)(423.82) 305,253.13  98.47 RBC 310,000.00 91282CBQ3US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/28/2021 0.500% 02/28/2026

0.84 4.61 

(1,522.96)(1,509.35) 417,571.90  99.42 RBC 420,000.00 91282CCF6US TREASURY N/B NOTES

DTD 05/31/2021 0.750% 05/31/2026

0.87 4.83 

 170,354.51  0.53  162,690.39  6,659,025.02  6,460,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total  3.22

Supra-National Agency Bond / Note

(172.80)(108.30) 149,569.20  99.71 TD 150,000.00 459058JM6INTL BK RECON & DEVELOP NOTES

DTD 11/24/2020 0.250% 11/24/2023

0.37 2.39 

(108.30)  0.37 (172.80) 149,569.20  150,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total  2.39

Municipal Bond / Note

 7,093.03  5,464.40  199,266.30  104.88 MORGAN_S 190,000.00 13063DRJ9CA ST TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 10/24/2019 2.400% 10/01/2023

0.23 2.20 

(1,084.00)(1,084.00) 198,916.00  99.46 WELLS_F 200,000.00 605581MZ7MS ST TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 08/06/2020 0.565% 11/01/2024

0.73 3.31 

(341.55)(341.55) 134,658.45  99.75 MORGAN_ 135,000.00 68607DVA0OR ST DEPT TRANS TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/17/2020 0.566% 11/15/2024

0.64 3.35 

 162.57  116.00  40,398.80  101.00 MERRILL 40,000.00 341271AD6FL ST BOARD OF ADMIN TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/16/2020 1.258% 07/01/2025

1.00 3.89 

 1,096.70  1,096.70  111,096.70  101.00 MERRILL 110,000.00 341271AD6FL ST BOARD OF ADMIN TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/16/2020 1.258% 07/01/2025

1.00 3.89 

 22.40  22.40  80,022.40  100.03 MERRILL 80,000.00 54438CYK2LOS ANGELES CCD, CA TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 11/10/2020 0.773% 08/01/2025

0.77 4.02 

(132.80)(132.80) 39,867.20  99.67 CITIGRP 40,000.00 646140DP5NJ TURNPIKE AUTHORITY TXBL REV 

BONDS

DTD 02/04/2021 1.047% 01/01/2026

1.12 4.39 

 5,141.15  0.67  6,816.35  804,225.85  795,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total  3.27

16 of 26Page 130

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Fair Market Value & Analytics

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Value On Cost Amort CostCUSIP Broker Date PriceDated Date/Coupon/Maturity Par at Mkt

Market Unreal G/L Unreal G/LNext Call MarketSecurity Type/Description YTMEffective

Duration

Federal Agency Collateralized Mortgage Obligation

(2.34)(45.98) 2,311.69  100.00 JPM_CHAS 2,311.69 3136B1XP4FNA 2018-M5 A2

DTD 04/01/2018 3.560% 09/01/2021

3.56 0.14 

 1,103.14  303.85  159,661.65  100.82 JPM_CHAS 158,368.00 3137BHXY8FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 05/01/2015 2.791% 01/01/2022

1.16 0.46 

 1,463.27  1,285.91  101,535.91  101.54 JPM_CHAS 100,000.00 3137BLUR7FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 11/01/2015 2.716% 06/01/2022

1.04 0.76 

 1,937.01  1,306.33  101,086.50  102.17 CITIGRP 98,937.66 3137BM6P6FHLMC SERIES K721 A2

DTD 12/01/2015 3.090% 08/01/2022

1.08 0.94 

 1,296.74  373.37  101,849.93  101.85 CANT_FIT 100,000.00 3137AWQH1FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 12/01/2012 2.307% 08/01/2022

0.60 1.07 

 3,734.40  1,831.74  114,171.56  106.57 JPM_CHAS 107,133.79 3136AJB54FANNIEMAE-ACES

DTD 04/01/2014 3.346% 03/01/2024

0.86 2.46 

 4,223.71  2,750.21  118,198.65  107.45 CITIGRP 110,000.00 3137BGK24FHMS K043 A2

DTD 03/01/2015 3.062% 12/01/2024

0.85 3.25 

 7,805.43  0.96  13,755.93  698,815.89  676,751.14 Security Type Sub-Total  1.46

Federal Agency Bond / Note

 4,743.53  4,787.65  354,735.15  101.35 TD 350,000.00 3135G0T45FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/10/2017 1.875% 04/05/2022

0.10 0.76 

 100.91  100.91  465,100.91  100.02 08/06/21NOMURA 465,000.00 3134GWLD6FREDDIE MAC NOTES (CALLABLE)

DTD 08/06/2020 0.300% 02/06/2023

0.29 0.10 

 690.44  1,029.99  305,111.94  100.04 CITIGRP 305,000.00 3135G04Q3FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 05/22/2020 0.250% 05/22/2023

0.23 1.89 

 23,049.25  21,093.00  524,603.00  104.92 MORGAN_S 500,000.00 3137EAEN5FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 06/11/2018 2.750% 06/19/2023

0.24 1.93 

 371.06  543.73  175,032.73  100.02 TD 175,000.00 3137EAES4FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 06/26/2020 0.250% 06/26/2023

0.24 1.99 

 362.32  558.04  279,956.04  99.98 CITIGRP 280,000.00 3135G05G4FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 07/10/2020 0.250% 07/10/2023

0.26 2.02 

 64.44  118.40  184,929.70  99.96 CITIGRP 185,000.00 3137EAEV7FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 08/21/2020 0.250% 08/24/2023

0.27 2.14 

17 of 26Page 131

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Fair Market Value & Analytics

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Value On Cost Amort CostCUSIP Broker Date PriceDated Date/Coupon/Maturity Par at Mkt

Market Unreal G/L Unreal G/LNext Call MarketSecurity Type/Description YTMEffective

Duration

Federal Agency Bond / Note

 19,068.62  19,427.76  348,761.16  105.69 TD 330,000.00 3135G0U43FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 09/14/2018 2.875% 09/12/2023

0.28 2.13 

(129.32)(24.75) 249,550.25  99.82 09/21/22TD 250,000.00 3133EMAM4FEDERAL FARM CREDIT BANK (CALLABLE)

DTD 09/21/2020 0.250% 09/21/2023

0.33 1.22 

(69.93)(57.65) 64,878.00  99.81 CITIGRP 65,000.00 3137EAFA2FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 12/04/2020 0.250% 12/04/2023

0.33 2.42 

 11,223.97  8,436.59  204,036.63  107.39 BARCLAYS 190,000.00 3130A0F70FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANKS NOTES

DTD 12/09/2013 3.375% 12/08/2023

0.33 2.36 

(426.04)(186.20) 198,821.80  99.41 CITIGRP 200,000.00 3130AJHU6FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK NOTES

DTD 04/16/2020 0.500% 04/14/2025

0.66 3.75 

 88.39  215.54  259,679.94  99.88 CITIGRP 260,000.00 3135G03U5FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/24/2020 0.625% 04/22/2025

0.66 3.77 

(1,881.93)(2,286.36) 359,556.84  99.88 HSBC 360,000.00 3135G03U5FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/24/2020 0.625% 04/22/2025

0.66 3.77 

(242.40)(114.40) 199,285.60  99.64 08/25/21JPM_CHA 200,000.00 3134GVB31FREDDIE MAC NOTES (CALLABLE)

DTD 05/29/2020 0.750% 05/28/2025

0.84 0.15 

(1,511.02)(1,551.02) 173,650.23  99.23 TD 175,000.00 3135G04Z3FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

0.70 3.93 

(2,625.26)(2,790.68) 223,264.57  99.23 NOMURA 225,000.00 3135G04Z3FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

0.70 3.93 

(1,851.60)(1,721.11) 302,647.54  99.23 NOMURA 305,000.00 3135G04Z3FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

0.70 3.93 

(1,685.81)(1,512.56) 182,566.14  98.68 WELLS_F 185,000.00 3137EAEU9FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 07/23/2020 0.375% 07/21/2025

0.70 4.02 

(1,944.78)(1,790.68) 192,296.72  98.61 BARCLAY 195,000.00 3135G05X7FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 08/27/2020 0.375% 08/25/2025

0.71 4.12 

(3,874.13)(3,550.26) 414,177.54  98.61 NOMURA 420,000.00 3135G05X7FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 08/27/2020 0.375% 08/25/2025

0.71 4.12 

(3,414.99)(3,283.77) 280,858.38  98.55 CITIGRP 285,000.00 3137EAEX3FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 09/25/2020 0.375% 09/23/2025

0.72 4.20 

(1,433.95)(1,349.94) 182,987.76  98.91 BARCLAY 185,000.00 3135G06G3FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 11/12/2020 0.500% 11/07/2025

0.75 4.31 

 36,092.23  0.47  38,671.77  6,126,488.57  6,090,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total  2.61

18 of 26Page 132

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Fair Market Value & Analytics

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Value On Cost Amort CostCUSIP Broker Date PriceDated Date/Coupon/Maturity Par at Mkt

Market Unreal G/L Unreal G/LNext Call MarketSecurity Type/Description YTMEffective

Duration

Corporate Note

 5,175.02  4,432.00  405,272.00  101.32 MERRILL 400,000.00 459200JQ5IBM CORP BONDS

DTD 01/27/2017 2.500% 01/27/2022

0.21 0.57 

 6,548.25  11,785.84  445,256.24  101.19 WELLS_FA 440,000.00 037833CM0APPLE INC CORP NOTES

DTD 02/09/2017 2.500% 02/09/2022

0.53 0.60 

 3,880.23  6,669.62  188,234.17  101.75 03/01/22TD 185,000.00 05531FAX1BB&T CORP (CALLABLE) NOTES

DTD 03/21/2017 2.750% 04/01/2022

0.42 0.66 

 8,949.27  13,638.35  282,184.10  102.61 JPM_CHAS 275,000.00 911312AQ9UNITED PARCEL SERVICE CORP NOTES

DTD 09/27/2012 2.450% 10/01/2022

0.36 1.24 

 2,250.43  2,314.80  102,177.80  102.18 MERRILL 100,000.00 00724PAA7ADOBE INC CORP NOTE

DTD 02/03/2020 1.700% 02/01/2023

0.32 1.56 

 14,845.12  13,395.98  276,541.98  106.36 02/15/24BNP_PARI 260,000.00 717081ES8PFIZER INC CORP NOTES

DTD 03/11/2019 2.950% 03/15/2024

0.58 2.53 

 29.93  29.93  25,029.93  100.12 04/05/23MORGAN_ 25,000.00 61772BAA1MORGAN STANLEY CORP NOTES 

(CALLABLE)

DTD 04/22/2021 0.731% 04/05/2024

0.69 1.75 

 4.55 (4.73) 75,089.77  100.12 04/05/23GOLDMAN 75,000.00 61772BAA1MORGAN STANLEY CORP NOTES 

(CALLABLE)

DTD 04/22/2021 0.731% 04/05/2024

0.69 1.75 

(90.11)(82.45) 114,749.65  99.78 JPM_CHA 115,000.00 023135BW5AMAZON.COM INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/12/2021 0.450% 05/12/2024

0.53 2.85 

 18,262.98  12,371.04  383,606.64  106.56 04/15/23CITIGRP 360,000.00 931142EL3WALMART INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 04/23/2019 2.850% 07/08/2024

0.66 1.74 

(41.17)(41.17) 114,958.83  99.96 JPM_CHA 115,000.00 46647PBS4JPMORGAN CHASE & CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 09/16/2020 0.653% 09/16/2024

0.66 3.18 

 452.10  452.10  150,452.10  100.30 10/24/23MERRILL 150,000.00 06051GJH3BANK OF AMERICA CORP (CALLABLE) 

CORPORAT

DTD 10/21/2020 0.810% 10/24/2024

0.72 2.30 

 1,418.92  393.68  203,315.58  107.01 11/12/24GOLDMAN 190,000.00 594918BB9MICROSOFT CORP (CALLABLE) NOTES

DTD 02/12/2015 2.700% 02/12/2025

0.73 3.21 

 1,499.37  1,363.02  61,949.22  103.25 CITIGRP 60,000.00 89236TGT6TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORP CORP 

NOTES

DTD 02/13/2020 1.800% 02/13/2025

0.89 3.50 

19 of 26Page 133

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Fair Market Value & Analytics

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Value On Cost Amort CostCUSIP Broker Date PriceDated Date/Coupon/Maturity Par at Mkt

Market Unreal G/L Unreal G/LNext Call MarketSecurity Type/Description YTMEffective

Duration

Corporate Note

 2,249.05  2,044.53  92,923.83  103.25 CITIGRP 90,000.00 89236TGT6TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORP CORP 

NOTES

DTD 02/13/2020 1.800% 02/13/2025

0.89 3.50 

 1,447.06 (1,123.95) 304,381.00  103.18 01/14/25HILLTOP 295,000.00 66989HAP3NOVARTIS CAPITAL CORP

DTD 02/14/2020 1.750% 02/14/2025

0.86 3.43 

(67.90)(67.90) 49,932.10  99.86 CITIGRP 50,000.00 172967MX6CITIGROUP INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/04/2021 0.981% 05/01/2025

1.02 3.77 

(214.64)(220.44) 54,925.31  99.86 GOLDMAN 55,000.00 172967MX6CITIGROUP INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/04/2021 0.981% 05/01/2025

1.02 3.77 

(2,098.05)(3,544.02) 147,275.28  109.09 02/22/25MORGAN_ 135,000.00 38148LAE6GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP INC CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 05/22/2015 3.750% 05/22/2025

1.35 3.44 

(184.11)(184.11) 114,815.89  99.84 JPM_CHA 115,000.00 46647PCH7JPMORGAN CHASE & CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 06/01/2021 0.824% 06/01/2025

0.87 3.86 

 155.80  160.27  71,443.15  99.23 10/13/25CITIGRP 72,000.00 110122DN5BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 11/13/2020 0.750% 11/13/2025

0.93 4.22 

 63,782.39  0.62  64,472.10  3,664,514.57  3,562,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total  2.07

Certificate of Deposit

 1,713.80  1,713.80  191,713.80  100.90 MERRILL 190,000.00 83369XDL9SOCIETE GENERALE NY CERT DEPOS

DTD 02/19/2020 1.800% 02/14/2022

0.35 0.62 

 728.19  728.19  155,728.19  100.47 SMBC 155,000.00 86565CKU2SUMITOMO MITSUI BANK NY CERT DEPOS

DTD 07/14/2020 0.700% 07/08/2022

0.24 1.02 

 5,360.88  5,360.88  285,360.88  101.91 MERRILL 280,000.00 65558TLL7NORDEA BANK ABP NEW YORK CERT 

DEPOS

DTD 08/29/2019 1.850% 08/26/2022

0.19 1.15 

 5,682.00  5,682.00  300,682.00  101.93 BARCLAYS 295,000.00 83050PDR7SKANDINAV ENSKILDA BANK LT CD

DTD 09/03/2019 1.860% 08/26/2022

0.19 1.15 

 3,784.65  3,784.65  148,784.65  102.61 GOLDMAN 145,000.00 23341VZT1DNB BANK ASA/NY LT CD

DTD 12/06/2019 2.040% 12/02/2022

0.20 1.42 

20 of 26Page 134

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Fair Market Value & Analytics

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Value On Cost Amort CostCUSIP Broker Date PriceDated Date/Coupon/Maturity Par at Mkt

Market Unreal G/L Unreal G/LNext Call MarketSecurity Type/Description YTMEffective

Duration

Certificate of Deposit

 247.23  247.23  155,247.23  100.16 CSFB 155,000.00 22552G3C2CREDIT SUISSE NEW YORK CERT DEPOS

DTD 03/23/2021 0.590% 03/17/2023

0.49 1.71 

 17,516.75  0.26  17,516.75  1,237,516.75  1,220,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total  1.15

Asset-Backed Security

 590.54  591.37  54,366.44  101.10 MERRILL 53,776.51 43814WAC9HAROT 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/27/2019 2.830% 03/20/2023

2.18 0.46 

 412.44  415.51  44,136.02  100.94 SOCGEN 43,726.27 44932NAD2HYUNDAI AUTO RECEIVABLES TRUST

DTD 04/10/2019 2.660% 06/15/2023

2.17 0.40 

 872.57  873.90  70,385.16  101.25 JPM_CHAS 69,513.85 43815MAC0HAROT 2019-2 A3

DTD 05/29/2019 2.520% 06/21/2023

1.87 0.56 

 1,130.23  1,138.61  86,532.57  101.31 MITSU 85,409.52 89239AAD5TAOT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 07/15/2023

2.25 0.50 

 345.31  347.30  32,018.02  101.08 JPM_CHAS 31,674.55 02004WAC5ALLYA 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 09/15/2023

2.41 0.41 

 874.78  880.12  70,017.16  101.26 MITSU 69,147.51 65479KAD2NAROT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.900% 10/15/2023

2.34 0.48 

 765.95  772.05  65,051.72  101.18 JPM_CHAS 64,292.70 14042WAC4COPAR 2019-1 A3

DTD 05/30/2019 2.510% 11/15/2023

2.00 0.52 

 1,171.48  1,179.54  77,184.48  101.53 WELLS_FA 76,022.13 65479HAC1NAROT 2019-B A3

DTD 05/28/2019 2.500% 11/15/2023

1.84 0.55 

 1,463.94  1,470.60  106,450.02  101.38 JPM_CHAS 105,000.00 43813RAC1HAROT 2020-1 A3

DTD 02/26/2020 1.610% 04/22/2024

1.11 1.08 

 1,886.33  1,889.62  141,879.51  101.34 MITSU 140,000.00 89232HAC9TAOT 2020-A A3

DTD 02/12/2020 1.660% 05/15/2024

1.18 0.93 

 1,981.57  1,987.34  101,967.72  101.97 MERRILL 100,000.00 14315XAC2CARMX 2020-1 A3

DTD 01/22/2020 1.890% 12/16/2024

1.31 1.12 

(50.28)(50.20) 54,948.79  99.91 JPM_CHA 55,000.00 43813GAC5HAROT 2021-1 A3

DTD 02/24/2021 0.270% 04/21/2025

0.29 1.86 

(7.45)(7.26) 44,988.01  99.97 BARCLAY 45,000.00 44933LAC7HART 2021-A A3

DTD 04/28/2021 0.380% 09/15/2025

0.39 2.12 

(30.29)(29.77) 29,964.30  99.88 MITSU 30,000.00 14316NAC3CARMX 2021-1 A3

DTD 01/27/2021 0.340% 12/15/2025

0.37 2.10 

21 of 26Page 135

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Fair Market Value & Analytics

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Value On Cost Amort CostCUSIP Broker Date PriceDated Date/Coupon/Maturity Par at Mkt

Market Unreal G/L Unreal G/LNext Call MarketSecurity Type/Description YTMEffective

Duration

Asset-Backed Security

 99.47  100.03  65,086.02  100.13 MERRILL 65,000.00 14314QAC8CARMX 2021-2 A3

DTD 04/21/2021 0.520% 02/17/2026

0.49 2.36 

 11,558.76  1.48  11,506.59  1,044,975.94  1,033,563.04 Security Type Sub-Total  0.98

 19,987,314.18  20,385,131.79  312,142.92  315,257.08  0.58 Managed Account Sub-Total  2.52

Money Market Mutual Fund

 0.00  0.00  92,175.04  1.00  92,175.04 PFM Funds - Govt Select, Instl Cl  0.00 

 92,175.04  92,175.04  0.00  0.00 Liquid Sub-Total  0.00

Total Investments $20,545,426.65 

$68,119.82 

$20,477,306.83 

Accrued Interest

Securities Sub-Total $20,079,489.22 $312,142.92 $315,257.08  0.58% 2.52 

22 of 26Page 136

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Security Transactions & Interest

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Transaction Type

Trade CUSIPSecurity DescriptionSettle Par Proceeds

Principal Accrued

Interest Total Cost

Realized G/L Realized G/L Sale

Amort Cost Method

BUY

06/01/21 JPMORGAN CHASE & CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 06/01/2021 0.824% 06/01/2025

46647PCH7 (115,000.00)  0.00 (115,000.00) 115,000.00 05/24/21

06/04/21 US TREASURY N/B NOTES

DTD 05/31/2021 0.750% 05/31/2026

91282CCF6 (419,081.25) (34.43) (419,115.68) 420,000.00 06/02/21

06/21/21 BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB CO 

CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 11/13/2020 0.750% 11/13/2025

110122DN5 (71,282.88) (57.00) (71,339.88) 72,000.00 06/17/21

(91.43) (605,455.56)(605,364.13) 607,000.00 Transaction Type Sub-Total

INTEREST

06/25/21 FNA 2018-M5 A2

DTD 04/01/2018 3.560% 09/01/2021

3136B1XP4  0.00  21.52  21.52  7,253.67 06/01/21

06/25/21 FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 05/01/2015 2.791% 01/01/2022

3137BHXY8  0.00  406.22  406.22  164,572.98 06/01/21

06/25/21 FHMS K043 A2

DTD 03/01/2015 3.062% 12/01/2024

3137BGK24  0.00  280.68  280.68  110,000.00 06/01/21

06/25/21 FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 12/01/2012 2.307% 08/01/2022

3137AWQH1  0.00  192.25  192.25  100,000.00 06/01/21

06/25/21 FANNIEMAE-ACES

DTD 04/01/2014 3.346% 03/01/2024

3136AJB54  0.00  498.93  498.93  115,645.04 06/01/21

06/25/21 FHLMC SERIES K721 A2

DTD 12/01/2015 3.090% 08/01/2022

3137BM6P6  0.00  255.18  255.18  99,097.28 06/01/21

06/25/21 FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 11/01/2015 2.716% 06/01/2022

3137BLUR7  0.00  226.33  226.33  100,000.00 06/01/21

06/02/21 DNB BANK ASA/NY LT CD

DTD 12/06/2019 2.040% 12/02/2022

23341VZT1  0.00  1,495.43  1,495.43  145,000.00 06/02/21

06/04/21 FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 12/04/2020 0.250% 12/04/2023

3137EAFA2  0.00  81.25  81.25  65,000.00 06/04/21

06/08/21 FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANKS NOTES

DTD 12/09/2013 3.375% 12/08/2023

3130A0F70  0.00  3,206.25  3,206.25  190,000.00 06/08/21

06/15/21 ALLYA 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 09/15/2023

02004WAC5  0.00  85.50  85.50  35,255.80 06/15/21

23 of 26Page 137

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Security Transactions & Interest

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Transaction Type

Trade CUSIPSecurity DescriptionSettle Par Proceeds

Principal Accrued

Interest Total Cost

Realized G/L Realized G/L Sale

Amort Cost Method

INTEREST

06/15/21 CARMX 2021-1 A3

DTD 01/27/2021 0.340% 12/15/2025

14316NAC3  0.00  8.50  8.50  30,000.00 06/15/21

06/15/21 TAOT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 07/15/2023

89239AAD5  0.00  225.64  225.64  93,047.92 06/15/21

06/15/21 NAROT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.900% 10/15/2023

65479KAD2  0.00  183.15  183.15  75,784.43 06/15/21

06/15/21 NAROT 2019-B A3

DTD 05/28/2019 2.500% 11/15/2023

65479HAC1  0.00  171.48  171.48  82,312.37 06/15/21

06/15/21 COPAR 2019-1 A3

DTD 05/30/2019 2.510% 11/15/2023

14042WAC4  0.00  146.81  146.81  70,185.77 06/15/21

06/15/21 CARMX 2021-2 A3

DTD 04/21/2021 0.520% 02/17/2026

14314QAC8  0.00  28.17  28.17  65,000.00 06/15/21

06/15/21 TAOT 2020-A A3

DTD 02/12/2020 1.660% 05/15/2024

89232HAC9  0.00  193.67  193.67  140,000.00 06/15/21

06/15/21 HART 2021-A A3

DTD 04/28/2021 0.380% 09/15/2025

44933LAC7  0.00  14.25  14.25  45,000.00 06/15/21

06/15/21 CARMX 2020-1 A3

DTD 01/22/2020 1.890% 12/16/2024

14315XAC2  0.00  157.50  157.50  100,000.00 06/15/21

06/15/21 HYUNDAI AUTO RECEIVABLES TRUST

DTD 04/10/2019 2.660% 06/15/2023

44932NAD2  0.00  108.19  108.19  48,806.06 06/15/21

06/17/21 FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

3135G04Z3  0.00  1,762.50  1,762.50  705,000.00 06/17/21

06/18/21 HAROT 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/27/2019 2.830% 03/20/2023

43814WAC9  0.00  141.26  141.26  59,898.13 06/18/21

06/19/21 FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 06/11/2018 2.750% 06/19/2023

3137EAEN5  0.00  6,875.00  6,875.00  500,000.00 06/19/21

06/21/21 HAROT 2020-1 A3

DTD 02/26/2020 1.610% 04/22/2024

43813RAC1  0.00  140.88  140.88  105,000.00 06/21/21

06/21/21 HAROT 2021-1 A3

DTD 02/24/2021 0.270% 04/21/2025

43813GAC5  0.00  12.38  12.38  55,000.00 06/21/21

06/21/21 HAROT 2019-2 A3

DTD 05/29/2019 2.520% 06/21/2023

43815MAC0  0.00  159.00  159.00  75,714.97 06/21/21

06/26/21 FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 06/26/2020 0.250% 06/26/2023

3137EAES4  0.00  218.75  218.75  175,000.00 06/26/21

24 of 26Page 138

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Security Transactions & Interest

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Transaction Type

Trade CUSIPSecurity DescriptionSettle Par Proceeds

Principal Accrued

Interest Total Cost

Realized G/L Realized G/L Sale

Amort Cost Method

INTEREST

06/30/21 US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2020 0.375% 12/31/2025

91282CBC4  0.00  1,012.50  1,012.50  540,000.00 06/30/21

06/30/21 US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2018 2.625% 12/31/2023

9128285U0  0.00  918.75  918.75  70,000.00 06/30/21

 19,227.92  19,227.92  0.00  4,167,574.42 Transaction Type Sub-Total

PAYDOWNS

06/25/21 FANNIEMAE-ACES

DTD 04/01/2014 3.346% 03/01/2024

3136AJB54  8,511.25  0.00  8,511.25 (413.59)  0.00  8,511.25 06/01/21

06/25/21 FHLMC SERIES K721 A2

DTD 12/01/2015 3.090% 08/01/2022

3137BM6P6  159.62  0.00  159.62 (1.36)  0.00  159.62 06/01/21

06/25/21 FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 05/01/2015 2.791% 01/01/2022

3137BHXY8  6,204.98  0.00  6,204.98 (38.78)  0.00  6,204.98 06/01/21

06/25/21 FNA 2018-M5 A2

DTD 04/01/2018 3.560% 09/01/2021

3136B1XP4  4,941.98  0.00  4,941.98 (98.31)  0.00  4,941.98 06/01/21

06/15/21 ALLYA 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 09/15/2023

02004WAC5  3,581.25  0.00  3,581.25  0.43  0.00  3,581.25 06/15/21

06/15/21 NAROT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.900% 10/15/2023

65479KAD2  6,636.92  0.00  6,636.92  1.01  0.00  6,636.92 06/15/21

06/15/21 COPAR 2019-1 A3

DTD 05/30/2019 2.510% 11/15/2023

14042WAC4  5,893.07  0.00  5,893.07  1.19  0.00  5,893.07 06/15/21

06/15/21 TAOT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 07/15/2023

89239AAD5  7,638.40  0.00  7,638.40  1.39  0.00  7,638.40 06/15/21

06/15/21 NAROT 2019-B A3

DTD 05/28/2019 2.500% 11/15/2023

65479HAC1  6,290.24  0.00  6,290.24  1.42  0.00  6,290.24 06/15/21

06/15/21 HYUNDAI AUTO RECEIVABLES TRUST

DTD 04/10/2019 2.660% 06/15/2023

44932NAD2  5,079.79  0.00  5,079.79  0.67  0.00  5,079.79 06/15/21

06/18/21 HAROT 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/27/2019 2.830% 03/20/2023

43814WAC9  6,121.62  0.00  6,121.62  0.16  0.00  6,121.62 06/18/21

06/21/21 HAROT 2019-2 A3

DTD 05/29/2019 2.520% 06/21/2023

43815MAC0  6,201.12  0.00  6,201.12  0.23  0.00  6,201.12 06/21/21

 0.00  0.00 (545.54) 67,260.24  67,260.24  67,260.24 Transaction Type Sub-Total

25 of 26Page 139

Item 17.



For the Month Ending June 30, 2021Managed Account Security Transactions & Interest

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Transaction Type

Trade CUSIPSecurity DescriptionSettle Par Proceeds

Principal Accrued

Interest Total Cost

Realized G/L Realized G/L Sale

Amort Cost Method

SELL

06/21/21 BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB CO 

CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 07/15/2020 3.875% 08/15/2025

110122DC9  71,324.80  868.00  72,192.80 (1,745.28) (349.47) FIFO 64,000.00 06/17/21

 868.00 (349.47)(1,745.28) 72,192.80  71,324.80  64,000.00 Transaction Type Sub-Total

(466,779.09)  20,004.49 (446,774.60) (2,290.82) (349.47)Managed Account Sub-Total

Total Security Transactions ($2,290.82)($446,774.60)$20,004.49 ($466,779.09) ($349.47)

26 of 26Page 140

Item 17.



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Nathan Statham, Finance Director  

SUBJECT: Investment Report – July 2021 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council receive and file the investment report for July of 2021 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

On June 23, 2021, the City of Coachella along with its component units (Sanitary District, 

Educational & Governmental Access Cable Corporation, Fire Protection District and Water 

Authority) approved and adopted the current “Statement of Investment Policy”. 

 

Pursuant to Section 16 of that policy, the City Treasurer shall provide to the City Council a monthly 

investment report which provides a clear picture of the status of the current investment portfolio. 

This report shall include, at a minimum, the following information for each type of investment 

held in the City’s investment portfolio: the issuer; amount of investment; current market value; 

yield on investment; income generated from investments; dollar amount invested on all securities, 

investments and moneys held by the local agency; and shall additionally include a description of 

any of the local agency’s funds, investments, or programs; and a description of unusual investment 

activity or developments during the month for which the report is prepared. This information shall 

be provided for all City and component unit pooled investments, as well as for bond accounts, 

which are managed by outside Fiscal Agents. 

 

The interest rates presented are the most current rates available as of the date of these reports. The 

market values presented for pooled City investments are based on closing prices for the related 

investments as of the date of these reports. This information was obtained from the Wall Street 

Journal or other reliable sources of market prices. 

 

The Market values presented for investments managed by fiscal agents are based on amounts 

reported by the fiscal agent on their investment statements. The purchase date and type of 

investment are not included for funds held by fiscal agents. 

 

Page 141

Item 18.



Attached is the Treasurer’s Report of Investments which includes an overview on investments 

which provides information on investment activity, withdrawals and deposits, interest earned, 

payment of interest and payment of principal as of the months ended July 31, 2021. In addition, 

this report includes detailed information and current activity on individual investments. 

 

All City investments are in compliance with the guidelines established for Authorized Investments 

as specified in the Investment Policy, Section 8. 

 

There was no unusual investment activity to report. 

 

The City and Districts have sufficient moneys to meet their expenditure requirements for the next 

six months. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

None, this report is receive and file only. 

 

Page 142

Item 18.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED /  PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 6/30/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 7/31/2021

CASH ON HAND

    Wells Fargo-General Checking N/A 17,821,608.07    (4,537,799.38)     -                         -                      -                      13,283,808.69    

Wells Fargo-Road Maintenance N/A 1,900,544.43      85,271.50           -                         -                      -                      1,985,815.93      

Wells Fargo-Gas Tax N/A 261,537.56         171,409.01         -                         -                      -                      432,946.57         

    Mechanics Bank - Payroll Acct N/A 174,670.97         (154,896.08)        -                         -                      -                      19,774.89           

Mechanics Bank-Gas Tax N/A 171,427.17         (261,551.35)        -                      -                      121,204.01         

    Petty Cash N/A 3,500.00             -                      -                         -                      -                      3,500.00             

Total Cash on Hand 20,333,288.20    (4,697,566.30)     -                         -                      -                      15,847,050.09    

INVESTMENTS

State of California - LAIF 0.22% 4,791,041.15      4,003,911.70      8,794,952.85      

Investment Management Acct 1.42% 20,477,306.83    -                      63,676.75              -                      -                      20,540,983.58    

Total Investments 25,268,347.98    4,003,911.70      63,676.75              -                      -                      29,335,936.43    

CASH WITH FISCAL AGENT

Union Bank of California varies 25,450.46           618,287.00         0.20                       -                      -                      643,737.66         ①

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 5.83% 3.84                    -                      -                         -                      -                      3.84                    ②

Wilmington Trust, N. A. 0.03% 1,227,485.33      -                      0.40                       (227,485.33)        (1,000,000.00)     0.40                    ③

Total Cash with Fiscal Agent 1,252,939.63      618,287.00         0.60                       (227,485.33)        (1,000,000.00)     643,741.90         

Grand Total 46,854,575.81    (75,367.60)          63,677.35               (227,485.33)        (1,000,000.00)     45,826,728.42   

Completed By:

Reviewed By: Nathan Statham-Finance Director

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of July 31, 2021
Fiscal Year 2021-2022

DESCRIPTION

Carmin Torres

1 of 17Page 143

Item 18.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED /  PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 6/30/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 7/31/2021

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of July 31, 2021
Fiscal Year 2021-2022

DESCRIPTION

CASH WITH FISCAL AGENT

UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY

CITY OF COACHELLA WATER: WATER REFUNDING BONDS 2012 SERIES
A/C #: 6712016201 Bond Fund 0.00% 1.50                    (0.50)                   -                         -                      -                      1.00                    
A/C #: 6712016202 Interest Account 0.01% -                      148,287.50         -                         -                      -                      148,287.50         
A/C #: 6712016203 Principal Account 0.01% -                      470,000.00         -                         -                      -                      470,000.00         
A/C #: 6712016204 Reserve Fund 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    

COACHELLA FINANCING AUTHORITY

Successor Agency to the Coachella Redevelopments Agency 2014 Series
A/C #: 6712104701 Debt Service Fund 0.00% 1.66                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.66                    
A/C #: 6712104702 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712104703 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712104704 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    

COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT

WASTEWATER SERIES 2015A
A/C #: 6712148601 Bond Fund 0.00% 2.36                    -                      -                         -                      -                      2.36                    
A/C #: 6712148602 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712148603 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712148604 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    
A/C #: 6712148605 Redemption Fund 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      

COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT: PROJECT FUND 2011
A/C #: 6711963500 Project Fund 2011 0.01% 25,269.64           -                      0.20                       -                      -                      25,269.84           

2 of 17Page 144

Item 18.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED /  PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 6/30/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 7/31/2021

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of July 31, 2021
Fiscal Year 2021-2022

DESCRIPTION

COACHELLA SUCCESSOR AGENCY
MERGED PROJECT AREAS BONDS 98 & 99: BONDS 2013
A/C #: 6712071401 Interest Account 0.00% 1.24                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.24                    
A/C #: 6712071402 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712071403 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712071404 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    

SA TO COACHELLA RDA REFUNDING BONDS SERIES 2016A & 2016B
A/C #: 6712160601 Debt Service 0.00% 2.62                    -                      -                         -                      -                      2.62                    
A/C #: 6712160602 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712160603 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712160604 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    

COACHELLA LEASE BONDS 2016
A/C #: 6712179801 Payment Account 0.00% 5.03                    -                      -                      5.03                    
A/C #: 6712179802 Interest Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712179803 Principal Account 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      
A/C #: 6712179804 Reserve Account 0.00% 1.00                    -                      -                         -                      -                      1.00                    
A/C #: 6712179805 Project Fund 0.02% 160.41                -                      -                         -                      -                      160.41                

TOTAL UNION BANK OF CALIFORNIA 25,450.46            618,287.00         0.20                          ‐                         ‐                         643,737.66         ①

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.

GAS TAX BONDS SERIES 2019
A/C #: 83925300 Debt Service Fund 0.00% 2.46                    -                      -                      -                      2.46                    
A/C #: 83925301 Interest Account 0.00% 0.47                    -                      -                      0.47                    
A/C #: 83925302 Principal Account 0.00% 0.91                    -                      -                      0.91                    
A/C #: 83925304 Reserve Fund 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      

TOTAL WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 3.84                       ‐                         ‐                            ‐                         ‐                         3.84                       ②

3 of 17Page 145

Item 18.



CURRENT BALANCE AS OF NET: DEPOSITS/ INTEREST EARNED /  PAYMENT OF PAYMENT OF BALANCE AS OF

YIELD 6/30/2021 (WITHDRAWALS) CHANGE IN VALUE INTEREST PRINCIPAL 7/31/2021

CITY OF COACHELLA
TREASURER'S REPORT - INVESTMENT REPORT

As of July 31, 2021
Fiscal Year 2021-2022

DESCRIPTION

WILMINGTON TRUST, N. A.

CITY OF COACHELLA TAXABLE PENSION OBLIGATION BONDS
A/C #: 144613-001 Interest Account 0.00% 227,485.33         -                         (227,485.33)        -                      -                      
A/C #: 144613-002 Principal Account 0.00% 1,000,000.00      -                         -                      (1,000,000.00)     -                      
A/C #: 144613-003 Cost of Issuance 0.00% -                      0.40                       -                      -                      0.52                    
A/C #: 144613-004 Unfunded Liability 0.00% -                      -                      -                         -                      -                      -                      

TOTAL WILMINGTGON TRUST BANK, N.A. 1,227,485.33      ‐                         0.40                          (227,485.33)        (1,000,000.00)     0.52                       ③

TOTAL CASH WITH FISCAL AGENT 1,252,939.63  618,287.00     0.60                   (227,485.33)    (1,000,000.00) 643,742.02     

4 of 17Page 146

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

U.S. Treasury Bond / Note

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/01/2016 1.750% 01/31/2023

 25,601.56  24,586.10  1.19  23,806.64 10/04/1810/02/18AaaAA+ 25,000.00 912828P38 2.93

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/29/2016 1.500% 02/28/2023

 531,131.22  510,496.76  3,264.13  491,968.75 07/05/1807/02/18AaaAA+ 520,000.00 912828P79 2.74

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 03/31/2016 1.500% 03/31/2023

 189,162.50  182,256.97  932.58  178,185.35 02/12/1902/08/19AaaAA+ 185,000.00 912828Q29 2.44

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 08/01/2016 1.250% 07/31/2023

 142,975.00  137,263.08  4.76  134,071.88 04/04/1904/02/19AaaAA+ 140,000.00 912828S92 2.28

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/15/2013 2.750% 11/15/2023

 375,412.50  356,752.82  2,069.23  358,591.60 03/08/1903/06/19AaaAA+ 355,000.00 912828WE6 2.52

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2016 2.125% 11/30/2023

 480,125.00  456,078.69  1,655.87  451,770.31 01/09/1901/07/19AaaAA+ 460,000.00 912828U57 2.52

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2018 2.625% 12/31/2023

 73,992.18  70,102.11  159.78  70,207.81 01/31/1901/30/19AaaAA+ 70,000.00 9128285U0 2.56

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 05/01/2017 2.000% 04/30/2024

 685,293.75  656,662.13  3,310.60  657,967.97 06/05/1906/03/19AaaAA+ 655,000.00 912828X70 1.90

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 07/31/2017 2.125% 07/31/2024

 131,621.10  126,162.06  7.22  126,933.59 08/05/1908/01/19AaaAA+ 125,000.00 9128282N9 1.80

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 08/31/2017 1.875% 08/31/2024

 470,742.21  457,245.83  3,530.91  461,724.61 09/05/1909/03/19AaaAA+ 450,000.00 9128282U3 1.33

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 10/02/2017 2.125% 09/30/2024

 311,178.92  300,586.97  2,106.71  303,815.43 10/03/1910/01/19AaaAA+ 295,000.00 9128282Y5 1.50

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 10/31/2019 1.500% 10/31/2024

 258,945.30  259,462.18  947.69  261,064.45 01/12/2101/11/21AaaAA+ 250,000.00 912828YM6 0.33

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2017 2.125% 11/30/2024

 449,039.06  431,697.06  1,529.89  434,844.73 01/07/2001/03/20AaaAA+ 425,000.00 9128283J7 1.63

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 11/30/2017 2.125% 11/30/2024

 612,806.25  587,955.69  2,087.84  591,917.19 12/04/1912/02/19AaaAA+ 580,000.00 9128283J7 1.69

5 of 17Page 147

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

U.S. Treasury Bond / Note

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/17/2015 2.000% 02/15/2025

 137,007.81  135,154.44  1,199.45  137,205.86 03/04/2003/02/20AaaAA+ 130,000.00 912828J27 0.85

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2020 0.375% 12/31/2025

 188,040.62  185,797.17  61.96  185,494.92 04/07/2104/05/21AaaAA+ 190,000.00 91282CBC4 0.89

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 12/31/2020 0.375% 12/31/2025

 346,390.63  348,103.52  114.13  347,867.19 01/12/2101/11/21AaaAA+ 350,000.00 91282CBC4 0.50

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2019 2.625% 01/31/2026

 277,631.25  279,473.60  18.19  282,063.87 02/08/2102/04/21AaaAA+ 255,000.00 9128286A3 0.47

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2021 0.375% 01/31/2026

 266,962.50  264,894.61  2.75  264,410.16 02/26/2102/26/21AaaAA+ 270,000.00 91282CBH3 0.80

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2021 0.375% 01/31/2026

 469,656.25  466,007.83  4.84  465,871.09 07/07/2107/02/21AaaAA+ 475,000.00 91282CBH3 0.80

US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/28/2021 0.500% 02/28/2026

 308,062.50  306,021.94  648.64  305,676.95 03/09/2103/05/21AaaAA+ 310,000.00 91282CBQ3 0.79

US TREASURY N/B NOTES

DTD 05/31/2021 0.750% 05/31/2026

 421,443.75  419,110.50  533.61  419,081.25 06/04/2106/02/21AaaAA+ 420,000.00 91282CCF6 0.79

 24,191.97  7,153,221.86  6,961,872.06  1.53  6,954,541.60  6,935,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Supra-National Agency Bond / Note

INTL BK RECON & DEVELOP NOTES

DTD 11/24/2020 0.250% 11/24/2023

 149,800.65  149,751.13  69.79  149,677.50 11/24/2011/17/20AaaAAA 150,000.00 459058JM6 0.32

 69.79  149,800.65  149,751.13  0.32  149,677.50  150,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Municipal Bond / Note

CA ST TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 10/24/2019 2.400% 10/01/2023

 199,186.50  192,091.31  1,520.00  193,801.90 10/24/1910/16/19Aa2AA- 190,000.00 13063DRJ9 1.87

MS ST TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 08/06/2020 0.565% 11/01/2024

 199,730.00  200,000.00  282.50  200,000.00 08/06/2007/24/20Aa2AA 200,000.00 605581MZ7 0.57

6 of 17Page 148

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Municipal Bond / Note

OR ST DEPT TRANS TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/17/2020 0.566% 11/15/2024

 135,237.60  135,000.00  161.31  135,000.00 09/17/2009/11/20Aa1AAA 135,000.00 68607DVA0 0.57

FL ST BOARD OF ADMIN TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/16/2020 1.258% 07/01/2025

 40,696.40  40,231.22  41.93  40,282.80 09/16/2009/03/20Aa3AA 40,000.00 341271AD6 1.11

FL ST BOARD OF ADMIN TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 09/16/2020 1.258% 07/01/2025

 111,915.10  110,000.00  115.32  110,000.00 09/16/2009/03/20Aa3AA 110,000.00 341271AD6 1.26

LOS ANGELES CCD, CA TXBL GO BONDS

DTD 11/10/2020 0.773% 08/01/2025

 80,428.80  80,000.00  309.20  80,000.00 11/10/2010/30/20AaaAA+ 80,000.00 54438CYK2 0.77

NJ TURNPIKE AUTHORITY TXBL REV BONDS

DTD 02/04/2021 1.047% 01/01/2026

 40,321.20  40,000.00  34.90  40,000.00 02/04/2101/22/21A2A+ 40,000.00 646140DP5 1.05

 2,465.16  807,515.60  797,322.53  1.06  799,084.70  795,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Federal Agency Collateralized Mortgage Obligation

FNA 2018-M5 A2

DTD 04/01/2018 3.560% 09/01/2021

 984.01  984.51  2.92  1,003.58 04/30/1804/11/18AaaAA+ 984.01 3136B1XP4 2.93

FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 05/01/2015 2.791% 01/01/2022

 153,392.10  152,540.47  354.43  153,340.47 05/21/1905/16/19AaaAA+ 152,388.04 3137BHXY8 2.54

FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 11/01/2015 2.716% 06/01/2022

 101,339.65  100,065.92  226.33  100,250.00 04/05/1904/02/19AaaAA+ 100,000.00 3137BLUR7 2.63

FHLMC SERIES K721 A2

DTD 12/01/2015 3.090% 08/01/2022

 97,412.80  95,739.15  246.04  96,364.26 04/09/1804/04/18AaaAA+ 95,550.59 3137BM6P6 2.88

FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 12/01/2012 2.307% 08/01/2022

 101,749.31  100,509.88  192.25  101,476.56 09/09/1909/04/19AaaAA+ 100,000.00 3137AWQH1 1.78

FANNIEMAE-ACES

DTD 04/01/2014 3.346% 03/01/2024

 114,041.80  110,110.71  298.13  112,114.48 12/18/1912/13/19AaaAA+ 106,918.89 3136AJB54 2.14

FHMS K043 A2

DTD 03/01/2015 3.062% 12/01/2024

 118,409.27  113,876.28  280.68  115,448.44 03/25/2003/19/20AaaAA+ 110,000.00 3137BGK24 1.95

 1,600.78  687,328.94  673,826.92  2.32  679,997.79  665,841.53 Security Type Sub-Total

7 of 17Page 149

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Federal Agency Bond / Note

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/10/2017 1.875% 04/05/2022

 354,274.20  349,992.55  2,114.58  349,947.50 06/29/1706/27/17AaaAA+ 350,000.00 3135G0T45 1.88

FREDDIE MAC NOTES (CALLABLE)

DTD 08/06/2020 0.300% 02/06/2023

 465,011.63  465,000.00  678.13  465,000.00 08/06/2008/03/20AaaAA+ 465,000.00 3134GWLD6 0.30

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 05/22/2020 0.250% 05/22/2023

 305,451.71  304,447.49  146.15  304,081.95 05/22/2005/20/20AaaAA+ 305,000.00 3135G04Q3 0.35

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 06/11/2018 2.750% 06/19/2023

 524,134.00  501,486.66  1,604.17  503,510.00 01/09/1901/07/19AaaAA+ 500,000.00 3137EAEN5 2.58

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 06/26/2020 0.250% 06/26/2023

 175,239.40  174,676.13  42.53  174,489.00 06/26/2006/24/20AaaAA+ 175,000.00 3137EAES4 0.35

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 07/10/2020 0.250% 07/10/2023

 280,362.60  279,610.76  40.83  279,398.00 07/10/2007/08/20AaaAA+ 280,000.00 3135G05G4 0.32

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 08/21/2020 0.250% 08/24/2023

 185,178.53  184,870.59  201.70  184,811.30 08/21/2008/19/20AaaAA+ 185,000.00 3137EAEV7 0.28

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 09/14/2018 2.875% 09/12/2023

 348,493.20  329,704.41  3,663.23  329,333.40 12/06/1812/03/18AaaAA+ 330,000.00 3135G0U43 2.92

FEDERAL FARM CREDIT BANK (CALLABLE)

DTD 09/21/2020 0.250% 09/21/2023

 250,006.25  249,691.81  225.69  249,575.00 10/09/2010/07/20AaaAA+ 250,000.00 3133EMAM4 0.31

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 12/04/2020 0.250% 12/04/2023

 64,995.39  64,949.75  25.73  64,935.65 12/04/2012/02/20AaaAA+ 65,000.00 3137EAFA2 0.28

FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANKS NOTES

DTD 12/09/2013 3.375% 12/08/2023

 203,889.00  192,714.69  944.06  195,600.04 01/31/1901/30/19AaaAA+ 190,000.00 3130A0F70 2.72

FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK NOTES

DTD 04/16/2020 0.500% 04/14/2025

 199,904.40  199,264.70  297.22  199,008.00 04/16/2004/15/20AaaAA+ 200,000.00 3130AJHU6 0.60

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/24/2020 0.625% 04/22/2025

 260,879.84  259,600.65  446.88  259,464.40 04/24/2004/22/20AaaAA+ 260,000.00 3135G03U5 0.67

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 04/24/2020 0.625% 04/22/2025

 361,218.24  361,406.71  618.75  361,843.20 06/05/2006/03/20AaaAA+ 360,000.00 3135G03U5 0.52

8 of 17Page 150

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Federal Agency Bond / Note

FREDDIE MAC NOTES (CALLABLE)

DTD 05/29/2020 0.750% 05/28/2025

 200,091.80  199,538.26  262.50  199,400.00 06/09/2006/05/20AaaAA+ 200,000.00 3134GVB31 0.81

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

 174,711.43  175,157.79  106.94  175,201.25 07/07/2007/02/20AaaAA+ 175,000.00 3135G04Z3 0.48

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

 224,628.97  225,870.77  137.50  226,055.25 10/05/2010/01/20AaaAA+ 225,000.00 3135G04Z3 0.40

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 06/19/2020 0.500% 06/17/2025

 304,497.06  304,509.87  186.39  304,368.65 06/19/2006/17/20AaaAA+ 305,000.00 3135G04Z3 0.54

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 07/23/2020 0.375% 07/21/2025

 183,598.07  184,267.61  19.27  184,078.70 07/23/2007/21/20AaaAA+ 185,000.00 3137EAEU9 0.48

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 08/27/2020 0.375% 08/25/2025

 193,331.78  194,257.01  316.88  194,087.40 08/27/2008/25/20AaaAA+ 195,000.00 3135G05X7 0.47

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 08/27/2020 0.375% 08/25/2025

 416,406.90  418,091.51  682.50  417,727.80 10/22/2010/21/20AaaAA+ 420,000.00 3135G05X7 0.49

FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 09/25/2020 0.375% 09/23/2025

 282,631.65  284,287.95  380.00  284,142.15 09/25/2009/23/20AaaAA+ 285,000.00 3137EAEX3 0.44

FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 11/12/2020 0.500% 11/07/2025

 184,235.03  184,432.99  215.83  184,337.70 11/12/2011/09/20AaaAA+ 185,000.00 3135G06G3 0.57

 13,357.46  6,143,171.08  6,087,830.66  0.93  6,090,396.34  6,090,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Corporate Note

IBM CORP BONDS

DTD 01/27/2017 2.500% 01/27/2022

 404,497.60  400,082.66  111.11  400,840.00 02/03/1702/01/17A2A- 400,000.00 459200JQ5 2.45

APPLE INC CORP NOTES

DTD 02/09/2017 2.500% 02/09/2022

 242,418.96  239,393.23  2,866.67  236,438.40 01/09/1901/07/19Aa1AA+ 240,000.00 037833CM0 3.01

BB&T CORP (CALLABLE) NOTES

DTD 03/21/2017 2.750% 04/01/2022

 187,549.86  184,427.03  1,695.83  181,564.55 04/05/1804/03/18A3A- 185,000.00 05531FAX1 3.25

UNITED PARCEL SERVICE CORP NOTES

DTD 09/27/2012 2.450% 10/01/2022

 282,040.83  273,354.57  2,245.83  268,545.75 03/05/1803/01/18A2A- 275,000.00 911312AQ9 3.00

9 of 17Page 151

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Corporate Note

ADOBE INC CORP NOTE

DTD 02/03/2020 1.700% 02/01/2023

 102,142.50  99,931.25  850.00  99,863.00 02/03/2001/22/20A2A+ 100,000.00 00724PAA7 1.75

PFIZER INC CORP NOTES

DTD 03/11/2019 2.950% 03/15/2024

 276,476.72  261,642.01  2,897.56  263,146.00 04/04/1904/02/19A2A+ 260,000.00 717081ES8 2.69

MORGAN STANLEY CORP NOTES 

(CALLABLE)

DTD 04/22/2021 0.731% 04/05/2024

 25,065.75  25,000.00  50.26  25,000.00 04/22/2104/19/21A1BBB+ 25,000.00 61772BAA1 0.73

MORGAN STANLEY CORP NOTES 

(CALLABLE)

DTD 04/22/2021 0.731% 04/05/2024

 75,197.25  75,081.11  150.77  75,094.50 04/22/2104/20/21A1BBB+ 75,000.00 61772BAA1 0.69

AMAZON.COM INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/12/2021 0.450% 05/12/2024

 115,088.90  114,844.51  113.56  114,832.10 05/12/2105/10/21A1AA 115,000.00 023135BW5 0.50

WALMART INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 04/23/2019 2.850% 07/08/2024

 384,170.40  365,089.98  655.50  371,235.60 07/12/1907/10/19Aa2AA 360,000.00 931142EL3 2.19

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO CORPORATE 

NOTES (CAL

DTD 09/16/2020 0.653% 09/16/2024

 115,160.43  115,000.00  281.61  115,000.00 09/16/2009/09/20A2A- 115,000.00 46647PBS4 0.65

BANK OF AMERICA CORP (CALLABLE) 

CORPORAT

DTD 10/21/2020 0.810% 10/24/2024

 150,016.65  150,000.00  327.38  150,000.00 10/21/2010/16/20A2A- 150,000.00 06051GJH3 0.81

MICROSOFT CORP (CALLABLE) NOTES

DTD 02/12/2015 2.700% 02/12/2025

 203,484.30  201,596.82  2,408.25  202,921.90 03/17/2103/15/21AaaAAA 190,000.00 594918BB9 0.92

TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORP CORP 

NOTES

DTD 02/13/2020 1.800% 02/13/2025

 62,182.20  60,439.31  504.00  60,586.20 05/26/2005/20/20A1A+ 60,000.00 89236TGT6 1.58

TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORP CORP 

NOTES

DTD 02/13/2020 1.800% 02/13/2025

 93,273.30  90,658.96  756.00  90,879.30 05/26/2005/20/20A1A+ 90,000.00 89236TGT6 1.58

NOVARTIS CAPITAL CORP

DTD 02/14/2020 1.750% 02/14/2025

 305,177.80  302,743.72  2,394.83  305,504.95 05/08/2005/06/20A1AA- 295,000.00 66989HAP3 0.98

10 of 17Page 152

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Corporate Note

CITIGROUP INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/04/2021 0.981% 05/01/2025

 50,317.00  50,000.00  118.54  50,000.00 05/04/2104/27/21A3BBB+ 50,000.00 172967MX6 0.98

CITIGROUP INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 05/04/2021 0.981% 05/01/2025

 55,348.70  55,136.85  130.39  55,145.75 05/04/2104/28/21A3BBB+ 55,000.00 172967MX6 0.91

GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP INC CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 05/22/2015 3.750% 05/22/2025

 148,015.89  149,038.82  970.31  150,819.30 02/17/2102/12/21A2BBB+ 135,000.00 38148LAE6 0.94

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 06/01/2021 0.824% 06/01/2025

 114,707.44  115,000.00  157.93  115,000.00 06/01/2105/24/21A2A- 115,000.00 46647PCH7 0.82

BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB CO CORPORATE 

NOTES

DTD 11/13/2020 0.750% 11/13/2025

 71,886.17  71,301.19  117.00  71,282.88 06/21/2106/17/21A2A+ 72,000.00 110122DN5 0.98

 19,803.33  3,464,218.65  3,399,762.02  1.85  3,403,700.18  3,362,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Certificate of Deposit

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANK NY CERT DEPOS

DTD 07/14/2020 0.700% 07/08/2022

 155,669.91  155,000.00  72.33  155,000.00 07/14/2007/10/20P-1A-1 155,000.00 86565CKU2 0.70

NORDEA BANK ABP NEW YORK CERT DEPOS

DTD 08/29/2019 1.850% 08/26/2022

 284,791.92  280,000.00  2,244.67  280,000.00 08/29/1908/27/19Aa3AA- 280,000.00 65558TLL7 1.84

SKANDINAV ENSKILDA BANK LT CD

DTD 09/03/2019 1.860% 08/26/2022

 300,080.20  295,000.00  2,377.70  295,000.00 09/03/1908/29/19Aa2A+ 295,000.00 83050PDR7 1.85

DNB BANK ASA/NY LT CD

DTD 12/06/2019 2.040% 12/02/2022

 148,444.04  145,000.00  493.00  145,000.00 12/06/1912/05/19Aa2AA- 145,000.00 23341VZT1 2.03

CREDIT SUISSE NEW YORK CERT DEPOS

DTD 03/23/2021 0.590% 03/17/2023

 155,261.18  155,000.00  332.78  155,000.00 03/23/2103/19/21A1A+ 155,000.00 22552G3C2 0.59

 5,520.48  1,044,247.25  1,030,000.00  1.52  1,030,000.00  1,030,000.00 Security Type Sub-Total

Asset-Backed Security

11 of 17Page 153

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Asset-Backed Security

HAROT 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/27/2019 2.830% 03/20/2023

 48,432.77  47,939.03  48.99  47,938.26 02/27/1902/19/19NRAAA 47,939.54 43814WAC9 2.83

HYUNDAI AUTO RECEIVABLES TRUST

DTD 04/10/2019 2.660% 06/15/2023

 39,054.36  38,702.98  45.76  38,700.16 04/10/1904/03/19NRAAA 38,705.26 44932NAD2 2.66

HAROT 2019-2 A3

DTD 05/29/2019 2.520% 06/21/2023

 63,817.76  63,082.74  44.16  63,081.48 05/29/1905/21/19AaaNR 63,083.83 43815MAC0 2.52

TAOT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 07/15/2023

 78,232.92  77,291.39  99.97  77,283.53 02/13/1902/05/19AaaAAA 77,297.61 89239AAD5 2.91

ALLYA 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 09/15/2023

 28,600.87  28,323.45  36.63  28,321.61 02/13/1902/05/19AaaNR 28,325.03 02004WAC5 2.91

NAROT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.900% 10/15/2023

 63,156.52  62,427.76  80.47  62,422.77 02/13/1902/05/19AaaNR 62,432.22 65479KAD2 2.90

COPAR 2019-1 A3

DTD 05/30/2019 2.510% 11/15/2023

 58,886.23  58,267.68  65.01  58,261.93 05/30/1905/21/19AaaAAA 58,273.74 14042WAC4 2.51

NAROT 2019-B A3

DTD 05/28/2019 2.500% 11/15/2023

 70,299.65  69,290.36  77.00  69,282.72 05/28/1905/21/19AaaNR 69,298.39 65479HAC1 2.51

HAROT 2020-1 A3

DTD 02/26/2020 1.610% 04/22/2024

 106,382.94  104,986.50  46.96  104,979.42 02/26/2002/19/20AaaNR 105,000.00 43813RAC1 1.61

TAOT 2020-A A3

DTD 02/12/2020 1.660% 05/15/2024

 141,649.82  139,993.38  103.29  139,989.89 02/12/2002/04/20AaaAAA 140,000.00 89232HAC9 1.66

CARMX 2020-1 A3

DTD 01/22/2020 1.890% 12/16/2024

 101,617.91  99,986.49  84.00  99,980.38 01/22/2001/14/20NRAAA 100,000.00 14315XAC2 1.89

HAROT 2021-1 A3

DTD 02/24/2021 0.270% 04/21/2025

 54,975.91  54,999.10  4.13  54,998.99 02/24/2102/17/21AaaNR 55,000.00 43813GAC5 0.27

HART 2021-A A3

DTD 04/28/2021 0.380% 09/15/2025

 45,008.26  44,995.55  7.60  44,995.27 04/28/2104/20/21NRAAA 45,000.00 44933LAC7 0.38

CARMX 2021-1 A3

DTD 01/27/2021 0.340% 12/15/2025

 29,963.87  29,994.69  4.53  29,994.07 01/27/2101/20/21NRAAA 30,000.00 14316NAC3 0.34

12 of 17Page 154

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Detail of Securities Held

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Dated Date/Coupon/Maturity CUSIP Rating Rating Date Date Cost at Cost Interest Cost Value

Security Type/Description S&P Moody's Original YTM Accrued Amortized MarketTrade Settle

Par

Asset-Backed Security

CARMX 2021-2 A3

DTD 04/21/2021 0.520% 02/17/2026

 65,157.27  64,986.80  15.02  64,985.99 04/21/2104/13/21NRAAA 65,000.00 14314QAC8 0.52

 763.52  995,237.06  985,267.90  1.91  985,216.47  985,355.62 Security Type Sub-Total

 20,013,197.15  20,092,614.58  1.42  67,772.49  20,085,633.22  20,444,741.09 Managed Account Sub-Total

Money Market Mutual Fund

PFM Funds - Govt Select, Instl Cl  96,242.49  96,242.49  0.00  96,242.49 NRAAAm 96,242.49 

 96,242.49  96,242.49  0.00  96,242.49  96,242.49 Liquid Sub-Total

$20,109,439.64 $20,188,857.07 $67,772.49 $20,181,875.71 $20,540,983.58  1.42%

$20,608,756.07 

$67,772.49 

Total Investments

Accrued Interest

Securities Sub-Total

13 of 17Page 155

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Security Transactions & Interest

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Transaction Type

Trade CUSIPSecurity DescriptionSettle Par Proceeds

Principal Accrued

Interest Total Cost

Realized G/L Realized G/L Sale

Amort Cost Method

BUY

07/07/21 US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2021 0.375% 01/31/2026

91282CBH3 (465,871.09) (772.53) (466,643.62) 475,000.00 07/02/21

(772.53) (466,643.62)(465,871.09) 475,000.00 Transaction Type Sub-Total

INTEREST

07/01/21 FL ST BOARD OF ADMIN TXBL REV 

BONDS

DTD 09/16/2020 1.258% 07/01/2025

341271AD6  0.00  943.50  943.50  150,000.00 07/01/21

07/01/21 NJ TURNPIKE AUTHORITY TXBL REV 

BONDS

DTD 02/04/2021 1.047% 01/01/2026

646140DP5  0.00  171.01  171.01  40,000.00 07/01/21

07/25/21 FHMS K043 A2

DTD 03/01/2015 3.062% 12/01/2024

3137BGK24  0.00  280.68  280.68  110,000.00 07/01/21

07/25/21 FHLMC SERIES K721 A2

DTD 12/01/2015 3.090% 08/01/2022

3137BM6P6  0.00  282.55  282.55  98,937.66 07/01/21

07/25/21 FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 12/01/2012 2.307% 08/01/2022

3137AWQH1  0.00  192.25  192.25  100,000.00 07/01/21

07/25/21 FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 11/01/2015 2.716% 06/01/2022

3137BLUR7  0.00  226.33  226.33  100,000.00 07/01/21

07/25/21 FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 05/01/2015 2.791% 01/01/2022

3137BHXY8  0.00  401.81  401.81  158,368.00 07/01/21

07/25/21 FANNIEMAE-ACES

DTD 04/01/2014 3.346% 03/01/2024

3136AJB54  0.00  298.71  298.71  107,133.79 07/01/21

07/25/21 FNA 2018-M5 A2

DTD 04/01/2018 3.560% 09/01/2021

3136B1XP4  0.00  6.86  6.86  2,311.69 07/01/21

07/08/21 SUMITOMO MITSUI BANK NY CERT 

DEPOS

DTD 07/14/2020 0.700% 07/08/2022

86565CKU2  0.00  545.51  545.51  155,000.00 07/08/21

07/08/21 WALMART INC CORPORATE NOTES

DTD 04/23/2019 2.850% 07/08/2024

931142EL3  0.00  5,130.00  5,130.00  360,000.00 07/08/21

07/10/21 FANNIE MAE NOTES

DTD 07/10/2020 0.250% 07/10/2023

3135G05G4  0.00  350.00  350.00  280,000.00 07/10/21

07/15/21 CARMX 2021-2 A3

DTD 04/21/2021 0.520% 02/17/2026

14314QAC8  0.00  28.17  28.17  65,000.00 07/15/21

14 of 17Page 156

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Security Transactions & Interest

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Transaction Type

Trade CUSIPSecurity DescriptionSettle Par Proceeds

Principal Accrued

Interest Total Cost

Realized G/L Realized G/L Sale

Amort Cost Method

INTEREST

07/15/21 TAOT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 07/15/2023

89239AAD5  0.00  207.12  207.12  85,409.52 07/15/21

07/15/21 NAROT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.900% 10/15/2023

65479KAD2  0.00  167.11  167.11  69,147.51 07/15/21

07/15/21 NAROT 2019-B A3

DTD 05/28/2019 2.500% 11/15/2023

65479HAC1  0.00  158.38  158.38  76,022.13 07/15/21

07/15/21 TAOT 2020-A A3

DTD 02/12/2020 1.660% 05/15/2024

89232HAC9  0.00  193.67  193.67  140,000.00 07/15/21

07/15/21 CARMX 2020-1 A3

DTD 01/22/2020 1.890% 12/16/2024

14315XAC2  0.00  157.50  157.50  100,000.00 07/15/21

07/15/21 ALLYA 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 09/15/2023

02004WAC5  0.00  76.81  76.81  31,674.55 07/15/21

07/15/21 COPAR 2019-1 A3

DTD 05/30/2019 2.510% 11/15/2023

14042WAC4  0.00  134.48  134.48  64,292.70 07/15/21

07/15/21 CARMX 2021-1 A3

DTD 01/27/2021 0.340% 12/15/2025

14316NAC3  0.00  8.50  8.50  30,000.00 07/15/21

07/15/21 HYUNDAI AUTO RECEIVABLES TRUST

DTD 04/10/2019 2.660% 06/15/2023

44932NAD2  0.00  96.93  96.93  43,726.27 07/15/21

07/15/21 HART 2021-A A3

DTD 04/28/2021 0.380% 09/15/2025

44933LAC7  0.00  14.25  14.25  45,000.00 07/15/21

07/18/21 HAROT 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/27/2019 2.830% 03/20/2023

43814WAC9  0.00  126.82  126.82  53,776.51 07/18/21

07/21/21 HAROT 2020-1 A3

DTD 02/26/2020 1.610% 04/22/2024

43813RAC1  0.00  140.88  140.88  105,000.00 07/21/21

07/21/21 HAROT 2021-1 A3

DTD 02/24/2021 0.270% 04/21/2025

43813GAC5  0.00  12.38  12.38  55,000.00 07/21/21

07/21/21 FREDDIE MAC NOTES

DTD 07/23/2020 0.375% 07/21/2025

3137EAEU9  0.00  346.88  346.88  185,000.00 07/21/21

07/21/21 HAROT 2019-2 A3

DTD 05/29/2019 2.520% 06/21/2023

43815MAC0  0.00  145.98  145.98  69,513.85 07/21/21

07/27/21 IBM CORP BONDS

DTD 01/27/2017 2.500% 01/27/2022

459200JQ5  0.00  5,000.00  5,000.00  400,000.00 07/27/21

07/31/21 US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 07/31/2017 2.125% 07/31/2024

9128282N9  0.00  1,328.13  1,328.13  125,000.00 07/31/21

15 of 17Page 157

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Security Transactions & Interest

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Transaction Type

Trade CUSIPSecurity DescriptionSettle Par Proceeds

Principal Accrued

Interest Total Cost

Realized G/L Realized G/L Sale

Amort Cost Method

INTEREST

07/31/21 US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2019 2.625% 01/31/2026

9128286A3  0.00  3,346.88  3,346.88  255,000.00 07/31/21

07/31/21 US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 08/01/2016 1.250% 07/31/2023

912828S92  0.00  875.00  875.00  140,000.00 07/31/21

07/31/21 US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 01/31/2021 0.375% 01/31/2026

91282CBH3  0.00  1,396.88  1,396.88  745,000.00 07/31/21

07/31/21 US TREASURY NOTES

DTD 02/01/2016 1.750% 01/31/2023

912828P38  0.00  218.75  218.75  25,000.00 07/31/21

 23,010.71  23,010.71  0.00  4,570,314.18 Transaction Type Sub-Total

PAYDOWNS

07/25/21 FHLMC MULTIFAMILY STRUCTURED P

DTD 05/01/2015 2.791% 01/01/2022

3137BHXY8  5,979.96  0.00  5,979.96 (37.37)  0.00  5,979.96 07/01/21

07/25/21 FNA 2018-M5 A2

DTD 04/01/2018 3.560% 09/01/2021

3136B1XP4  1,327.68  0.00  1,327.68 (26.41)  0.00  1,327.68 07/01/21

07/25/21 FHLMC SERIES K721 A2

DTD 12/01/2015 3.090% 08/01/2022

3137BM6P6  3,387.07  0.00  3,387.07 (28.84)  0.00  3,387.07 07/01/21

07/25/21 FANNIEMAE-ACES

DTD 04/01/2014 3.346% 03/01/2024

3136AJB54  214.90  0.00  214.90 (10.44)  0.00  214.90 07/01/21

07/15/21 COPAR 2019-1 A3

DTD 05/30/2019 2.510% 11/15/2023

14042WAC4  6,018.96  0.00  6,018.96  1.22  0.00  6,018.96 07/15/21

07/15/21 ALLYA 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 09/15/2023

02004WAC5  3,349.52  0.00  3,349.52  0.41  0.00  3,349.52 07/15/21

07/15/21 TAOT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.910% 07/15/2023

89239AAD5  8,111.91  0.00  8,111.91  1.48  0.00  8,111.91 07/15/21

07/15/21 NAROT 2019-B A3

DTD 05/28/2019 2.500% 11/15/2023

65479HAC1  6,723.74  0.00  6,723.74  1.52  0.00  6,723.74 07/15/21

07/15/21 NAROT 2019-A A3

DTD 02/13/2019 2.900% 10/15/2023

65479KAD2  6,715.29  0.00  6,715.29  1.02  0.00  6,715.29 07/15/21

07/15/21 HYUNDAI AUTO RECEIVABLES TRUST

DTD 04/10/2019 2.660% 06/15/2023

44932NAD2  5,021.01  0.00  5,021.01  0.66  0.00  5,021.01 07/15/21

07/18/21 HAROT 2019-1 A3

DTD 02/27/2019 2.830% 03/20/2023

43814WAC9  5,836.97  0.00  5,836.97  0.16  0.00  5,836.97 07/18/21

16 of 17Page 158

Item 18.



For the Month Ending July 31, 2021Managed Account Security Transactions & Interest

CITY OF COACHELLA - OPERATING PORTFOLIO - 995343 - (14201484)

Transaction Type

Trade CUSIPSecurity DescriptionSettle Par Proceeds

Principal Accrued

Interest Total Cost

Realized G/L Realized G/L Sale

Amort Cost Method

PAYDOWNS

07/21/21 HAROT 2019-2 A3

DTD 05/29/2019 2.520% 06/21/2023

43815MAC0  6,430.02  0.00  6,430.02  0.24  0.00  6,430.02 07/21/21

 0.00  0.00 (96.35) 59,117.03  59,117.03  59,117.03 Transaction Type Sub-Total

SELL

07/07/21 APPLE INC CORP NOTES

DTD 02/09/2017 2.500% 02/09/2022

037833CM0  202,324.00  2,055.56  204,379.56  5,292.00  2,895.48 FIFO 200,000.00 07/02/21

07/07/21 SOCIETE GENERALE NY CERT DEPOS

DTD 02/19/2020 1.800% 02/14/2022

83369XDL9  191,860.10  1,358.50  193,218.60  1,860.10  1,860.10 FIFO 190,000.00 07/06/21

 3,414.06  4,755.58  7,152.10  397,598.16  394,184.10  390,000.00 Transaction Type Sub-Total

(12,569.96)  25,652.24  13,082.28  7,055.75  4,755.58 Managed Account Sub-Total

Total Security Transactions $7,055.75 $13,082.28 $25,652.24 ($12,569.96) $4,755.58 

17 of 17Page 159

Item 18.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: Authorize City Manager to execute a Lease Agreement with Desert Recreation 

District for use of office space at City Hall.  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Authorize City Manager to execute a Lease Agreement with Desert Recreation District for use of 

office space at City Hall. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   

Additional office space became available at City Hall due to the acquisition of the Coachella Civic 

Center and the relocation of city permitting services to this city facility.  The City Council has 

approved City Hall leases to: the Greater Coachella Valley Chamber of Commerce, Consejo De 

Federaciones Mexicanas En Norteamerica (COFEM), LGBT Community Center of the Desert and 

Kounkuey Design Initiative, Inc. (KDI).  All approved leases provided the office space to the 

lessees at a per square footage rate of $0.35.  The Desert Recreation District needs to more office 

space for its coordinators serving the City of Coachella and eastern Coachella Valley.  DRD is 

requesting to lease a total of 264 square feet of office space at the City Hall property, at the same 

rate of $0.35 per square foot.  The available office space will accommodate the needs of the DRD 

and allow their organization to expand their services to the eastern Coachella Valley.   

 

 Term = three years; October 15, 2021 – October 14, 2024. 

 Utilities = to be paid by Lessee for said property; with the exception of the following: 

alarm, water, sewer, trash and electric. 

 Maintenance/Janitorial = to be completed by Lessee for said property. 

 Insurance = to be provided be Lessee for said property. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The recommended action would have a positive fiscal impact of $1,108.80 annually. 

 

Attachments:  

Proposed Lease 

Page 160

Item 19.



1 | P a g e  
 

LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF COACHELLA AND 
 

DESERT RECREATION DISTRICT  
 
THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (the "Lease") is made as of October 13, 2021 by and between 
THE CITY OF COACHELLA, a California municipal corporation (the "Lessor"), and the 
DESERT RECREATION DISTRICT, a Public Agency and Special District organization (the 
"Lessee"), with reference to the following facts: 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. The Lessor owns a civic building located at City Hall 1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, CA 
92236, which is described in Exhibit A and totals 9,589 square feet (the “Building”). 
 

B. Lessee desires to lease 264 square feet of the Building (the “Premises”) from the Lessor, 
described in more detail in Exhibit “A” for purposes of providing recreation services and 
programs to residents of the City of Coachella and for all activities incidental or necessary 
to accomplish said purpose. 

 
C. Lessor will retain usage and access to one office located at the entrance of the current 

Administration Division – approximately 156 square feet – as described on Exhibit C.  
 
NOW,   THEREFORE,   in   consideration   of   the mutual   covenants   and   agreements 
contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

1. Recitals. Lessor and Lessee acknowledge the Recitals set forth above which are 
incorporated herein by this reference together with the Exhibits attached hereto. 
 

2. Leasehold. Lessor hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby leases from Lessor, the 
Premises, for the term, at the rental and upon the conditions set forth herein.  Lessee accepts 
the Premises, including the appurtenant improvements, structures, and facilities, if any, in 
"AS IS" condition. 

 
3. Premises. The  Premises  described   in  Exhibit A  amount   to  an  area  of approximately  

264 square feet.   Upon execution of this Lease, Lessor grants to Lessee the right to survey 
the Premises (the "Survey") and such Survey, if performed, shall replace Exhibit B as the 
description of the Premises. 
 

4. Term of Lease. The original term of the Lease shall be for a three (3) year period 
commencing on October 15, 2021 and terminating on October 14, 2024 (the "Term").  
Following expiration of the Term, unless and until Lessee or Lessor delivers a Notice 
of Termination in accordance with Section 11, the term of this Lease shall 

Page 161

Item 19.



2 | P a g e  
 

automatically be extended by successive one (1) year periods beginning on October 
15 of the subject year and expiring on October 14 of the following year (individually 
and collectively, the “Extended Term”). 

 
 

5. Rent. 
 

Term Minimum Annual Rent. During the Term of this Lease, Lessee shall pay to 
Lessor monthly  rent in the sum of Ninety-Two Dollars and Forty Cents ($92.40).   
Lessee shall pay Lessor all sums due for monthly rent without deduction, set off, 
prior notice, or demand, in advance of the 1st day of each month and continuing 
through the term of this Lease.   
 

5.1 Extended Term Minimum Annual Rent.  In the event that the Extended Term 
should become effective, on October 15, 2024 and on October 15th of each 
successive year during the Extended Term the monthly rent shall be Ninety-Two 
Dollars and Forty Cents ($92.40) unless renegotiated between the Lessor and 
Lessee.   
 

5.2 Where to Pay Rent. All rent shall be paid to Lessor at the address specified below 
in Section 19.  
 

6. Utilities, Maintenance and Insurance. 
 

a) Utilities. Lessee shall make all arrangements for and shall pay for all utilities, with 
the exception of: electricity, trash, water, sewer and alarm system for the Premises.   
 

b) Maintenance. Lessee  shall  provide  all  maintenance and repairs,  at Lessee’s  
sole cost and expense,  to keep the Premises  in good order and condition,  
including any improvements  approved by the Lessor to be constructed  and/or 
installed by the Lessee during the term of this Lease.  Lessee agrees to maintain 
the leased premises in the same condition as when received, wear and tear in the 
usual and ordinary operation by Lessee; provided Lessor agrees to repair and 
maintain all exterior walls, the roof and other structural portions of the building, 
except for damages caused by Lessee, its officers, agents and patrons of the Greater 
Coachella Valley Chamber of Commerce.  Lessor further agrees to: 1) maintain and 
keep in good working condition the heating and cooling system including normal 
servicing and preventative maintenance.   
 

c) Insurance. All insurance carried by Lessee shall be primary to and not contributory 
with any similar insurance carried by Lessor, whose insurance shall be 

Page 162

Item 19.



3 | P a g e  
 

considered excess insurance only.  Lessee shall carry and maintain, during the 
entire term thereof, at Lessee's sole cost and expense, the following types of 
insurance in the amounts specified and in the form provided for in this section: 
 

i. General Liability Insurance. Broad-form comprehensive general  liability  
insurance  with  limits  of  not  less  than  One  Million  Dollars  
($1,000,000)  per person  and  One  Million  Dollars  ($1,000,000)  each  
occurrence,  insuring  against  any  and  all liability  of  Lessee  with  
respect  to  the  Premises  or  arising  out  of  the  maintenance,  use  or 
occupancy  thereof,  and property  damage liability  insurance  with a 
limit of not less than One Million  Dollars  ($1,000,000)  each  accident,  
or  One  Million  Dollars  ($1,000,000)  combined single limit. 

ii. Property Insurance. Lessee shall obtain and maintain in force a policy 
or policies of insurance in the name of Lessee, with any loss payable to 
Lessee, and any lender of Lessor insuring against loss or damage to the 
improvements on the Premises, including, without limitation, any 
improvements installed or constructed by Lessee.   The amount of such 
insurance shall be equal to the full insurable replacement cost of such 
improvements, as the same shall exist from time to time, or the amount 
required by any lender of Lessor, but in no event more than the 
commercially reasonable and available insurance value thereof.  If the 
coverage is available and commercially appropriate, such policy or 
policies shall insure against all risks of direct loss or physical damage 
(except the perils of flood and earthquake unless required by a lender 
of Lessor).   If such insurance coverage has a deductible clause, the 
deductible amount shall not exceed 'the amount permitted by a lender of 
Lessor. In the event any casualty results in damage to the improvements 
on the Premises which are the property of Lessor (and not constructed or 
installed by Lessee in accordance with the provisions hereof), Lessee 
shall either (i) use the proceeds of insurance to cause the restoration of 
such property of Lessor or (ii) pay or cause payment to Lessor or any 
lender of Lessor in an amount of the proportionate share of insurance 
proceeds attributable to damage to such property of Lessor. 

iii. Delivery of Certificate of Insurance.  Lessee shall deliver to Lessor 
certificates of insurance evidencing the insurance procured by Lessee, 
which certificates shall name Lessor as an additional insured together 
with any lender of Lessor. The Certificates of Insurance shall be 
delivered by Lessee to Lessor at the time of the execution of the Lease 
and shall be monitored regularly. 

iv. Notice of Cancellation. All insurance p o l i c i e s  s h a l l  contain a  

Page 163

Item 19.



4 | P a g e  
 

provision that such policies shall not be canceled or terminated without 
thirty (30) days' prior   notice from the insurance company to Lessor. 
Lessee agrees that on or before thirty (30) days prior to expiration of 
any insurance policy, Lessee will deliver to Lessor written notification 
in the form of a receipt or other similar document from the applicable 
insurance company that said policy or policies have been renewed, or 
deliver certificates of coverage from another good and solvent insurance 
company for such coverage. 
 

7. Use. Lessee shall use and occupy the Premises for purposes of providing recreational 
services and programs and for all activities incidental or necessary to accomplish said 
purpose, and for no other purpose.  Lessee shall not use the Premises for the purposes of 
storing, manufacturing or selling any inherently dangerous substance, chemical, thing, 
or device. 

8. Janitorial Services. The Lessee agrees to provide at its sole cost and expense  
janitorial services for the leased Premises. 
 
 

9. Hazardous Substances and Hazardous Materials. 
 

a) Defined. For purposes  of this Lease, the term "Hazardous  Substances" shall 
be as defined in the Comprehensive Environmental  Response, Compensation, 
and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§  9601 et seq., and any regulations promulgated 
pursuant thereto, and as used to define "Hazardous Wastes" in the Resource 
Conservation  and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.,  and  any  regulations  
promulgated  thereto,  or  as may  be identified  or  defined  by  any federal, state 
or local law or regulation. 
 

b) Prohibition and Indemnity. Lessee shall not (either with or without negligence) 
cause or permit the use, storage, generation, escape, disposal or release of any 
Hazardous Substances or Hazardous Wastes in any manner not sanctioned by 
law.  In all events, Lessee  shall  indemnify  and  hold  Lessor  harmless  from  
any  and  all  claims,  damages,  fines, judgments, penalties, costs, liabilities or 
losses (including,  without limitation,  any and all sums paid for settlement of 
claims, attorneys' fees, and consultants' and experts' fees) (collectively "Claims") 
from the presence or release of any Hazardous Substances or Hazardous Wastes 
on the Premises  if caused by Lessee or persons acting  under Lessee.   The 
foregoing  indemnity  shall apply regardless of whether or not any such Claims 
are contributed to by the negligence or fault of the indemnified  party, by the 
violation of any law, statute or regulation  by the indemnified party, and even 

Page 164

Item 19.



5 | P a g e  
 

if the indemnified party is strictly liable therefore.  However, in the event of such 
contributory negligence or other fault of the indemnified party, then the 
indemnified party shall not be indemnified hereunder in the proportion that the 
indemnified party’s negligence or other fault caused any such Claims. Lessee 
shall execute such affidavits, representations or other documents from time to 
time as Lessor may reasonably request concerning Lessee's best knowledge and 
belief as to the presence of Hazardous Substances or Hazardous Wastes on the 
Premises. This paragraph shall survive the termination of this Lease. 
 

10. Improvements. 
 

a) Consent of Lessor. Lessee shall not construct or make any installations, additions, 
improvements or alterations in or to the Premises, without the prior written 
consent of Lessor, which would not be unreasonably withheld. 
 

b) Lessee to Pay Improvement Cost. All installations, additions, improvements, or 
alterations constructed or made to the Premises, with the consent of Lessor, 
shall be made at the sole cost and expense of Lessee.    
 

c) Removal of Improvements. All installations, additions, improvements, or 
alterations constructed or made to the Premises by Lessee shall remain Lessee's 
personal property and, notwithstanding principles of law applicable to real 
property improvements, Lessee's installations, additions, improvements or 
alternations shall not be deemed improvements to Lessor's Premises and may be 
removed from the Premises by Lessee upon termination of this Lease in the sole 
discretion of Lessee.  Further, upon  termination   of  this  Lease  and  following  
removal  of  Lessee's   property,  the Premises shall be restored to a condition 
reasonably satisfactory  to Lessor, at Lessee's  expense. Any of Lessee’s property, 
as aforesaid, not removed from the Premises upon termination of this Lease 
shall become the property of Lessor. 
 

d) Mechanic’s Liens. Lessee  agrees  to  pay  promptly  for  all  labor  or materials 
furnished for any work of construction, improvements, alterations, additions, 
repairs or maintenance  performed by Lessee in connection with the Premises, 
and to keep and to hold the Premises free, clear, and harmless of and from all 
liens that could arise by reason of any such work. 
 

11. Termination. Within ninety (90) days prior to expiration of the Term, either Lessor or 
Lessee may terminate this Lease, without cause, by serving the other party with thirty 
(30) days' prior written notice of such termination (a "Notice of Termination"). Upon 

Page 165

Item 19.



6 | P a g e  
 

termination of this Lease, Lessee shall return the Premises in good condition and repair 
to the reasonable satisfaction of Lessor. 
 

12. Signs. Lessee shall not install any signs on the Premises without the prior written 
consent of Lessor, which would not be unreasonably withheld.  
 

13. Assignment and Subleasing. Lessee shall not assign, o r  m o r t g a g e , this Lease in 
whole or in part, nor sublet all or any part of the Premises, without the prior written 
consent of Lessor in each instance, which consent may be granted or denied in Lessor's 
sole discretion. This  prohibition  against  assigning  or  subletting  shall  be  construed  
to  include  a prohibition against any assignment or subletting by operation of law.  In 
the event that Lessor's written consent is granted, Lessee shall pay all expenses in 
connection with such assignment and Lessee shall remain primarily obligated to Lessor 
for performance of all provisions of this Lease. 
 

14. Use of Premises by Lessor. The Premises will be used as administrative office space and 
programming for the Lessee; however, the Lessor still has access and use of one office, 
approximately 156 square feet identified in Exhibit C. 
 

15. Entry and Inspection.  Lessee shall permit Lessor or Lessor’s agents to· enter upon the 
Premises at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, for the purpose of inspecting 
the same. 
 

16. Indemnification. To the extent permitted by law, Lessor shall not be liable for any  
damage or injury to Lessee, or any other person, or to any property, occurring on the 
Premises or any part thereof in connection with this Lease, unless caused by the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of Lessor. Lessee agrees to indemnify and hold Lessor 
harmless from any claims for damages which arise in connection with any such 
occurrence. Lessor agrees to indemnify and hold Lessee harmless from any claims for 
damages which arise from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lessor in 
connection with the Premises or this Lease. Said indemnifications shall include 
indemnity from any reasonable costs or fees which the indemnified party may incur in 
defending any such claim. The provisions of this Section shall survive termination of 
this Lease. 
 

17. Lessor's Remedies on Default. If Lessee defaults in the payment of rent or defaults in the 
performance of any of the other covenants or conditions hereof, Lessor may give Lessee 
notice of such default and if Lessee does not cure any such default within thirty (30) 
days after the giving of such notice (or if the default is of a nature that it cannot be 
completely cured within  such period, if Lessee does  not commence  such cure within  

Page 166

Item 19.



7 | P a g e  
 

such  thirty (30) days  and thereafter proceed with reasonable diligence and in good 
faith to cure such default), then Lessor may  terminate  this  Lease  on  not  less  than  
thirty  (30)  days'  notice  to  Lessee. On the date specified in such notice, the term of 
this Lease shall terminate and Lessee shall then quit and surrender the Premises to 
Lessor, without extinguishing Lessee’s liability. If this Lease shall have been so 
terminated by Lessor, Lessor may at any time thereafter resume possession of the 
Premises by any lawful means and remove Lessee or other occupants and their effects. 
 

18. Waiver. No Failure to Lessor to enforce any term hereof shall be deemed to be a waiver. 
 

19. Notices. Any notice, request, demand, or other communication which either party may 
or is required  to give, shall be in writing and shall be delivered in person or sent to 
the address set forth herein below by registered or certified mail, return receipt  requested 
with postage prepaid, by commercial overnight courier, with written  verification of 
receipt, or by telecopy. A notice shall be deemed given: (a) w h e n  delivered by personal 
delivery (as evidenced by the receipt); (b) three (3) days after deposit in the mail if 
sent by registered or certified mail; (c) one (1) business day after having been sent by 
commercial overnight courier as evidenced by the written verification of receipt or (d) 
on the date of confirmation if telecopies. Either party may change its address for 
receiving notice by written notice given to the other in accordance with the provisions 
of this Notices section. 

To Lessor  
City of Coachella 
53462 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
Attn: Maritza Martinez  
Phone: (760) 501-8111 
E-mail: mmartinez@coachella.org   

 

To Lessee 
Desert Recreation District  
45-305 Oasis Street 
Indio, CA 92201 
Attn: Kevin Kalman 
General Manager 
Phone: (760) 347-3484 
E-mail: kkalman@drd.us.com  
 
 

20. No Agency/Employment. In performing the terms of this Lease, the Lessor and Lessee 
each remain an autonomous and separate entity, solely responsible for its own actions 

Page 167

Item 19.

mailto:mmartinez@coachella.org
mailto:jbonner@gcvcc.org


8 | P a g e  
 

and those of its officers, employees, agents and volunteers.   No relationship of 
employment, agency, partnership or joint venture is to be created by or implied from 
this Lease. 
 

21. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Lease. 
 

22. Entire Agreement. This instrument constitutes the entire agreement between the parties 
and may be modified only by a writing signed by both parties. 
 

23. Governing Law. This Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance with 
the laws of the State of California. 

 

  

Page 168

Item 19.



9 | P a g e  
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease as of the date first written 
above:

LESSEE:   

D E S E R T  RE C R E AT I O N  D I ST R I C T    

California Public Agency  

 

By:                                                              

Kevin Kalman, General Manager  

 

LESSOR: 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

California Municipal Corporation 

 

By:                                                            

Dr. Gabriel D. Martin, City Manager 

 

Attest: 

By:                                                             

Angela M. Zepeda  

City Clerk - City of Coachella 

 

Approved as to Form: 

By:                                                             

Best, Best & Krieger LLP  

City Attorney 

Page 169

Item 19.



10 | P a g e  
 

EXHIBIT "A" 
 
DESCRIPTION OF BUILDING: 
 
The City of Coachella (Lessor) owns real property (approximately 9,589 square foot “Building”) located at 
1515 Sixth Street, Assessor   Parcel Numbers: 0 0 9 - 6 1 8 - 4 7 2 , in the City of Coachella, County of 
Riverside, and the State of California.  
 

    Administration Division (1600 square feet), Council Chambers (988 square feet)  
    and Parking Lot (8,000 square feet) 

 
 

 

 

  

 

 

Page 170

Item 19.



11 | P a g e  
 

Page 171

Item 19.



12 | P a g e  
 

 
EXHIBIT “B" 

 
SURVEY OF PREMISES 
 
Pending

Page 172

Item 19.



12 | P a g e  
 

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

Office and Conference Room Use of Premises by the Lessor and Lessee: 
 
City Council Chambers =  
 
Lessor Use 156 square feet =  
 
Chamber of Commerce use of 1600 square feet  =  
 
Lessee Kitchen and Restrooms =  
 
Lessee Use 264 square feet =      
 
 
*Lessee will provide janitorial maintenance to identified Kitchen and Restroom areas and hallways. 
 

 

Page 173

Item 19.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Andrew Simmons, P.E., City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Authorize the City Manager to execute Grapefruit Blvd Urban Greening and 

Connectivity Project Change Order #29, City Project ST-123. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Authorize the City Manager to execute on behalf of the City Council of the City of Coachella, 

Change Order #29 in an amount $171,777.27 by and between the City of Coachella and C.S. 

Legacy to install a polymer enhanced colored concrete crosswalks for the Grapefruit Blvd Urban 

Greening and Connectivity Project, City Project ST-123. 

BACKGROUND: 
 

On November 2, 2018 the City of Coachella received a $3.19 million grant from the California 

Natural Resources Agency (CNRA) for the Grapefruit Urban Greening and Connectivity Project. 

On November 18, 2020 City Council authorized the City Manager to execute a professional 

services agreement with NV5 to provide Engineering Services for the Design of a signalized 

intersection at 6th Street and Grapefruit Blvd. 
 

On November 18, 2020 the City of Coachella awarded a construction contract with C.S. Legacy 

to construct a pleasant, safe, artful walkable roadway in the Pueblo Viejo Downtown District on 

Grapefruit Blvd. This project is currently under construction. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 
 

The project design for the Urban Greening project included the installation of four new crosswalks 

to enhance the connectivity of the bike and pedestrian paths on each side of the roadway.  The 

project included 3 midblock crosswalks, one at Leoco Street, one at 4th Street and one at 9th Street, 

and a fourth signalized intersection crosswalk located at 6th street. To enhance the visibility of 

these new crosswalks and encourage traffic calming and improve pedestrian safety, the 

engineering staff is recommending installation of enhanced crosswalks. 

 

Engineering staff has worked with “Endurablend” to design and price the installation of color and 

texture enhanced crosswalks that will greatly increase the crosswalk visibility and encourage a 

traffic calming effect at the vehicle and pedestrian interfaces.  “Endurablend” installs a high 

strength polymer enhanced concrete overlay that includes integrated long lasting color and 

Page 174

Item 20.



durability. Engineering staff is recommending that the crosswalks be installed in a two tone color 

pattern utilizing a burnt tan color in a herring bone pattern that will match the existing brick paver 

crosswalks already present in the downtown Pueblo Viejo vicinity. Further, Engineering Staff 

recommends integrated white pedestrian compliant striping be placed in the crosswalk areas to 

enhance visibility and safety. 

 

Additional benefits of this product include the ability to place design graphics at any location 

which can enhance the overall aesthetics of the corridor and provide for a ground level artistic 

feature that should have an effect of calming traffic and improving safety in the down town district.  

In addition to the installation of the four crosswalks as described above, engineering staff 

recommends the installation of a City Logo at the signalized intersection of 6th and Grapefruit and 

Highway 111 symbols at the north and south ends of the downtown urban greening corridor. 

 

Each of the proposed crosswalks, the proposed city logo and the proposed highway 111 symbols 

are detailed in the attached pdf titled “Enhanced Urban Greening Cross Walks”. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

At this time, City Council has appropriated a total project budget of $5,411,962.98 towards the 

Urban Greening (ST-123) project. This total includes authorization of $405,063 in contingency 

funds and an appropriation of $503,118.44 from Fund 127 (Street and Transportation DIF). At this 

time, it is estimated that the total project will be completed within this appropriated amount. No 

additional funding appropriations are requested at this time. 

 

Attachments: 

Enhanced Urban Greening Cross Walks presentation 

Page 175

Item 20.



LOGO

13’ 11’ 12’ MEDIAN 11’ 13’

60’ Curb to Curb

14’ 11’ 9’

1’ 4’ 1’ 1’4’2’ 2’1’ 1’4’4’

14’

Logo to be 7 feet tall, width varies.
All white lines to be 1 foot wide with 5 foot center to center spacing (4 foot clear) 
east/west and 10 foot center to center spacing (9 foot clear) north/south.
Infill to either PMS 151, 718, 723 or 728 Herring Bone pattern.

1’ 4’4’ 1’1’

ENHANCED CROSS WALKS FOR THE URBAN GREENING AND CONNECTIVITY PROJECT ST-123

Page 176

Item 20.



Desert Neutral Color Options (other colors available upon request)

Recommended color

Page 177

Item 20.



Installed Project Samples

Recommended herring bone pattern 
to match existing city crosswalks

Recommended color to match 
existing city crosswalks: PMS 723 

Page 178

Item 20.



Installed Project Samples

City Logo 
Crosswalk stripes with enhanced 
visibility for enhanced pedestrian safety

Page 179

Item 20.



LEOCO PROPOSED

Page 180

Item 20.



LEOCO ENHANCED

Logo faces 
southbound traffic 
indicating entrance 
to urban corridor

Page 181

Item 20.



4TH STREET PROPOSED

Page 182

Item 20.



4TH STREET ENHANCED

Page 183

Item 20.



6TH STREET PROPOSED

Page 184

Item 20.



6TH STREET ENHANCED

Double sized logo at 
14 feet tall centered 
in intersection

Page 185

Item 20.



9TH STREET PROPOSED

Page 186

Item 20.



9TH STREET ENHANCED
Logo faces 
northbound traffic 
indicating entrance 
to urban corridor

Page 187

Item 20.



1st STREET PROPOSED

Page 188

Item 20.



1st STREET ENHANCED

Add Highway 111 logo in 
each lane just north of 1st

street. Each logo to be 7 
feet tall and 9 feet wide

Page 189

Item 20.



7th STREET PROPOSED

Page 190

Item 20.



7th STREET ENHANCED

Add Highway 111 logo in 
each lane south of 7th

street. Each logo to be 7 
feet tall and 9 feet wide

Page 191

Item 20.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director 

SUBJECT: Authorize appropriation from Undesignated General Fund Reserves for the 

Veterans’ Pancake Breakfast, in the amount of $12,000. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Authorize appropriation from Undesignated General Fund Reserves for the Veterans’ Pancake 

Breakfast, in the amount of $12,000. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

Traditionally the city has a Veterans’ Pancake Breakfast on the first Saturday in November, near 

Veteran’s Day.  This year the event would occur on Saturday, November 6th at 9am at Veterans’ 

Memorial Park.  The event will include veteran speakers, recognition to veterans and family 

members of those who have participated in the City’s Freedom Flags for Families, a flyover by 

various military aircraft from the Palms Springs Air Museum, and a free pancake breakfast for 

veterans and their families.  The total event budget requested be allocated is $12,000. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Authorize appropriation from Undesignated General Fund Reserves for the Veterans’ Pancake 

Breakfast Event in the amount of $12,000. 

 

Page 192

Item 21.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: Resolution No. 2021-62 approving a job title change for Streets 

Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator to Streets Supervisor and 

approving the salary scale for both the Parks Supervisor and Streets Supervisor 

at Grade 34.   
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Approve Resolution No. 2021-62 approving a job title change for Streets Superintendent 

/Emergency Services Coordinator to Streets Supervisor, and approving a salary scale for both the 

Parks Supervisor and Streets Supervisor at Grade 34.   

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

Due to the upcoming retirement of the Streets Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator on 

December 16, 2021, staff has evaluated the needs of the department and is recommending that the 

position be filled as a Streets Supervisor.  The Streets Superintendent was originally a Streets 

Supervisor but was reclassified on March 9, 2016 as part of a Classification and Compensation 

Study.  The Streets Supervisor position is an existing position under the Confidential Mid-

Management Unit.   

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

A Manager that has both street maintenance and emergency services experience is not a common 

blend of talents.  The existing staff member in this role had experience as a former volunteer 

firefighter.  Staff recommends recruiting for a Streets Supervisor position to oversee the 

operational duties of the Streets Division.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 193

Item 22.



The existing salary pay grade for the Streets Supervisor is less than the salary scale for an hourly 

classification, the Landscape and Lighting Inspector (salary is $70,595.20-$85,758.40).  The duties 

within the Streets Supervisor job descriptions include supervision and responsibility for duties that 

are included within the Landscape and Lighting Inspector job description, thus the salary scale 

should be higher than that of the Landscape and Lighting Inspector.   

 

Similarly, the salary scale of the Parks Supervisor position is only slightly above ($478.40/year) 

the current salary scale of the LLD Inspector, and the Parks Supervisor position includes 

supervisory responsibility over the landscape maintenance within the districts.  Due to the 

responsibility and oversight correspondent to both the Streets and Parks Supervisor positions, staff 

is requesting that the pay grade for the Streets Supervisor and Parks Supervisor be adjusted to pay 

grade 34. 

 

 

 

Position 

Existing 

Pay Grade 

 

Existing Salary  

 

Proposed Salary 

Pay Grade 34 

Parks Supervisor 16 $71,073.60 - $86,403.20  

$77,916.80- $94,702.40 Streets Supervisor 30 $67,912.00 - $82,534.40 

 

    

Streets 

Superintendent/Emergency 

Services Coordinator 

33 $89,003.20 - $108,201.60 n/a 

 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

The requested reclassification of the Streets Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator to 

Streets Supervisor at pay grade 34 will result in a savings of $11,086.40.  The requested adjustment 

in salary scale for the Parks Supervisor will decrease the net savings by $7,176 providing a net 

savings of $3,910.40. 

 

 

 

Attachments  

Resolution  

Streets Supervisor Job Description  

Page 194

Item 22.



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-62 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, APPROVING THE JOB TITLE 

CHANGE FROM STREETS SUPERINTENDENT/EMERGENCY SERVICES 

COORDINATOR TO STREETS SUPERVISOR AND APPROVING THE SALARY 

SCALE FOR BOTH THE PARKS SUPERVISOR AND STREETS SUPERVISOR AT 

GRADE 34 

 

 WHEREAS, the Streets Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator position will be 

vacant this calendar year due to a pending retirement; and 

 

WHEREAS, in preparation of the pending recruitment staff evaluated the needs of the 

Street Division; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the talents required for a Street Superintendent/Emergency Services 

Coordinator are not a common pairing; therefore, staff requests that the position be changed to a 

Streets Supervisor; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the salary scale for both the Streets Supervisor and Parks Supervisor 

positions should be in tandem, staff requests that their salary scale be set at Grade 34.     

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED, AND ORDERED by the 

City Council of the City of Coachella, as follows: 

Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals. The City Council hereby finds and determines 

that the foregoing Recitals of this Resolution are true and correct and hereby incorporated into this 

Resolution as though fully set forth herein. 

Section 2. Title. Adopt Resolution No. 2021-62, a Resolution of the City Council of 

Coachella, California, Approving the Job Title Change from Streets Superintendent/Emergency 

Services Coordinator to Streets Supervisor and approving the revised job description, and setting 

the salary scale for both the Parks Supervisor and Streets Supervisor positions at Grade 34. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 13th day of October 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

Page 195

Item 22.



Resolution No. 2021-62 

Page 2 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney 

  

Page 196

Item 22.



Resolution No. 2021-62 

Page 3 

 

 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-62 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 13th day of 

October 2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:    

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC  

Deputy City Clerk 
 

Page 197

Item 22.



City Hall 
1515 Sixth Street 

53-990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA  92236 

Telephone:  (760) 398-3502 

 

July 2012 October 2021                        FLSA: EXEMPT 

 

 

STREETS SUPERVISOR SUPERINTENDENT/EMERGENCY SERVICES 

COORDINATOR 
 

 

DEFINITION 

 

Under general direction, plans, organizes, oversees, coordinates, schedules, assigns, and reviews the work 

of assigned maintenance staff performing a variety of installation, maintenance, and repair activities on 

City streets, traffic signs, traffic signals, and storm drains, including long- and short-term project planning, 

design, and other programs; plans and manages all programs and activities of the City’s emergency 

management program for coordination of the City’s response to local disasters and national security 

emergencies; coordinates assigned activities with other City departments and outside agencies; provides 

highly complex and responsible support to the Public Works Director and others in areas of expertise; and 

performs related work as required. 

 

SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 

  

Receives general direction from the Public Works Director, City Manager, and/or Assistant City Manager.  

Exercises direct and general supervision over technical and maintenance staff through subordinate levels 

of supervision. 

 

CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 

This is a management classification responsible for planning, organizing, supervising, reviewing, and 

evaluating the work of assigned maintenance staff either directly or through lead workers.  The class also 

functions as the City’s Emergency Services Coordinator, providing management and administration of 

activities involved in the City’s Emergency Response Plan.  The incumbent organizes and oversees day-to-

day activities and operations of the assigned functional area, including participating in short- and long-term 

capital improvement planning and development and participates in the administration of departmental 

budgets, and various other projects and studies.  Successful performance of the work requires an extensive 

maintenance and repair background as well as skill in coordinating work with that of other City departments 

and public agencies.  This class is distinguished from the Public Works Director in that the latter has overall 

responsibility for all functions of the department and for developing, implementing, and interpreting public 

policy. 

 

EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL JOB FUNCTIONS (Illustrative Only) 

Management reserves the right to add, modify, change or rescind the work assignments of different 

positions and to make reasonable accommodations so that qualified employees can perform the essential 

functions of the job. 

 

 Plans, organizes, assigns, supervises, and reviews the work of assigned staff in the installation, 

maintenance, and repair of all City streets, sidewalks, stormdrains, curbs and gutters, street signs, traffic 

Page 198

Item 22.



Streets Supervisor Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator 

Page 2 of 5  

signals, and street painting/striping, and graffiti abatement; administers specialized projects and 

programs in area of assignment. 

 Participates in the development and implementation of goals, objectives, policies, and priorities for 

assigned services and programs; identifies resource needs; recommends and implements policies and 

procedures, including standard operating procedures for assigned facilities. 

 Evaluates employee performance, counsels employees, and effectively recommends initial disciplinary 

action; assists in selection and promotion. 

 Trains staff in work and safety procedures and in the operation and use of equipment and supplies; 

implements procedures and standards. 

 Monitors operations and activities of the streets maintenance work unit; identifies opportunities for 

improving service delivery methods and procedures; provides recommendations concerning process 

changes; reviews with appropriate management staff; implements improvements. 

 Determines and recommends equipment, materials, and staffing needs for assigned operations, projects, 

and programs; participates in the annual budget preparation; prepares detailed cost estimates; maintains 

a variety of records and prepares routine reports of work performance.  

 Plans and lays out maintenance work projects; monitors and controls supplies and equipment; orders 

supplies and tools as necessary; prepares documents for equipment procurement; participates in the bid 

process for maintenance and repair projects. 

 Supervises the use of and operation of tools, equipment, and vehicles; ensures that tools, equipment 

and vehicles are safely operated, maintained, and secured when not in use; schedules the service, repair, 

and replacement of tools and equipment.  

 Inspects work in progress and completed work of assigned employees and contractors for accuracy, 

proper work methods, techniques, and compliance with applicable standards and specifications. 

 Inspects the assigned City infrastructure for safety violations; ensures that safety procedures are 

followed and that safety equipment is worn; makes periodic safety presentations to assigned staff. 

 Plans, develops, and manages the City’s Emergency Response Plan and supporting documentation such 

as incident specific plans, emergency operations center procedures, and call-out lists. 

 Confers with a variety of agencies, vendors, subject matter experts, and the general public in acquiring 

information about disaster preparedness, emergency operations, and safety programs; provides 

information regarding assigned programs. 

 Provides support to Police, Fire, and hazardous materials response teams; receives training in 

specialized technical fields; develops and conducts in-service programs for hazmat emergency response 

personnel.  and presents public education demonstrations in areas of expertise and/or certification; 

compiles and prepares instructional materials, training, and public education; reviews and evaluates 

Federal, State, and local lows and regulations as they relate to disaster and emergency response program 

elements. 

 Develops and provides training for City staff on emergency services to ensure maximum efficiency and 

effectiveness in dealing with disaster needs. 

 Plans, provides for, and/or personally attends Emergency Management skills trainings and specialized 

emergency response workshops including that of the National Incident Management System (NIMS). 

 Assists in the design, engineering, construction, and field inspection processes for Capital Improvement 

Projects and private developments to ensure contractors’ and developers’ compliance with City 

standards; attends pre-construction meetings; performs detailed building plan checks of construction 

and design to ensure adherence to established policy and sound engineering practices. 

 Performs the most complex streets maintenance duties and provides technical assistance to crews.  

 Troubleshoots complex operational and maintenance problems; corrects or directs the correction and 

repair of operational and/or equipment problems.  

 Coordinates assigned services and activities with those of other divisions and outside agencies.  

 Provides staff assistance to the Public Works Director; prepares and presents staff reports and other 

written materials; supervises the preparation and maintenance of related reports, records, and files; 

ensures the proper documentation of operations and activities.  

Page 199

Item 22.



Streets Supervisor Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator 

Page 3 of 5  

 Participates in annual budget process by preparing streets division and emergency services program 

budgets. 

 Participates in Request for Proposal development, contract negotiations and administers Street 

Sweeping Contract. 

 Coordinates DUI Safety check point program and street closures for special events and emergencies 

with Police Department and participates in special event planning and coordination with city 

departments. 

 Stays current on the status of new and pending regulatory legislation; recommends changes to current 

policies and procedures in order to comply with changes in legislation. 

 Oversees safety programs and training for the assigned functional areas and work groups; assists in 

action planning for safety programs; implements and monitors risk management plans regarding 

hazardous materials; responds to workers’ compensation issues. 

 Answers questions and provides information to the public; investigates inquiries; recommends 

corrective actions to resolve issues. 

 Reviews landline phone, alarm, cell phone and power bills for traffic signals and all streets division 

invoices. 

 Reviews alarm company, traffic signal, street sweeping, solid waste, recycling, waste oil contracts. 

 Maintains two way radio system and radio licenses. 

 Responds to emergency situations as necessary. 

 Performs duties of disaster services worker in event of an emergency. 

 Performs related duties as assigned.  

 

QUALIFICATIONS  

 

Knowledge of:  

 

 Principles and practices of employee supervision, including work planning, assignment, review and 

evaluation, discipline, and the training of staff in work procedures. 

 Principles and practices of public works maintenance and operations program development and 

administration. 

 Principles, practices, equipment, tools, and materials of construction, maintenance, and repair of public 

works infrastructure.  

 Applicable Federal, State, and local laws, ordinances, regulations, and guidelines.  

 Basic principles and practices of budget and capital improvement program development, administration 

and accountability. 

 Principles and practices of contract administration and evaluation. 

 Safety principles, practices, and procedures of streets and related systems and facilities, including 

related equipment and materials. 

 The operation and maintenance of a variety of hand and power tools, vehicles, and power equipment. 

 Principles, practices, and techniques of emergency management program development, 

implementation, and training regarding the response to local disasters and national security 

emergencies. 

 Modern office practices, methods, and computer equipment and applications related to the work. 

 English usage, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, and punctuation.  

 Techniques for effectively representing the City in contacts with government agencies, community 

groups, and various business, professional, regulatory, and legislative organizations. 

 Techniques for providing a high level of customer service by effectively dealing with the public, 

vendors, contractors and City staff. 

 

Ability to:  

 

Page 200

Item 22.



Streets Supervisor Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator 

Page 4 of 5  

 Assist in developing and implementing goals, objectives, practices, policies, procedures, and work 

standards. 

 Supervise, train, plan, organize, schedule, assign, review, and evaluate the work of staff. 

 Organize, implement, and direct assigned maintenance and operations activities. 

 Interpret, apply, explain, and ensure compliance with applicable Federal, State, and local laws, rules, 

regulations, ordinances, and directives governing assigned public works as well as disaster/emergency 

preparedness programs and functions; analyze and evaluate potential disaster problems. 

 Understand, interpret, and successfully communicate both orally and in writing, pertinent department 

policies and procedures.  

 Identify problems, research and analyze relevant information, develop and present recommendations 

and justification for solution.  

 Perform the most complex maintenance and operations duties and operate related equipment safely and 

effectively.  

 Develop cost estimates for supplies and equipment.  

 Research, analyze, and evaluate new service delivery methods, procedures, and techniques. 

 Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, procedures, and other written materials. 

 Establish and maintain a variety of manual and computerized files, record keeping, and project 

management systems.  

 Read, interpret, retrieve, and produce drawings, blueprints, maps, and specifications. 

 Make sound, independent decisions within established policy and procedural guidelines. 

 Organize and prioritize a variety of projects and multiple tasks in an effective and timely manner; 

organize own work, set priorities, and meet critical time deadlines. 

 Operate modern office equipment including computer equipment and software programs. 

 Use English effectively to communicate in person, over the telephone, and in writing. 

 Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy, procedural, and legal 

guidelines. 

 Establish, maintain, and foster positive and harmonious working relationships with those contacted in 

the course of work. 

 

Education and Experience: 

Any combination of training and experience that would provide the required knowledge, skills and abilities 

is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the required qualifications would be: 

 

Equivalent to completion of the twelfth (12th) grade supplemented by college-level coursework and/or 

specialized technical training in a related field and five (5) years of increasingly responsible experience in 

public works construction and/or maintenance, including one (1) three (3) years of supervisory and/or 

administrative comparable experience.  Training and sufficient experience in fire, emergency, or law 

enforcement services and with related regulatory and government agencies is required.  An Associate’s 

degree in construction management, public works, business or public administration, or a related field is 

desirable. 

 

Licenses and Certifications:  

 

 Valid California class C driver’s license with satisfactory driving record and automobile insurance. 

 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS 

 

Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, including a 

computer, and to work in and around City streets, storm drains, sanitary systems, and related facilities; 

strength, stamina, and mobility to perform light to medium physical work, to work in confined spaces, 

around machines, to climb and descend ladders, to operate varied hand and power tools and equipment, and 

to operate a motor vehicle and visit various City and meeting sites; vision to read printed materials and a 

Page 201

Item 22.



Streets Supervisor Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator 

Page 5 of 5  

computer screen; color vision to read gauges and identify appurtenances; and hearing and speech to 

communicate in person and over the telephone or radio.  The job involves frequent walking in operational 

areas to identify problems or hazards.  Finger dexterity is needed to access, enter and retrieve data using a 

computer keyboard or calculator and to operate above-mentioned tools and equipment.  Positions in this 

classification bend, stoop, kneel, reach, and climb to perform work in and inspect work sites.  Employees 

must possess the ability to lift, carry, push and pull materials and objects weighing up to 100 pounds, or 

heavier weights with the use of proper equipment. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL ELEMENTS 

 

Employees partly work in an office environment and partly work in and around public works infrastructure 

and are exposed to loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather conditions, road hazards, 

vibration, confining workspace, chemicals, mechanical and/or electrical hazards, and hazardous physical 

substances and fumes.  Employees may interact with upset staff and/or public and private representatives, 

and contractors in interpreting and enforcing departmental policies and procedures. 

Page 202

Item 22.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director   

SUBJECT: Provide staff direction for 2021 Hometown Heroes Honorees. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Provide staff direction for 2021 Hometown Heroes Honorees. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The “Hometown Heroes” monument was created to recognize people who have contributed to 

the community and culture of our community.  Currently, our “Hometown Heroes” include the 

following: 

 Cesar Chavez; Civil Rights and Labor Leader 

 Leonila Torres; Community Leader 

 Linda Garza; Government Employee 

 Elvira Acosta Murillo; Community Leader 

 Severio “Cosmo” Lira Jr.; Commitment to Youth 

 Raquel G. Medina; Community Volunteer 

 Rich Ramirez; Educator and Mentor 

 Chauncey Veatch; Educator and Mentor 

 Juan Torres; Entrepreneur and Business Leader 

 Joe and Maria Celia Munoz; Exceptional Citizens 

 Julio Diaz, Antonio Diaz and Joel Diaz; Boxing Family Champions 

 Eugenia Ortiz; Community Leader and Activist  

 Clementine Olloque, Maria Carmona-Marron, Maria Serrano, Maria Munoz; Community 

Leaders and Activists  

 Organización en California de Lideres Campesinas; Leaders and Community Activists   

 Caballero Family, Boxing Family Champions 

 Chris Romero, Exceptional Citizen 

 Mary Lou Torres, Exceptional Citizen and Advocate 

 Merlyn Hamner, Historian  

 Joe Vega; Postmaster and Exceptional Citizen 

 Lee Espinoza; Coach and Mentor 

 CYSAS La Laja; Youth Sports Leaders  

 Vanessa Madera; Youth Sports Leader  

Page 203

Item 23.



 Joe Ceja; Educator and Mentor 

 Deputy David Solis; Exceptional Valor   

 Mayor Yolanda R. Coba; Community Leader  

 Enedina Rapan; Community Activist  

 Enedina Rapan, Jesus Mota, Maria Hernandez, Prospero Montes, Jesus Sanchez; 

Inspirational Community Mentors  

 Gabriela Fundora; Youth Sports Leader  

 Citlalli Ortiz; Youth Sports Leader  

 Cesar Sanchez, Entrepreneur and Business Leader 

 Father Guy Wilson; Religious and Spiritual Leader 

 Dr. Juan De Lara; Educator and Mentor 

 Juanita Godwin; Community Leader and Youth Mentor 

 Raices Cultura; Community Leader and Activists  

 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

Annually during the City’s Tree Lighting Ceremony the City has recognized individuals / 

organizations as Hometown Heroes; staff recommends selecting two (2) or (3) recognitions per 

year.  In June 2020, staff was advised of a single recommendation for Hometown Hero 

consideration – Mario Lazcano, Community Leader and Advocate.  Since that time staff has not 

been provided any additional recommendations for Hometown Hero by City Council and is 

requesting direction for 2021 Hometown Hero nominees.   

 

 FISCAL IMPACT: 

The cost of each plaque to honor a Hometown Heroes is approximately $450.00 each.  These costs 

are included in the approved FY 21/22 budget.   

 

Page 204

Item 23.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Celina Jimenez, Grants Manager 

SUBJECT: Art in Public Places - Proposal for a Vietnam War Memorial Art Mural by 

Artist Autumn Martino and Artistic Director Pedro Salcido  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff is recommending that the City Council approve the recommendation of the City of Coachella 
Cultural and Arts Commission for a Vietnam War Memorial art mural at Veterans Park through 
the City of Coachella’s Art in Public Places Program in the amount of $14,000.   

 
BACKGROUND: 

 
On January 1, 2011, the City Council approved Ordinance No. 1034 establishing an Art in Public 
Places Program and implementing a new development impact fee for certain new construction, 

remodeling and reconstruction of public art installations. The purpose of the Art in Public Places 

ordinance is to develop and maintain a visual arts program for the residents and visitors of 

Coachella, to add to the economic vitality of the community, and to enhance the environment and 

unique character of Coachella by providing for the acquisition and maintenance of quality works 

of public art. 

 

The Cultural and Arts Commission reviewed and approved the proposed mural (option 2) at its 

September 14, 2021 meeting with modifications. After the meeting, the artist made the requested 

modification to the design based on commissioner and public comments creating the mural 

proposal described herein as option 1 which is recommended by the Cultural and Arts 

Commission to City Council for approval.  

 

This mural proposal was reviewed by the Parks and Recreation Commission on September 21, 

2021 due to its location in a City park. The Parks and Recreation Commission voted to 

recommend that City Council not approve the proposed mural as option 2. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The submitted proposal is a painted mural project honoring Vietnam Veterans, including the 

“Forgotten, Unforgettable” poem and unit specific military unit badges. 

 

 

Page 205

Item 24.



 

 

 

 

Budget 

Installation Costs – Labor   $11,000 

Installation Costs – Equipment Rental $1,000 

Fabrication Costs – Paint & Materials $2,000 

 

TOTAL $14,000 

About the Artist 

Autumn Martino is a local artist, born and raised in the Coachella Valley. She knew at a young 

age that she had an artistic side, and has been developing the artistic fire ever since. She attributes 

her love of art to her mother, who has been a strong force helping her channel energy into the artist 

she is now. She also gives thanks to all the wonderful people she has met along the way, who have 

all given her inspiration, opportunities, help and support. Her art is inspired by the beauty and 

culture of the desert. She uses vibrant color and organic form to create a unique style classified as 

Figurative Expressionism. 

 

Proposed Mural Design Rendition 

Vietnam Veterans Memorial Art Mural with “Forgotten, Unforgettable” poem and specific 

military unit badges. 

 

Option 1 (modified version of the mural—includes a woman and subjects are in silhouette form) 

 

 

 
 

Page 206

Item 24.



 

 

 

Option 2 (this version was presented to the Cultural and Arts Commission and the Parks and 

Recreation Commission) 

 

 
 

 

 ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Approve the recommendation of the Cultural and Arts Commission (recommended by staff) 

2. Not approve the Recommendation of the Cultural and Arts Commission and approve the 

recommendation of the Parks and Recreation Commission 

3. Re-submit the proposed mural to the Cultural and Arts Commission  

4. Provide Alternative Direction 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

If the City Council approves this item, the $14,000 costs will be appropriated in the Special 

Revenue Funds (130) – Development Impact Fees for Public Art for Fiscal Year 2021-22. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

1. Application 

Page 207

Item 24.



               
                City of Coachella 
Art in Public Places Application Form 

 

 

Purpose: The purpose of the Public Arts Commission shall be to act in an advisory capacity to the City 

Council on matters pertaining to the enrichment of the community through fine arts, visual arts, 

performing arts, arts education, historic preservation and cultural issues; to serve as an advocate for 

cultural activities and programs within the City; to implement the City’s Art in Public Places Program, 

and to encourage the integration of cultural affairs into the social and economic fabric of the City to 

improve the quality of life for City residents. Art in public places are intended to promote the general 

welfare of the public through the acquisition and installation of public art works (Municipal Code 

Chapter 4.48). 

The completeness of this application, which includes accompanying plans, shall be subject to the review 

of the Planning Division and Development Services Department. If you have any questions while 

completing this application please ask a member of the Planning Division for assistance. Incomplete 

applications will not be accepted (or the process may be delayed).  

Fees apply to: 

1. New commercial and industrial construction 

2. Remodeling or reconstruction of existing commercial or industrial property; 

3. New residential development of two or more units built in the same tract by the same owner or 

developer; 

4. New individual single-family dwelling units in an existing subdivision with a permit valuation 

over $100,000. 

Fees are based on a percentage of the building cost: 

1. One-half of one percent (.005) for new commercial or residential construction; 

2. One-half of one percent (.005) for remodel or reconstruction of existing commercial or industrial 

property; 

3. One quarter of one percent (.0025) for new residential subdivision of two or more units; 

4. One quarter or one percent (.0025) for new individual single-family units constructed in an 

existing subdivision with a building permit over $100,000 for that portion of the building permit 

valuation in excess of $100,000. 

Guidelines for approval and maintenance of art in public places shall include, but are not limited to, the 

following criteria: 

Page 208

Item 24.



A. Quality of the artwork; 

B. Media. All visual art forms may be considered, subject to limitations set by the selection jury or 

the Planning Commission; 

C. Style. Artworks of all schools, styles, and tastes should be considered for the city collection; 

D. Environment. Artworks and art places should be appropriate in scale, material, form and 

content for the immediate, general, social and physical environments with which they relate; 

E. Permanence. Consideration should be given to structural and surface integrity, permanence, 

and protection against theft, vandalism, weathering, excessive maintenance, and repair costs; 

F. Elements of Design. Consideration should take into account that public art, in addition to 

meeting aesthetic requirements, also may serve to establish focal points, terminate areas, 

modify, enhance, or define specific spaces, or establish identity; 

G. Diversity. The public arts program should strive for diversity of style, scale, media, artists—

including ethnicity and gender and equitable distribution of artworks and art places throughout 

the city; 

H. Visibility. The art work shall be clearly visible and easily accessible to the public 

I. Site Plan. The application shall include a site plan showing the location of the art work, complete 

with  landscaping, lighting and other accessories to complement and protect the art work 

J. Artist. The art work shall be designed and constructed by persons experienced in the production 

of such art work and recognized by critics and by his or her peers as one who produces works of 

art 

 

PROJECT INFORMATION (PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE) 

Project Business Name: _________________________________________________________________ 

Square Footage of Proposed Development: _________________________________________________ 

Property Address/Location: ______________________________________________________________ 

Assessor’s Parcel Number(s): _____________________________________________________________ 

Project Owner:  ________________________________ Telephone No.: __________________________ 

Owner Address: _______________________________________________________________________ 

City: _________________________________________ State: __________ Zip Code: _______________ 

E-mail Address: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Architect: _____________________________________________________________________________ 

Architect Address: ______________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone No.: ________________________________ Fax No.: ________________________________ 

Page 209

Item 24.



Dev. Project Completion (Estimated): ______________________________________________________ 

AIPP Fee Amount:   $_____________ 

Total Artwork Cost: $_____________ 

 

ARTIST/ARTWORK INFORMATION 

Program Option (Please check one) 
A. ______ Artwork on Site 
B. ______ Donate Artwork to City of Coachella 
C. ______ In Lieu Fee 

 
Artwork Budget $____________ 

 

Artwork Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Artwork Site: __________________________________________________________________________ 

Artwork Material: ______________________________________________________________________ 

Artwork Dimension: ____________________________________________________________________ 

Artist Name: __________________________________  Telephone No.: __________________________ 

Address: _____________________________________ Fax No.: ________________________________ 

City: ________________________________________ State: _________ Zip Code: ________________ 

E-mail Address: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Estimated Artwork Completion Date: ______________________________________________________  

 

 

PROJECT APPLICANT REPRESENTATIVE 

Applicant/Representative  
Name: ______________________________________ Nickname (if any):________________________ 

Company Name:_______________________________________________________________________  

Address:______________________________________ E-mail Address:__________________________ 

City: _________________________________________ State: ________ Zip Code:__________________ 

14,000

Veterans Park

Autumn Martino

artworkbyautumn@gmail.com

TBD

Pedro Salcido

Flatblackshop1@gmail.com

Vietnam Veterans Memorial Mural

760-424-6084

Flat Black art supply inc

Acrylic paints, brushes and aerosol paint

Page 210

Item 24.



Telephone No.: _______________________________ Fax No.: ________________________________ 

I certify under penalty of perjury that all the application information is true and correct: 

Applicant’s Signature: __________________________________________       Date:______________ 

 

Date/Time Received: ____________ Received By: ____________ Amount Received: __________ 

A.P.P # ____________        Receipt No(s): ____________ 

 

 

 

SUBMITAL REQUIREMENTS 

The Submittal Requirements provides the basic information necessary for review by the Development 

Services Department (staff review by City Departments). The Development Services Department may 

determine that additional information is required before further processing can take place. 

 
a. Complete and signed Art in Public Places Application Form 
b. Copy of Fee Receipt for $___________ 
c. One overall concept drawing showing the work in plan, and; 
d. One rendered presentation drawing (plan and elevation), and; 
e. A site plan with building and grade elevation showing the placement of the proposed artwork, 

and; 
f. An artist concept statement, and; 
g. An artist resume or CV, and; 
h. Examples of artist’s previous work, and; 
i. Evidence of the value of the proposed artwork (contract draft showing contract value and 

payment schedule will be sufficient). 
j. Maintenance plan (including frequency and anticipated costs of maintenance and description of 

materials). 
 

 

 

 

 

 

760-641-4655

07/20/21

Page 211

Item 24.



ARTWORK PROPOSAL AND SPECIFICATIONS 

Describe the artwork, its location, materials, installation requirements, and maintenance needs as 

completely as possible. You may use additional paper to complete this section of the application. 

 

1. Artwork Description 

 

 

 

2. Siting 

 

 

 

 

3. Materials with Specifications 

 

 

 

 

4. Fabrication and Installation Procedures 

 

 

 

 

5. Yearly Maintenance and Conservation 

 

 

A memorial mural honoring the service of our local Vietnam veterans. 
  Including the famous "Forgotten, unforgetable" poem. Along with specific unit badges

Materials will include acrylic based paint, aerosol paint, brushes, ladders, masking tape and tarps

Anti graffiti coat can be added for an added cost

Page 212

Item 24.



Budget          Total AIPP FEE $____________ 
 
This worksheet is intended as a budgetary guideline to assist in developing accurate artwork cost 
projections. Once completed, this form should reflect all expenses associated with designing, 
fabricating, and installing the proposed artwork and should equal the public art fee. Differences in total 
expenses, which are less than the fee, will not be refunded at project completion. 
 
Travel       Transportation 
Airfare: _______________________    (Materials or finished artwork) 
Car Rental: ____________________ 
Per Diem@ 
$____________per day__________ 
 
Insurance _____________________   Installation Costs 
       Labor __________________________________ 
       Equipment Rental ________________________ 
Office/Studio __________________   Security ________________________________ 
(Phone, fax, postage, etc.)    Permits ________________________________ 
       Other __________________________________ 
 
Professional Fees 
Architect _____________________________________________________________________________ 
Landscape Architect ______________________  Engineer _______________________________ 
 
 
Other Costs (List) ______________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Fabrication Costs 
Materials _____________________________ 
Labor ________________________________  Contingency ____________________________ 
 
Site Preparation     Subtotal _______________________________ 
Landscaping __________________________ 
Electrical ____________________________  Artist Fee ______________________________ 
Plumbing ____________________________ 
Foundation ___________________________  Grand Total _____________________________ 
Other _______________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

paint and materials $2,000

14,000

$10,000
1,000

Flat Black art supply art director fee $1,000

Page 213

Item 24.



WORK PLAN/ARTWORK PRODUCTION SCHEDULE (suggested) 

 

Phase I  Design Development 
  Date: 

a. Conceptual design approval by Art in Public Places Commission and City 
Council 

b. Start up meeting with client 
c. Design Development 

Phase II  Design Completion and Commencement of Fabrication & Site Work 
  Date: 

a. Structural approval (client) 
b. Order materials 
c. Begin fabrication 

Phase III Studio Fabrication Completion 
  Date: 

a. Break out fabrication points 
Phase IV Installation Completion 
  Date: 

a. Acquisition of all appropriate certificates and permits 
b. Site preparation 
c. Installation of artwork on site 
d. Site clean up  

Phase V  Final Acceptance 
  Date: 

a. Notification of Completion received by City staff 
b. Final approval from Art in Public Places Commission and City Council 

(submit letter requesting approval) 
c. Application of Certificate of Occupancy 
d. Submittal of Project Completion Notification and request for return of funds 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 214

Item 24.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Celina Jimenez, Grants Manager 

SUBJECT: Art in Public Places - Proposal for a Mural of Dolores Huerta by Michael 

Angelo Hernandez  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve the recommendation of the City of Coachella 
Cultural and Arts Commission (Commission) by awarding a grant to Michael Angelo Hernandez 
in the amount of $15,000 from the City of Coachella’s Art in Public Places Program to install a 
mural of Dolores Huerta at Taqueria Jalisco on the corner of Sixth Street and Vine Street. 

 
BACKGROUND: 

 
On January 1, 2011, the City Council approved Ordinance No. 1034 establishing an Art in Public 
Places Program and implementing a new development impact fee for certain new construction, 

remodeling and reconstruction of public art installations. The purpose of the Art in Public Places 

ordinance is to develop and maintain a visual arts program for the residents and visitors of 

Coachella, to add to the economic vitality of the community, and to enhance the environment 

and unique character of Coachella by providing for the acquisition and maintenance of quality 

works of public art. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The submitted proposal is a painted mural project of Dolores Huerta in her present age.  Dolores 

is co-founder of the United Farm Workers Association and is one of the most influential labor 

activists of the twentieth century and a leader of the Chicano civil rights movement.   

 

Budget 

 

Installation Costs – Labor   $7,000 

Installation Costs – Equipment Rental $1,000 

Fabrication Costs – Materials   $7,000 

 

TOTAL $15,000 

 

 

Page 215

Item 25.



About the Artist 

 

Michael Angelo Hernandez is an artist whose artistic creativity is influenced by his passion for 

music and art. Michael Angelo uses an original technique and style to express his emotions through 

the use of raw materials such as sealer pigments. This special technique is used to achieve an “Old 

World” look to withstand both time and the elements of nature, which he hopes will inspire 

audiences young and old.  He is the founder of the art group collective “SOTA”, State of the Arts, 

established in April 2019 by inviting his artist friends to join him in creating arts events all over 

the desert area and throughout Southern California in an effort to educate, influence, and inspire 

children and adults alike. 

 

Proposed Mural Design Rendition 

 

“Legend, Dolores Huerta” 

This mural rendition represents a revised depiction based on input from the Commissioners and 

public input as recommended by the Commission and would depict her at her present age, once 

completed.  The mural would also include a bronze plaque with her name and notable 

accomplishments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 216

Item 25.



 

 

This mural rendition was the original version submitted to and reviewed by the Commission. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Not approve the recommendation of the Cultural and Arts Commission for the Mural 

Proposed by Michael Angelo Hernandez 

2. Re-submit the item to the Cultural and Arts Commission for further consideration 

3. Not proceed with this mural at this time 

4. Provide alternative direction 

 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

If approved by City Council, the $15,000 grant will be appropriated in the Special Revenue 

Funds (130) – Development Impact Fees for Public Art for Fiscal Year 2021-22. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Application 

Page 217

Item 25.



Page 218

Item 25.



Page 219

Item 25.



Page 220

Item 25.



Page 221

Item 25.



Page 222

Item 25.



 

STAFF REPORT 

10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Gabriel Perez, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Avenue 53 Re-zone Project  

a) Environmental Assessment (EA 21-02) recommending the adoption of a 

Negative Declaration pursuant to the environmental review guidelines of the 

California Environmental Quality Act.  

 

b) Change of Zone (CZ 21-02) to change the zone of approximately 50.6 acres 

of a 118-acre site from Manufacturing Service (M-S) to R-M Urban (20-38 

du/ac).  The site is located south of Ave 53, north of Ave 54, and west of 

Tyler St. (APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 778‐390‐005, and 778‐390‐007) 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2021-60 adopting a Negative 

Declaration, pursuant to CEQA Guidelines, and introduce by first reading, by title only, Ordinance 

No. 1187  approving Change of Zone No. 21-02 for the Avenue 53 Re-zone Project. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Avenue 53 Rezoning project (“Project”) is located on approximately 118 acres located south 

of Ave 53, north of Ave 54, and west of Tyler St. (APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 778‐390‐005, 

and 778‐390‐007). The City initiated effort is proposing a Change of Zone from the existing 

Manufacturing Service (M‐S) to R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac). The Change of Zone will help create 

adequate zoning capacity to meet the City’s 5th Cycle Regional Housing Needs Allocation 

(RHNA), consistent with the adopted Housing Element and General Plan. It will also allow a 

mixture of housing types available to all residents including market rate housing and affordable 

housing. The Project proposes a Change of Zone only, no development plans are proposed at this 

time for the property.  The Planning Commission recommended approval of the Project on June 

16, 2021. The exhibit below shows the project location. 

 

Page 223

Item 26.



 
 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The City of Coachella initiated Change of Zone No. 21-02 at the request of the State of California 

– Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) pursuant to a mandatory re-zoning 

effort called out in the City’s Housing Element.  The Change of Zone’s main purpose is to create 

additional “development ready” multifamily residential zoning to accommodate the City’s 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) from the 5th Cycle carryover which is required to be 

completed as part of the City’s 2013-2021 Housing Element. Communities use the RHNA in land 

Page 224

Item 26.



use planning, prioritizing local resource allocation, and in deciding how to address identified 

existing and future housing needs resulting from population, employment, and household growth. 

The rezoning is anticipated to allow for the development of a maximum of approximately 1,922 

dwelling units as shown below in Table 4, Potential Project Units. The project would help create 

adequate zoning capacity to meet the City’s 5th Cycle RHNA Allocation consistent with the 

adopted Housing Element and General Plan.  

 

The Change of Zone will re-designate the property as shown below in Table 1 and illustrated in 

Figure 1 and 2 Proposed Change of Zone: 

 

Table 1: Current and Proposed Zoning 

 

 
 

The proposed Change of Zone will allow for Multi-Family uses. The R-M zone is intended to 

provide for the establishment and expansion of multiple family residential development areas at 

various medium and high population densities, including market rate housing, and related 

community services. The proposed zone is consistent with the project’s land use designations of 

Urban Employment Center, established by the Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU) and 

therefore a General Plan Amendment is not needed for this project. 

 

Land Use and Proposed Zoning Breakdown: 

 

The project site is approximately 118 acres. The project proposes R-M Urban (20-38 du/ac) on 

approximately 50.6 acres of the site as illustrated in Figure 1 and 2 below. The R-M Urban land 

use permits 20 to 38 du/ac; therefore, this portion of the site could accommodate an average of 

1,467 dwelling units. This is shown in Table 4, Potential Project Units. 

 

The current General Plan Land Use category acreage, the Zoning District acreages, and the total 

dwelling unit yield for the project site are as shown below: 

 
 

Table 2 Existing GP Land Use Designations 

Land Use  Acres 

Urban Employment 

Center  
118 

*Approximate value 

 

Page 225

Item 26.



Table 3 Proposed Zoning 

Proposed Zoning  Acres 

R-M Urban (20-25 du/ac) 50.6 

M-S 21.7 

M-S (Buffer Area) 45.3 

Total* 117.6 

*Approximate value 

Table 4 Potential Project Units 

Proposed Zone Acres Allowed DU Mid Density Total DU/AC 

R-M Urban  50.6 20-38 du/ac 29 du/ac 1,467 

 

Currently, the site has Manufacturing Service (M-S) zoning consisting.  The properties 

immediately adjacent to the site are zoned Residential Single Family (R-S) and Residential 

Planned Unit Development (R-PUD) and are fully constructed residential neighborhoods. The 

properties immediately north are Manufacturing Service (M-S) and Heavy Industrial (M-H) zones.  

The Heavy Industrial zoning is the location of the Armtec Defense Products complex.  To the 

South is Avenue 54 and vacant properties in unincorporated Riverside County.  

 

The proposed Change of Zone Exhibit will change the zoning to have R-M Urban (25-38 du/ac) 

zoning for the 50.6 acres of the 118-acre site.  The change of zone would not apply to a 750-foot 

buffer area around the Armtec property and would maintain the existing Manufacturing Service 

(M-S) zone.  The R-M district with “minimum density” requirements, will allow further 

development of the sites without the need for additional discretionary actions, and are consistent 

with State Laws regarding the low and moderate-income categories of the Regional Housing Needs 

Allocation.   

 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: 

 

The City of Coachella as the lead agency for this project prepared an Initial Study pursuant to the 

guidelines of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). This Initial Study has been 

prepared in accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15063(c) to provide a preliminary analysis 

of the proposed project’s actions and to determine if the project, as proposed, may have a 

significant effect upon the environment.  Staff undertook review of the proposed rezoning and 

determined the project could not have a significant effect on the environment, and subsequently a 

Negative Declaration has been prepared.   

 

Attached to this staff report is a copy of the Notice of Intent to Adopt a Negative Declaration and 

the Initial Study/Negative Declaration document.  The Planning Commission must find adequacy 

with the environmental documents, in making a recommendation to the City Council for approval 

of the Change of Zone.  

 

Page 226

Item 26.



 

Figure 1: Proposed Change of Zone 

 

 

 

 

Page 227

Item 26.



 
Figure 2: Proposed Change of Zone 

 

 

 

 

Page 228

Item 26.



ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Adopt the attached Resolution No. 2021-60 approving a Negative Declaration (EA 21-02) and 

Introduce for 1st reading, by title only, Ordinance No. 1187 approving Change of Zone (CZ 

21-02). 

2. Take no action.  

3. Continue this item and provide staff with direction.  

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 
 

Staff recommends Alternative #1 as noted above. 

 
 

Attachment:    

1. Resolution No. 2021-60 

Exhibit A - CEQA Initial Study/ Negative Declaration (EA 21-02) 

2. Ordinance No. 1187 (1st Reading) 
 

 

 

Page 229

Item 26.



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-60 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA ADOPTING A NEGATIVE 

DECLARATION (ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT NO. 21-02) FOR 

THE AVENUE 53 CHANGE OF ZONE PROJECT, PURSUANT TO CEQA 

GUIDELINES, CONSISTING OF CHANGE OF ZONE (CZ 21-02) FOR 50.6 

ACRES OF APPROXIMATELY 118 ACRES OF VACANT, 

AGRICULTURAL LAND LOCATED SOUTH OF AVENUE 53, NORTH OF 

AVENUE 54, AND WEST OF TYLER STREET (APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐

004, 778‐390‐005, and 778‐390‐007). CITY OF COACHELLA, APPLICANT. 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project, as set forth in Environmental Assessment (EA 21-02) 

and Change of Zone (CZ 21-02) consists of the above-referenced application on approximately 

118 acres of vacant agricultural land located south of Ave 53, north of Ave 54, and west of Tyler 

St. (APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 778‐390‐005, and 778‐390‐007); and the Project seeks to 

bring the properties into compliance with the General Plan’s “Land Use and Community Character 

Element”; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the General Plan Land Use Map policies, call for the subject property to 

include multi-family residential uses, and to create an urban pattern that includes short blocks with 

good street connectivity and pedestrian amenities; and, 

 

WHEREAS, Prior to the approval of this Change of Zone (CZ 21-02), the project site 

contains the M-S (Manufacturing Service) zone which does not allow for the housing types 

envisioned by the General Plan; and, 

 

WHEREAS, to bring the site into compliance with the General Plan, and to comply with 

the City's Housing Element re-zoning requirements, the City of Coachella Development Services 

Department with the consent of the Property Owner proposes to create the following Zoning 

District: 

 

 R-M Urban (Multiple-Family Residential, 25-38 DU/AC),  

 

WHEREAS, the City completed Environmental Assessment/Initial Study (EA 21-02) for 

the Proposed Project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, as amended; and, 
 

WHEREAS, based on this Environmental Assessment/Initial Study the City has made a 

determination that the Project will not have a significant impact on the environment and has 

prepared a Negative Declaration for this Project; and, 

 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Intent to Adopt a Negative Declaration was posted with the 

County Clerk and the proposed Mitigated Negative was made available for a 20-day public review 

period commencing on August 9, 2021 and ending on August 30, 2021; and, 

 

WHEREAS, interested and concerned individuals and public agencies had the opportunity 

to review and comment on the proposed Negative Declaration; and, 

Page 230

Item 26.



Resolution No. 2021-60 

Page 2 

 

 

 

WHEREAS, findings of the Initial Study indicated that the Proposed Project would not 

create any significant impacts to the environment; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project would not be detrimental to the general health, safety 

and welfare of the community. 

 

WHEREAS, a Negative Declaration was prepared in accordance with the California 

Environmental Quality Act, as amended. 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed public hearing on 

Change of Zone No. 21-02 and EA 21-02 on September 1, 2021 to consider staff recommendations 

and prior written and oral testimony regarding the project and recommended to the City Council 

adoption of a negative declaration and approval of Change of Zone No. 21-02; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on Change of Zone 

No. 21-02 and Environmental Assessment No. 21-02 on October 13, 2021 in the Council 

Chambers, 1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California to consider staff recommendations and prior 

written and oral testimony regarding the project and wherein the public was given an opportunity 

to testify; and, 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved that the City Council has considered the Negative 

Declaration prepared for Change of Zone 21-02 (CZ 21-02) under Environmental Assessment No. 

21-02 (EA 21-02), attached hereto as Exhibit A, and has determined that the project would have 

no significant deleterious effect on the environment and orders that a Negative Declaration be 

adopted and filed pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, as amended, for CZ 21-

02 for approximately 50.6 acres of approximately 118 acres vacant, agricultural land located south 

of Ave 53, north of Ave 54, and west of Tyler St. (APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 778‐390‐005, 

and 778‐390‐007). 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 13th day of October 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez  

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

  

Page 231

Item 26.



Resolution No. 2021-60 

Page 3 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney  

Page 232

Item 26.



Resolution No. 2021-60 

Page 4 

 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-60 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 13th day of 

October 2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:  

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC  

Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

Page 233

Item 26.



 
 

Initial Study / Negative Declaration for 

Avenue 53 Re‐Zone Project 

 

 

LEAD AGENCY: 

City of Coachella 
Development Services Department 

1515 Sixth Street 
Coachella, CA 92236 

 

	

  APPLICANT: 
City of Coachella 

c/o Luis Lopez, Development Services Director 
53990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 

 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 

 
MSA Consulting, Inc. 

34200 Bob Hope Drive 

Rancho Mirage, CA 92270 

Page 234

Item 26.

gperez
Text Box
Exhibit A - Reso No. 2021-60



 
 

City of Coachella  Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

i 

Table of Contents 
Chapter 1 Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

 Overview .................................................................................................................................. 1 

 Authority .................................................................................................................................. 2 

 Scope of Environmental Review .............................................................................................. 2 

 Impact Assessment Terminology ............................................................................................. 3 

 Organization of the Initial Study .............................................................................................. 3 

 Documents Incorporated by Reference .................................................................................. 4 

Chapter 2 Project Description .................................................................................................................... 5 

 Project Description .................................................................................................................. 5 

 Proposed Land Use and Zoning Breakdown ............................................................................ 6 

 General Plan and Zoning Designation ...................................................................................... 6 

 Permits/Approvals required from other public agencies: ....................................................... 7 

Exhibit 1   Regional Location Map………………………………………………………………………………………………………..8 

Exhibit 2   Project Vicinity Map…..………………………………………………………………………………………………………..9 

Exhibit 3   Aerial…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………10 

Exhibit 4   Devirian Site Plan………………………………………………………………………………………………………………11 

Exhibit 5   Cota Site Plan………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….…12 

Chapter 3  Environmental Impact Analysis………………………………………………………………………………..………….13 
I. AESTHETICS.............................................................................................................................. 16 

II. AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES .................................................................................................... 24 

III. AIR QUALITY ............................................................................................................................ 28 

IV. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES ......................................................................................................... 37 

V. CULTURAL RESOURCES ............................................................................................................ 40 

VI. ENERGY .................................................................................................................................... 43 

VII. GEOLOGY AND SOILS ............................................................................................................... 53 

VIII. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ................................................................................................ 61 

IX. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS ................................................................................ 66 

X. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY ........................................................................................ 73 

XI. LAND USE AND PLANNING ...................................................................................................... 80 

XII. MINERAL RESOURCES .............................................................................................................. 83 

XIII. NOISE ....................................................................................................................................... 85 

XIV. POPULATION AND HOUSING ................................................................................................... 97 

XV. PUBLIC SERVICES ................................................................................................................... 101 

XVI. RECREATION .......................................................................................................................... 105 

Page 235

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella  Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

ii 

XVII. TRANSPORTATION ................................................................................................................. 106 

XVIII. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES .............................................................................................. 112 

XIX. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS .......................................................................................... 115 

XX. WILDFIRE ............................................................................................................................... 119 

XXI. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE ........................................................................... 122 

 

Page 236

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

1 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

 Overview 

The Avenue 53 Rezone Project is proposing the development of a residential community located as part 
of  an urban employment  sector on approximately  117.6 acres  in  the City of Coachella.  The proposed 
property is located south of Avenue 53, north of Avenue 54, and west of Tyler Street. The site is comprised 
of 4 parcels owned by two separate property owners (“Devirian” and “Cota”). The properties, their APNs, 
acreages, and current zoning designations are outlined in the table below: 
 

Table 1 Project Properties Existing Acreage and Zone 

Property  APN  Acreage  Existing Zone 

Devirian 

778‐390‐004  4.8  Manufacturing Service (M‐S) 

778‐390‐005  29.8  Manufacturing Service (M‐S) 

778‐390‐007  78.3  Manufacturing Service (M‐S) 

Cota  778‐390‐003  4.7  Manufacturing Service (M‐S) 

 
As indicated in Table 1, the entire 117.6‐acre project property is zoned Manufacturing Service (M‐S).  The 
City of Coachella (the Applicant)  is proposing to change the zone from Manufacturing Service (M‐S) to 
Residential Multiple Family, Urban (RM‐Urban, 20‐38 units per acre) on approximately 50.6 acres of the 
site.  The  remaining  67  acres  of  the project  property will maintain  the  existing Manufacturing  Service 
zoning  designation.  Overall,  the  project  proposes  50.6  acres  of  R‐M  Urban,  21.7  acres  M‐S,  and 
approximately  45.3  acres  of  buffer  area  between  the  proposed  R‐M  and M‐S  zones  and  the  existing 
industrial  property  to  the  east.  The  buffer  area  separates  the  east‐lying  property  from  the  proposed 
project by approximately 750 feet. Table 2  indicates the existing and proposed zones and acres of the 
three properties. Table 3 summarizes the proposed zones and total acreages.   
 

Table 2 Project Properties Existing and Proposed Acreage and Zone 

Property   Existing Zones  Acres  Proposed Zones  Acres 

Devirian  M‐S  112.9 

R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac)  45.9 

M‐S  21.7 

M‐S (Buffer Area)  45.3 

Cota  M‐S  4.7  R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac)  4.7 

Total    117.6    117.6 

 
Table 3 Proposed Zones and Acreages 

Proposed Zones  Acreages 

R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac)  50.6 

M‐S  21.7 

M‐S (Buffer Area)  45.3 

Total  117.6 

 
The project site has been disturbed due to its previous uses and an agricultural operation and residential 
land. Approximately 112.9 acres of the site operated as agricultural fields, with a water reservoir in the 

Page 237

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

2 

center of that portion of the property. Approximately 4.7 acres of the site is vacant, however, previous 
human disturbance is present in this area.  
 
The property is surrounded by residential, agricultural, industrial, and vacant uses. Avenue 53 delineates 
the project’s northern‐most boundary, and a single‐family residential community lies north of Avenue 53. 
A disturbed vacant lot is located northeast of the project site. The vacant lot has been previously graded, 
and the perimeter of the vacant lot is delineated by chain‐link fencing. Industrial uses including, Armtec 
Defense Products, and vacant lots are located east of the project site. The southern property boundary is 
delineated by Avenue 54, and residential properties, agricultural lots, and vacant lots are located south of 
Avenue 54. A partially‐developed residential neighborhood, with some vacant lots are located west of the 
project boundaries.  
 
The project site is currently located within the City of Coachella’s General Plan Urban Employment Center 
land use designation. Urban Employment Center land use designations are established to provide a range 
of employment uses  to help expand and diversify  the City’s economy and transform Coachella  from a 
small town into a full‐service City. These centers are the primary location for office and professional jobs, 
supported by retail, services and homes.   
 
The zoning for the project site includes Manufacturing Services (M‐S). M‐S zones are intended to provide 
for and encourage the orderly development of light manufacturing, wholesaling, and commercial service 
within  the  community.  Such  areas  are  vital  to  the  community’s  economic  health  and well‐being.  The 
provisions of this zone are intended to ensure that manufacturing service areas will be compatible with 
adjacent,  non‐industrial  development  and will  protect  such areas  from potential  hazards of  industrial 
development.  
 
As stated previously, the project is proposing a Change of Zone from M‐S to R‐M Urban, 20‐38 units per 
acre  (un/ac)    on approximately 50.6  acres of  the property.  The  remaining 67 acres of  the  site will  be 
designated M‐S, however, approximately 45.3 acres of this area will be utilized as a buffer, separating the 
existing property  to  the east  from  the proposed project.  The proposed  zones are  consistent with  the 
existing  General  Plan  land  use  designations;  therefore,  the  only  entitlement  required  for  this  project 
includes a Change of Zone. 

 Authority 

The City of Coachella is the lead agency for the proposed Re‐Zone. The City undertook the review of the 
applicant’s  submittal,  and  determined  that  it  is  a  project,  as  defined  by  the  California  Environmental 
Quality Act  (CEQA). Since the project  includes a discretionary action, the City concluded that an  Initial 
Study should be prepared. This Initial Study/Negative Declaration has been prepared in accordance with 
Public Resources Code Section 21000 et. seq.   

 Scope of Environmental Review 

This Initial Study evaluates the proposed project’s potential environmental effects on the following topics 
as contained in Appendix G of the CEQA Guidelines, as follows:  
 Aesthetics 
 Agricultural Resources 
 Air Quality 
 Biological Resources 

Page 238

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

3 

 Cultural Resources 
 Energy 
 Geology and Soils 
 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
 Hazards and Hazardous Materials 
 Hydrology and Water Quality 
 Land Use and Planning 
 Mineral Resources 
 Noise 
 Population and Housing 
 Public Services 
 Recreation 
 Transportation 
 Tribal Cultural Resources 
 Utilities and Service Systems 
 Wildfire 
 Mandatory Significance of Findings  

 Impact Assessment Terminology 

The Environmental Checklist identifies impacts using four levels of significance as follows: 

No Impact: When the analysis finds that the project would not affect the environment. 

Less  than  Significant:  When  the  analysis  finds  that  a  project  would  not  substantially  impact  the 
environment and no mitigation is required to reduce the impact to less than significant.  

Less than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated:  When the analysis finds that project would result in 
substantial impact on the environment, but feasible mitigation measures can be successfully implemented 
to reduce levels to less than significant.   

Potentially Significant:  When the analysis finds that a project would result in substantial impact on the 
environment and no mitigation measures can implemented to reduce the impacts to less that significant.  

 Organization of the Initial Study 

This Initial Study has been completed in the following format: 

Chapter 1 Introduction:  This chapter provides a brief summary of the proposed project and describes the 
regulatory framework for the preparation of an Initial Study under CEQA.  

Chapter  2  Project  Description:  This  chapter  provides  a  comprehensive  description  of  the  applicant’s 
proposal for the project, the General Plan and Zoning for the project and the surrounding land uses.   

Chapter 3 Environmental Checklist:   This chapter contains the analysis of each topic identified in CEQA 
Appendix  G,  and  includes  a  discussion  of  the  environmental  setting,  the  project’s  impacts,  the 
determination of significance, and mitigation measures where necessary.  

Chapter 4 References: This chapter  identifies  the documents and technical  reports used for  this  Initial 
Study. 

Page 239

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

4 

 Documents Incorporated by Reference 

In addition to the documents listed in Chapter 4, the City of Coachella’s General Plan, General Plan EIR, 
and Municipal Code were used as part of the evaluation of the proposed project. These documents are 
available  on  the  City’s  website  at  www.coachella.org  and  at  the  Development  Services  Department, 
located at 1515 Sixth Street.  

Page 240

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

5 

Chapter 2 Project Description 

 Project Description 

The Avenue 53 Re‐Zone Project is proposing a Change of Zone of approximately 117.6 acres in the City of 
Coachella. The project includes four Assessor Parcel Numbers (APN), 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 778‐390‐
005, and 778‐390‐007. The property is located south of Avenue 53, north of Avenue 54, and west of Tyler 
Street. The site is currently disturbed, with agricultural operations on approximately 112.9 acres of the 
site, and vacant disturbed uses on approximately 4.7 acres. 
 
The  existing  zoning  designation  for  the  project  includes  Manufacturing  Services  (M‐S).  The  project 
proposes a Change of Zone from M‐S to R‐M Urban (20‐38 units per acre (un/ac)) on approximately 50.6 
acres of  the  site.  The  remainder of  the  site  does not propose a  zone  change  and will  continue  to be 
designated  M‐S.  However,  approximately  45.3  acres  will  be  utilized  as  a  buffer  area  separating  the 
proposed project from the existing industrial property to the east. The proposed zones are consistent with 
the project’s land use designations of Urban Employment Center, established by the Coachella General 
Plan Update (CGPU). Development of the project site is not currently proposed.   
 
The project site  is currently disturbed, due to  the development of  the surrounding  land uses, and the 
previous agricultural operations that took place onsite. The project’s northern boundary is delineated by 
the Avenue 53. The eastern boundary is met by vacant land, Armtec Defense Products property, and Tyler 
Street.   Avenue 54 delineates the property’s southern boundary, and the western boundary  is met by 
single family residential uses. Distribution and transmission power poles are located along the western, 
southern, and eastern boundaries. Distribution power poles are also located north of the project.  
 
The R‐M zones are intended to provide for the establishment and expansion of multiple family residential 
development areas at various medium and high population densities, all located in conformance with the 
general plan. The project proposes to provide affordable housing in compliance with the Regional Housing 
Needs Assessment (RHNA). The RHNA is mandated by State Housing Law as part of the periodic process 
of updating local housing elements of the General Plan. The RHNA quantifies the need for housing within 
each  jurisdiction  during  specified  planning  periods.  Communities  use  the  RHNA  in  land  use  planning, 
prioritizing local resource allocation, and in deciding how to address identified existing and future housing 
needs resulting from population, employment, and household growth.  
 
The  project  site  is  approximately  117.6  acres.  The  project  proposes  R‐M  Urban  (20‐38  un/ac)  on 
approximately 50.6 acres of the site, and M‐S on the remaining 67 acres of the site. Approximately 45.3 
acres of  the M‐S designated area will act as a buffer area between the proposed R‐M Urban and M‐S 
zones.  The  buffer  will  be  approximately  750  feet.  The  R‐M  Urban  land  use  permits  20  to  38  un/ac; 
therefore, this portion of the site could accommodate between 1,012 to 1,922.8 dwelling units. M‐S zones 
do not support residential dwellings, except for a single dwelling unit used by a manager/caretaker, or 
custodian of a use permitted within this zone (Coachella Municipal Code 17.30.020 (B)(1)). The number 
of dwelling units on the project site could range from 1,012 to 1,922.8 dwelling units on the property. This 
is shown in Table 2, Potential Project Units.  

The Avenue 53 Rezone Project does not proposed development at this time. Future development of the 
site would also include landscaping, street improvements, and parking areas constructed in compliance 
with  the standards established  for Urban Employment Centers  land use designations. The project will 

Page 241

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

6 

submit a Change of Zone. Approval of this entitlement will render the project in full compliance with City 
regulations.   

 Proposed Land Use and Zoning Breakdown 

The existing land use designation for the entire 117.6‐acre property is Urban Employment Center. 
The proposed breakdown for the project is as follows: 

Table 1 Proposed Zoning  

Proposed Zones  Acreages 

R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac)  50.6 

M‐S  21.7 

M‐S (Buffer Area)  45.3 

Total  117.6 

 
Table 2 Potential Project Units 

Zone  Acreage  Allowed DU  Total UN/AC 

R‐M Urban (20‐
38 un/ac)  

50.6 

Min DU ‐ 20  1,012 

Mid DU ‐ 29  1,467.4 

Max DU ‐ 38  1,922.8 

M‐S  21.7  ‐‐  ‐‐ 

M‐S (Buffer Area)  45.3  ‐‐  ‐‐ 
 

 General Plan and Zoning Designation 

The existing General Plan Land Use designation  for  the project  site  is Urban Employment Center. The 
existing zoning designation is Manufacturing Services (M‐S).   

2.4    Environmental Setting and Surrounding Land Uses 

The proposed project site is located in the southern portion of the City of Coachella, within the General 
Plan’s  Urban  Employment  Center  land  use.  The  vision  for  the  Urban  Employment  Center  land  use 
designation is to create a mixed‐use neighborhood with high‐density residential uses in a business park / 
light industrial environment. Multi‐family residences may also be integrated into Centers, often on upper 
floors of buildings above ground‐floor businesses. The site has been highly disturbed due to its previous 
operations as agricultural fields and a grass sports field.  

Surrounding land uses include: 

North: Avenue 53 and a single family residential neighborhood  

South: Avenue 54, vacant lots, and residential properties 

East: Armtec Defense Products, Tyler Street, trailer park, vacant lots, industrial uses 

West: Single family residential neighborhoods 

Page 242

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

7 

 Permits/Approvals required from other public agencies: 

None required for re‐zoning of land 
 

   

Page 243

Item 26.



N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

REGIONAL LOCATION MAP
EXHIBIT

1DEVIRIAN & COTA PROPERTIES
INITIAL STUDY / AVENUE 53 RE-ZONE

Page 244

Item 26.



N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

PROJECT VICINITY MAP
EXHIBIT

2

AVENUE 50

AVENUE 50

TY
LE

R 
ST

RE
ET

PO
LK

 S
TR

EE
T

AVENUE 52

CITY OF
COACHELLA

G
RAPEFRUIT BLVD. / HIG

HW
AY 111

AVENUE 53

AVENUE 54

TY
LE

R

C
ES

A
R

C
HA

V
EZ

ST
RE

ET

TY
LE

R 
ST

RE
ET

AVENUE 53

AVENUE 54

HIGHWAY 86

FI
LL

M
O

RE
 S

TR
EE

T

DEVIRIAN

ST
RE

ET

DEVIRIAN & COTA PROPERTIES
INITIAL STUDY / AVENUE 53 RE-ZONE

'COTA'

Page 245

Item 26.



DEVIRIAN PROPERTY

AVENUE 53

AVENUE 53
SH

A
D

Y 
LA

N
E

TY
LE

R 
ST

RE
ET

AVENUE 54

COTA
PROPERTY

N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH
EXHIBIT

3DEVIRIAN & COTA PROPERTIES
INITIAL STUDY / AVENUE 53 RE-ZONE

Page 246

Item 26.



AVENUE 53

SH
A

DY
 L

A
N

E

AVENUE 54

TY
LE

R 
ST

RE
ET

FROM
MANUFACTURING

SERVICE (M-S)
TO

RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE FAMILY (R-M)
(URBAN: 38 DU./AC.)

FROM
MANUFACTURING

SERVICE (M-S)
TO

RESIDENTIAL
MULTIPLE FAMILY (R-M)
(URBAN: 38 DU./AC.)

±9.6 AC.

FROM
MANUFACTURING
SERVICE (M-S) TO
RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE
FAMILY (R-M)
(URBAN: 38 DU./AC.)

±31.5 AC.

75
0'

750'

BEGINNING OF
BUILDING BUFFER

MANUFACTURING
SERVICE (M-S)

±4.8 AC.

±21.7 AC.

N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

PROJECT SITE PLAN
EXHIBIT

4DEVIRIAN
INITIAL STUDY / AVENUE 53 RE-ZONE

Page 247

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
778-390-007

AutoCAD SHX Text
778-390-005

AutoCAD SHX Text
778-390-005

AutoCAD SHX Text
778-390-004

AutoCAD SHX Text
778-390-007

AutoCAD SHX Text
778-390-007



AVENUE 53

SH
A

DY
 L

A
N

E

FROM
MANUFACTURING SERVICE (M-S)

TO
RESIDENTIAL MULTIPLE FAMILY (R-M)

(URBAN: 20-38 DU./AC.)
±4.7 AC.

N.T.S.

MSA CONSULTING, INC.

> PLANNING > CIVIL ENGINEERING > LAND SURVEYING

34200 Bob Hope Drive,  Rancho Mirage,  CA  92270

760.320.9811    msaconsultinginc.com

PROJECT SITE PLAN
EXHIBIT

4COTA
INITIAL STUDY / AVENUE 53 RE-ZONE

Page 248

Item 26.

AutoCAD SHX Text
778-390-003



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

13 

Environmental Impact Analysis 

 

INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

 
 

Project Title:   Avenue 53 Re‐Zone Project 

Case No.  Environmental Assessment – EA ‐XX 
Change of Zone – CZ 

Assessor’s Parcel No.  778‐420‐014, 778‐390‐003, 788‐390‐004, 788‐390‐005, 788‐390‐007 

Project Location: 
South of Avenue 53, West of Tyler Street, & North of Avenue 54  

Coachella, CA 92236  

Riverside County 

Project Sponsor’s Name and 
Address: 

Devirian:  

Hawthorne Boulevard, Suite 290 

Torrance, CA 90508 

Cota: 

82460 Deborah Drive 

Indio, CA 92201 
 

General Plan Designation(s):  Urban Employment Center 

Zoning:  Manufacturing Services (M‐S) 

Lead Agency Name and Address:  City of Coachella – Planning Division  
1515 Sixth Street 
Coachella, California 92236 

Lead Agency Contact Person:  Gabriel Perez,  
Development Services Director 

Phone Number:  (760) 398‐3102 

Date Prepared:  September 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 249

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

14 

Environmental Factors Potentially Affected: 
 
The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this project, as indicated by the checklist 
and corresponding discussion on the following pages. 
 

  Aesthetics   
Agriculture and Forestry 
Resources 

  Air Quality 

  Biological Resources    Cultural Resources    Energy 

  Geology & Soils    Greenhouse Gas Emissions     Hazards & Hazardous Materials  

  Hydrology / Water Quality     Land Use / Planning     Mineral Resources  

  Noise     Population / Housing     Public Services  

  Recreation     Transportation     Tribal Cultural Resources  

  Utilities / Service Systems     Wildfire   
Mandatory Findings of 
Significance  

 
DETERMINATION:  The City of Coachella Planning Department 
 
On the basis of this initial evaluation: 
 

  I find that the proposed project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a NEGATIVE 
DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 
  I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment there will not 

be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or agreed to by the 
project proponent.  A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 
  I find that the proposed project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an ENVIRONMENTAL 

IMPACT REPORT is required. 
 

  I find that the proposed project MAY have a “potentially significant impact” or “potentially significant unless 
mitigated” impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed in an earlier 
document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has been addressed by mitigation measures based 
on the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets.  An ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required, 
but it must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed. 

 
  I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, because all 

potentially  significant  effects  (a)  have  been  analyzed  adequately  in  an  earlier  EIR  or  NEGATIVE 
DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or mitigated pursuant to that 
earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, including revisions or mitigation measures that are imposed upon 
the proposed project, nothing further is required. 

 

     

     

Gabriel Perez     Date 

Director of Development Services     

 

Page 250

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

15 

PURPOSE OF THIS INITIAL STUDY 
 
This  Initial  Study  has  been  prepared  in  accordance  with  the  CEQA  Guidelines  Section  15063(c)  to  provide  a 
preliminary  analysis  of  a  proposed  project’s  actions  and  to  determine  if  the  project,  as  proposed, may  have  a 
significant effect upon the environment. The findings determined from the preliminary analysis are presented in the 
form of the Initial Study, which will be used in support of the preparation of a Negative Declaration.   
 
EVALUATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 
 
1)  A brief explanation is required for all answers except “No Impact” answers that are adequately supported by 

the information sources a lead agency cites in the parentheses following each question.  A “No Impact” answer 
is adequately supported if the referenced information sources show that the impact simply does not apply to 
projects like the one involved (e.g., the project falls outside a fault rupture zone).  A “No Impact” answer should 
be explained where it is based on project‐specific factors as well as general standards (e.g., the project will not 
expose sensitive receptors to pollutants, based on project‐specific screening analysis). 

2)  All answers must take into account the whole action involved, including offsite as well as onsite, cumulative as 
well as project‐level, indirect as well as direct, and construction as well as operational impacts. 

3)  Once the lead agency has determined that a particular physical impact may occur, then the checklist answers 
must  indicate whether the  impact  is potentially significant,  less than significant with mitigation, or  less than 
significant.  "Potentially Significant Impact" is appropriate if there is substantial evidence that an effect may be 
significant. If there are one or more "Potentially Significant Impact" entries when the determination is made, an 
EIR is required. 

4)  "Negative Declaration: Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated" applies where the incorporation of 
mitigation measures has  reduced  an  effect  from  "Potentially  Significant  Impact"  to  a  "Less  Than  Significant 
Impact." The lead agency must describe the mitigation measures, and briefly explain how they reduce the effect 
to  a  less  than  significant  level  mitigation  measures  from  Section  XVII,  "Earlier  Analyses,"  may  be 
cross‐referenced). 

5)  Earlier analyses may be used where, pursuant to the tiering, program EIR, or other CEQA process, an effect has 
been adequately analyzed in an earlier EIR or negative declaration.  Section 15063(c)(3)(D). In this case, a brief 
discussion should identify the following: 

a)  Earlier Analysis Used.  Identify and state where they are available for review. 

b)  Impacts Adequately Addressed.  Identify which effects from the above checklist were within the 
scope of and adequately analyzed in an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, 
and  state  whether  such  effects  were  addressed  by  mitigation  measures  based  on  the  earlier 
analysis. 

c)  Mitigation  Measures.    For  effects  that  are  "Less  than  Significant  with  Mitigation  Measures 
Incorporated," describe  the mitigation measures, which were  incorporated or  refined  from the 
earlier document and the extent to which they address site‐specific conditions for the project. 

6)  Lead agencies are encouraged to incorporate into the checklist references to information sources for potential 
impacts  (e.g.,  general  plans,  zoning  ordinances).  Reference  to  a  previously  prepared  or  outside  document 
should, where appropriate, include a reference to the page or pages where the statement is substantiated. 

7)  Supporting Information Sources:  A list of references used during the preliminary analysis and research should 
be attached with this document. In addition, other sources used or individuals contacted should be cited in the 
discussion. 

8)  The explanation of each issue should identify: 

a)  The significance criteria or threshold, if any, used to evaluate each question; and 

b)  The mitigation measure identified, if any, to reduce the impacts to less than significance. 

Page 251

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

16 

I. AESTHETICS 
 
 
Except as provided in Public Resources Code Section 21099, 
would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No 
Impact 

a)  Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista?          

b)  Substantially  damage  scenic  resources,  including,  but 
not  limited  to,  trees,  rock  outcroppings,  and  historic 
buildings within a state scenic highway?  

       

c)  In  non‐urbanized  areas,  substantially  degrade  the 
existing visual character or quality of public views of the 
site and its surroundings? (Public views are those that 
are  experienced  from  publicly  accessible  vantage 
point). If the project is in an urbanized area, would the 
project  conflict  with  applicable  zoning  and  other 
regulations governing scenic quality?  

       

d)  Create a new source of substantial light or glare, which 
would  adversely  affect  day  or  nighttime  views  in  the 
area?  

       

(Sources: “California Scenic Highway Mapping System,” 2019; 2035 Coachella General Plan Update, 2015; Coachella 
Municipal Code.)  
 

Setting 
 
The Coachella Valley is defined as a low and relatively flat desert basin bounded by mountainous terrain. 
The  surrounding  mountain  ranges  specifically  include  the  Little  San  Bernardino  Mountains  to  the 
northeast,  the  Santa  Rosa Mountains  to  the  south,  and  the  San  Jacinto Mountains  to  the west.  The 
topographic variety in the Coachella Valley establishes elevations from 1,000 feet in the Mecca Hills to the 
east, to approximately 160 feet below sea level south of Thermal. Although the elevation varies widely, 
the City of Coachella is relatively flat, with a gentle slope from northwest to southeast. The project site is 
located in the southern portion of the City, surrounded by both developed and vacant properties to the 
north, west, south, and east.  
 
The  approximately  117.6‐acre  project  site  is  currently  disturbed,  due  to  its  previous  operation  as 
agricultural land, a sports field, and disturbed lot. Historical imagery shows the project site was previously 
occupied by agricultural and ranch/farm residential uses prior to 1953. However, the project is disturbed 
with scattered vegetation according to historical imagery from 1972. Between the years 1986 to present, 
the  site  has  been  used  intermittently  for  agricultural  purposes,  showing  evidence  of  harvesting  and 
clearing of land. However, agricultural operations have ceased. The industrial property, east of the project, 
was developed by 1986, however, the properties north, west, and south of the project remain in the same 
condition at this time. The residential community west of the project was developed between 2004 and 
2009. The residential community north of the project was cleared and graded in 2006, and fully developed 
by 2016.  
 
The City of Coachella categorizes the different land uses into six specific designations. These six different 
designations include: Ranchos, Neighborhoods, Centers, Districts, Specific Plans and Public. The project 

Page 252

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

17 

site  is  located  in  the  Centers  designation,  specifically Urban  Employment  Center.  Urban  Employment 
Centers provides for a range of employment uses to help expand and diversify the City’s economy and 
transform Coachella from a small town into a full‐service city. These centers are the primary location for 
office  and  professional  jobs,  supported  by  retail,  services  and  homes.  Uses  allowed  within  Urban 
Employment  Centers  primarily  includes  office,  research  and  development,  live‐work,  multifamily 
residential,  and  support  retail.  Per  the  Coachella  General  Plan  Update,  Urban  Employment  Centers 
building heights are generally two to five stories. Development intensities for Urban Employment Center 
Land Use designations vary from 30 to 65 dwelling units per acre (un/ac), with a floor area ratio (FAR) of 
0.5 to 2 (2035 Coachella General Plan Update).  
 
The proposed project site is also located in Coachella’s Manufacturing Services (M‐S) zoning designation. 
M‐S zones are intended to provide for and encourage the orderly development of light manufacturing, 
wholesaling,  and  commercial  service within  the  community.  Such  areas  are  vital  to  the  community’s 
economic health and well‐being. The provisions of this zone are intended to ensure that manufacturing 
service areas will be compatible with adjacent non‐industrial development and will protect such areas 
from potential hazards of industrial development (Coachella Municipal Code 17.30).  
 
The project proposes a Change of Zone from the M‐S zone to R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac) on approximately 
50.6 acres of the site. The remaining 67 acres will continue to be zoned M‐S. The increased densities would 
permit more housing that is needed in the City of Coachella. The proposed zones are consistent with the 
property’s existing land use designations of Urban Employment Center (discussed further in the Land Use 
and  Planning  Section  of  this  document).  The  existing  land  use  designations  and  proposed  zoning 
designations establish standards and guidelines that contribute to the visual character and scenic quality 
of the City. They also establish guidelines that maintain the existing natural landscaping and scenic vistas 
in the City. The project does not currently propose development on the 117.6‐acre property and a site 
plan  does  not  currently  exist.  However,  analysis  of  future  development  on  aesthetics  and  aesthetic 
resources  are  provided  in  this  discussion.  The  City  of  Coachella’s  General  Plan  Update  was  used  to 
determine  the  aesthetic  resources  in  the  City,  as  well  as  development  regulations,  guidelines,  and 
standards for the proposed uses.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)  No Impact. The City of Coachella lists various aspects of scenic beauty in the City’s General Plan 

Update (CGPU). These include views of the mountains, the rural and agricultural character, as well 
as parks and open space areas. According  to  the City,  the natural  topography of  the hills,  the 
existing agricultural uses and the views of the surrounding mountains should be maintained and 
preserved  for  its  scenic quality. The value of scenery can be highly subjective due to personal 
preference and opinion and  is generally affected by the presence and  intensity of neighboring 
man‐made improvements, such as structures, overhead utilities, and landscape, to name a few. 
Certain man‐made features can either add to or obstruct a scenic vista, depending on viewpoint 
and perspective.  

   
The project site is located in the southeast portion of the City of Coachella, in the City’s Airport 
District  General  Plan  Subarea.  The  zoning  designations  within  the  project  site  includes 
Manufacturing Services  (M‐S) zone. The project site  is surrounded by Avenue 53 to the north, 
Armtec Defense Products and Tyler Street to the east, Avenue 54 to the south, and single‐family 
residential properties to the west. The residential properties west of the site are separated from 
the project by fencing or block wall perimeters.  

Page 253

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

18 

 
According  to  the  CGPU,  hillsides  and mountains  in  the  Coachella  Valley  are  considered  visual 
resources to the City. From the project site, the Little San Bernardino Mountains are located to 
the north, the San Jacinto Mountains are located to the northwest, the Santa Rosa Mountains are 
located to the south and southwest, and the Orocopia Mountains are located to the east. Due to 
the  largely  developed  areas  north  and  west  of  the  site,  views  of  the  Little  San  Bernardino 
Mountains  and  the  San  Jacinto  Mountains  are  largely  obstructed.  The  existing  residential 
communities, landscaping, and manmade structures obstruct the views of the mountains to the 
north  and  west.  The  Santa  Rosa Mountains  and  Orocopia  Mountains  can  be  viewed  from  a 
distance; however, views of these mountain ranges are distant and partially obstructed by existing 
manmade structures and landscaping. 

 
  The project proposes to change the current zoning designation of Manufacturing Services (M‐S) 

to R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac) on approximately 50.6 acres. The remaining 67 acres do not propose 
a zone change as it will continue to operate within the existing designation. The project, located 
in the City’s Urban Employment Center land use designations, will comply with the requirements 
of properties within the designation. The intended physical character of this designation includes 
buildings configured in an urban format of walkable blocks, attractive streetscapes, and buildings 
at or near the sidewalk edge. There is limited surface parking and minimal landscaping between 
the buildings  and  the  sidewalk,  typical  of  office or business parks  in  the Coachella Valley  and 
Western Riverside County. Per the CGPU, buildings within this land use designation are generally 
two to five stories. 
 
Future development may partially obstruct  the views of  the Orocopia Mountains  (east)  to the 
single‐story  residences  immediately  west  of  the  site.  Future  development  may  also  partially 
obstruct  the  views  of  the  Santa  Rosa  Mountains  to  the  south,  when  viewed  at  the  existing 
residential properties north of the project site. However, as established previously, these views 
are already distant and obstructed. Building heights within the project will not exceed 5 stories, 
per  the  CGPU.  The  proposed  buildings  will  also  be  separated  from  the  existing  residential 
communities east of the project by setbacks established for Multifamily Residential zones (R‐M), 
per the Coachella Municipal Code Chapter 17.20, R‐M Multiple‐Family Residential Zone.  
 
Construction of future development may partially obstruct the views of the Orocopia Mountains 
and  the  Santa  Rosa Mountains  from  the  west‐lying  and  north‐lying  properties  (respectively). 
During future development, the property would be required to abide by building, and setback 
standards established for R‐M and M‐S zones. 

 
The  industrial,  residential, and agricultural uses,  including Armtec Defense Products,  scattered 
residential lots, and agricultural lots, are located east and south of the site. The residential and 
agricultural  uses,  south  of  the  project  are  separated  from  the  site  by  Avenue  54.  Future 
development of the project is not anticipated to obstruct the views of the Little San Bernardino 
Mountains and the San Jacinto Mountains to the north and northwest (respectively) since the 
views of these mountains are currently distant and largely obstructed by existing structures and 
landscaping.  
 
The  proposed  project  is  not  expected  to  obstruct  the  views  of  the  surrounding  scenic  vistas. 
Future proposed building height, setbacks and design standards will comply with the guidelines 
established  in  the  City’s Municipal  Code  for  R‐M  and M‐S  zones,  as well  as  design  standards 

Page 254

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

19 

outlined in the CGPU for Urban Employment Center land use designations. The distant views of 
the various mountain ranges will remain visible to the surrounding residencies and residents after 
the  construction  of  the  project.  The  project  may  partially  obstruct  the  views,  depending  on 
location and viewpoint; however, the project will comply with the standards established in the 
City Municipal Code and General Plan regulating building heights and setbacks to ensure scenic 
vistas  continue  to  be  visible.  Therefore,  less  than  significant  impacts  to  the  scenic  vistas  are 
anticipated. 

 
b)  No Impact. The approximately 117.6‐acre project property lies on previously disturbed land in the 

southern portion of Coachella. Prior land uses of the site included farmland operations. Historical 
aerial imagery (dating back to 1953) indicates that the property was used for agriculture, since at 
least 1953. A structure is evident on the northwest portion of the site, according to the historical 
images. However, the structure has been demolished, based on current aerial imagery. Grading 
of the site, as well as the growing and clearing of crops has occurred onsite from at least 1953 to 
recent years. 

 
  Scenic resources, including trees, rock outcroppings, and scenic highways within the viewsheds of 

State Scenic Highways provide aesthetic and visual appeal for residents and visitors of the City’s 
Planning Area. Similarly, scenic routes provide valuable visual relief to travelers. The State Scenic 
Highway Program was established to preserve and enhance the natural beauty of California. It not 
only adds to the pleasure of the residents, but also encourages the growth of the recreation and 
tourism in the State. The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) manages the State 
Scenic Highway Program. To be  listed as a Scenic Highway,  the road must  traverse an area of 
outstanding  scenic  quality,  containing  striking  views,  flora,  geology,  or  other  unique  natural 
attributes. There are three officially designated State Scenic Highways in Riverside County. They 
include Highway 273, 62 and the closest, Highway 74, which is approximately 13 miles west of the 
project site. The northern section Highway 111 (Palm Springs to Palm Desert) and the southern 
section (Mecca to the Salton Sea) is categorized as an eligible State Scenic Highway, but it is not 
officially designated.  
 
There are no designated, or eligible, State Scenic Highways within the General Plan Planning Area. 
According to the CGPU Environmental  Impact Report (EIR), certain sections of Old Highway 99 
(now Dillon Road between Grapefruit Boulevard and  Interstate 10), Old Highway 86  (Harrison 
Street south of Grapefruit Boulevard), Old Highway 111 (Grapefruit Boulevard), and Highway 86‐
S Expressway (south of Interstate 10) represent visual corridors and serve as an aesthetic resource 
for the City. The project lies approximately 0.40 miles west of the closest City designated visual 
corridor, Grapefruit Boulevard. Due to the distance from the project to Grapefruit Boulevard, the 
project will not obstruct the scenic resources viewed by motorists driving along the roadway.  

 
Conclusively,  the proposed project  is not  located adjacent  to a designated Scenic Highway, as 
identified by Caltrans or the City. Additionally, there are no significant trees, rock outcroppings, 
or  historical  buildings  due  to  the  cleared  and  disturbed  character  of  the  site.  Therefore,  the 
proposed project would not result in adverse impacts to scenic resources adjacent to or near a 
State Scenic Highway because the re‐zoning would not damage scenic resources, including trees, 
rock outcroppings, and historic buildings within a state scenic highway. 

 
c)  No Impact. According to the Coachella General Plan Update Environmental Impact Report (EIR), 

the  City  has  a  unique  visual  characteristic  in  its  scenic  geographical  location,  agricultural  and 

Page 255

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

20 

rancho  history,  and  quality  architecture  of  historic  buildings.  Although  the  alteration  of  the 
existing landscape is unavoidable due to future development, the views of the mountains, rural, 
agricultural character should be respected, maintained, and preserved. 

 
The EIR presents policies  to help preserve  the existing  visual  character of  the City where  it  is 
deemed valuable, or direct future development to either enhance the existing visual character in 
the City or create a new, complementary visual character. Specifically, these policies direct new 
development to maintain the existing small‐town character and cultural diversity of Coachella, 
preventing development not compatible with the existing character from being constructed. The 
policies  identify  specific  urban  design  practices,  such  as  the  development  of  complete 
neighborhoods,  preservation  of  agriculture  and  open  space,  pedestrian‐oriented  design,  and 
sustainable development practices, as methods of achieving the preservation of this character. 
Further, the policies specify that the City’s natural resources should be retained to help preserve 
visual character, which will  further preserve the existing character. Finally, the policies require 
high‐quality and long‐lasting building materials and quality architecture, which will also ensure 
quality visual character in the community by preventing the construction of bland, poor quality 
buildings.  

 
The project  site  is  currently characterized by disturbed  land previously utilized  for agricultural 
operations. Historical  imagery dating  from 1953,  shows  the property graded and operating as 
agricultural land. The properties north, west, south, and east of the project were also utilized as 
agricultural land in 1953. Between 1953 to the recent years, the project site has been harvested 
and cleared of agriculture intermittently. Evidence of a structure in the northwest portion of the 
project  property  is  indicated  in  aerial  imagery  dated  1953.  However,  this  structure  has  been 
demolished. No buildings occur on the project site throughout this time. In 1974, the property 
east  of  the  project  site  (now  Armtec  Defense  Products)  was  being  developed,  however,  the 
conditions of the north‐, west‐, and south‐lying properties remain the same. During this time, the 
site appears vacant. By 2002, however, the project is graded, and agricultural uses are occurring 
on the project site. From 2004, the intermittent use of agricultural operations is occurring on the 
project property.  By 2004, the residential community, west of the project site, is being developed, 
and is complete by 2009. By 2005, development of the residential community, north of the project 
site,  has  begun.  This  community  was  complete  by  2015.  The  surrounding  developed  context 
largely contributes to the existing scenic quality of the area.  
 
Currently, the project is designated as Manufacturing Services (M‐S) as established by the City’s 
Zoning Map. M‐S zones are intended to provide for and encourage the orderly development of 
light manufacturing, wholesaling, and commercial service within the community. Such areas are 
vital to the community’s economic health and well‐being. The provisions of this zone are intended 
to  ensure  that  manufacturing  service  areas  will  be  compatible  with  adjacent,  non‐industrial 
development and will protect such areas from potential hazards of industrial development.  
 
The approximately 117.6‐acre project proposes a Change of Zone from the existing M‐S zone to 
Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) Urban on approximately 50.6 acres of the site. The remaining 
67  acres  of  the  site  will  not  change  its  zone.  Future  development  may  include  a  mixed‐use 
community  consisting  of  multifamily  residential  uses  and  manufacturing  services  uses  on 
approximately 72.3 acres. Approximately 45.3 acres of the site will act as a buffer, separating the 
proposed  residential  and  manufacturing  uses  from  the  existing  property  east  of  the  site. 
Development  is  not  proposed  in  this  buffer  area.  The  City’s  Zoning  Code  will  regulate  the 

Page 256

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

21 

developmental standards for the proposed project. The City’s Zoning Code establishes permitted 
uses and property development standards for the zones within the City.  

 
The project proposes a Change of Zone from the M‐S designation to R‐M Urban on 50.6 acres. R‐
M  zones  are  intended  to  provide  for  the  establishment  and  expansion  of  multiple  family 
residential  development  areas  at  various  medium  and  high  population  densities  and  related 
community services, all located in conformance with the general plan. 

 
As  previously  stated,  M‐S  zones  are  intended  to  provide  for  and  encourage  the  orderly 
development of light manufacturing, wholesaling, and commercial service within the community.  
 
The  project  proposes  an  increased  residential  density  and  use  within  the  project  area.  The 
Coachella Municipal  Code  establishes  property  development  standards  for  the  various  zones 
within the City. These standards  include density and lot size requirements, yard requirements, 
height limits, distances between buildings, usable open space, off‐street parking standards, and 
minimum  dwelling  unit  sizes.  The  project will  be  required  to  comply with  the  standards  and 
requirements listed in the Coachella Municipal Code for the proposed R‐M and M‐S zones.  
 
The  project  is  also  located  within  the  City’s  Urban  Employment  Center  land  use  designation 
established in the General Plan. The intended physical character of Urban Employment Center is 
to create buildings configured in an urban format of walkable blocks, attractive streetscapes and 
buildings at or near the sidewalk edge. There is limited surface parking and minimal landscaping 
between buildings and  the sidewalk. Office,  research and development,  live‐work, multifamily 
residential, and support retail are allowed land uses. Per the General Plan Update, urban form 
guidelines for Urban Employment Centers include the following:  
 
1. The primary building types allowed should be Office/R&D and Mixed Use/Main Street. Other 

allowed  building  types  are  Garden  Apartment  and  Urban  Apartment. 
Rowhouses/Townhouses may be allowed in limited circumstances to serve as a transition to 
lower density residential uses.  

2. Buildings with ground‐floor shopfronts are generally built to the sidewalk and office or R&D 
buildings may be set back behind shallow front yards or forecourts.  

3. Building  entrances  are  directly  from  the  sidewalk,  via  forecourts,  shopfronts,  dooryards, 
stoops and porches. 

4. Building heights are generally two to five stories. 
5. Vehicular access is provided to parking lots or structures by alleys and driveways. Services and 

trash should be located behind the buildings in alleys or rear parking areas. 
6. Buildings  made  of,  or  emulating,  heavy  masonry  are  generally  recommended  in  the 

Downtown  subarea. Concrete buildings  –  including  good quality  tilt‐up buildings designed 
with appropriate urban facades – as well as buildings clad with metal are appropriate expect 
in the Downtown subarea.  

 
Future development  shall  comply with  the City’s  standards  for projects  in Urban Employment 
Center and land use area in order to achieve the intended physical character and scenic quality of 
the designated land uses.  
 
Future development at the project site shall follow the City of Coachella’s standards for buildings 
in R‐M and M‐S zones and Urban Employment Center land use designation. Additionally, in order 

Page 257

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

22 

to ensure that future development will properly comply with the architectural guidelines of the 
City  and  the  provisions  of  development  standards,  future  development  would  be  subject  to 
Architectural Review. The Change of Zone project is not expected to degrade the existing visual 
character or quality of the site and its surroundings; thus, no impacts are expected.  

 
d)  No  Impact.  As  stated  in  the  previous  discussions,  the  project  site  is  located  in  the  Urban 

Employment Center land use designation in the City of Coachella. The existing zoning designation 
for the project is M‐S. The project proposes a Change of Zone from the M‐S zone to R‐M Urban 
on approximately 50.6 acres of the site. The remaining 67 acres will continue to be designated M‐
S. The proposed zones are consistent with the existing General Plan  land use designation. The 
majority of the project site is currently disturbed due to its prior use as an agricultural operation. 
Due to the existing character of the project site, the property does not currently contribute to the 
ambient lighting in the area.  

 
Sources of fixed nighttime lighting in the areas surrounding the project can be attributed to the 
existing  homes north  and west  of  the  project,  and  the  industrial  use  east  of  the project.  The 
individual  home  lighting  typically  consists  of  low‐intensity, wall‐mounted,  downward‐oriented 
fixtures  in  the patio, side and front yards of homes. Nighttime  lighting  from the  industrial use 
typically  includes exterior  lighting  systems  to provide adequate  security. Non‐fixed  sources of 
daytime or nighttime lighting are attributed to vehicular traffic in the surrounding area. 

 
  Future development  is expected to consist of residential and  industrial uses on the 117.6‐acre 

site. Future buildout of the proposed project can be expected to generate increased levels of light 
and  glare  from  interior  and  exterior  building  lighting,  safety  and  security  lighting,  landscape 
lighting, and vehicles accessing the site. Stationary lighting in the residential portion of the project 
will  be  consistent  with  exterior  and  interior  lighting  typical  for  residential  communities  in 
Coachella. These  typically  consist of  low‐intensity, wall‐mounted, downward‐oriented  fixtures, 
which avoid spilling onto adjacent properties.  
 
Chapter 17.54.010 (K) (off‐street parking and loading: lighting) of the Coachella Municipal Code, 
states  that  parking  area  lighting  is  not  always  required;  however,  if  lighted  parking  areas  are 
required,  such  lighting  fixtures  shall  be  located,  with  hoods  provided  and  adjusted,  so  as  to 
preclude the direct glare of the light from shining onto property or streets. Future development 
shall  comply with  Chapter  17.54.010  (K)  in  order  to  provide  lighting  for  cars  and  pedestrians 
without generating excess light and spillage.  
 
As  stated  previously,  future  development  is  anticipated  to  generate  increased  levels  of  light 
compared to the primary existing use as fallow agricultural land. Although the land use density 
will increase, the lighting levels are not expected to exceed typical levels within the surrounding 
environment and levels inconsistent with the Urban Employment Center land use designation and 
proposed R‐M and M‐S zones.  
 
Pertaining to glare, the project would not introduce buildings with large reflective surfaces that 
would generate  substantial  glare. Building  surfaces and materials used  in  future development 
would be subject to review by the City of Coachella and Architectural Review to ensure that the 
future development is consistent with the development standards in the City’s Municipal Code 
and aligns with the intended physical character of the associated land use designations.   
 

Page 258

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

23 

  No impacts are expected pertaining to project‐generated light and glare are anticipated relative 
to the Change of Zone.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
 
   

Page 259

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

24 

II. AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES 
Potentially 
Significant 
Impact

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No 
ImpactWould the project: 

a)  Convert  Prime  Farmland,  Unique  Farmland,  or 
Farmland  of  Statewide  Importance  (Farmland),  as 
shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland 
Mapping  and  Monitoring  Program  of  the  California 
Resources Agency, to non‐agricultural use?  

       

b)  Conflict with  existing  zoning  for  agricultural  use,  or  a 
Williamson Act contract?  

       

c)  Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, 
forest land (as defined in Public Resources Code section 
12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public Resources 
Code  section  4526)  or  timberland  zoned  Timberland 
Production  (as  defined  by  Government  Code  section 
51104(g))? 

       

d)  Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest 
land to non‐forest use? 

       

e)  Involve  other  changes  in  the  existing  environment 
which, due to their  location or nature, could result  in 
conversion  of  Farmland,  to  non‐agricultural  use  or 
conversion of forest land to non‐forest use?  

       

(Sources: 2035 Coachella General Plan, Figure 3‐6, 2015; “Riverside County Important Farmland 2014 Map,” sheet 2 
of 3, California Department of Conservation, updated November 2016.) 
 

Setting 
 
As a part of Riverside County, the City of Coachella’s agricultural lands are a key aspect of the County and 
its character. Agricultural land covers approximately 40 percent of the City’s General Plan area. Though, 
most of the agricultural  land is  located in and around the unincorporated areas of Coachella, with the 
more centralized areas being converted into or being used for urban or industrial use.  
 
The California Land Conservation Act, also known as the Williamson Act, was adopted in 1965 in order to 
encourage the preservation of the State’s agricultural lands and to prevent its premature conversion to 
urban  uses.  The Williamson  Act  creates  an  arrangement  whereby  private  landowners’  contract  with 
counties and cities to voluntarily restrict land to agricultural and open space uses. Under the Williamson 
Act, an agricultural preserve must consist of no less than 100 acres, any development on the property 
must be related to the primary use of the land for agricultural purposes, and development must be in 
compliance  with  local  uniform  rules  or  ordinances.  Williamson  Act  contracts  are  estimated  to  save 
agricultural landowners from 20 to 75 percent in property taxes each year.  
 
The vehicle for these agreements is a rolling‐term, 10‐year contract (i.e., unless either party files a “notice 
of  nonrenewal,”  the  contract  is  automatically  renewed  annually  for  an  additional  year).  In  return, 
restricted parcels are assessed for property tax purposes at a rate consistent with their actual use, rather 
than potential market value (California Department of Conservation, 2006). If a “notice of nonrenewal” is 

Page 260

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

25 

filed by a landowner, a nine‐year nonrenewal period commences. Over this period of time, the annual tax 
assessment  gradually  increases.  At  the  end  of  the  nine‐year  nonrenewal  period,  the  contract  is 
terminated. Only the landowner can petition to cancel a Williamson Act contract. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 

a) Less than Significant Impact. Preservation of agriculture is considered integral to the City’s future. 
Agricultural  land  is  one  of  several  predominant  land  uses  within  Coachella,  covering 
approximately 29 percent (11,139 acres) of the City’s planning area. Approximately 5,112 acres 
of the total agricultural  land within the Planning Area  is  located within the City’s  incorporated 
area. Most of the agricultural land is located in the unincorporated areas (6,058 acres). Of this 
agricultural land, much of it is Important Farmland as defined by the State. 
 

      The project site is currently located within the City of Coachella’s General Plan Urban Employment 
Center land use designation. This designation is established to provide a range of employment 
uses to help expand and diversify the City’s economy and transform Coachella from a small town 
into a full‐service City. Some residential is allowed, but mainly business buildings in a walkable 
setting. The 117.6‐acre project is currently disturbed due to its previous agricultural operations. 
An analysis of historical imagery shows that the site has been used as farmland since prior to 1953. 
According  to  the most  recent  Riverside  County  Important  Farmland Map,  the  portion  of  the 
project that lies below Avenue 53 is classified as Prime Farmland, while the portion of the site 
north of Avenue 53  is  considered Urban and Built‐Up Land. Prime Farmland  is defined by  the 
California Department of Conservation as  farmland with  the best combination of physical and 
chemical features able to sustain long term agricultural production. This land has the soil quality, 
growing season, and moisture supply needed to produce sustained high yields. Land must have 
been used for irrigated agricultural production at some time during the four years prior to the 
mapping date.  

 
Historical  aerial  imagery  reveals  that,  as  of  1953,  the  project  site  and  the  surrounding  area 
operated as agricultural land. The surrounding areas started to become more urbanized by around 
1996, leading to the development of the neighboring residential and manufacturing facilities. A 
portion of the project property was used intermittently as an agricultural field. The site currently 
lies within an urbanized area of Coachella. The project is also located within Subarea 5, the Airport 
District, of the Coachella General Plan. The Airport District contains a variety of industrial uses, 
very low‐density residential development, and agricultural uses. Generally bounded by Harrison 
Street on the west, Airport Boulevard on the south and Highway 111 on the east, the area has 
exceptional regional highway and airport access and a significant amount of vacant parcels. The 
Airport District will continue to evolve into one of the primary industrial areas of the City.  

 
Although the site is designated as Prime Farmland, the City‐designated land uses established for 
the site intends for the development of manufacturing buildings. The project is currently zoned 
as Manufacturing Services (M‐S) and is proposing a zone change on approximately 50.6 acres of 
the site from M‐S to Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) Urban (20‐38 un/ac). The project is only 
proposing a zoning change on a portion of the site; thus, development of the project area is not 
expected  at  the  time  of  writing.  Additionally,  the  property  is  surrounded  by  residential, 
agricultural,  industrial,  and  vacant  land  uses  on  all  sides.  Less  than  significant  impacts  are 
expected.  

 

Page 261

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

26 

b) No Impact. Review of agricultural maps  indicates  that  there are 994 acres of agricultural  land 
covered  by  Williamson  Act  contracts  within  the  Coachella  Planning  Area  and  1,480  acres  of 
agricultural  land covered by Williamson Act contracts  that have  filed for non‐renewal. Existing 
Agricultural Uses summarizes the agricultural lands within the Planning Area that are and are not 
covered by Williamson Act contracts. General information about the Williamson Act can be found 
on page 4.2‐7 of the City of Coachella General Plan Update. There are no lands with a Williamson 
Act contract  in the  immediate project vicinity. The site has partially been used for agricultural 
purposes; however, the project does not lie in an area zoned for agriculture. The site is proposing 
a zone change from Manufacturing Services (M‐S) to Multiple Family Residential, Urban (R‐M, 20‐
38 un/ac) on approximately 50.6 acres of  the site. The remaining 67 acres will  continue  to be 
designated M‐S. The site does not propose any development at the time of writing. Therefore, 
the project will have no impact on zoning for agricultural use or Williamson Act contract. 

 
c) No  Impact.    The project property  is not within an  area  that  is  currently  zoned as  forest  land, 

timberland, or timberland production. Development of the project will not result in the re‐zoning 
of  forest  land,  timberland  or  timberland  zoned  for  timberland  production.  No  impacts  are 
anticipated. 
 

d) No Impact. The proposed project is currently zoned for Manufacturing Services (M‐S) uses. No 
forest  land,  timberland  or  Timberland  Production  zoning  occurs  on  the  project  site  or  in  the 
surrounding area because forest vegetation  is not characteristic of the Coachella Valley desert 
environment. No impacts are anticipated. 
 

e) Less than Significant Impact. As previously described, the project site and vicinity are designated 
by the City of Coachella Zoning Map as Manufacturing Services (M‐S). The project is proposing a 
zone  change  to Multiple  Family  Residential,  Urban  (R‐M,  20‐38  un/ac)  on  approximately  50.6 
acres. The zone of the remainder of the site will not change. Development is not expected at the 
time of writing. However, development of the site within the proposed zoning designations would 
not result in the conversion of any forest land because no forest land is situated within or adjacent 
to the project.  
 
The project site is currently disturbed with agricultural and vacant disturbed uses. Development 
of  the  project  area  within  the  proposed  zoning  designations  will  convert  farmland  to  non‐
farmland uses. The project property is located within an urbanized area of Coachella, surrounded 
by  developed  communities.  This  includes  residential  to  the  north  and west,  a manufacturing 
facility to the east, and a combination of vacant land, farmland, and residential properties to the 
south. As stated in discussion a), the project site is located within Subarea 5, the Airport District. 
The Airport District contains a variety of industrial uses, very low‐density residential development 
and agricultural uses. Generally bounded by Harrison Street on the west, Airport Boulevard on 
the south and Highway‐111 on the east, the area has exceptional regional highway and airport 
access and a significant amount of vacant parcels. The Airport District will continue to evolve into 
one of the primary industrial areas of the City.  
 
Portions of the project are being used for agricultural purposes, while a small portion is considered 
vacant  and  disturbed  land.  Development  of  the  proposed  project  will  convert  the  existing 
farmland  to  non‐farmland  uses.  The  project  property  is  located  within  an  urbanized  area  of 
Coachella, surrounded by developed communities. This  includes residential to the north, west, 
and portions of the south, a manufacturing facility to the east, and vacant lands to the east and 

Page 262

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

27 

south. As stated in discussion a), the project site is located within Subarea 5, the Airport District. 
The Airport District contains a variety of industrial uses, very low‐density residential development 
and agricultural uses. Generally bounded by Harrison Street on the west, Airport Boulevard on 
the south and Highway‐111 on the east, the area has exceptional regional highway and airport 
access and a significant amount of vacant parcels. The Airport District will continue to evolve into 
one of the primary industrial areas of the City.  

 
In addition to the project’s location within Subarea 5 of the City, the land use designation for the 
project area is Urban Employment Center, as established by the Coachella General Plan. Urban 
Employment Centers offer the City’s economy to sustain and thrive as it offers business, research 
and  development,  and  other  job  creating  activities.  Some  residential  is  allowed,  but  mainly 
business buildings in a walkable setting. 
 
The project proposes a zone change from M‐S to R‐M Urban on approximately 50.6 acres of the 
117.6‐acre site. The zone of the remainder of the site (approximately 67 acres) will not change. 
The proposed land use designations would be consistent with the vision of Subarea 5 and the land 
use  designations  of  Urban  Employment  Center.  If  developed,  the  project would  convert  land 
previously utilized as  farmland to non‐farmland uses. However,  the project will  still  follow the 
General  Plans  Land  Use  and  Zoning  designations  and  its  allowable  developments.  Less  than 
significant impacts are required.  

 

Mitigation Measures: None required 
  

Page 263

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

28 

III. AIR QUALITY 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact  No Impact

Where  available,  the  significance  criteria  established by 
the  applicable  air  quality  management  district  or  air 
pollution control district may be relied upon to make the 
following determinations. Would the project: 

a)  Conflict  with  or  obstruct  implementation  of  the 
applicable air quality plan?  

       

b)  Result  in a cumulatively considerable net  increase of 
any  criteria pollutant  for which  the project  region  is 
non‐attainment under  an  applicable  federal  or  state 
ambient air quality standard?   

       

c)  Expose  sensitive  receptors  to  substantial  pollutant 
concentrations?  

       

d)  Result  in  other  emissions  (such  as  those  leading  to 
odors)  adversely  affecting  a  substantial  number  of 
people?  

       

(Sources: Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015, CalEEMod Version 2016.3.2) 

 
Setting 
 
The project site and the Coachella Valley are located in the northern region of the Salton Sea Air Basin 
(SSAB), within the jurisdiction of the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD). The regional 
climate, as well as the temperature, wind, humidity, precipitation, and amount of sunshine significantly 
influence the air quality in the SSAB. Climate in the Coachella Valley is considered a continental, desert‐
type climate, with hot summers, mild winters, and very little annual rainfall. Precipitation is less than six 
inches  annually  and  occurs mostly  in  the winter months  from  active  frontal  systems  and  in  the  late 
summer months from thunderstorms. The Coachella Valley is exposed to frequent gusty winds. The flat 
terrain  of  the  valley  and  strong  temperature  differentials,  created  by  intense  solar  heating,  produce 
moderate winds and deep thermal convection. Higher wind speeds occur most frequently in the months 
of April and May. As subsequently discussed, SCAQMD has established Rules 403 and 403.1 to prevent 
wind erosion and fugitive dust impacts, particularly during land disturbance and earth moving activities 
associated with construction. 
 
Existing air  quality  is measured at  established SCAQMD air quality monitoring  stations. Monitored air 
quality is evaluated in the context of ambient air quality standards.  These standards are the levels of air 
quality  that  are  considered  safe, with an adequate margin of  safety,  to protect  the public health and 
welfare. Monitoring stations are located in Indio, Palm Springs and Mecca. To maintain compliance with 
the  National  Ambient  Air  Quality  Standards  (NAAQS)  and  California  Ambient  Air  Quality  Standards 
(CAAQS), SCAQMD has adopted a series of Air Quality Management Plans (AQMPs). AQMPs are updated 
regularly  in  order  to more  effectively  reduce  emissions,  accommodate  growth,  and  to minimize  any 
negative fiscal impacts of air pollution control on the economy.  
 
In March of 2017, SCAQMD released the most current Final Air Quality Management Plan (2016 AQMP), 
which is a regional blueprint for achieving the federal air quality standards. The 2016 AQMP is the most 
recently adopted air quality plan, which includes both stationary and mobile source strategies to ensure 

Page 264

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

29 

that the approaching attainment deadlines are met and public health is protected to the maximum extent 
feasible.  As  with  every  AQMP,  a  comprehensive  analysis  of  emissions,  meteorology,  atmospheric 
chemistry, regional growth projections, and the impact of existing control measures is updated with the 
latest data and methods. Land use designation adopted by local jurisdictions are important considerations 
in the AQMP development. The 2016 AQMP provides local guidance for the State Implementation Plans 
(SIP), which establishes the framework for the air quality basins to achieve attainment of the state and 
the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS). 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No  Impact.  Since  the  project  is  not  proposing  development  at  the  time  of  writing,  future 

development of the site has been evaluated for consistency with the local air quality management 
plans, which links local planning and individual projects to the regional plans developed to meet 
the  ambient  air  quality  standards  and  the  most  recently  accepted  air  quality  plans.  The 
assessment takes into consideration whether the project forms part of the expected conditions 
identified in local plans (General Plan Land Use and Zoning) and whether the project adheres to 
the City’s air quality goals, policies, and local development assumptions factored into the regional 
2016 Air Quality Management Plan (2016 AQMP) by SCAQMD. Air emissions associated with the 
short‐ term construction activities and long‐term operations were analyzed for this purpose.  
 
As discussed in the land use and planning section of this Initial Study, the existing General Plan 
land use designation for the project site is Urban Employment Center. Urban Employment Center 
land use designations are established for a range of employment uses to help expand and diversify 
the City’s economy and transform Coachella from a small town to a full‐service city. These centers 
are the primary location for office and professional jobs, supported by retail, services and homes. 
The allowable development intensity for Urban Employment Center designation ranges from 30 
to 65 dwelling units per acre (un/ac), with a floor area ratio of 0.5 to 2.0. As part of the proposed 
entitlement process, the project will result in a Change of Zone (CZ) on a portion of the site from 
the existing Manufacturing Service (M‐S) zoning designation to Multiple Family Residential, Urban 
(R‐M, 20‐38 un/ac). The R‐M Urban zone is proposed to occupy approximately 50.6 acres of the 
site.  The  zone of  the  remainder  of  the  site  (approximately  67  acres) will  not  change.  For  the 
analysis of future development, the residential density was estimated at a mid‐density of 29 un/ac 
for  the  R‐M  Urban  zone.  These  densities  are within  the  allowable  range  intended  under  the 
General Plan designation and assumptions. 
 
Based on the 2019‐2020 California Department of Finance population and housing estimates, the 
City of Coachella’s current total population is approximately 47,186 with an average household 
size of 4.65. Future development is estimated to support a tenant population of 6,823 persons, 
which  represents  approximately  14 percent of  the  current City  population.  The project  site  is 
located in the City of Coachella’s Urban Employment Center land use designations, as established 
in the City’s General Plan. Urban Employment Centers allow for density  intensities of 30 to 65 
dwelling units per acre. Therefore, the maximum number of allowable dwelling units on the 117.6‐
acre project site would be 7,644 dwelling units (117.6 acres x 65 du). The number of dwelling units 
for the future development develop less dwelling units than that allowed in Urban Employment 
Centers, per the City General Plan. is currently It is anticipated that some of the project tenants 
served by  the project will be existing  residents  from within  the City of Coachella and/or  from 
neighboring incorporated and unincorporated areas. The net population increase resulting from 
the project  is expected to be  less than 14 percent. Therefore, the proposed development and 

Page 265

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

30 

associated tenant population are not expected to conflict with the City’s land use composition, 
zoning,  housing  diversity,  or  other  regulatory  policies  factored  into  the  local  and  regional  air 
quality objectives for complying with the applicable air quality standards. The project is expected 
to meet the General Plan objective for Urban Employment Center designations by contributing 
housing uses in proximity to employment and commercial uses.  
 
An  impact  is  potentially  significant  if  concentration  of  emissions  exceed  the  State  or  Federal 
Ambient Air Quality  Standards. Based on Table 2‐4 of  the Final  2016 AQMP,  the  two primary 
pollutants of concern in the Coachella Valley including the City of Coachella are ozone (O3) and 
particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5). The project site is located within the Salton Sea Air Basin, 
which has been designated by  the California Air Resources Board as a nonattainment area for 
ozone (8‐hour standard) and PM10. Violations of the air quality standards for ozone are impacted 
by pollutant transport from the South Coast Air Basin. 
 
Ozone (O3) is described in the Final 2016 AQMP as being formed when byproducts of combustion 
react in the presence of ultraviolet sunlight. This process occurs in the atmosphere where oxides 
of  nitrogen  (NOX)  combine  with  reactive  organic  gases  (ROG),  such  as  hydrocarbons,  in  the 
presence  of  sunlight.  Ozone  is  a  pungent,  colorless,  toxic  gas,  and  a  common  component  of 
photochemical smog. Although also produced within the Coachella Valley, most ozone pollutants 
affecting the Valley are transported by coastal air mass from the Los Angeles and Riverside/San 
Bernardino air basins, thereby contributing to occasionally high local ozone concentrations. 
 
Particulate Matter (PM10 and PM2.5) is described in the Final 2016 AQMP as consisting of fine 
suspended particles of ten microns or smaller in diameter, and are the byproducts of road dust, 
sand, diesel soot, windstorms, and the abrasion of  tires and brakes. The elderly, children, and 
adults with pre‐existing respiratory or cardiovascular disease are most susceptible to the effects 
of PM10 and PM2.5. 

 
To  assist  lead  agencies  in  determining  the  significance  of  air  quality  impacts,  SCAQMD  has 
established  suggested  short‐term  construction‐related  and  long‐term  operational  impact 
significance  thresholds  for  direct  and  indirect  impacts  on  air  quality.  Table  III‐1  displays  the 
established construction and operational daily significance thresholds, which are recommended 
for  use  by  lead  agencies  in  considering  potential  impacts  on  air  quality.  Future  development 
effects would be considered potentially significant if the emissions exceed these thresholds. 

 
Table III‐1 

SCAQMD’s Air Quality Significance Thresholds (Pounds/Day) 
 

Emission 
Source 

CO  VOC  NOx  SOx  PM10  PM2.5 

Construction or 
Operation 

 

550  75  100  150  150  55 

Source: Air Quality Analysis Guidance Handbook, Chapter 5. 
Prepared by the South Coast Air Quality Management District. www.aqmd.gov/ceqa/hndbk.html 

 
In November of 2017, the SCAQMD in conjunction with the California Air Pollution Control Officers 
Association (CAPCOA) and other California air districts, released the latest version of the California 
Emissions  Estimator Model™  (CalEEMod™)  Version  2016.3.2.  CalEEMod  serves  as  an  adopted 
platform  to  calculate  both  construction  emissions  and  operational  emissions  from  a  land  use 
project.  The purpose of  this model  is  to  calculate  construction‐source  and operational‐source 

Page 266

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

31 

criteria pollutant (NOx, VOC, PM10, PM2.5, SOx, and CO) and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
from direct and indirect sources; and quantify applicable air quality and GHG reductions achieved 
from  mitigation  measures.  CalEEMod  utilizes  widely  accepted  methodologies  for  estimating 
emissions  combined with  default  data  that  can  be  used when  site‐specific  information  is  not 
available.   Sources of these methodologies and default data include but are not limited to the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency  (USEPA) AP‐42 emission  factors, California Air 
Resources Board (CARB) vehicle emission models, studies commissioned by California agencies 
such as the California Energy Commission (CEC) and CalRecycle. In addition, some local air districts 
provided customized values for their default data and existing regulation methodologies for use 
for projects located in their jurisdictions. 
 
CalEEMod  Version  2016.3.2  was  utilized  to  estimate  the  short‐term  construction‐related  and 
long‐term operational emissions of criteria air pollutants and greenhouse gases associated with 
future development on the project site. Short‐term construction‐related emissions are calculated 
for site preparation, grading (earth movement), vertical construction, paving, and architectural 
coating. Long‐term operational emissions are attributed to mobile sources (vehicle trips, vehicle 
emissions, fleet mix and road dust), land use area sources, energy use, solid waste disposal, and 
water use.  
 
The SCAQMD requires any emission reductions resulting from existing rules or ordinances to be 
included as part of the unmitigated project emissions. Those measures that are mandated and 
therefore required of all developments by applicable ordinances, rules, and regulations are not 
considered mitigation. The previously cited Coachella Code of Ordinances (Chapter 8.20 – Fugitive 
Dust  Control)  and  SCAQMD  Rule  403  and  403.1  outline  the  minimum  requirements  for 
construction activities to reduce man‐made fugitive dust and corresponding PM10 emissions. The 
City  will  require  the  preparation  of  a  Fugitive  Dust  Control  Plan  identifying  the  fugitive  dust 
sources at the site and the work practices and control measures proposed to meet the minimum 
performance standards and Coachella Valley Best Available Control Measures (CVBACM). Being 
surrounded  primarily  by  existing  residential  uses,  the  required  dust  control  plan  must  be 
coordinated  with  the  construction  logistics  plan  to  identify  the  appropriate  temporary 
construction  access  point  that  results  in  the  least  amount  of  disturbance  to  existing  nearby 
residents.  The  plan  must  also  call  for  appropriate  temporary  fencing  with  screening  along 
perimeter segments without an existing solid block wall. Moreover, the proper soil stabilization 
measures must be implemented to control visible dust. Therefore, the implementation of fugitive 
dust control measures are a requirement and not deemed mitigation. 
 
Based  on  the  emissions modeling  results  shown  in  Table  III‐2,  construction  related  emissions 
resulting  from  site  preparation,  grading,  utilities/building  construction,  paving,  architectural 
coating, and construction workers commuting would not exceed the applicable SCAQMD regional 
thresholds of significance for any criteria pollutants, including PM10 and Ozone precursors. Thus, 
a  less than significant  impact would occur  for  future development‐related construction‐source 
emissions and no additional mitigation is required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 267

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

32 

Table III‐2 
Short‐Term Air Pollutant Emissions Associated with Projected  

Construction at Mid‐Density Development Scenario (Pounds/Day) 
Emission Source  ROG/VOC NOx CO SO2 PM10  PM2.5

Maximum Daily 
Emissions Resulting 

from Site 
Preparation, Grading, 
Building Construction, 

Paving, and 
Architectural Coating 

Activities  

58.1228  46.4416  46.4680  0.1431  8.8620  4.6263 

SCAQMD Threshold  75  100  550  150  150  55 

Threshold Exceeded  No  No  No  No  No  No 

Note: The PM10 and PM2.5 emissions are based con compliance with Chapter 8.20 (Fugitive Dust 
Control) in the City’s Code of Ordinances and the local standard requirement to implement SCAQMD 
Rule 403 and 403.1 to control fugitive dust. VOC and ROGs are summed in the CalEEMod report under 
the header ROG. 

Table III‐3 
Long‐Term Operational Air Pollutant Emissions  

Associated with Mid‐Density Development Scenario (Pounds/Day) 
Emission Source  ROG/VOC NOx CO SO2 PM10  PM2.5

Total Area Sources, 
Energy Use, Mobile 

Sources 
53.2564  98.8692  269.3108  0.7140  51.6256  14.8827 

SCAQMD Threshold  75  100  550  150  150  55 

Threshold Exceeded  No  No  No  No  No  No 

Note: VOC and ROGs are summed in the CalEEMod report under the header ROG. 

 
Furthermore,  CalEEMod  was  utilized  to  estimate  the  long‐term  operational  air  pollutant 
emissions that would result from operation of future development of the project site. Operational 
emissions are ongoing emissions that will occur during the life of the future uses. These sources 
include energy demand and vehicular emissions. As shown in Table III‐3, the future development‐
related  emissions  of  criteria  pollutants  are  not  projected  to  exceed  any  of  the  SCAQMD 
recommended significance threshold criteria for operational impacts.  
 
In summary, future development is not expected to result in growth or land use changes which 
would interfere with the City or region’s ability to comply with the most current air quality plans. 
Moreover,  the  future  development’s  short‐term  construction  and  long‐term  operational 
emissions would not exceed the established regional thresholds. Pertaining to the obstruction of 
an  applicable  air  quality  plan,  less  than  significant  impacts  are  anticipated  for  the  future 
development. No impacts are anticipated for the Change of Zone. 

       

b)  No Impact. Riverside County portion of the Salton Sea Air Basin (SSAB) is designated by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as a “Severe‐15” ozone nonattainment area for the 1997 
8‐hour federal ozone standard (0.080 ppm) and the more stringent 2008 standard (0.075 ppm). 
Violations of the ambient air quality standards for ozone in the Coachella Valley are primarily due 

Page 268

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

33 

to pollutant transport from the neighboring SCAB. Ozone is formed on sunny days from ozone 
precursors  in  the  lower  atmosphere  that  are  emitted  upwind  of  the  Coachella  Valley,  in  the 
coastal  and  central  Los  Angeles  County  areas  of  the  South  Coast  Air  Basin  (SCAB).  Pollutant 
transport through the Banning Pass,  from the SCAB to the Salton Sea Air Basin,  is the primary 
cause of the high ozone concentrations experienced in the Coachella Valley in the late afternoon 
and early evening. The attainment date for the 1997 8‐hour ozone standard is June 15, 2019.   
 
Based on reference publications by SCAMQD, ozone is a pungent, colorless toxic gas produced in 
the  troposphere  by  the  photochemical  process.  In  the  Coachella  Valley,  peak  ozone 
concentrations occur in the late afternoon and early evening hours. The attainment date for the 
2008 8‐hour ozone standard is July 20, 2027. The 2016 AQMP addresses the Clean Air Act planning 
requirements  for  ozone  in  the  SCAB  and  the  Coachella  Valley  portion  of  the  SSAB.  As 
demonstrated in tables  III‐3 and III‐4, future development‐related short‐term construction and 
long‐term operational emissions are not expected to exceed the daily thresholds of significance 
established by SCAQMD for ozone precursors, such as NOx and ROG/VOC. By complying with the 
adopted  thresholds,  the  future  development  is  also  complying  with  the  overall  attainment 
strategies reflected in the 2016 AQMP. 
 
Furthermore,  the Coachella Valley  is currently designated as a serious nonattainment area  for 
PM10 (particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10 microns or less). In the Coachella 
Valley, there are two primary sources of PM10: natural sources consisting of sea salts, volcanic 
ash, and pollens, and man‐made or anthropogenic sources. Man‐made sources originate  from 
direct emissions, such as  industrial facilities, fugitive dust sources (e.g., construction sites) and 
paved  and  unpaved  road  dust.  The  U.S.  EPA‐approved  2002  Coachella  Valley  PM10  State 
Implementation  Plan  (2002  CVSIP)  includes  an  attainment  strategy  for  meeting  the  PM10 
standards. Some of the existing measures include the requirement of detailed dust control plans 
from builders that specify the use of more aggressive and frequent watering, soil stabilization, 
wind  screens,  and  phased  development  to  minimize  fugitive  dust.  Appropriate  air  quality 
measures to prevent fugitive dust are required by the City’s fugitive dust control policies, which 
is consistent with SCAQMD Rules 403 and 403.1 that apply to the Coachella Valley strategy for 
reducing fugitive dust emissions.  
 
Relative  to  the  PM10  emissions  threshold,  construction  activities  associated  with  future 
development will be required to adhere to the City’s Fugitive Dust and Erosion Control policies 
and  ordinance  to minimize  potential  temporary  construction  related  emissions.  An  approved 
Fugitive  Dust  (PM10)  Control  Plan  will  be  required  prior  to  issuance  of  a  grading  permit. 
Implementation of the Fugitive Dust Control Plan is required to occur under the supervision of an 
individual with training on Dust Control in the Coachella Valley (Rule 403 and 403.1). The plan will 
include methods to prevent sediment track‐out onto public roads, prevent visible dust emissions 
from exceeding a 20‐percent opacity, and prevent visible dust emissions from extending more 
than 100 feet (vertically or horizontally from the origin of a source) or crossing any property line. 
The  most  widely  used  measures  include  proper  construction  phasing,  proper 
maintenance/cleaning  of  construction  equipment,  soil  stabilization,  installation  of  track‐out 
prevention devices, and wind fencing. Since emissions related to future development would be 
consistent with the Air Quality Management Plan, the Coachella Valley PM10 SIP, and all SCAQMD 
Air  Quality  Significance  Thresholds,  long‐term  operational  air  quality  impacts  associated  with 
future  development  should  not  be  considered  cumulatively  considerable.  No  impacts  are 
anticipated relative to the Change of Zone.  

Page 269

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

34 

 
b) No Impact. A sensitive receptor is a person in the population who is particularly susceptible (i.e. 

more  susceptible  than  the  population  at  large)  to  health  effects  due  to  exposure  to  an  air 
contaminant. Sensitive receptors and the facilities that house them are of particular concern if 
they  are  located  in  close  proximity  to  localized  sources  of  carbon  monoxide,  toxic  air 
contaminants, or odors.  Land uses considered by the SCAQMD to be sensitive receptors include 
residences,  long‐term  health  care  facilities,  schools,  rehabilitation  centers,  playgrounds, 
convalescent centers, childcare centers, retirement homes, and athletic facilities.  
 

  As previously introduced, the vacant project property is surrounded primarily by residential uses 
to the north and west, industrial uses to the east, and agricultural, residential and vacant lots to 
the  south. During  construction of  future development  on  the project  property  is  expected  to 
produce  temporary  and  localized emissions, which based on  the Air Quality  Study’s modeling 
results, would not exceed the SCAQMD thresholds of significance. Implementation of the required 
SCAQMD rules, best available dust control measures and the City’s Fugitive Dust Control policies 
will  minimize  those  temporary  impacts,  preventing  pollutants  emissions  from  reaching  any 
substantial concentrations. Examples of best available dust control measures include constructing 
a temporary fence with a wind screen to prevent propagation of dust emissions, utilizing properly 
maintained equipment, maintaining stabilized soil, and constructing track‐out prevention devices 
at construction access points. These standard practices are consistent with the SCAQMD Rule 403 
and 403.1 and the Coachella Valley Best Available Control Measures (CVBACM), as identified in 
the SCAQMD Coachella Valley Fugitive Dust Control Handbook.  

 
  The South Coast Air Quality Management District  (SCAQMD) has developed and published the 

Final Localized Significance Threshold (LST) Methodology to identify potential impacts that could 
contribute  or  cause  localized  exceedances  of  the  federal  and/or  state  ambient  air  quality 
standards  (NAAQS/CAAQS).  LST  methodology  was  developed  in  response  to  environmental 
justice  and  health  concerns  raised  by  the  public  regarding  exposure  of  individuals  to  criteria 
pollutants in local communities. The purpose of analyzing LSTs is to determine whether a project 
may generate significant adverse localized air quality impacts in relation to the nearest exposed 
sensitive receptors, such as schools, churches, residences, hospitals, day care facilities, and elderly 
care facilities. LST thresholds represent the maximum emissions from a project that will prevent 
an exceedance of the most stringent applicable federal or state ambient air quality standard at 
the nearest sensitive receptor, taking into consideration ambient concentrations in each source 
receptor area (SRA), project, size, and distance to the sensitive receptor. Therefore, meeting the 
lowest  allowable  emissions  thresholds  translates  to  meeting  the  most  stringent  air  quality 
standards for a project locality. 

 
  As part of the LST methodology, SCAQMD has divided its jurisdiction into 37 source receptor areas 

(SRAs)  which  can  be  used  to  determine  whether  a  project  may  generate  significant  adverse 
localized air quality impacts. The proposed development is located in SRA 30, which covers the 
Coachella  Valley  and  City  of  Coachella.  LSTs  only  apply  to  certain  criteria  pollutants:  carbon 
dioxide  (CO),  oxides  of  nitrogen  (NOx)  particulate matter  equal  to  or  less  than  10 microns  in 
diameter (PM10), and particulate matter equal to or less than 2.5 microns in diameter (PM2.5). 

 
  Geographic Information Systems (GIS) mapping analysis was used to delineate the project area 

and identify the nearest sensitive receptors using the distance intervals established by the LST 
methodology, which are 25 meters (82 feet), 50 meters (164 feet), 100 meters (328 feet), 200 

Page 270

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

35 

meters  (656  feet),  and  500  meters  (1,640  feet).  Since  the  project’s  immediate  surroundings 
include residential developments and an elementary school, the shortest and most conservative 
distance interval of 25 meters (82 feet) was used for this analysis. The shortest distance interval 
establishes  the  strictest  threshold  with  the  lowest  emissions  allowances  needed  to maintain 
compliance.  The  existing  separation  between  the  project  property  and  existing  neighboring 
residential units  includes solid block walls  (6‐ft tall).  It  is worth noting that  in accordance with 
SCAQMD Rule 403.1 and Chapter 8.20 (Fugitive Dust Control) of  the City of Coachella Code of 
Ordinances,  the  proponent  of  the  future  development  is  required  to  install  and  maintain  a 
temporary wind fence during construction to contain dust emissions. 

 
Table III‐4 

Localized Significance Thresholds (LSTs) Associated with 
Associated with Projected Construction at Mid‐Density Development Scenario 

With Receptors at 25 Meters (82 Feet), 5‐Acre Area Increments 
(In Pounds/Day) 

Emission Source  NOx CO PM10 PM2.5 
Maximum Unmitigated Emissions 
Resulting from Site Preparation, 
Grading, Building Construction, 
Paving and Architectural Coating 

(Rounded Value) 

46.4416  46.4680  8.8620  4.6263 

SCAQMD LST Threshold for SRA 30 304  2,292  14  8 

LST Threshold Exceeded?  No  No  No  No 

Sources: CalEEMod Results and AQMD LST Look‐Up Tables 
Note: The PM10 and PM2.5 emissions are based on the CalEEMod mitigated results due to the 
local standard requirement to implement SCAQMD Rule 403 and 403.1 to control fugitive dust. 

 
  California Emissions Estimator Model™ (CalEEMod™ Version 2016.3.2) was utilized to calculate 

the maximum daily on‐site emissions  that will  occur during  construction based on  the  largest 
acreage interval allowed by the LST methodology, which is 5 acres. The data provided in Table III‐
4 demonstrates that the construction activities would not generate emissions in excess of the site‐
specific LSTs; therefore, site‐ specific impacts during construction of future development would 
be  less  than  significant.  Based  on  the  LST  methodology,  if  the  calculated  emissions  for  the 
proposed construction or operational activities are below the LST emission levels. Related to the 
exposure  of  sensitive  receptors  to  substantial  pollutant  concentrations  as  a  result  of  future 
development,  less  than significant  impacts are anticipated. However, no  impacts are expected 
related to the Change of Zone. 

 
d)  No Impact. As previously analyzed and disclosed, implementation of the proposed Change of Zone 

will not  result  in emissions  that would exceed  the South Coast AQMD Air Quality Significance 
Thresholds pertaining to construction or operation. Moreover, the project emissions would not 
exceed the Localized Significance Thresholds applicable to the project setting in relation to the 
nearby residences.  

 
  The proposed Change of Zone will not include the types of facilities commonly known to generate 

odors, such as wastewater treatment plants, sanitary landfills, composting/green waste facilities, 
recycling  facilities,  petroleum  refineries,  chemical  manufacturing  plants,  painting/coating 
operations,  rendering plants, or  food packaging  facilities.   As  such,  the Change of  Zone  is not 

Page 271

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

36 

expected to result  in odor emissions adversely affecting nearby neighbors. Pertaining  to other 
emissions adversely affecting a substantial number of people, no impacts are expected relative to 
the proposed Change of Zone.  

   
Mitigation Measures: None Required  

 
 

 
 
 

Page 272

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

37 

IV. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Have  a  substantial  adverse  effect,  either  directly  or 
through habitat modifications, on any species identified 
as  a  candidate,  sensitive,  or  special  status  species  in 
local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the 
California  Department  of  Fish  and  Game  or  U.S.  Fish 
and Wildlife Service?  

       

b)  Have  a  substantial  adverse  effect  on  any  riparian 
habitat or other sensitive natural community identified 
in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations or by 
the California Department of Fish and Game or US Fish 
and Wildlife Service?  

       

c)  Have a substantial adverse effect on state or federally 
protected  wetlands  (including,  but  not  limited  to, 
marsh,  vernal  pool,  coastal,  etc.)  through  direct 
removal,  filling,  hydrological  interruption,  or  other 
means?  

       

d)  Interfere substantially with the movement of any native 
resident  or  migratory  fish  or  wildlife  species  or  with 
established  native  resident  or  migratory  wildlife 
corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery 
sites?  

       

e)  Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting 
biological resources, such as a tree preservation policy 
or ordinance?  

       

f)  Conflict  with  the  provisions  of  an  adopted  Habitat 
Conservation  Plan,  Natural  Community  Conservation 
Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat 
conservation plan?  

       

 

Setting 
 
The proposed project site is comprised of approximately 117.6 acres in the City of Coachella. The project 
site  has  been  disturbed  due  to  its  previous  agricultural  purposes.  The  project  is  located  within  the 
Coachella  Valley  Multiple  Species  Habitat  Conservation  Plan  area  (CVMSHCP)  but  is  not  within  a 
Conservation Area.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)  No  Impact.  The  proposed  project  is  currently  disturbed,  with  agricultural  operations  on 

approximately 112.9 acres of the site, and vacant disturbed uses on approximately 4.7 acres in 
the northwestern  corner  of  the  site,  totaling  approximately  117.6  acres of  land  in  the City of 
Coachella. The project proposes a Change of Zone on approximately 50.6 acres of the site from 
the  existing Manufacturing  Services  (M‐S)  to Multiple  Family  Residential  (R‐M)  Urban  (20‐38 
un/ac).  The  remaining  67  acres  will  not  change  its  zoning  designation  (M‐S).  Surrounding 
properties include residential to the north and west, a manufacturing facility to the east, and a 

Page 273

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

38 

combination of  vacant  land,  farmland,  and  residential properties  to  the  south. The properties 
northern, eastern, and southern boundaries are physically delineated by paved roadways. The 
western boundary is delineated by an unpaved roadway.  

   
According to historic imagery dating back to 1953, prior applications of the site and surrounding 
areas appear to be consistent with agricultural uses. Due to the property’s varying uses, as well 
as the developed nature of the surrounding properties, the current state and activities of the site 
do  not  provide  a  condition  that  would  support  natural  vegetation  communities  or  habitats, 
including the presence of plant or animal species given special status by governing agencies.  

 
Per  the  Coachella  General  Plan  Draft  EIR,  the  project  site  is  not  identified  as  a  vegetation 
community or habitat plan and is not in a location where special status plant or wildlife resources 
have  been  identified.  The  property  is  within  the  CVMSHCP,  which  outlines  policies  for 
conservation  of  habitats  and  natural  communities.  The  project  site  is  not  located  within  a 
CVMSHCP  Conservation  Area  and  there  are  no  known  significant  biological  resources  on  the 
project site. Therefore, the project would not have a substantial adverse  impact on candidate, 
sensitive, or special status species. No impacts are expected to species identified as a candidate, 
sensitive, or  special  status  species  in  local or  regional plans, policies, or  regulations, or by  the 
California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) or US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS).  

 
b)  No Impact. The project does not contain nor is it adjacent to any riparian habitat or other sensitive 

natural  community  identified  in  local  or  regional  plans,  policies,  and  regulations  or  by  the 
California department of Fish and Wildlife, or U.S. Fish and Wildlife service. The Coachella Valley 
Topographic Map provided by the United States Geological Survey (USGS) does not identify any 
streamlines  or  riparian  habitats  within  the  site,  however,  a  human‐made  water  reservoir  is 
located  in  the  center of  the  site.  The project  is proposing a  zone  change  from Manufacturing 
Services (M‐S) to Multiple Family Residential, Urban (R‐M, 20‐38 un/ac) on approximately 50.6 
acres of the site. The remaining 67 acres will continue to be zoned (M‐S). The proposed zones 
comply with  the City of Coachella General  Plan Update  land use designations. As  a  result,  no 
impacts to riparian habitat or other sensitive natural communities are anticipated. 

 
c)  No Impact. The project site is surrounded by residential communities to the north and west, a 

manufacturing facility to the east, and a combination of vacant land, farmland, and residential 
properties to the south. The project site does not contain, nor is adjacent to, federally protected 
wetlands, marshes, or other drainage features.   

 
The project proposes a Change of Zone on approximately 50.6 acres of the site from the existing 
Manufacturing  Services  (M‐S)  to  Multiple  Family  Residential,  Urban  (R‐M,  20‐38  un/ac). 
Approximately  67  acres  of  the  site  will  remain  zoned  M‐S.  The  project  does  not  propose 
development within the site boundaries at the time of writing. If development within the project 
area is proposed, the project applicant will be required to create and implement a Project‐Specific 
Water  Quality  Management  Plan  (WQMP)  to  ensure  that  the  project  does  not  contribute 
pollutants of concern  from storm runoff. As a  result,  implementation of  the proposed project 
would not result in the direct removal, filing or other hydrological interruption of these resources. 
Therefore, no impacts are anticipated.   

 
d)  No Impact. No migratory wildlife corridors or native wildlife nursery sites are found on the project 

or  adjacent  properties. As  previously  discussed,  the  project  has  been  graded  and  used  for 

Page 274

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

39 

agricultural purposes for decades. Moreover, there are no existing drainages that would support 
wildlife  nursery  sites  or  corridors  and  the  site  is  not  located  in  a  known  wildlife  corridor. 
Therefore, no impacts to movement of any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species, 
corridors or wildlife nursery sites are expected.  

 
e)  No Impact. The site has been disturbed for several years and, as a result, does not support natural 

vegetative  communities  or  habitats.  The  project  only  proposes  a  zone  change  and  does  not 
propose any development at  this  time,  therefore, project  implementation would not  result  in 
demolition  or  tree  removal.  If  development  of  the  proposed  land  uses  were  to  occur,  then 
landscaping improvements would occur  in a manner that  is consistent with  local development 
standards. The project will comply with the CVMSHCP and there are no other unique local policies 
or ordinances protecting biological resources that would cause a conflict nor does the site support 
high  valuable  biological  resources  that  could  be  affected.  There  are  no  applicable  tree 
preservation policies or ordinances, thus, no impacts are expected.  

 
f)  No  Impact.  The project  lies within  the boundary of  the CVMSHCP, which outlines policies  for 

conservation of habitats and natural communities. However, the project is not located within or 
adjacent  to  a  designated  Conservation  Area  under  this  plan.  Therefore,  it  is  not  subject  to 
CVMSHCP  requirements  regarding  lands  adjoining  Conservation  Areas.  The  CVMHSCP 
implements a Local Mitigation Development Fee (LDMF) from all new development to support 
the acquisition of conservation lands. The fee would be applied per Chapter 4.48.060 of the City 
of Coachella Municipal Code. Based on these provisions, the applicable fees would be collected 
by the City and the project is expected to comply with the provisions of the CVMSHCP. Less than 
significant impacts would result from project implementation.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None Required

Page 275

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

40 

V. CULTURAL RESOURCES 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of 
a historical resource pursuant to Section 15064.5?  

       

b)  Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of 
an archaeological resource pursuant to 15064.5?  

       

c)  Disturb  any  human  remains,  including  those  interred 
outside of dedicated cemeteries?  

       

(Source: City of Coachella General Plan 2035, 2015; City of Coachella General Plan 2035 Draft Environmental Impact 
Report, 2015) 

 
Setting 
 
The City of Coachella sits on the shoreline of ancient Lake Cahuilla, a large intermittent freshwater lake 
created by the Colorado River. Its shorelines continually changed as the lake was filled and emptied by 
the river, and when it was full it attracted human settlement with its plentiful resources. Settlement along 
the  lakeshore  in  the  Coachella  Valley  was  particularly  intensive,  with  evidence  of  large‐scale,  multi‐
seasonal occupation. 
 
The first known human inhabitants of the Coachella Valley included the Cahuilla Indians, whose occupancy 
spread from the Banning Pass to the Salton Sea. Anthropologists divided the Cahuilla into three groups 
based on their geographic setting: (1) the Pass Cahuilla of the San Gorgonio Pass‐Palm Springs area; (2) 
the Mountain Cahuilla of the San Jacinto and Santa Rosa Mountains; and (3) the Cahuilla Valley, and the 
Desert  Cahuilla  of  the  eastern  Coachella  Valley.  The  Cahuilla  Indians  developed  a  seasonal  mobility 
system, which utilized the lake when it was full and benefited from the available terrestrial resources once 
the  lake  desiccated.  They  also  migrated  to  higher  elevations  to  utilize  the  resources  and  cooler 
temperatures.  
 
The City  of  Coachella  contains  a  significant  amount  of  archeological  resources  due  to  its  rich  cultural 
history and historical settlements within its boundaries. It was once the site of Native Americans tribal 
land and some tribal land still exists there. While having a rich Native American historical background, the 
Native American population is still present in Coachella. Due to its historical, cultural, and archaeological 
resources,  most  of  the  City  is  designated  as  “medium  sensitivity  to  historical  resource  sensitivity” 
(Coachella 2035 General Plan Final EIR, Figure 4.4‐2).  
 
The project property occupies approximately 117.6 acres of disturbed land located north and south of 
Avenue 53, north of Avenue 54, and west of Tyler Street. Surrounding properties include residential to 
the north and west, a manufacturing facility to the east, and a combination of vacant land, farmland, and 
residential  properties  to  the  south.  The  properties  northern,  eastern,  and  southern  boundaries  are 
physically delineated by paved roadways. The western boundary is delineated by an unpaved roadway. 
 
A portion of the site has previously operated as agricultural land and has been subject to grading, clearing, 
and harvesting since before 1953, according to historical imagery. The project proposes a Change of Zone 
on a portion of the site from the existing Manufacturing Services (M‐S) to Multiple Family Residential (R‐

Page 276

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

41 

M) Urban. The R‐M Urban zone  is proposed to occupy approximately 50.6 acres of  the site, while  the 
remainder of the site will remain M‐S zoning designation.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) Less than Significant  Impact. A historical  resource, as defined  in Section 15064.5 of  the CEQA 

Guidelines, shall include: a resource listed in or determined to be eligible by the State Historical 
Resources Commission,  for  listing  in  the California Register of Historical Resources; a  resource 
determined as historically or culturally significant; any object, building, structure, site, area, place, 
record or manuscript which a lead agency determines to be historically significant or significant 
in the architectural, engineering, scientific, economic, agricultural, educational, social, political, 
military or cultural annals of California may be considered to be an historical resource. 

The project site occupies approximately 117.6 acres of agricultural, and vacant disturbed land. 
There are no known or observable historic resources as defined in Section 15046.5 of the CEQA 
Guidelines that would be adversely affected by the proposed zone change. This includes known 
or observable objects, buildings, structures, sites, areas, places, records, or manuscript which a 
lead agency determines to be historically significant. 
 
According to the National Register Database and Research, historic buildings do not exist within 
or near  the project  site.  In addition,  historical  imagery dated between 1953 and 2016 do not 
indicate  the  existence  of  any  buildings  within  the  project  vicinity.  Therefore,  no  man‐made 
features were  known  to  be present  in  the project  area prior  to  then.  The  aerial  photographs 
further demonstrate that the project area and vicinity have been primarily used as farmlands since 
1953, alternating between fallow and vegetative cycles until present day.  
 
The  project  site  is  not  located  on  or  near  a  mapped  historical  resource  as  identified  in  the 
Multipurpose Open Space of the Riverside County General Plan. At such time when development 
of residential uses is proposed, the property would be subject to further environmental analysis 
and  a  project  specific  cultural  analysis  shall  be  conducted  by  a  qualified  professional.  The 
proposed  project  would  only  involve  a  zoning  change  and  does  not  involve  approval  of  any 
development entitlements.  

Therefore, there are no recognizable potential historical resources as defined in Section 15064.5 
of  the  CEQA Guidelines  that would  be  adversely  affected  by  the  proposed  project.  Less  than 
significant impacts are anticipated.   

b) No Impact. The City of Coachella defines an archeological resource as places where human activity 
has  measurably  altered  the  earth  or  left  deposits  of  physical  remains  and  may  be  either 
prehistoric‐era (before European contact) or historic‐era (after European contact). Archaeological 
resources are  important  for scientific, historic, and/or religious reasons to cultures, groups, or 
individuals.  Given  the  sheer  number  of  recorded  resources  and  Native  American  or  Euro‐
American  locations  throughout  the  Coachella  Valley,  the  City  of  Coachella  can  be  considered 
sensitive for archaeological resources (2035 Coachella General Plan EIR).  
 
The proposed project would only  involve a policy action to amend the zoning designation and 
does not involve approval of any development entitlements. Future development of residential 
uses would be subject to further environmental analysis and require a project specific cultural 

Page 277

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

42 

analysis  be  completed  by  a  qualified  professional.  This  would  identify  any  archaeological 
resources and provide appropriate project mitigation as needed. No significant impacts relative 
to adverse change in archaeological resources are anticipated as a result of the proposed zoning 
change.   
 

c) No Impact. As previously discussed, the project site has been previously disturbed and has land 
consistent  with  agricultural,  and  vacant  disturbed  land  uses.  The  project  site  is  not  likely  to 
uncover human remains during grading operations, since the site was previously disturbed during 
agricultural operations. However, the California Health and Safety Code Section 7050.5, and the 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5 requires that  in the event of discovery or recognition of any 
human  remains  in  any  location  other  than  a  dedicated  cemetery,  there  shall  be  no  further 
excavation or disturbance of the site, or any nearby area reasonably suspected to overlay adjacent 
remains,  until  the  County  Coroner  has  examined  the  remains.  If  the  coroner  determines  the 
remains to be Native American or has reason to believe that they are those of Native American, 
the  coroner  shall  contact  by  telephone  the  Native  American  Heritage  Commission within  24‐
hours. Pursuant to the mentioned California Health and Safety Code, proper actions shall  take 
place in the event of a discovery or recognition of any human remains during project construction 
activities. Pursuant to the mentioned California Health and Safety Code, proper actions shall take 
place in the event of a discovery or recognition of any human remains during project construction 
activities. No impacts are expected relative to the proposed Change of Zone.  

 
Mitigation Measures None Required  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 278

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

43 

VI. ENERGY 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Result  in  potentially  significant  environmental  impact 
due  to  wasteful,  inefficient,  or  unnecessary 
consumption  of  energy  resources,  during  project 
construction or operation?  

       

b)  Conflict  with  or  obstruct  a  state  or  local  plan  for 
renewable energy or energy efficiency?  

       

 
(Sources:  The City of Coachella 2035 General  Plan,  2015; City of Coachella Climate Action Plan, 2014; California 
Energy  Consumption  Database,  California  Energy  Commission,  2019;  CalEEMod  Version:  CalEEMod.2016.3.2, 
accessed July 2019; U.S. Energy Information Administration, 2019). 
 

Setting 
 
The  project  proposes  a  mixed‐use  community  located  on  approximately  117.6  acres  in  the  City  of 
Coachella. The site is located south of Avenue 53, west of Tyler Street, and north of Avenue 54. The project 
is currently located within the Coachella General Plan Urban Employment Center land use designations. 
The existing zoning designation for the project is Manufacturing Service (M‐S). The project is proposing a 
Change  of  Zone  from  the  M‐S  zone  to  Multiple  Family  Residential,  Urban  (R‐M,  20‐38  un/ac)  on 
approximately 50.6 acres of the site. Approximately 67 acres will remain M‐S.   
 
According to the City of Coachella’s Climate Action Plan (CAP), energy  is used for heating and cooling, 
transportation, manufacturing, and producing food. The most common sources of energy include fossil 
fuels  like  oil,  gasoline,  natural  gas  and  coal.  The  consumption  of  these  energy  sources  leads  to  the 
production  of  greenhouse  gas  (GHG)  emissions.  In  2010,  total  GHG  emissions  in  Coachella  were 
approximately 382,787 metric  tons  (MTCO2e), a 22 percent  increase over 2005 emissions of 312, 628 
MTCO2e.  This  number  accounts  for  direct  emissions  from  the  on‐site  combustion  of  fuels  and  the 
combustion  of  fuel  in  vehicles,  as  well  as  indirect  emissions  associated  with  community  electricity 
consumption,  and  emissions  from  solid waste  generated,  crop management  and water  consumed  by 
Coachella. The residential sector was the third largest producer of GHG emissions within the City, after 
transportation and commercial/industrial. The City of Coachella established various methods to reduce 
energy related GHG emissions produced by the City in their CAP.  
 
Electricity is provided to the City of Coachella by Imperial Irrigation District (IID). IID is the sixth‐largest 
utility in California, has an energy service area of 6,471 square miles, serving more than 145,000 customers 
and controlling more than 1,100 megawatts (MW) of energy. Electricity is delivered through high voltage 
transmission and low voltage distribution power lines. Distribution power lines transport anywhere from 
4 kV  to 69 kV, while  transmission  lines can  transport 69 kV  to 765 kV of electricity. Transmission and 
distribution power poles are located along the property’s perimeter.  
 
The Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas or the Gas Company) provides natural gas to the City of 
Coachella, including the project site. Natural gas is used primarily for space and water heating, as well as 
cooking. The closest high‐pressure distribution line provided by the Gas Company is located immediately 
south of the project site. High pressure distribution pipelines that operate at pressures above 60 psi and 
deliver gas in smaller volumes to the lower pressure distribution system. 

Page 279

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

44 

 
The project does not currently propose development on the 117.6‐acre property and a site plan does not 
currently exist. However, energy consumption of future development is analyzed in this Energy discussion. 
Future development is expected to consume energy in the form of electricity, natural gas and petroleum 
during  project  construction  and  operation.  The  latest  version  of  CalEEMod  v2016.3.2  was  utilized  to 
calculate  construction‐source  and  operational‐source  energy  use  for  the  future  development.  The 
discussion of the findings is provided below.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)   Less than Significant Impact. As previously stated, the proposed Change of Zone will not consume 

energy.  However,  future  development  of  the  project  site  will  consume  energy  during  its 
construction  and  operation.  Energy  consumption  (via  electricity,  natural  gas,  and  petroleum) 
relative to potential future development of the site is analyzed below. Energy consumption was 
calculated using the latest version of CalEEMod.  

 
Electricity  
 
According to the California Energy Commission (CEC), the residential sector in Riverside County 
consumed  approximately  7,705.52  million  kWh  (GWh)  in  2018.  The  non‐residential  sector  in 
Riverside County consumed approximately 8,275.21 million kWh in 2018. This equals a combined 
electrical consumption of residential and non‐residential uses 15,980.73 million kWh.  
 
Electricity is provided to the City of Coachella, and the project site, by Imperial Irrigation District 
(IID). Electricity use resulted in the second largest emissions produced community‐wide, behind 
petroleum  (discussed  further below).  Electricity use  increased  from approximately 212 million 
kWh in 2005 to 220 million kWh in 2010, a 4 percent increase. Residential electricity consumption 
increased by 20 million kWh (25 percent) and outdoor and street lighting electricity use rose by 
approximately 300,000 kWh (48 percent).  

 
Construction 
Temporary  electrical  power  for  lighting  and  electronic  equipment,  such  as  computers  inside 
interim  construction  trailers,  would  be  provided  by  IID.  Electricity  consumed  for  onsite 
construction  trailers,  which  are  used  by  managerial  staff  during  the  hours  of  construction 
activities, as well as electrically powered hand tools are expected to use a minimal amount of 
electricity. However, the electricity used for such activities would be temporary and negligible. 
Most energy used during construction would be from petroleum consumption (discussed further 
below).  
 
Operation  
Future  development  is  anticipated  to  be  composed  of  mixed  uses  including  residential  and 
industrial uses. The project would not result in the use of excessive amounts of fuel or electricity 
and would not result in the need to develop additional sources of energy. While energy use at the 
site would not be excessive, future development would incorporate several measures directed at 
minimizing energy use. These measures include applying energy efficient design building shells 
and building components, such as windows, roof systems, electrical lighting systems, and heating, 
ventilating and air conditioning systems to meet the most current Title 24 Standards at the time 

Page 280

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

45 

of development, as well as providing low‐flow appliances and covered parking stalls with PV solar 
facilities. Therefore, reducing the use of electricity during operation.  
 
According  to  the  CalEEMod  calculations  future  development  could  generate  the  demand  for 
approximately  6,944,520  kWh  of  annual  electricity  use  for  the  multiple‐family  residential 
component (depicted in CalEEMod as “apartments low‐rise”), as depicted in the table below.  
 

Table VI‐1 Operational Electricity Demand 

  Electricity Use 

Land Use  kWh/yr. 

Apartments Low‐Rise  6,944,520 

Total  6,944,520 

 
Natural Gas  
 
According to the California Energy Commission, the residential sector consumed approximately 
259.34  million  therms  of  natural  gas  in  2018,  while  the  non‐residential  sector  consumed 
approximately 139.19 million therms in 2018. Combined, both the residential and non‐residential 
sectors consumed approximately 398.54 million therms in 2018.  
 
Natural gas is provided to the City of Coachella, and the project site, by the SoCal Gas Company. 
In  2010,  the  residential  sector  consumed  approximately  2.1  million  therms  of  natural  gas. 
Specifically, single family residential natural gas use grew by over 500,000 therms (35 percent), 
multifamily  residential  natural  gas  fell  by  approximately  20,000  therms  (16  percent),  and 
commercial  and  industrial  natural  gas  use  increased  by  over  50,000  therms  (4  percent). 
Throughout the City, natural gas use between 2005 and 2010 increased 20 percent, equivalent to 
an increase of approximately 600,000 therms. Natural gas combustion resulted in 11,000 MTCO2e 
of  greenhouse  gas  emissions.  Natural  gas  use within multi‐family  residential  contributed  one 
percent of the emissions (City of Coachella Climate Action Plan).   
 

  Note: The CalEEMod program uses thousand British thermal units (kBTU) to quantify natural gas 
use, where 1 therm equals approximately 99.976 kBTU. For example, the approximately 600,000 
therm  increase  of  natural  gas  consumption  between  2005  and  2010  is  equivalent  to 
approximately 59,985,680 kBTU. Thousand British thermal units will be used when analyzing the 
potential project‐related natural gas consumption below.  

   
Construction  
Natural gas is not anticipated to be required during construction of the future development. Fuels 
used for construction would primarily consist of diesel and gasoline, which are discussed under 
the following petroleum subsection. Any minor amounts of natural gas that may be consumed 
because of construction would be temporary and negligible and would not have an adverse effect. 

 
Operation 
The  consumption  of  natural  gas  typically  occurs  during  building  heating,  water  heating  and 
cooking, which is during project operation. The project’s expected natural gas consumption was 
calculated using the CalEEMod default values. Based on the CalEEMod calculations, the project is 

Page 281

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

46 

estimated to consume approximately 22,863,400 thousand British thermal units (kBTU) of natural 
gas annually during operation of the multiple‐family residential (apartment low‐rise) component. 
This is displayed in Table VI‐2, Operational Natural Gas Demand, below.  
 
As  such,  future development would  result  in  a  long‐term  increase  in demand  for natural  gas. 
However, future development would be designed to comply with Title 24, Part 6 of the California 
Code  of  Regulations  (CCR).  Natural  gas  consumption  would  be  appropriate  and  not  place  a 
significant burden on SoCal Gas services. 
 

Table VI‐2 Operational Natural Gas Demand 

  Natural Gas Use 

Land Use  kBTU/yr 

Apartments Low Rise  22,863,400 

Total   22,863,400 

 
Petroleum  
 
Petroleum  is  the  largest  U.S.  energy  source  according  to  the  U.S.  Energy  Information 
Administration (EIA). Petroleum products are used to fuel vehicles and produce electricity. U.S. 
Petroleum consumption in 2017 was primarily used by the transportation sector (71 percent). The 
industrial  sector  accounted  for  24  percent  petroleum  consumption,  the  residential  sector 
consumed 3 percent, commercial consumed 2 percent, and finally, electric power consumed 1 
percent.  
 
Gasoline is the most consumed petroleum product in the United States. In 2017, consumption of 
finished motor gasoline averaged about 392 million gallons per day, which was equal to about 47 
percent of total U.S. petroleum consumption, according to the U.S. EIA. Gasoline and other vehicle 
fuels  are  commercially  provided  commodities  and  would  be  available  to  the  project  via 
commercial outlets. 

 
The transportation sector within the City of Coachella produced approximately 130,000 MTCO2e 
in 2010, being the largest contributor to GHG emissions in the City. Overall, the transportation 
sector emitted 45 percent of the City’s GHG emissions in 2010. Transportation sector emissions 
were estimated in the City’s CAP by applying conversion factors to daily vehicle miles traveled 
(VMT). It was estimated that 75 percent of the greenhouse gas emissions from the transportation 
sector were the result of burning gasoline, and the remainder resulted from burning diesel fuel.  
 
Construction  
Petroleum would be consumed throughout construction of  future development of  the project 
property.  Fuel  consumed  by  construction  equipment would  be  the  primarily  energy  resource 
expended  over  the  course  of  construction,  while  VMT  associated  with  the  transportation  of 
construction  materials  and  construction  worker  commutes  would  also  result  in  petroleum 
consumption. Heavy‐duty equipment used for project construction would rely on diesel fuel, as 
would haul  trucks  involved  in off‐hauling materials  from excavation. Construction workers are 
expected to travel to and from the project site in gasoline‐powered passenger vehicles. There are 
no unusual  characteristics or construction processes  that would  require  the use of equipment 

Page 282

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

47 

that would be more energy intensive that is used for comparable activities or use of equipment 
that would not conform to current emission standards (and related fuel efficiencies).  
 
Heavy‐duty  construction  equipment  of  various  types  would  be  used  during  each  phase  of 
construction. CalEEMod was used to estimate construction equipment usage. In the analysis of 
the future development, the mitigated construction figures were used, based on the assumption 
that the site will implement applicable mitigation measures. Fuel consumption from construction 
equipment was estimated by converting the total CO2 emissions from each construction phase to 
gallons using the conversion factors shown in the tables included below.  
 
Table VI‐3, Construction Worker Gasoline Demand (below), illustrates the demand of gasoline fuel 
for construction worker trips to and from the site. These trips are associated with the arrival and 
departure of construction workers during the construction phases of the project. Construction 
worker gasoline demand equals a total of 553,418.9 gallons of gasoline fuel during construction 
of the entire project.  
 

Table VI‐3 Construction Worker Gasoline Demand 

Phase  Days  Trips  Miles  VMT  KgCO2e  Kg/CO2/Gallon  Gallons 

Site Prep.  120  18  11  23,760  3,620.3  8.89*  407.2 

Grading  60  20  11  13,200  3,998.1  8.89  449.7 

Building Const.  1,550 1,057  11  18,021,850  4,820,066.0 8.89  542,189.6

Paving  120  15  11  19,800  4,684.6  8.89  526.9 

Arch. Coating   160  211  11  371,360  87,526.4  8.89  9,845.5 

Total   553,418.9
*https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse‐gases‐equivalencies‐calculator‐calculations‐and‐references 
https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse‐gas‐equivalencies‐calculator 

Table VI‐4, Construction Vendor Diesel Fuel Demand (below), illustrates the demand of diesel fuel 
for construction vendor trips to and from the site. These trips are associated with the delivery of 
construction materials during the construction phase. Construction vendor demand equals a total 
of 236,670.8 gallons of diesel fuel.  

 
Table VI‐4 Construction Vendor Diesel Fuel Demand 

Phase  Days  Trips  Miles  VMT  KgCO2e  Kg/CO2/Gallon  Gallons 

Site Prep.  120  0  0  0  0  10.18  0 

Grading  60  0  0  0  0  10.18  0 

Building Const.  1,550  157  5.40  1,314,090  2,409,308.7 10.18  236,670.8

Paving  120  0  0  0  0  10.18  0 

Arch. Coating   160  0  0  0  0  10.18  0 

Total  236,670.8

 
Table VI‐5, Construction Equipment Diesel Fuel Demand, displays the demand of diesel fuel for 
construction  vehicles  on‐site  during  the  various  construction  phases.  Construction  equipment 
diesel demands equals a total of 217,620.7 gallons of diesel fuel. 
 
 

Page 283

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

48 

Table VI‐5 Construction Equipment Diesel Fuel Demand 

Phase  Days  Equipment Units  KgCO2e  Kg/CO2/Gallon  Gallons 

Site Preparation  120  7  101,118.1  10.18  9,933.0 

Grading  60  8  164,826.3  10.18  16,191.2 

Building Const.  1,550  9  1807,893.7  10.18  177,592.7 

Paving   120  6  121,086.6  10.18  11,894.6 

Arch. Coating  160  1  20,453.9  10.18  2,009.2 

Total  217,620.7 

 
Overall, future development is estimated to consume approximately 553,418.9gallons of gasoline 
and 454,291.5 gallons of diesel fuel during the construction phases. In total, future development 
may consume approximately 1,007,710.4 gallons of petroleum during the estimated 8 years of 
construction. Petroleum use is necessary to operate construction equipment. The US EPA applied 
a Tier 3 program in order to reduce the impacts of motor vehicles on air quality and public health. 
The  vehicle  emissions  standards  will  reduce  both  tailpipe  and  evaporative  emissions  from 
passenger cars, light‐duty trucks, medium duty passenger vehicles, and some heavy‐duty vehicles. 
The construction equipment will utilize Tier 3 engines or higher, therefore would be newer off‐
road equipment units.  
 
The  energy  used  during  the  construction  of  future  development  would  be  limited  to  the 
development of the property and would not require  long‐term petroleum use. Additionally, at 
this time there are no unusual characteristics or construction processes that would require the 
use of equipment that would be more energy intensive that is used for comparable activities or 
use  of  equipment  that  would  not  conform  to  current  emissions  standards  (and  related  fuel 
efficiencies).  Thus,  construction  is  not  anticipated  to  consume  petroleum  in  a  wasteful  or 
inefficient manner. No impacts relative to the Change of Zone are anticipated.  
 
Operation 
Lowering transportation emissions requires making vehicles and their fuels cleaner, reducing the 
length  of  driving  trips,  managing  the  demand  for  travel,  and  providing  alternatives  such  as 
walking, biking, and transit for travel. According to the Coachella CAP, in 2010 the City produced 
approximately  900,000  vehicle  miles  traveled  each  day,  producing  180,078  MTCO2e  from 
transportation‐related emissions.  
 
According  to  the  figures  provided  by  the  CalEEMod  calculations,  future  development  could 
potentially generate and estimated annual VMT of 20,374,708, depicted in Table VI‐6 below. The 
average daily trip (ADT) rate for weekdays could be 9,674.12 ADT, 10,510.88 ADT on Saturdays, 
and 8,910.76 ADT on Sundays. Total mobile source CO2e is 9,892.237 MT per year, or 9,892,237 
kg per  year.  CalEEMod assumes 92.5 percent of VMT burns  gasoline, while  the  remaining 7.5 
percent burn diesel. Thus, of the 9,892,237 kg of mobile emissions (CO2e), 9,150,319.2 kgCO2e is 
generated  by  gasoline  combustion  and  741,917.8  kgCO2e  is  generated  by  diesel  combustion. 
Future development could have an annual gasoline demand of 1,029,282.2 gallons and an annual 
diesel demand of 72,879.9 gallons, as displayed in the following Table VI‐7.  
 
 
 
 

Page 284

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

49 

Table VI‐6, Operational Petroleum Demand 

Land Use  Annual VMT 

Apartments Low Rise  20,374,708 

Total   20,374,708 

 

Table VI‐7 Operational Annual Petroleum 

  Annual VMT  KgCO2e*  Kg/CO2/Gallon  Annual Gallons 

Gasoline  18,846,604.9  9,150,319.2  8.89  1,029,282.2 

Petroleum   1,528,103.1  741,917.8  10.18  72,879.9 

Total   1,102,162.1 

*9,892,237 x 0.925 = 9,150,319.2; 9,892,237 x 0.075 = 741,917.8 

Over  the  lifetime of operation of  future development,  the  fuel  efficiency of  vehicles  in  use  is 
expected to increase, as older vehicles are replaced with newer more efficient models. Therefore, 
it is expected that the amount of petroleum consumed due to the vehicle trips to and from the 
future development site during operation would decrease over time. Additional advancement of 
technology includes the use of plug‐in hybrid and zero emission vehicles in California, which will 
also  decrease  the  amount  of  future  petroleum  consumed  in  the  state.  With  the  foregoing, 
operation of future development is expected to use decreasing amounts of petroleum over time, 
due to advances in fuel economy.  
 
Additionally,  future  development  is  located  within  a  mile  radius  of  various  existing  markets, 
restaurants  and  services.  These  services  are  located  primarily  on  Grapefruit  Boulevard, 
approximately 2,000 feet northeast of the project site, and Harrison Street, approximately 2,600 
feet west of the project site. Bus services, provided by SunLine Transit, will also be accessible to 
future  residents and employees of  the project  site.  The  closest bus  stop  to  the project  site  is 
located approximately 600 feet west of the site, on Avenue 54, identified as Ave 52 and Shady 
(Stop ID 942). Additional bus stops are located approximately 1,600 feet south of the site (Stop ID 
900 and 987), and approximately 2,600 feet west, on Harrison Street (Stop ID 981). The availability 
of  bus  lines  and  services  will  reduce  the  amount  of  potential  VMTs  created  by  future 
development.  

 
Although future development of the project property would result in an increase in petroleum 
use during construction and operation compared to the existing, vacant conditions, the property 
would comply with the City’s General Plan Update, City Municipal Code, and Climate Action Plan 
regarding VMT reduction. Additionally, future development would provide a pedestrian access 
network that internally links all uses and connects to all existing external streets and pedestrian 
facilities contiguous with the site. Providing a pedestrian access network to link areas of the site 
encourages people to walk instead of drive, therefore, reducing the regional VMTs and associated 
vehicular‐source emissions. Given these considerations, petroleum consumption associated with 
operation would not be considered excessive.  

 
Development and operation of  future development would  increase demand  for energy  in  the 
project  area  and  in  the  service  areas  of  IID  and  SoCal  Gas  Company.  However,  based  on  the 
findings described above, construction and operation are not anticipated to result in potentially 
significant impacts due to wasteful, inefficient, or unnecessary consumption of energy resources, 

Page 285

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

50 

during project construction or operation. No impacts to energy resources relative to the Change 
of Zone are expected.  

 

b)  No Impact. The project proposes to change the existing zoning of an approximately 117.6‐acre 
property at the northwest corner of Avenue 54 and Tyler Street in Coachella. The site is currently 
designated as M‐S; however, the proposed Change of Zone will revise approximately 50.6 acres 
of the project from M‐S zones to R‐M Urban. As stated in the previous discussion, the proposed 
project  will  not  use  an  unnecessary  or  wasteful  amount  of  energy  resources.  To  ensure  the 
conservation  of  energy,  the  state  of  California  and  the  City  of  Coachella  implements  various 
regulations in order to be more energy efficient and reduce the amount of GHG emissions. Some 
of the state‐wide and local regulations are listed below.   

 
State Regulations  
 
Assembly Bill 32 
Assembly Bill 32 (AB 32) was signed in 2006 to establish and reduce the amounts of greenhouse 
gases being emitted on a state‐wide level. Specifically, AB 32 requires a reduction of emissions to 
1990 levels by 2020. It plans to do this by establishing an annual reporting program for significant 
sources. Energy efficiency goals listed in AB 32 includes maximizing energy efficiency building and 
appliance standards, and pursuing additional efficiency efforts including new technologies, and 
new policy and implementation mechanisms.  
 
Executive Order S‐3‐05  
Executive Order (EO) S‐3‐05, passed in 2005, established reduction targets of an 80 percent of 
1990 levels reduction by 2050, and created agencies to achieve these targets. The passage of this 
regulation requires  the use of more energy efficient practices  regarding building development 
and operation in order to reduce the amount of GHGs produced.  
 
Title 20: Appliance Efficiency Standards 
The California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 20: Division 2, Chapter 4, Article 4, Sections 1601‐
1608  (Appliance  Efficiency  Regulations)  regulates  the  sale  of  appliances  in  California.  The 
Appliance Efficiency Regulations  include standards  for both federally regulated appliances and 
non‐federally regulated appliances. 23 categories of appliances are included in the scope of these 
regulations. The standards within these regulations apply to appliances that are sold or offered 
for sale in California, except those sold wholesale in California for final retail sale outside the state 
and  those  designed  and  sold  exclusively  for  use  in  recreational  vehicles  or  other  mobile 
equipment.  
 
Title 24: Building Energy Efficiency Standards and CALGreen Building Standards Code  
In addition  to Title 20  (Sections 1601‐1608) of  the CCR, Title 24, parts 6 and 11, also outlines 
energy efficient building designs for new development. The CCR’s 2019 Building Energy Efficiency 
Standards (Title 24, Part 6), and the CALGreen Building Standards Code (Title 24, Part 11), establish 
mandatory  guidelines  and  standards  requiring  more  energy  efficient  new  and  existing 
developments. The California Energy Commission adopted the Building Energy Efficient Standards 
for all new residential and nonresidential construction to reduce greenhouse gases, as a part of 
the California Building Code, Title 24. This requires new homes to include at least 50 percent of 
kitchen lighting to be LED, compact fluorescent or similar high efficiency fixtures, double pane 
windows, cool roofs, and other design techniques to reduce heat loss. Title 24, Part 11, establishes 

Page 286

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

51 

design  and  development  methods  that  include  environmentally  responsible  site  selection, 
building  design,  building  siting  and  development  to  protect,  restore  and  enhance  the 
environmental quality of the site and respect the integrity of adjacent properties. The proposed 
project will be required to comply with the state implemented standards for energy efficient new 
developments.  
 
California’s Renewable Portfolio Standards 
The  California  Renewable  Portfolio  Standards  will  reduce  GHG  emissions  by  requiring  utility 
companies, such as IID, to switch from non‐renewable resources, such as coal‐fired power plants, 
to renewable resources, such as wind turbines and solar power.  
 
Low Carbon Fuel Standard 
The Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS), or Executive Order (EO) S‐1‐07, establishes a low carbon 
fuel  standard  for  transportation  fuels  in  California.  EO  S‐1‐07  was  enacted  to  reduce  carbon 
intensity in transportation fuels as compared to conventional petroleum fuels, such as gasoline 
and diesel. It requires that the carbon intensity of California’s transportation fuels be reduced at 
least 10 percent by 2020. 
 
Clean Car Standards 
The  Clean  Car  Standards,  otherwise  known  as  Pavley  1493,  sets  more  stringent  vehicle  fuel 
economy standards for cars and light trucks that reduce greenhouse gas emissions. In 2009, the 
federal government enabled the state of California to enforce stricter tailpipe emissions limits on 
new passenger vehicles.  In 2010, the US EPA and the Department of Transportation’s National 
Highway Safety Administration announced new vehicle greenhouse gas emission standards and 
corporate average fuel economy standards that reinforce California’s standard. 
 
City Regulations 
 
The City of Coachella Climate Action Plan 
The  City  of  Coachella  developed  their  Climate  Action  Plan  (CAP)  in  2014  in  order  to  achieve 
community‐wide greenhouse gas emissions reductions. The CAP quantifies emissions from the 
build‐out of the City and includes additional policies and implementation actions to help Coachella 
further reduce emissions. The CAP analyzes policies from the General Plan Update, that reduce 
energy  use,  vehicle  miles  traveled,  resource  consumption,  and  greenhouse  gas  emissions, 
comparing  the  emissions  to  voluntary  statewide  emissions  targets  outlined  in  the  California 
Climate  Action  Scoping  Plan  and  Executive  Order  S‐03‐05.  In  compliance  with  the  statewide 
emission targets, the City established a per service population 2020 emissions reduction target of 
15 percent below 2010 levels and a 2035 emissions reduction target of 49 percent below 2010 
levels.  
 
The CAP organizes  the General Plan polices  into  six  strategies  to  reduce emissions  reductions 
throughout the City: building and infrastructure energy efficiency, renewable energy generation, 
land use and transportation, vegetation and open space, solid waste, and water use. According to 
the  CAP  residential  and  non‐residential  buildings  produce  approximately  39  percent  of 
Coachella’s  emissions  and  are  a  primary  target  for  the  CAP.  The  City  plans  to  achieve  this 
emissions  reduction  through  energy  efficiency  policies  for  homes,  and  businesses  including 
energy performance targets to construct buildings 15 percent more energy efficient than Title 24 
standards.  

Page 287

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

52 

 
Coachella General Plan Update 
The City of Coachella’s 2015 General Plan Update (GPU) emphasizes the importance to increase 
energy conservation and efficiency and reduce energy consumption and emissions within its City. 
The various goals and policies outlined within the Sustainability and Natural Environment Element 
of  the GPU  focuses on City development and  its  impact  to  climate  change, energy and water 
resources, while presenting the goal to implement green building design into new developments 
in the City. Reoccurring policies include GHG emissions reductions, water conservation methods, 
energy  efficient  building  design,  and  implementation  of  renewable  energy  sources.  Goal  2 
specifically requires and energy efficient community that relies primarily on renewable and non‐
polluting  energy  sources.  Policies  within  this  goal  include  building  design  strategies  such  as 
passive solar design, use of alternative energy, construction standards, and energy performance 
targets in order to create a more energy efficient community.  
 
The importance of efficient land use and transportation patterns is also a goal in the GPU, in order 
to reduce emissions and VMTs, while improving air quality. The overall goal is to reduce energy 
consumption in the City to improve air quality, reduce GHG emissions, to increase the quality of 
life for the City’s residents. 
 
Coachella Municipal Code  
Similar to the City’s CAP and GPU, the City’s Municipal Code also encourages the reduction of air 
pollution  created  by  vehicle  emissions.  Chapter  12.40,  Transportation  Demand Management 
Program, of the Coachella Municipal Code, is intended to protect the public health, welfare and 
safety by  reducing air pollution caused by vehicle  trips and VMTs. This  chapter  is  intended  to 
reduce emissions by requiring the development of a trip reduction and travel demand element to 
the congestion management plan (CMP), and adoption and implementation of trip reduction and 
travel demand ordinances by local agencies.   

 
The project property proposes a residential and industrial project on approximately 117.6 acres 
of disturbed, vacant land in the City of Coachella. The project will comply with state‐implemented 
building  standards  such  as  those  outlined  in  Title  20  and  Title  24  of  the  California  Code  of 
Regulations. As stated in the previous discussion, project‐related energy consumption and VMTs 
created by the project are not anticipated to be substantial. Construction activities would require 
the use of equipment that would be more energy intensive that is used for comparable activities. 
However,  construction  equipment  will  comply  with  the  Tier  3  program  engines  or  higher, 
therefore would be newer off‐road equipment units.  
 
The project property is located in a built urban environment, surrounded by existing residential 
uses. Existing grocery stores, elementary schools, parks, churches and bus stops all  lie within a 
half‐mile  radius of  the project property. Pedestrian pathways  that  internally  links all uses and 
connects to all existing planned external streets will assist in reducing potential project‐related 
VMTs. Future development of the project property will comply with all applicable State and local 
guidelines and regulations regarding energy efficient building design and standards. The proposed 
Change of Zone will not conflict or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy 
efficiency. No impacts. 

 

Mitigation Measures: None Required 

 

Page 288

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

53 

VII. GEOLOGY AND SOILS 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse 
effects,  including  the  risk  of  loss,  injury,  or  death 
involving: 

       

  i)  Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated 
on the most recent Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake Fault 
Zoning Map  issued  by  the  State  Geologist  for  the 
area  or  based  on  other  substantial  evidence  of  a 
known fault? Refer to Division of Mines and Geology 
Special Publication 42. 

       

  ii)  Strong seismic ground shaking?          

  iii)  Seismic‐related  ground  failure,  including 
liquefaction?  

       

  iv)  Landslides?          

b)  Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil?          

c)  Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or 
that would become unstable as a result of the project, 
and potentially result in on‐ or off‐site landslide, lateral 
spreading, subsidence, liquefaction or collapse?  

       

d)  Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18‐1‐B 
of the Uniform Building Code (1994), creating substantial 
direct or indirect risks to life or property?  

       

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of 
septic tanks or alternative wastewater disposal systems 
where  sewers  are  not  available  for  the  disposal  of 
wastewater?  

       

f)    Directly  or  indirectly  destroy  a  unique  paleontological 
resource or site or unique geologic feature?  

       

(Sources: The City of Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015; The City of Coachella 2035 General Plan Update EIR, 2015; 
Technical Background Report to the Safety Element, 2014; FEMA Flood Zone Map: Riverside County, 2017; Riverside 
County General Plan EIR, 2014) 
 

Setting 
 
Coachella  defines  its  city  as  highly  diverse  both  physically  and  geologically.  The  multiple  faults  that 
traverse the area and climate helps define the Coachella Valley region as a low and relatively flat desert 
basin bounded by mountainous terrain. The surrounding mountain ranges specifically include the Little 
San Bernardino Mountains to the northeast, the Santa Rosa Mountains to the south, and the San Jacinto 
Mountains to the west. The topographic variety in the Coachella Valley establishes elevations from 1,000 
feet in the Mecca Hills to the east, to approximately 160 feet below sea level south of Thermal. Although 
the elevation varies widely, the City of Coachella is relatively flat, with a gentle slope from northwest to 
southeast. The project site is located in the southern portion of the City on previously disturbed, flat land. 
 

Page 289

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

54 

The  City  of  Coachella,  including  the  project  site,  is  located  within  a  northwest‐southeast  structural 
depression extending from the Banning Pass to the Gulf of California. This region  is designated as the 
Salton Trough, which was inundated by the Colorado River’s water, forming ancient Lake Cahuilla. Since 
that time, the floor of the Trough has been repeatedly flooded with other “fresh” water lakes, the most 
recent being the current Salton Sea. The Trough is an internally draining area with no readily available 
outlet  to  the  Gulf  of  California  portions  well  below  sea  level.  The  sole  outlet  for  these  waters  is 
evaporation, leaving behind vast amounts of terrestrial sediment materials. 
 
The project does not currently propose development on the 117.6‐acre property and a site plan does not 
currently  exist.  However,  analysis  of  future  development  on  geology  and  soils  are  provided  in  this 
discussion. In 2014 the City of Coachella published a Technical Background Report to the Safety Element 
Update, which analyzes various hazards that can possibly occur in the City. The various hazards addressed 
within the Technical Background Report  includes seismic, geologic,  flood,  fire, hazardous material and 
severe weather hazards. The seismic and geologic hazards sections of the Technical Background Report 
were consulted for this Geology and Soils Section.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a.i)   No Impact. The City of Coachella recognizes the potential of seismic hazards in the region. The 

2035 Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU) states that because the San Andreas Fault passes 
through the northeastern portion of the City, the potential for primary surface fault rupture and 
strong ground shaking are very high. For this reason, a project’s location relative to the Alquist‐
Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone is evaluated to determine the project’s susceptibility to seismically 
induced rupture. The Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone is a northwest‐southeast descending 
zone established in 1971 to reduce losses from surface fault rupture on a statewide basis. The 
intent of the zone is to ensure public safety by prohibiting the siting of most structures for human 
occupancy  across  traces  of  active  faults  that  constitute  potential  hazards  to  structures  from 
surface faulting or fault creep.  

 
According  to  the  City  of  Coachella’s  Technical  Background  Report,  the  maximum  magnitude 
recorded from the San Andreas Fault was 7.2, and the Coachella section is the only section of the 
southern San Andreas Fault that has not produced a major earthquake in historic times. Surface 
rupture  is  expected  to  occur  along  pre‐existing,  known  active  fault  traces,  however,  it  could 
potentially splay or step from the known active faults or rupture along unidentified traces. The 
Alquist‐Priolo  Earthquake  Fault  Zone Map  issued  by  the  State Geologist,  determined  that  the 
subject property lies approximately 2.70 miles southwest of the closest Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake 
Fault Zone.  
 
The City of Coachella’s Municipal Code reflects the possible impacts of potential seismic hazards 
in Chapter 15.66, Seismic Hazards Mitigation. New buildings are required to follow these codes in 
order to be theoretically stronger and more likely to survive an earthquake, with the main purpose 
to prevent the collapsing of structures. Therefore, risks associated with fault rupture at the project 
site  is considered low since the project site  is not  located within the Alquist‐Priolo Earthquake 
Fault Zone and will comply with the requirements outlined in the Coachella Municipal Code. No 
impacts are expected associated with the Change of Zone. 

 

a.ii)  Less  Than  Significant  Impact.  The  project  site  is  located  in  a  seismically  active  region where 
earthquakes originating on local and regional seismic faults can produce severe ground shaking. 

Page 290

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

55 

Like most of the Coachella Valley, the project site has been subjected to past ground shaking by 
nearby faults. According to Plate 1‐1 of the Technical Background Report, the closest recorded 
historical  (years  1800‐2014)  seismic  event  to  the  project  occurred  approximately  3,200  feet 
northeast of the site, with an earthquake magnitude 2 to 3. 

 
In order to reduce hazards associated with ground shaking impacts on people and buildings, the 
City  of  Coachella  implements  the  latest  seismic  safety  design  standards  outlined  in  both  the 
Coachella General Plan Technical Background Report, and the most recent edition of the updated 
California Building Code (CBC). The City of Coachella requires new buildings to be constructed in 
accordance with  the most  recent  edition  of  the  CBC  and  City Municipal  Code.  The  Coachella 
Municipal Code provides regulations for collapse‐resistant design, which will be enforced during 
structure  design  and  construction.  Remedial  grading  and  construction  will  work  to  reduce 
exposure of people or structures to adverse effects to the greatest extent possible against seismic 
hazards. 
 
The  approximately  117.6‐acre  project  is  proposing  a  zone  change  on  a  portion  of  the  site 
(approximately  50.6  acres)  from Manufacturing  Services  (M‐S)  to Multiple  Family  Residential, 
Urban (R‐M, 20‐38 un/ac). The remaining 67 acres of the site will not change its current zoning 
designation  of  M‐S.    Development  of  the  project  is  not  proposed  at  the  time  of  writing.  If 
construction of the site within the parameters of the proposed zoning designations were to occur, 
then the buildings and structures proposed for the project will be required to follow all applicable 
building standards outlined in the CBC and the City’s Municipal Code, in order to ensure the safety 
of  the  residents.  All  grading  and  construction  plans will  be  reviewed  by  the  City.  No  impacts 
associated with the Change of Zone are expected. 

 
a.iii)  No  Impact.  The General  Plan’s  Technical  Background Report  addresses  the different  forms of 

ground failure that the City of Coachella may be susceptible to after the event of an earthquake, 
including  liquefaction,  settlement  and  slope  failure.  Liquefaction,  according  to  the  Technical 
Background Report, typically occurs  in saturated,  loose, fine‐ to medium‐grained sandy to silty 
soils in the presence of ground accelerations of 0.2g, and groundwater within 50 feet below the 
ground surface. In an event of an earthquake, the increase of water pressure may fill the pores 
and increase subsurface water pressure, causing the soil to lose strength and behave like a liquid, 
and potentially compromising the ground stability. According to the General Plan Seismic Hazard 
Zones Map in the Technical Background Report (Plate 1.3), the project site is located in an area 
with  high  liquefaction  susceptibility  due  to  the  youthful,  unconsolidated  sediments,  and 
historically shallow groundwater within 30 feet of the ground surface.  

 
  The Coachella Water Authority and Sanitary District operates and maintains the water distribution 

system for the project property and the City of Coachella. According to the California Department 
of Water Resources Groundwater Information Center, one of the nearest monitored public well 
to  the  project  is  identified  as  State  Well  06S08E22D002S,  located  approximately  1.66  miles 
southwest of the site. Based on the most recent monitoring information, reported on June 24, 
2020, the depth to groundwater at this well site was approximately 18.80 feet. Additional wells 
in proximity to the project  includes State Wells 06S07E13J003S and 06S07E13J004S, which are 
located  approximately  1.7  miles  southwest  of  the  site,  and  State  Well  05S08E33D001S, 
approximately 2.54 miles east of the site. Groundwater depths at these sites were measured at 
58.4 feet below ground surface (measured November 18, 2020), 18.1 feet below ground surface 
(measured  November  18,  2020),  and  26.3  feet  below  ground  surface  (measured October  15, 

Page 291

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

56 

2020) respectively. Due to the shallow groundwater depths in the area, the site is susceptible to 
seismically‐induced liquefaction.    

 
Settlement is a potential consequence of seismic activity and liquefaction, where the excess pore 
pressure generated by ground shaking and leading to liquefaction is associated with the tendency 
for  loosely compacted,  saturated soil  to  rearrange  into a denser configuration during shaking. 
Dissipation of that excess pore pressure will produce volume decreases (termed consolidation or 
compaction)  within  the  soil  that  may  be  manifested  at  the  ground  surface  as  settlement. 
Unconsolidated young alluvial deposits are especially susceptible to this hazard. Artificial fills may 
also experience seismically induced settlement. Damage to structures typically occurs as a result 
of local differential settlements. Plate 2‐1a (Geologic Map) in the Technical Background Report 
indicates  that  the project  site,  and  a majority  of  the City’s  valley  floor  is  underlain  by  young, 
unconsolidated  alluvial  and  lacustrine  sediments,  locally  mantled  with  wind  deposits  (map 
symbols Qg and Ql/Qa). These sediments are susceptible to seismically induced settlement.  
 
Per the Technical Background Report, mitigation for seismically induced settlement is similar to 
those used  for  liquefaction. Over‐excavation and  re‐compaction are  the most commonly used 
method to densify soft soils susceptible to settlement. Deeper over‐excavation below final grades, 
especially at cut/fill, fill/natural, or alluvium/bedrock contracts may be recommended to provide 
a more uniform subgrade. Over excavation should also be performed so that large differences in 
fill  thickness  are  not  present  across  individual  lots.  In  some  cases,  specially  designed  deep 
foundations,  strengthened  foundations, and/or  fill  compaction  to a minimum standard  that  is 
higher than that required by the applicable building codes may be recommended. The potential 
for seismic related ground failure at the project site is projected to be less than significant with 
the efforts established in the California Building Code and Coachella Municipal Code.   

 
Seiches can occur in bodies of water both near and far from the earthquake epicenter. Given that 
there are canals, ponds, and pools in the Coachella area, seiches as a result of ground shaking can 
be expected to occur in the region. The amplitude of these waves cannot be predicted but these 
are typically less than about 1.6 feet (0.5 meters) high. The amplitude of the seiche waves that 
could occur in these water bodies cannot be predicted given that several parameters combine to 
form  these waves,  although,  given  the  relatively  shallow depth of  these bodies  of water,  the 
seiches are anticipated to be relatively minor. Water in swimming pools is known to slosh during 
earthquakes, but in most cases, the sloshing does not lead to significant damage, according to the 
Technical  Background  Report.  Given  its  distance  from  the  ocean,  Coachella  does  not  have  a 
tsunami hazard.  
 
The  Change  of  Zone will  not  be  impacted  by  seismically  induced  liquefaction,  settlement,  or 
seiches.  

 
a.iv)  No  Impact. The City defines  landslides as movements of  relatively  large  landmasses, either as 

nearly intact bedrock blocks, or as jumbled mixes of bedrock blocks, fragments, debris and soils. 
The  potential  for  landslides  is  dependent  on  various  factors  including  slope  height,  slope 
steepness,  shear  strength and orientation of various weak  layers underground. Strong ground 
shaking can cause existing slopes to become unstable, which may lead to landslides or rockfalls 
that can overrun structures, harm people or damage property, sever utility lines and block roads. 
According to the City of Coachella’s Technical Background Report to the Safety Element Update, 
the majority of the City has a 0 to 10 percent grade, including the project site (Plate 2‐2). Areas 

Page 292

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

57 

with a 10 percent grade or greater involves the areas along the San Andreas Fault northeast of 
the project site. In the Technical Background Report, the City recognizes and maps the various 
landslide and rockfall hazard areas in Coachella (Plate 1‐3). These areas are also located where 
the percent grade is higher than 10 percent.  
 
Rockfalls and landslides are more likely to occur in the northeastern and eastern portions of the 
Coachella General Plan area due to the steep slopes  located  in those regions. Protection from 
rockfalls or surficial slides can often be achieved by protective devices such as barriers, retaining 
structures,  catchment  areas,  or  a  combination  of  the  above.  According  to  Plate  1‐3,  in  the 
Technical Background Report, the project property is not located in an area that is susceptible to 
seismically  induced rockfalls, rockslides, soil  falls, soil slides and soil slumps. This  is due to the 
project’s location in a generally developed and urban area, as well as its distance from the nearest 
sloped areas. The subject site is located on relatively level ground and is not located immediately 
adjacent to any mountains or hillsides. As such, the site is not susceptible to any forms of slope 
instability. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated. 

 
b)  No Impact. The Coachella Technical Background Report states that climate, topography, soil and 

rock types and vegetation are all influential factors of erosion, runoff and sedimentation in the 
Coachella Valley. Human activities, such as grading and construction, is also a large contributor to 
erosion in the region. The soils most susceptible to erosion include the unconsolidated sediments 
in  the  canyon  bottoms  and  valley  floor,  as well  as  the  granular  semi‐consolidated  sediments 
forming the hills. Windborne, waterborne and human‐borne erosion are concerns for the City of 
Coachella, especially because wind‐blown sand causes soil loss, dryness and deterioration of soil 
structure, nutrient and productivity losses, air pollution, sediment transport and deposition, and 
health problems. 
 
Windborne erosion is a widespread concern in Riverside County, especially in the Coachella Valley. 
Approximately 20 percent of land area in the County is vulnerable to “high” and “very high” wind 
erosion. The Coachella Valley floor  is highly susceptible to wind erosion due to the high winds 
funneled from the west (Riverside County 2016 General Plan Figure S‐8). As previously stated, 
windborne erosion not only causes physical and structural damage, but also damages to the public 
health by causing respiratory problems.  
 
The  proposed  project  will  require  activities  such  as  clearing  onsite  vegetation,  grading, 
construction, and other ground disturbances by heavy machinery that could result in the loss of 
some topsoil and generate particulate matter. The City of Coachella requires mitigation of this 
hazard  with  the  implementation  of  a  Fugitive  Dust  Control  Plan  (Coachella  Municipal  Code 
Chapter 8.20, Fugitive Dust Control). The Fugitive Dust Control Plan is a document that describes 
fugitive dust  sources at  a  site and  the  corresponding  control measures. Pursuant  to  SCAQMD 
Rules 403 and 403.1, the project is required to implement the Fugitive Dust Control Plan and the 
use of best management practices (BMPs) during operations capable of generating fugitive dust 
in the Coachella Valley.  
 
The City is susceptible to a number of different forms of erosion, including soil, wind, and water. 
The hazard of soil erosion within the planning area ranges from slight to moderate. Portions of 
the City are designated as having Very High and High Potential for Erosion. The northern portion 
of  the  site  is  considered  as  having  Very  High  potential,  while  the  southern  portion  has  High 
potential, and the southeastern portion of the site is not designated as either.  

Page 293

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

58 

 
Additionally,  the City of Coachella determines that a majority of the City,  including the project 
site,  is  susceptible  to water  erosion due  to  the distal  fan  and  lake deposits.  According  to  the 
Federal  Emergency  Management  Agency  (FEMA)  Map  Panel  Number  06065C2270H,  revised 
March 6, 2018, the entire project is located within the FEMA Flood Zone X, protected by levee. 
Flood Zone X are areas determined to have moderate to low flood risk, and corresponds to areas 
of  500‐year  flood,  areas  of  100‐year  flood with  average  depths  of  less  than  one  foot  or with 
drainage areas less than one square mile, and areas protected by levees from 100‐year flood.  
 
The approximately 117.6‐acre project proposes a zone change from Manufacturing Services (M‐
S)  to  Multiple  Family  Residential,  Urban  (R‐M,  20‐38  un/ac)  on  50.6  acres  of  the  site.  The 
remaining 67 acres of the site will not change its current zoning designation of M‐S. The project 
does not propose development at the time of writing, however, if development were to occur, 
the project will be required to comply with the State’s most current Construction General Permit 
(CGP).  The mitigation  of waterborne  erosion  at  the  project  site  during  construction  activities 
includes the developer’s compliance with the State’s most current Construction General Permit 
(CGP)  (Order  No.  2009‐0009‐DWQ,  as  amended  by  2010‐0014‐DWQ  and  2012‐0006‐DWQ). 
Compliance with  the  CGP  involves  the  development  and  implementation  of  a  project‐specific 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) designed to reduce potential adverse impacts to 
surface  water  quality  during  the  period  of  construction.  The  required  plan  will  identify  the 
locations  and  types of  construction activities  requiring BMPs and other  necessary  compliance 
measures to prevent soil erosion and stormwater runoff pollution. The plan will also identify the 
limits of allowable construction‐related disturbance to prevent any exceedances or violations. 

 
To reduce the amount of soil erosion created, future development shall implement a Fugitive Dust 
Control Plan, a SWPPP, and best management practices, which are required not only by Coachella 
but also the Riverside County. No impacts are expected associated with the Change of Zone. 

 
c) No  Impact.  The  proposed  project  site  is  located  within  the  southern  portion  of  the  City,  on 

previously disturbed land. The majority of the City has a grade of 0 to 10 percent, meaning that 
Coachella  is  relatively  flat.  Per  the  Coachella’s  General  Plan  Technical  Background  Report, 
Quaternary river channel deposits (Qg), alluvial fan and stream deposits (Qa), and interbedded 
lake and distal fan deposits (Ql/Qa) sediments are cohesionless and loose in the upper sections, 
and thus susceptible to liquefaction. According to Figure 4.5‐7 in the Coachella General Plan Draft 
EIR, Soils Classification, the surficial sediments at the project site includes lake and distal deposits 
(Ql/Qa). These sediments are fine‐grained sand, silt, and clay of the valley floor. The various soil 
components are vital to the stability of the project site specifically regarding landslides,  lateral 
spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse.  

 
As previously stated in discussion VII.a.iii, above, the project site is located in an area susceptible 
to  liquefaction  due  to  the  youthful,  unconsolidated  sediments,  and  historically  shallow 
groundwater. Since the site is potentially susceptible to liquefaction, it may also be susceptible to 
lateral spreading, which also requires a shallow water table or proximity to a water source that 
could cause inundation of onsite soils. However, ground improvement (such as over‐excavation 
and re‐compaction of low‐density soils) and foundation design can mitigate the potential effects 
of liquefaction, lateral spread, and settlement.  

 

Page 294

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

59 

The  site  is  not  susceptible  to  landslides  due  to  its  relatively  flat  terrain  and  distance  from 
mountainous slopes, and although tectonic subsidence has been documented in the Coachella 
Valley, it is not known to occur in the project vicinity.  

 
Settlement or collapsible soils, as the Safety Element of the Coachella GPU states, typically occur 
in recently deposited sediments that accumulated in arid or semi‐arid environments. Collapsible 
soils do not appear to be widespread in the planning area, but most likely do occur in localized 
areas, especially in those with distal fan and lake deposits. However, settlement resulting from 
the  anticipated  foundation  loads  should  be  minimal  provided  that  foundation  design  and 
construction complies with the applicable California Building Code and the Coachella Municipal 
Code standards. Less than significant impacts are anticipated.  
 
Overall,  no  impacts  of  liquefaction,  lateral  spread,  landslides  and  rockfall,  settlement,  or 
collapsible soils to the project site are anticipated relative to the proposed Change of Zone.  

 
d) No  Impact.  Expansive  soils  typically  contain  large amounts of  clay  that expand when water  is 

absorbed and shrink when they dry. The best defense against this hazard in new developments is 
to avoid placing expansive soils near the surface or over watering the expansive soils.  
 
As stated  in discussion VII.c,  the surficial sediments at  the project site  includes  lake and distal 
deposits (Ql/Qa), which includes fine‐grained sand, silt, and clay of the valley floor. According to 
the Technical Background Report, the potential for expansive soils in lake and distal deposits is 
generally low, except where lake deposits of silt and clay are within or just below the depth of 
structural foundation elements. These deposits are suitable for fill materials; however, clay‐rich 
sediments should not be placed in foundation areas if possible. No impacts are anticipated relative 
to risks of structural damage caused by expansive soils regarding the Change of Zone.  
 

e) No Impact. The project site previously operated as agricultural land intermittently since at least 
1953. Currently, crops are not being harvested and the site is fallow. Residential structures have 
not occurred onsite, and  septic  tanks do not occur within  the project boundaries. The project 
property is surrounded by residential developments to the north and west, industrial uses and 
Tyler Street to the east, and residential, agricultural and vacant lots to the south. The proposed 
project  will  connect  to  the  City’s  existing  sewer  system.  No  alternative  wastewater  disposal 
systems  are  proposed.  No  adverse  impacts  associated with wastewater  disposal  systems will 
occur. No impacts are expected regarding wastewater disposal systems and sewers. 
 

f) No  Impact.  The  City  values  its  rich  history  and  paleontological  resources;  therefore,  the 
preservation of these resources is highly important. The protection of important archaeological 
and  paleontological  resources  from  loss  or  destruction  depends  on  the  implementation  of 
appropriate mitigation during development activities.   
 
Per the Riverside County Environmental Impact Report (EIR), the County categorizes the project 
site as having a “High Sensitivity A”  regarding paleontological  sensitivity. High Sensitivity A, as 
defined by the Riverside County EIR, “is based on geologic formations or mapped rock units that 
are known to contain or have the correct age and depositional conditions to contain significant 
paleontological resources. These include rocks of Silurian or Devonian age and younger that have 
potential to contain remains of fossil fish, and Mesozoic and Cenozoic rocks that contain fossilized 
body elements and trace fossils such as tracks, nests and eggs.”  

Page 295

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

60 

 
Although  the  Riverside  County  General  Plan  EIR  mapped  the  project  as  an  area  with  high 
paleontological resources, the Coachella GPU EIR considers the project site and surrounding area 
as  having  an  “undetermined  sensitivity”  for  paleontological  resources  (Figure  4.4‐3, 
Paleontological Resource Sensitivity).  

  
Additionally, the site has been subject to previous human disturbance since at least 1953, where 
it served as agricultural land. Agricultural activities include tilling the land, and planting, growing 
and harvesting crops. Paleontological resources are not likely to be onsite due to the use of the 
property for agricultural purposes for multiple decades. The project is also located in an urbanized 
context  within  the  City  and  due  to  the  disturbance  on  the  project  site,  the  property  is  not 
recognized as a unique paleontological or a unique geologic  feature. Therefore,  the proposed 
project is not expected to destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic 
feature. No impacts are expected associated with the Change of Zone. 

 
Mitigation Measures None required 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 296

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

61 

VIII. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Potentially 
Significant 
Unless 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or 
indirectly,  that  may  have  significant  impact  on  the 
environment?  

       

b)  Conflict  with  an  applicable  plan,  policy  or  regulation 
adopted  for  the purpose of  reducing  the emissions of 
greenhouse gases? 

       

(Sources: CalEEMod Version 2016.3.2; 2035 General Plan, 2015; City of Coachella Climate Action Plan, June 2014.) 
 

Setting 
 
Greenhouse gases (GHG) are a group of gases that trap solar energy in the Earth’s atmosphere, preventing 
it  from  becoming  too  cold  and  uninhabitable.  Common  greenhouse  gases  in  the  Earth’s  atmosphere 
include:  water  vapor,  carbon  dioxide  (CO2),  methane  (CH4),  nitrous  oxide  (N2O),  ozone,  and 
chlorofluorocarbons to a lesser extent. Carbon dioxide is the main GHG thought to contribute to climate 
change. Carbon dioxide  reflects  solar  radiation back  to  Earth,  thereby  trapping  solar energy and heat 
within the lower atmosphere. Human activities (such as burning carbon‐based fossil fuels) create water 
vapor and CO2 as byproducts, thereby impacting the levels of GHG in the atmosphere. Carbon dioxide 
equivalent (CO2e) is a metric used to compare emissions of various greenhouse gases. It is the mass of 
carbon  dioxide  that would  produce  the  same  estimated  radiative  forcing  as  a  given mass  of  another 
greenhouse gas. Carbon dioxide equivalents are computed by multiplying the mass of the gas emitted by 
its  global  warming  potential.  Global  Climate  Change  (GCC)  is  defined  as  the  change  in  average 
meteorological conditions on the earth with respect to temperature, precipitation, and storms. GCC  is 
currently one of the most controversial environmental issues in the United States, and much debate exists 
within the scientific community about whether or not GCC is occurring naturally or as a result of human 
activity.   
 
To  address  the  long‐term  adverse  impacts  associated  with  global  climate  change,  California’s  Global 
Warming Solutions Act of 2006 (AB 32) requires California Air Resource Board (CARB) to reduce statewide 
emissions of greenhouse gases to 1990 levels by 2020. In 2016, Governor Jerry Brown signed Senate Bill 
32 (SB32) that requires California to reduce GHG emissions to 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030. With 
the  passage  of  the  California  Global Warming  Solutions  Act  of  2006  (Assembly  Bill  32)  in  California, 
environmental documents for projects pursuant to CEQA are required to analyze greenhouse gases and 
assess the potential significance and impacts of GHG emissions. On July 11, 2018, CARB announced in a 
press release (No. 18‐37) that greenhouse gas pollution in California fell below 1990 levels for the first 
time since emissions peaked in 2004, an achievement roughly equal to taking 12 million cars off the road 
or  saving  6  billion  gallons  of  gasoline  a  year.  Moreover,  according  to  the  CARB  report  on  California 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions for 2000 to 2016, which tracks the trends of GHG emissions, California’s GHG 
emissions have followed a declining trend between 2007 and 2016. The largest reductions are attributed 
to the electricity sector, which continues to see decreases as a result of the State’s climate policies.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 

Page 297

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

62 

a)  Less Than Significant Impact: CalEEMod Version 2016.3.2 was used to quantify GHG emissions 
associated  with  the  project.  As  previously  mentioned,  this  software  was  developed  in 
conjunction with the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) to estimate 
air emissions, including GHGs. CalEEMod utilizes widely accepted methodologies for estimating 
emissions combined with default data  that  can be used when site‐specific  information  is not 
available. Sources of these methodologies and default data include but are not limited to the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) AP‐42 emission factors, California Air 
Resources Board (CARB) vehicle emission models, studies commissioned by California agencies 
such as the California Energy Commission (CEC) and CalRecycle. The project’s total building area 
and parking lot uses were factored into the model to evaluate whether the estimated criteria 
pollutants and GHG emissions would exceed the established thresholds and therefore conflict 
with the plans and efforts of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases. Construction‐related 
GHG  emissions  were  amortized  over  a  30‐year  period  and  added  to  the  project’s  annual 
operational GHG emissions. The operational GHG emissions can be attributed to the following 
sources: 

 
Area  Sources:  Landscape  maintenance  equipment  would  generate  emissions  from  fuel 
combustion  and  evaporation  of  unburned  fuel.  Equipment  in  this  category  would  include 
lawnmowers, shedders/grinders, blowers,  trimmers, chain saws, and hedge trimmers used to 
maintain the landscaping of the developed site. 

 
Energy Sources: GHGs are emitted from buildings as a result of activities for which electricity and 
natural gas are typically used as energy sources. Combustion of any type of fuel emits CO2 and 
other  GHGs  directly  into  the  atmosphere;  these  emissions  are  considered  direct  emissions 
associated with a building. GHGs are also emitted during the generation of electricity from fossil 
fuels; these emissions are considered to be indirect emissions. 

 
Mobile Sources: GHG emissions will also result from mobile sources associated with the project, 
which include the typical daily operation of motor vehicles by employees and visitors. Project 
mobile source air quality impacts are dependent on both overall daily vehicle trip generation and 
the effect of the project on peak hour traffic volumes and traffic operations in the local vicinity. 

 
Solid Wastes: The proposed land uses will result in the generation and disposal of solid waste. A 
large  percentage  of  this waste will  be  diverted  from  landfills  by  a  variety  of means,  such  as 
reducing the amount of waste generated, recycling, and/or composting. The remainder of the 
waste not diverted will be disposed of at a landfill. GHG emissions from landfills are associated 
with the anaerobic breakdown of material. GHG emissions associated with the disposal of solid 
waste  associated  with  the  proposed  project  were  calculated  by  the  CalEEMod model  using 
default parameters. 

 
Water Supply, Treatment and Distribution: Indirect GHG emissions result from the production of 
electricity used to convey, treat and distribute water and wastewater. The amount of electricity 
required to convey, treat and distribute water depends on the volume of water as well as the 
sources of the water. 

 
The currently applicable GHG thresholds for local lead agency consideration are referenced from 
the  SCAQMD Draft  Local  Agency  Threshold  supporting  documentation, which  establishes  an 
interim  tiered  approach.  Under  this  guidance,  a  screening  threshold  of  3,000 metric  tons  of 

Page 298

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

63 

carbon  dioxide  equivalent  (MTCO2e)  per  year  has  been  an  acceptable  approach  for  non‐
industrial projects, while industrial projects have higher screening level of 10,000 MTCO2e per 
year. As a conservative measure,  the GHG analysis  for  future development aims to meet  the 
lowest screening level of 3,000 MTCO2e per year, as shown below. 
 

Table VIII‐1 
Total Project Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Associated with Future Construction at Mid‐Density Development Scenario 

Unmitigated Emission Source 

Emissions  
(metric tons per year) 

Total CO2E 

Annual Construction Emissions Amortized Over 30 Years 50.06884 

Area, Energy, Mobile Sources, Waste, and Water Usage  16,136.7991 

Total CO2E (All Sources)  16,186.8679 

Service Population  6,500 

Total CO2e/Service Population  2.4902 

Threshold  3.0 (Based on 2035 Target) 

Threshold Exceeded?  NO 

 
As shown in VIII‐1 resulting from the CalEEMod calculations, future construction is expected to 
generate approximately 16,186.8 MTCO2e per year from construction, area, energy, stationary, 
waste, and water usage sources. As such, future development GHG emissions would not exceed 
the lowest threshold of significance set at 3,000 MTCO2e per year. Having been evaluated against 
the regionally accepted thresholds, which are part of the State’s regulations aimed at addressing 
climate  change,  future  development  is  not  expected  to  interfere  with  the  plans,  policies,  or 
regulations adopted for the purpose of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases. The Change 
of Zone project will result in no impacts.  
 

b)  No  Impact:  The  City  of  Coachella  has  prepared  and  adopted  Climate  Action  Plan  (CAP)  in 
conjunction with a General Plan Update as a roadmap for achieving community‐wide greenhouse 
gas emissions reductions. The CAP builds on the 2015 General Plan Update, quantifying emissions 
from  the build‐out  of  the  proposed plan  and  includes  additional  policies  and  implementation 
actions to help Coachella further reduce emissions.  It also includes strategies to protect public 
health and make the community more resilient to climate change. Coachella’s CAP is designed to 
provide clear policy guidance to the City staff and decision‐makers on how to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions. It identifies a pathway to reduce emissions within a range of voluntary, state‐level 
emissions reduction targets. This path includes strategies for improving connectivity and land use 
patterns,  transportation  modes  and  systems,  incorporating  energy  efficiency  standards, 
increasing the City’s renewable energy supply, and reducing waste and consumption. By providing 
an emissions inventory, emissions targets, and strategies for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, 
the  City  of  Coachella  has  established  a  framework  evaluating  and mitigating  greenhouse  gas 
emissions.  Part  of  these  emissions  reductions  will  need  to  be  achieved  through  better 
environmental performance of new development. 

Page 299

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

64 

 
The CAP organizes General Plan policies into six strategies to reduce emissions throughout the 
City: building and  infrastructure energy efficiency;  renewable energy generation;  land use and 
transportation; vegetation and open space; solid waste; and water use. Each strategy is supported 
by a number of more specific programs, actions, and measures that will be implemented as part 
of the City’s General Plan.  
 
Energy  Efficiency:  Residential  and  non‐residential  buildings  produce  approximately  39%  of 
Coachella’s emissions and are a primary target for the CAP. This strategy for energy performance 
targets  to  construct  buildings  15% more  energy  efficient  than  Title  24,  increase  passive  solar 
design  features,  and planting new  shade  trees.    The proposed development will  include  solar 
photovoltaic panels mounted on the proposed carports, thus complying with the energy efficiency 
strategy identified in the City’s CAP. 
 
Energy  Generation:  This  strategy  includes  General  Plan  policies  that  will  help  homes  and 
businesses in Coachella increase renewable energy production. It includes requirements for solar 
photovoltaic  infrastructure on new homes and businesses  and pursuing  clean energy  through 
community choice aggregation. The proposed development will include solar photovoltaic panels 
mounted on the proposed carports, thus complying with the energy efficiency strategy identified 
in the City’s CAP. 
 
Land Use and Transportation: Coachella’s General Plan provides clear guidance for how Coachella 
will  become  a  city  of  walkable  neighborhoods  tied  together  by  multi‐modal  transportation 
corridors  and  interspersed  with  vibrant  districts  for  shopping,  working,  entertaining,  and 
commerce. The walkable neighborhoods will have a diverse mix of housing types and will be in 
close proximity to shopping and neighborhood services so that the majority of one’s daily needs 
are a  short walk away.  This  strategy evaluates  the  land use and  transportation policies  in  the 
General  Plan  that  aim  to  reduce  vehicle  miles  travelled  and  improve  mobility.  Specific 
implementation measures involve changing land uses, adopting a new perspective on community 
design, promoting alternative modes of travel, and revising antiquated parking standards. 
 
Future  development  of  the  project  property  will  occur  on  a  site  located  within  a  walkable 
environment in terms of proximity to schools, commercial uses, and other services. Specifically, 
the site is located adjacent to the nearest elementary school, and approximately one half‐mile 
(equivalent to a 10‐minute walk) to the nearest commercial establishment. As such the project’s 
location is expected to align with the land use and transportation strategy of the CAP. 
 
Solid Waste: Solid waste generation produces only a small percentage of Coachella’s emissions 
(3%), but with population and employment growth, the specific actions outlined in the General 
Plan  to  increase  waste  diversion  can  result  in  significant  emissions  reductions.  This  strategy 
includes  General  Plan  policies  related  to  increase  residential  and  commercial  recycling  and 
construction recycling. The proposed development is expected to follow the City’s most current 
recycling and other waste diversion programs, which tend to be promoted at the Citywide level. 
Therefore, no conflicts with this strategy are anticipated. 
 
Vegetation and Open Space: Not only do  trees and open  space enhance  the appearance of  a 
community,  they  reduce  ambient  air  temperature,  lower  energy  use,  reduce  air  and  water 
pollution, and absorb greenhouse gases. Coachella’s General Plan includes polices for increasing 

Page 300

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

65 

access to parks and open spaces and planting new trees. This compilation of General Plan polices 
focuses on the carbon sequestration benefits of new vegetation and  trees.   Approximately 60 
percent  of  the  site’s  land  use  composition will  consist  of  open  space while  the  remaining  40 
percent will be occupied by residential buildings, community buildings, and paving. 
 
Water Use: Water use represents one of the fastest growing emissions sectors in the Coachella 
CAP with potable water use growing 45% between 2005 and 2010. The General Plan  includes 
policies to address indoor and outdoor water use and future water supply. This strategy analyzes 
the  effectiveness  of  these  measures  at  reducing  greenhouse  gas  emissions.  The  proposed 
development  is  expected  to  implement  the  required  water‐efficient  landscape  irrigation  and 
indoor fixtures to support the water use strategy.  
 
The  CAP  includes  a  process  in  which  projects  are  evaluated  for  their  design  attributes  and 
performance. The CAP establishes a per service population 2020 emissions reduction target of 
15% below 2010  levels and a 2035 emissions reduction target of 49% below 2010  levels.   The 
CAP's 2020 targeted GHG emissions per service population goal is 7.0 MTCO2e/SP/year and the 
2035 targeted GHG emissions per service population goal is 4.2 MTCO2e/SP/year.   
 
As previously discussed, future development on the project property may result in GHG emissions 
totaling 16,186.8 MTCO2e. The City of Coachella CAP defines a service population as the total 
number of residents and employees (jobs) in a geographic area. From the perspective of service 
population  efficiency,  the  project’s  total  emissions  (16,186.8  MTCO2e)  divided  by  a  service 
population of 6,500  residents  is equivalent  to 2.49 MTCO2e/SP/year, which  satisfies  the 2035 
targeted  GHG  emissions  per  service  population  goal  is  4.2  MTCO2e/SP/year.  As  such,  the 
proposed  residential development  is not expected  to  conflict with  the applicable plan  for  the 
purposes  of  reducing  greenhouse  gas  emissions. No  impact  relative  to  the  Change of  Zone  is 
anticipated. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 301

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

66 

IX. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Create  a  significant  hazard  to  the  public  or  the 
environment  through  the  routine  transport,  use,  or 
disposal of hazardous materials?  

       

b)  Create  a  significant  hazard  to  the  public  or  the 
environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and 
accident  conditions  involving  the  release  of  hazardous 
materials into the environment?  

       

c)  Emit  hazardous  emissions  or  handle  hazardous  or 
acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within 
one‐quarter mile of an existing or proposed school?  

       

d)  Be  located  on  a  site  which  is  included  on  a  list  of 
hazardous  materials  sites  compiled  pursuant  to 
Government  Code  Section  65962.5  and,  as  a  result, 
would it create a significant hazard to the public or the 
environment?  

       

e)  For a project located within an airport land use plan or, 
where  such  a  plan  has  not  been  adopted,  within  two 
miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the 
project  result  in  a  safety hazard or  excessive noise  for 
people residing or working in the project area?  

       

f)  Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an 
adopted  emergency  response  plan  or  emergency 
evacuation plan?  

       

g)  Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, 
to  a  significant  risk  of  loss,  injury  or  death  involving 
wildland fires?  

       

(Sources:  City  of  Coachella  2035  General  Plan  Update,  2015;  Coachella  Municipal  Code;  Coachella  Technical 
Background  Report  to  the  Safety  Element  Update,  2014;  Enforcement  and  Compliance  History  Online,  EPA; 
EnviroStor, Department of Toxic Substances Control; GeoTracker, State Water Resources Control Board.) 
 

Setting 
 
The project site is located on approximately 117.6 acres of disturbed land south of Avenue 53, north of 
Avenue 54, and west of Tyler Street in the City of Coachella. The 117.6‐acre project proposes to re‐zone 
approximately 50.6 acres of the property from its current designation of Manufacturing Service (M‐S) zone 
to Multiple  Family  Residential,  Urban  (R‐M,  20‐38  un/ac).  The  remaining  67  acres  do  not  propose  to 
change the zoning designation. Overall, the project proposes 50.6 acres R‐M Urban, 21.7 acres M‐S, and 
a 45.3‐acre buffer area between the project’s proposed R‐M and M‐S zones and the existing industrial 
property, east of the project site.   
 

Page 302

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

67 

The project site has been disturbed due to its previous agricultural operations. The sports field is located 
at the northern‐most portion of the site. Approximately 117.6 acres of the site operated as agricultural 
fields, with  a water  reservoir  in  the  center  of  the  site.  Approximately  4.7  acres  of  the  site  is  vacant, 
however, previous human disturbance is present in this area.  
 
The project does not currently propose development on the 117.6‐acre property and a site plan does not 
currently  exist. However,  a  general  analysis of  future development  relative  to hazards and hazardous 
materials are provided in this discussion. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a‐b)  No Impact. As stated in the Setting, the project proposes to re‐zone approximately 117.6 acres of 

land south of Avenue 53, north of Avenue 54, and west of Tyler Street in Coachella. The property 
is surrounded by residential, recreational, agricultural, industrial, and vacant uses to the north, 
east,  south,  and  west.  Avenue  53  delineates  the  project’s  northern‐most  boundary,  and  a 
recreational (grass) field lies north of Avenue 53. A disturbed vacant lot is located northeast of 
the project site. The vacant lot has been previously graded, and the perimeter of the vacant lot is 
delineated  by  chain‐link  fencing.  The  industrial  uses  including,  Armtec Defense  Products,  and 
vacant lots are located east of the project site. The southern property boundary is delineated by 
Avenue  54,  and  residential  properties,  agricultural  lots,  and  vacant  lots  are  located  south  of 
Avenue 54. A developed residential neighborhood, and undeveloped residential lots are located 
west of the project boundaries.  
 
The Code of Federal Regulations (CFR Title 40, Part 261) defines hazardous materials based on 
ignitability,  reactivity,  corrosivity,  and/or  toxic  properties.  The  State  of  California  defines 
hazardous  materials  as  substances  that  are  toxic,  ignitable  or  flammable,  reactive  and/or 
corrosive, which have the capacity of causing harm or a health hazard during normal exposure or 
an accidental release. As a result, the use and management of hazardous or potentially hazardous 
substances  is  regulated under existing state,  federal and  local  laws. Hazardous wastes  require 
special handling and disposal methods to reduce their potential to damage public health and the 
environment. Manufacturer’s specifications also dictate the proper use, handling, and disposal 
methods for the specific substances.  

 
Future construction would involve the use of heavy equipment that have a potential of fuel and 
oil spills due to the usage of fuel, oil, lubricants, and other potential flammable substances. The 
contractor will be required to identify a staging area for storing these materials, as well as other 
practices  to  prevent  any hazardous discharge or  release  into  the environment,  in  their  Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). The SWPPP requires a list of pollutant sources and the 
identification of construction areas where additional control measures are necessary to prevent 
pollutants from being discharged. Best management practices (BMPs) are necessary for proper 
material delivery and storage, material use and spill prevention and control. The measures will 
outline the required physical improvements and procedures to prevent impacts of pollutants and 
hazardous  materials  to  workers  and  the  environment  during  construction.  For  example,  all 
construction  materials  including  paints,  solvents,  and  petroleum  products  must  be  stored  in 
controlled  areas  and  according  to  the  manufacturer’s  specifications.  Additionally,  perimeter 
controls  (fencing  with  wind  screen),  linear  sediment  barriers  (gravel  bags,  fiber  rolls  or  silt 
fencing), and access restrictions (gates) would help prevent temporary impact to the public and 
environment. No impacts will occur associated with this Change of Zone.  

Page 303

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

68 

 
The  project  proposes  residential  and  manufacturing  service  zoning  designations  on  the 
approximately  117.6‐acre  site.  The  proposed  residential  portion  of  the  project would  include 
Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) Urban developments, which allows 20 to 38 un/ac. R‐M zones 
are  intended  to  provide  for  the  establishment  and  expansion  of  multiple  family  residential 
development areas at various medium and high population densities, all located in conformance 
with the general plan. The nature of the residential uses is not expected to involve, as a primary 
activity, the routine transport, use or disposal of hazardous materials in quantities or in a manner 
that would pose a threat to the project and its surroundings or create a significant hazard through 
a  foreseeable  accident  condition  involving  the  release  of  hazardous  materials  into  the 
environment. The regular operation of future development will involve the handling, application, 
and storage of cleaning agents, building maintenance products, paints, solvents and other related 
substances  commonly  used  with  residential  apartment maintenance.  These  products  are  not 
expected to be used in amounts harmful to the public. 
 
Approximately 21.7 acres of  the project proposes Manufacturing Service  zone. Manufacturing 
Service  zones  are  intended  to  provide  for  and  encourage  the  orderly  development  of  light 
manufacturing, wholesaling, and commercial service within the community. Such areas are vital 
to the community’s economic health and well‐being. The provisions of this zone are intended to 
ensure  that  manufacturing  service  areas  will  be  compatible  with  adjacent,  non‐industrial 
development  and  will  protect  such  areas  from  potential  hazards  of  industrial  development. 
Permitted  uses  in  M‐S  zones  are  outlined  within  the  Coachella  Municipal  Code  (Section 
17.30.020). Some permitted uses include engineering research and testing firms and laboratories; 
trailer, camper, mobile home manufacturer or assembly; automotive repair garage; sales of rental 
of  trucks,  autos,  farm  machinery;  bakery;  boat  building;  and  bottling  plant,  to  name  a  few. 
Approximately 45.3 acres of the site is proposed to act as a buffer between the proposed R‐M and 
M‐S zones and the existing  industrial development  located east of the project. This buffer will 
provide approximately 750 feet of separation between the project and the existing property.  
 
The handling, application and storage of cleaning agents, building maintenance products, paints, 
solvents and other related substances is expected to occur within the project in order to carry out 
the necessary operations for the residential and industrial uses. However, in the proposed R‐M 
and M‐S zones, these materials would not be present in sufficient quantities that pose a significant 
hazard to public health and safety, or the environment. Hazardous materials used and stored in 
the M‐S  zones may occur  in  amounts  hazardous  to  the  surrounding  environment,  due  to  the 
nature  of  such  facilities.  Currently  a  manufacturing  facility  is  not  proposed.  However, 
development of a facility will require approval from the City, as well as additional entitlement and 
review. If a future development proposes the storage, disposal, or use of hazardous materials, the 
future development would be required to follow handling instructions from the manufacturer, as 
well  as  implement  relevant  standards  for  regulations  for  facilities  that  handle  hazardous 
materials.  The Change of Zone project will result in no impacts.  
 

c) No Impact. The closest school is located approximately 0.33 miles northwest of the project, Valley 
View  Elementary  School.  As  previously  discussed,  the  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  on 
approximately 50.6 acres of the project from M‐S to R‐M Urban. The remaining 67 acres of the 
site  will  not  change  the  existing  M‐S  zoning  designation.  During  the  construction  of  future 
development,  proper  safety  measures  will  be  implemented.  These  standard  operational 
procedures and protocols as well as the best management practices (BMPs), will minimize any 

Page 304

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

69 

potential public exposure to hazardous materials. However, the project property is located more 
than  one‐quarter  mile  from  the  closest  elementary  school;  therefore,  impacts  are  less  than 
significant. No impact to schools is expected relative to the Change of Zone. 
 

d)  No Impact. As previously discussed, the project site proposes a change of zone on 50.6 acres of 
the site from M‐S to R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac). Approximately 67 acres will remain M‐S.  Since 
before 1953, the project site operated as agricultural land; however, the site is currently vacant.  

 
Record  searches on  the project property were performed within multiple database platforms, 
pursuant  to Government Code 65962.5 and  its  subsections.  The  resources  consulted  included 
GeoTracker, EnviroStor and the EPA Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO).  
 
GeoTracker is a database maintained by the State of California Water Resources Control Board 
that  provides  online  access  to  environmental  data.  It  serves  as  the  management  system  for 
tracking  regulatory  data  on  sites  that  can  potentially  impact  groundwater,  particularly  those 
requiring groundwater cleanup and permitted facilities, such as operating underground storage 
tanks and land disposal sites.  
   
EnviroStor is a database maintained by the State of California Department of Toxic Substances 
Control  (DTSC). The EnviroStor database  identifies sites with known contamination or sites for 
which  there  may  be  reasons  to  investigate  further.  It  includes  the  identification  of  formerly 
contaminated  properties  that  have  been  released  for  reuse;  properties where  environmental 
deed  restrictions  have  been  recorded  to  prevent  inappropriate  land  uses;  and  risk 
characterization  information  that  is  used  to  assess potential  impacts  to  public  health  and  the 
environment at contaminated sites. 
   
Moreover,  the ECHO database  focuses on  inspection,  violation, and enforcement data  for  the 
Clean Air Act (CAA), Clean Water Act (CWA) and Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) 
and also includes Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) and Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) data.  
 
In February 2021, a search was performed on all three database platforms. The three consulted 
databases did not  list  any  facilities  related  to  the project  site.  The  three databases,  however, 
recorded sites within a half‐mile radius of the project property. The results are described below: 

 
GeoTracker is a database maintained by the State of California Water Resources Control Board to 
provide online access to environmental data. It serves as the management system for tracking 
regulatory data on sites  that can potentially  impact groundwater. The database search results 
revealed seven Leaking Underground Storage Tanks (LUST) Cleanup Sites and Cleanup Program 
Site within a half‐mile of the project site. The facilities are listed as follows: 
 

 El Super Toro Loco #3,  located approximately 0.45 miles northeast of the project at 52051 
Grapefruit  Avenue.  This  facility  is  registered  as  a  LUST  Cleanup  Site;  however,  the  site 
currently has a status of Completed Case Closed as of July 7, 2006.  

 Circle K/Former, located at 51989 Grapefruit Boulevard, approximately 0.45 miles northeast 
of the project site. This registered facility is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site; however, the facility 
currently has a status of Completed Case Closed as of December 12, 2002.  

Page 305

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

70 

 Kinder Morgan Energy Partners (Former Santa Fe Pacific Pipeline Partners – 52nd Ave/HWY) is 
located at 85989 Avenue 52, approximately 0.50 miles northeast of the site. This facility  is 
registered as a Cleanup Program Site and has the status of Open – Remediation as of July 15, 
1990. The site is currently monitored, and quarterly and semi‐annual groundwater monitoring 
reports are administered at the site (available at GeoTracker). 

 Koolco is located approximately 0.50 miles northeast of the project, at 52112 Industrial Way. 
This facility is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site, with an existing status of Completed Case Closed 
as of December 24, 1994.  

 Coachella  Valley  Water  District,  located  at  85995  Avenue  52,  approximately  0.50  miles 
northeast of the project. The site is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site three times. The site currently 
has a status of Completed Case Closed as of August 26, 1996, April, 29, 2005, and January 13, 
2011.  

 Torrence Farms is located approximately 0.50 miles west of the project, at 54050 Highway 86, 
Thermal. This site is registered as a LUST Cleanup Site; however, the site currently has a status 
of Completed Case Closed as of 7/10/1992. 

 Private Residence, located approximately 0.50 miles south of the project site on Avenue 55. 
This registered facility is listed as a LUST Cleanup Site; however, the facility currently has a 
status of Completed Case Closed as of April 26, 2005.  

 
The facilities listed above are not anticipated to impact the project site due to their distances from 
the site and their statuses of Completed Case Closed. The Kinder Morgan Energy Partner facility 
has a current status of Open‐Remediation; however, the project site is not located down‐gradient 
from the registered facility.  
 
The EnviroStor database did not identify sites with known contamination or sites for which there 
may be reasons to investigate further within a half‐mile of the project site.  
 
When consulting the Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO) database, no facilities 
or records on the property were identified, however, seven were listed within a half‐mile radius 
of the project. The facilities are listed as follows: 
 

 Armtec  Defense  Products  Company:  85901  Avenue  53,  east  of  the  project.  This  site  is 
registered under the RCRA as an active large quantity generator (LQG), the CWA as a Minor 
General Permit Covered Facility, and the Toxic Release Inventory (TRI). No violation.  

 Imperial Western Products: 86600 Avenue 54, approximately 0.25 miles east of the project. 
This  site  is  registered  under  the  CWA  as  a Minor Unpermitted  Facility  and  the  RCRA.  No 
violations. 

 Desert Cottonseed Products,  Inc.:  86600 Avenue 54,  approximately 0.25 miles east of  the 
project. This facility is registered under the CAA and RCRA as an SQG. No violations.  

 South West Pump & Drilling Inc: 53381 Highway 111, approximately 0.30 miles east of the 
project site, is registered under the RCRA. No violations.  

 Woodspur Operations LLC: 52200 Industrial Way, approximately 0.50 miles northeast of the 
project. This facility is registered with the RCRA. No violations.  

 SFPP LP Coachella Site: 85985 Avenue 52, approximately 0.50 miles northeast of the project. 
This site is registered with the RCRA as an active small quantity generator (SQG). No violations.  

 Coachella  Valley  Water  District:  Avenue  52  and  Highway  111,  approximately  0.50  miles 
northeast of the project. This facility is registered under the RCRA as an SQG. No violations.  

Page 306

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

71 

 
The facilities listed above are not anticipated to impact the project site due to their distances from 
the site and their statuses of “No Violations”. Future development on the project property would 
be required  to assess  the statuses of  the  facilities  registered  in  the property’s vicinity prior  to 
development of the site.  
 
The project site is characterized by approximately 117.6 acres of disturbed land and proposes a 
Change of Zone from M‐S to R‐M General, R‐M Urban, and MS‐IP. The nature of the proposed 
zones will not use hazardous materials in sufficient quantities as to create a significant hazard to 
the public or the environment. The facilities registered in the GeoTracker, EnviroStor, and ECHO 
are not associated with the project, and the project is not located on a site which is included on a 
list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant  to Government Code Section 65962.5. The 
Change of Zone will have no impacts.   

 
e)  No Impact. The Jacqueline Cochran Regional Airport is located approximately 1.50 miles south of 

the  project  site.  The  proposed  project  is  located  within  Zone  D  of  the  airport’s  Land  Use 
Compatibility Plan (LUCP). According to the Airport’s LUCP, residential land uses (densities ranging 
from 5.1 to 8.0 dwelling units per acre) located north of the airport potentially conflict with the 
high  and  low  options  for  Zone  D.  For  non‐residential  uses,  Zone  D  intensity  limits  (100 
people/acre)  apply  to  areas  designated  as  Light  Industrial/Warehousing  and  Low‐Intensity 
Commercial/Office northwest and northeast of airport.  

 
  The project site is characterized by approximately 117.6 acres of disturbed land and proposes a 

Change of Zone from M‐S to R‐M Urban on approximately 50.6 acres of the site. Development of 
the project site is not currently proposed. Future development of the project property may be 
required  to  consult  with  the  Riverside  County  Airport  Land  Use  Commission  (ALUC)  prior  to 
development of the site, to ensure standards of the ALUC are met. No impacts are anticipated 
relative to the Change of Zone.  

 
f) No Impact. The City of Coachella’s Technical Background Report to the Safety Element Update 

analyzes various safety hazards within the City. These potential hazards include seismic hazards, 
geologic hazards,  fire hazards, hazardous materials management and severe weather hazards. 
The preparation, response and recovery of these hazards are outlined within Chapter 7 of  the 
Technical  Background  Report.  According  to  Chapter  7,  the  City  of  Coachella  is  a  participant 
member  of  the  Riverside  County Operational  Area Multi‐Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation  Plan 
(HMP) approved by FEMA in 2005 and ongoing updates to the document.  
 
The Coachella Fire Department Station is located approximately 1 mile northwest of the project 
site, at 1377 6th Street. The closest police station to the project site is the Riverside County Sheriff 
Department Thermal Station at 86625 Airport Boulevard, approximately 2.25 miles southeast of 
the project property. The Indio Police Department, at 46800 Jackson Street, and the Indio Fire 
Department, at 46990 Jackson Street,  lies approximately 4 miles northwest of the project site. 
The  Police  Department  typically  serves  as  the  lead  organization  in  carrying  out  evacuations, 
supported by the Fire Department as appropriate. The Public Works Department typically assists 
in the identification of the best evacuation routes and in barricading the evacuated areas. 
 
As depicted in Plate 7‐2 in the Technical Background Report, major evacuation routes within the 
City  of  Coachella  includes  48th  Avenue,  50th  Avenue,  Avenue  52,  Route  86,  Harrison  Street, 

Page 307

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

72 

Grapefruit Boulevard, and Interstate 10 (I‐10) freeway. The closest major evacuation routes to the 
project  site  are  Grapefruit  Boulevard  and  Avenue  52,  which  lies  approximately  0.34  miles 
northeast, and 0.38 miles north of the project, respectively.  

 
The proposed Change of Zone project will not alter the existing circulation pattern in the project 
area or adversely impact evacuation plans, considering that the site is currently surrounded by 
developed homes and existing paved  improvements. The project  lies within the City’s General 
Plan  Urban  Employment  Center  land  use  designation.  This  land  use  designations  permit  the 
development of  residential dwelling units,  commercial uses,  and  industrial  uses.  The project’s 
northern boundary is met by Avenue 53 and residential properties; the eastern boundary is met 
by vacant land, industrial uses, and Tyler Street; the southern boundary is met by Avenue 54 and 
residential, agricultural and vacant lots; and the western boundary is met by residential homes. 
The area surrounding the project is developed with paved roadways and existing infrastructure. 
The project will not impact existing evacuation routes.  
 
As previously discussed, the project proposes a Change of Zone on approximately 117.6 acres of 
disturbed land. Future ingress and egress would occur along the existing paved roadways: Avenue 
53, Tyler Street, and Avenue 54. These roadways will also provide emergency access to the project 
site. Future parking and circulation plans will be reviewed by the Fire and Police Departments to 
assure that the project’s  ingress/egress driveways and roads are adequate for accommodating 
emergency  vehicles.  In  order  to  assure  that  the  future  development  does  not  interfere  with 
emergency  access  during  development,  a  construction  traffic  plan  may  be  required  to  be 
submitted to the Fire Department for review prior to development. The Change of Zone will have 
no impacts.  

 

g)  No Impact. Large areas of Southern California are susceptible to wildfires all year around due to 
the  region’s  weather,  topography  and  vegetation  conditions.  The  Coachella  Valley’s  hot,  dry 
summer  with  the  dry  brush  vegetation  creates  ideal  conditions  to  fuel  most  wildfires.  The 
California Board of Forestry considers wildland as important source of water, timber, minerals, 
wildlife, recreation and forage. Wildland fire protection in California is the responsibility of either 
the  State,  local  government,  or  federal  government.  Local  responsibility  areas  include 
incorporated  cities  where  fire  protection  is  typically  provided  by  City  fire  departments,  fire 
protection districts, counties and by CAL Fire under contract to local government.  

 
  The project site  is  located  in the Coachella General Plan’s Urban Employment Center  land use 

designation. It is located in an urbanized area of the City with existing residential units to the north 
and west; industrial uses, residential, and vacant lots to the east; and residential, agricultural, and 
vacant lots to the south. The Riverside County General Plan and the CAL Fire Maps for Western 
Riverside County indicate that the project and its surroundings are not located within the Very 
High  Fire  Hazard  Severity  Zone  for  both  State  or  Federal  Responsibility  Areas  and  Local 
Responsibility Areas. With the foregoing, the project would not expose people or structures to 
significant injury, loss or death due to wildfires. See the Wildfire Section of this Initial Study for 
further discussion. No impacts are anticipated.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None Required 

Page 308

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

73 

X. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY  
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge 
requirements  or  otherwise  substantially  degrade 
surface or ground water quality?  

       

b)  Substantially  decrease  groundwater  supplies  or 
interfere substantially with groundwater recharge such 
that the project may impede sustainable groundwater 
management of the basin?  

       

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the 
site  or  area,  including  through  the  alteration  of  the 
course of a stream or river or through the addition of 
impervious surfaces, in a manner that would:  

       

i) result in substantial erosion or siltation on‐ or off‐
site;  

       

ii) substantially increase the rate or amount of surface 
runoff  in a manner which would result  in flooding 
on‐ or off‐site;  

       

iii)  create  or  contribute  runoff  water  which  would 
exceed the capacity of existing or planned storm‐
water  drainage  systems  or  provide  substantial 
additional sources of polluted runoff; or  

       

iv)  impede or redirect flood flows?          

d)  In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release of 
pollutants due to project inundation?  

       

e)  Conflict  with  or  obstruct  implementation  of  a  water 
quality  control  plan  or  sustainable  groundwater 
management plan?  

       

(Sources: Flood Insurance Rate Map #06065C2270H, Federal Emergency Management Agency, March 6, 2018; 2035 
Coachella General Plan, 2015; City of Coachella, 2015 Urban Water Management Plan, 2016) 
 

Setting 
 
The Clean Water Act  (CWA) of 1972 was enacted  to  restore and maintain  the chemical, physical, and 
biological integrity of the nation’s waters by regulating the discharge of pollutants to waters of the U.S. 
from point  sources. As part of  the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System  (NPDES) program, 
subsequent amendments to the CWA established a framework for regulating non‐point source discharges 
from urban land runoff and other diffuse sources that were also found to contribute to runoff pollution. 
Under CWA, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) authorized the NPDES permit program to various 
state,  tribal,  and  territorial  governments,  enabling  them  to  perform  many  of  the  permitting, 

Page 309

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

74 

administrative, and enforcement aspects of the program. California is a delegated NPDES state and has 
authority to administer the NPDES program within its limits.  
 
The  Porter‐Cologne  Act  is  the  principal  law  governing  water  quality  regulation  for  surface  waters  in 
California.  It established a comprehensive program to protect water quality and the beneficial uses of 
water. Presently in the state of California, the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) and nine 
California Regional Water Quality Control Boards (RWQCBs) regulate and protect water quality pursuant 
to NPDES. Their regulations encompass storm water discharges from construction site, municipal separate 
storm sewer systems (MS4s), and major industrial facilities.  
 
The approved Colorado River Basin Water Quality Control Plan (Basin Plan) identifies the beneficial water 
uses,  describes  the water  quality which must  be maintained  to  support  such uses,  and describes  the 
programs, projects, and other actions necessary to achieve the standards and protect water quality. The 
proposed project is located within the Whitewater River Watershed in the Colorado River Region (Region 
7). As a component of Region 7, the Whitewater River Watershed MS4 established a compliance program 
that covers approximately 1,645 square miles, including the City of Coachella and the proposed project.  
 
The Regional Basin Plan establishes water quality standards for surface waters within the Colorado River 
region, which include designated beneficial uses of those water bodies and the levels of water quality that 
must  be met  and maintained  to  protect  those  uses.  Based  on  the  project’s  location  and  setting,  the 
nearest  receiving  water  to  the  project  is  the  Coachella  Valley  Stormwater  Channel  (CVSC),  located 
approximately 1.2 miles northeast of  the project property. CVSC  is  the primary  regional  flood  control 
facility in the eastern Coachella Valley and City of Coachella. As an unlined, engineered extension of the 
Whitewater  River,  CVSC  accepts  agricultural  irrigation  return water  and  conveys  treated wastewater, 
urban runoff, and stormwater runoff to the Salton Sea. 
 
Water bodies where the assessed water quality does not meet the standards to support the beneficial 
uses  are  regionally  listed  pursuant  to  Section  303(d)  of  the  CWA.  The  most  current  2014  and  2016 
Integrated Report (Clean Water Act Section 303(d) List/305(b) Report) indicates that portions of the CVSC 
are impaired by DDT (Dichlorodiphenyltrichoroethane), Dieldrin, Indicator Bacteria, PCBs (Polychlorinated 
Biphenyls),  and Toxaphene. These water quality  impairments are not known  to be associated with or 
caused by development. 
 
The  Chapter  13.16  (Water  Quality  Control)  of  the  Coachella  Code  of  Ordinances  serves  as  the  local 
stormwater management standard, aligning with CWA, NDPES, and MS4 provisions. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)  No  Impact.  The project proposes a  zone change on approximately 50.6 acres of  the site  from 

Manufacturing Services (M‐S) to Multiple Family Residential, Urban (R‐M, 20‐38 un/ac). The zone 
will continue to be the same for the remaining 67 acres of the site (zoned M‐S). Moreover, the 
project does not propose any construction within the site limits. However, should development 
of the site within the allowances of the proposed zonings occur, the project proponent would 
need  to comply with  the existing  regulations pertaining  to water quality  standards and waste 
discharge requirements during and after construction. As a result, the project proponent would 
have to comply with the State’s most current Construction General Permit (CGP), Order No. 2009‐
0009‐DWQ,  as  amended  by  2010‐0014‐DWQ  and  2012‐006‐DWQ.  Compliance  with  the  CGP 
involves  the  development  and  implementation  of  a  project‐specific  Storm  Water  Pollution 

Page 310

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

75 

Prevention Plan (SWPPP), designed to prevent potential adverse impacts to surface water quality 
during the period of construction. The required plan will identify the limits of disturbance during 
construction, indicating specific locations where activities will require implementation of storm 
water Best Management Practices (BMPs). Storm water BMPs refer to a schedule of activities, 
prohibitions of practices, maintenance procedures, and other management practices to prevent, 
eliminate, or reduce the pollution of water of the receiving waters. BMPs also include treatment 
requirements, operating procedures, and practices to control plant site runoff spillage or leaks. 
Consistent  with  Section  XIV  of  the  CGP,  the  required  SWPPP  will  also  specify  the  necessary 
recordkeeping,  relevant  good  site  housekeeping  requirements,  proper  waste  management, 
proper handling and storage within the allowable construction limits.  
 
Based on the project location and setting, the compliant SWPPP would be expected to identify 
temporary  sediment  track‐out prevention BMPs at  each  construction entrance/exit point  that 
eventually exits to a public street. This type of BMP provides temporary stabilization to prevent 
sediment track‐out and fugitive dust emissions from exiting the site. Linear sediment barriers may 
be warranted along portions of the construction perimeter to prevent soil erosion impacts and 
sediment  impacts.  As  construction  progresses,  any  on‐site  catch  basin  inlets  that  become 
operational will require temporary protection to prevent sediment or pollutants from entering 
the on‐site storm drain system. As a standard condition, any ground surface area disturbed by 
construction activities must be entirely covered by the SWPPP and must be properly re‐stabilized 
to satisfy the City and NPDES requirements. The BMPs will be regulated by the plan review process 
prior  to obtaining a grading permit and will be enforced as part of  the agency  site  inspection 
protocols during construction.  
 
During  construction,  the  project will  also  be  required  to  comply with  South  Coast  Air Quality 
Management District’s (SCAQMD) Rule 403 and 403.1 and the City’s Fugitive Dust Control policies, 
which establish the minimum requirement for construction and demolition activities and other 
specified  sources  in  order  to  reduce  man‐made  fugitive  dust  and  the  corresponding  PM10 
emissions. Implementation of Fugitive Dust Control Plan primarily pertains to air quality, but also 
supports  water  quality  protection  through  the  requirement  of  soil  stabilization  measures  to 
prevent sediment erosion and track‐out. The concurrent implementation of the required SWPPP 
and  Dust  Control  Plan  plans will  prevent  the  potential  construction‐related  impacts  to  water 
quality at the site and its surroundings, therefore, resulting in less than significant impacts. 
 
The  proposed  zone  change  involves  approximately  117.6  acres  of  land  that  is  made  up  of 
agricultural  and  vacant  disturbed  land. As  previously mentioned,  the  current  condition of  the 
property exhibits a relatively flat topography with varying vegetation coverage due to mixed use. 
At the time of writing, the project only proposes a zone change, thus, development of the site is 
not expected at this time. If construction within the project limits were to ever occur, the project 
proponent  must  develop  and  implement  a  project‐specific  Water  Quality  Management  Plan 
(WQMP)  to  comply  with  the  most  current  standards  of  the Whitewater  River  Region Water 
Quality Management Plan for Urban Runoff and the Whitewater River Watershed MS4 Permit. In 
addition, the project will be required to design and implement an on‐site stormwater retention 
system that, during the life of the project, will comply with the City’s drainage requirements by 
preventing  site  discharge  and  transport  of  untreated  runoff.  Proposed  storm  drain  systems 
include facilities which have been preliminarily sized to provide sufficient storage for the 100‐year 
controlling storm event.   
 

Page 311

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

76 

If any development within the site should occur, a project‐specific WQMP and Hydrology Report 
would be necessary to identify a strategy of site design, source controls, and treatment controls 
with a required operation and maintenance program to address post‐construction runoff quality 
and  quantity.  To  achieve  this,  a  potential  project  would  be  divided  into  multiple  drainage 
management areas with corresponding underground retention facilities. Runoff from impervious 
areas  of  the  potential  project  (buildings,  hardscape,  asphalt)  would  then  be  conveyed  to  a 
corresponding underground retention facility sized to collect and percolate the entire stormwater 
volume resulting  from the controlling 100‐year storm event. A site plan, grading design,  catch 
basin design, and retention facility design specific to the potential project would be factored in 
the project‐specific WQMP development and documentation. The project design would also be 
subject to City review and approval. Additionally, during future construction and operation, future 
project implementation would be required to comply with CWA, NPDES, and local regulations to 
prevent  impacts  to water quality  standards and  the beneficial uses assigned  to  local  receiving 
waters.  Finally,  proposed  stormwater  capture  and  management  strategies  prepared  for  the 
potential  project  would  prevent  urban  runoff  and  waste  discharge  violations  through  the 
implementation of properly sized retention facilities. During construction and operation, future 
development  will  be  required  to  comply  with  CWA,  NPDES,  and  local  regulations  to  prevent 
impacts to water quality standards and the beneficial uses assigned to local receiving waters. No 
impacts are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone.   

   
b)  No Impact. The Coachella Water Authority (CWA) is the primary domestic water purveyor for the 

City of Coachella and the project area, primarily relying on groundwater as the primary supply. 
The  project  area  and  City  of  Coachella  are  underlain  by  the  East  (Lower)  Whitewater  River 
Subbasin,  which  forms  part  of  the  Coachella  Valley  groundwater  basin.  The  East  (Lower) 
Whitewater River Subbasin is managed regionally by a collaborative effort by multiple agencies. 
The  collaboration  among  CWA,  CVWD,  and  other  local  water  districts  has  resulted  in  an 
established water conservation, water reuse, and groundwater recharge strategy to ensure water 
availability and system capacity to meet the growing needs of the City. These planning efforts 
include: residential and commercial landscape and irrigation upgrade rebates, water audits, water 
conservation  kits,  budget‐tiered  rate  structure,  water  conservation  workshops,  and  a 
Memorandum of Understanding  between  the  City  and  CVWD  to  help  ensure  a  sufficient  and 
reliable water supply for development projects within the City and in its Sphere of Influence. 
 
In  2014,  the  California  Legislature  signed  a  three‐bill  legislative  package  into  law,  collectively 
known as the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA).  SGMA allows local agencies to 
manage groundwater resources in a sustainable manner, with management efforts tailored to the 
resources and needs of their specific communities. Groundwater management is described as the 
planned  and  coordinated  monitoring,  operation,  and  administration  of  groundwater  basin 
sustainability.  As  part  of  this  effort,  the  Coachella Water  Authority was  elected  to  serve  as  a 
groundwater  sustainability  agency  (GSA)  to  develop  and  implement  the  Groundwater 
Sustainability Plan. Since groundwater management has been a historic effort  in the Coachella 
Valley, local agencies, including Coachella Water Authority, have been able to adapt their current 
measures as part of their sustainability plan. 
 
Local  groundwater  resources  are  managed  under  the  2015  City  of  Coachella  Urban  Water 
Management Plan  (2015 UWMP).  The 2015 UWMP serves  as  a planning  tool  that documents 
actions in support of long‐term water resources planning and ensures adequate water supplies 
are available to meet the existing and future urban water demands.  

Page 312

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

77 

 
The 2015 UWMP indicates that the Coachella Valley groundwater basin historically has been in a 
state of overdraft. An overdraft condition occurs when the outflows (demands) exceed the inflows 
(supplies) to the groundwater basin over a period of time. To address this condition, the Coachella 
Water  Authority  and  other  domestic  water  suppliers  like  CVWD  have  implemented  water 
conservation  measures  and  groundwater  replenishment  efforts  to  stabilize  the  groundwater 
levels and eliminate the overdraft condition. Artificial replenishment, or recharge, is recognized 
by  the  water  districts  as  one  of  the  most  effective  methods  available  for  preserving  local 
groundwater supplies, reversing aquifer overdraft and meeting demand by domestic consumers. 
According to the CVWD web site on Ground Replenishment and Imported Water, local agencies 
have percolated over 650 billion gallons of water back into the aquifer to date.  In the eastern 
Coachella  Valley,  Thomas  E.  Levy  Groundwater  Replenishment  Facility  is  the  primary  site  for 
groundwater  recharge. This  facility operates by recharging water obtained  from the Coachella 
Canal at a capacity of 40,000 acre‐feet per year (AFY). 
 
Combined with water conservation and efficiency requirements, individual development projects 
can contribute to groundwater sustainability by  implementing  the required stormwater runoff 
retention and infiltration facilities. 
 
The  project’s  location  and  setting  will  not  impede  the  process  of  any  existing  or  planned 
groundwater recharge facility, such that it would disrupt sustainable groundwater management 
in this manner. The project proposes a zone change, and no development is expected at this time. 
If  the project were  to begin development within  the parameters of  the proposed  zoning,  the 
subsequent project will be required to align with the  local and regional groundwater recharge 
strategies  by  implementing  on‐site  retention,  infiltration  and  low  impact  development 
improvements as part of  the  site design. Project’s  stormwater management design  includes a 
system of on‐site retention basins designed to collect and infiltrate storm water runoff resulting 
from  the  controlling  100‐year  event.  Based  on  the  preliminary  engineering  estimates,  the 
proposed  underground  retention  structures  will  have  a  combined  capacity  of  approximately 
60,524 cubic feet. As such, the entire volume of stormwater runoff generated on‐site up to the 
100‐year event will be percolated on‐site, contributing to groundwater recharge.  
 
Furthermore, any future development within the project site will implement water conservation 
measures  in  accordance  with  the  2015  UWMP.  These  measures  include  water  efficient 
landscaping and irrigation and water efficient plumbing and appliances. The subsequent project 
will be required  to conserve water  through measures  that may  include efficient  irrigation and 
drought‐tolerant planting materials. Therefore,  the Change of Zone will not  interfere with  the 
regional groundwater recharge efforts or groundwater sustainability for the regional basins. No 
impacts are anticipated.  
 

c.i)  No Impact. As discussed previously, the project site consists of vacant land with a relatively flat 
terrain and varying vegetation coverage absent of any on‐site natural drainage features or courses 
attributed to any stream or river. The site does, however, contain a human‐made water reservoir 
used  for  agricultural  purposes  in  the  center  of  the  site.  The  site  also  lacks  any  human‐made 
drainage controls, including fully improved curb and gutter improvements along its entire existing 
frontage.  Runoff  resulting  from precipitation  events would  have  the  propensity  to  follow  the 
elevation gradient toward the southeast, but no defined drainage paths, depressions, or basins 
are  present.  The  nearest  defined  drainage  feature  to  the  project  is  the  engineered  Coachella 

Page 313

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

78 

Valley  Stormwater  Channel  (CVSC),  located  approximately  1.2  miles  northeast.  This  channel 
accepts urban runoff from developed and undeveloped areas throughout the City of Coachella 
and other upstream jurisdictions.  
 
The project site is composed of undeveloped land in the form of vacant land, and farmland. As 
such, future development within the project site will result in the conversion of largely pervious 
(undeveloped) land cover into a largely impervious condition.   
 
The increase in impervious land cover would normally result in an increase in the rate and amount 
of surface runoff produced by a site. As a project design feature and in compliance with the local 
drainage  requirements,  future  proposed  projects  will  be  required  to  include  an  on‐site 
stormwater  retention  system  that,  during  the  life  of  the  project,  will  capture  and  infiltrate 
stormwater runoff up to the controlling 100‐year storm event. Implementation of such designs 
will  ensure  that  runoff  from throughout  the  impervious  surfaces are adequately  conveyed via 
concrete‐lined, drainage swales, or underground pipes to the designated underground retention 
points. Any existing erosion or siltation attributed to the undeveloped condition will be replaced 
with the properly designed conveyances and facilities. No impacts are anticipated related to the 
Change of Zone. 
 

c.ii)  No Impact. According to the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance 
Rate Maps (FIRMs) (Panel 06065C2270H), the entire project property is  located within Zone X, 
which applies to areas of 0.2 % annual chance flood; areas of 1% annual chance flood with average 
depths of less than 1 foot or with drainage areas of less than 1 square mile; and areas protected 
by levees from 1% annual chance flood. Furthermore, this flood zone is categorized as an area of 
minimal flood hazard. As such, future development would be required to implement storm drain 
and flood control improvements specific to the site. With the application of these improvements, 
future  development within  the  site will  not  be  expected  to  substantially  increase  the  rate  or 
amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result in flooding on‐ or off‐site. No impacts 
are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone.  

 
c.iii)  No  Impact. As previously discussed,  the project will not  introduce stormwater  runoff  into  the 

municipal stormwater system due to the undeveloped nature of the site. Additionally, any future 
development will  be  required  to  implement  an  on‐site  stormwater  retention  system  sized  to 
accept  and  percolate  runoff  from  the  controlling  100‐year  storm  event.  Runoff  from  the 
impervious surfaces introduced by potential future development will not be directly connected 
to the municipal stormwater system, such that it would exceed its capacity or introduce additional 
sources  of  runoff  pollution.  The  City  is  currently  in  the  process  of  developing  its  stormwater 
master plan, which will factor land use projects with and without on‐site retention facilities. In 
complying  with  the  applicable  retention  requirements,  future  projects  are  not  expected  to 
interfere with the City’s stormwater master planning efforts currently underway. No impacts are 
anticipated relative to the Change of Zone. 

 
c.iv)  No Impact. As previously discussed, the project is absent of any mapped natural drainage courses 

or designated FEMA zones with flood flow concerns. In addition, the site is not situated in an area 
where  flood  flows  could  be  impeded,  redirected,  or  increased  as  a  result  of  potential  site 
construction.  Future  construction  projects  on‐site  will  be  required  to  develop  storm  drain 
improvement plans that will be required to meet the local MS4 and City requirements by including 
properly sized retention facilities. No impacts are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone. 

Page 314

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

79 

 
d)  No Impact. Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs) serve as the basis for identifying potential flood 

hazards.  According  to  FIRM  panel  06065C2270H,  effective March  6,  2018,  the  entire  Subject 
Property is located within Zone X, which applies to areas of 0.2 % annual chance flood; areas of 
1% annual chance flood with average depths of less than 1 foot or with drainage areas of less than 
1 square mile; and areas protected by  levees  from 1% annual chance flood. Furthermore,  this 
flood zone is categorized as an area of minimal flood hazard. The project is not located near any 
coastal areas and therefore is not prone to tsunami hazards. The project is not located near any 
body of water and therefore is not prone to seiche hazards. The project is proposing a zone change 
from Manufacturing Services (M‐S) to Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) Urban on approximately 
50.6 acres of the site. The remaining 67 acres will not change its current zoning designation of M‐
S. No development is proposed at this time. Additionally, the site is currently considered either 
vacant land or farmland. Moreover, development of the proposed residential zoning will not host 
the storage of pollutants, petroleum products, or other hazardous materials in conditions which 
would  be  deemed  a  risk  of  release  in  an  inundation  condition.  Therefore,  no  impacts  are 
anticipated.  

 
e)  No Impact. As discussed previously, any future development within the project will be required 

to  implement a project‐specific Water Quality Management Plan  (WQMP)  to comply with  the 
most  current  standards  of  the Whitewater  River  Region Water Quality Management  Plan  for 
Urban Runoff, Whitewater River Watershed MS4 Permit, and the City of Coachella’s Water Quality 
Control regulations outlined in the Code of Ordinances (Chapter 13.16). A WQMP incorporates 
grading, hydrology, and other plans to document the site design, source controls, and treatment 
controls with a required operation and maintenance program to comply with the hierarchy water 
quality objectives. Combined with the required water conservation practices, future development 
within  the  project  site  is  expected  to  contribute  to  the  groundwater  sustainability  efforts 
implemented for the Coachella Valley region. No impacts are anticipated related to the Change 
of Zone. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 315

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

80 

XI. LAND USE AND PLANNING  
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Physically divide an established community?          

b)  Cause  a  significant  environmental  impact  due  to  a 
conflict  with  any  land  use  plan,  policy,  or  regulation 
adopted  for  the  purpose  of  avoiding  or  mitigating  an 
environmental effect?  

       

(Sources: City of Coachella 2035 General Plan Update, 2015; Coachella Municipal Code) 

 
Setting 
 
On‐site and Vicinity Land Uses 
 
Per the City of Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU), residential land uses (which include single family, 
multi‐family and other) occupy approximately 1,339 acres of the City. This makes up almost 4 percent of 
the total area within the City, while vacant land occupies approximately 53 percent. Agricultural land uses 
occupy  33  percent  of  the  City’s  area,  being  the  second  largest  land  use  classification  in  the  City. 
Transportation,  communications,  and  utilities  is  the  third  largest  land  use,  covering  approximately  6 
percent of the City. Commercial land uses occupy approximately 138 acres (0.4 percent) in the City. The 
site of the proposed project is currently characterized by disturbed land, used previously for agricultural 
purposes.  
 
The project site is primarily surrounded by developed, single family residential homes to the north and 
west;  vacant  land,  industrial  uses,  and  residential  to  the  west;  and  vacant  lots,  residential  lots,  and 
agricultural  lots  to  the  south.  Avenue  53  delineates  the  property’s  northern  boundary,  Tyler  Street 
partially delineates the property’s eastern boundary, and Avenue 54 delineates the property’s southern 
boundary.  
 
Existing General Plan Land Use Designations 
 
Future development of the project site and all lands within the City of Coachella are subject to land use 
and other development related goals and policies contained  in  the recently adopted City of Coachella 
General Plan 2035, and the codified regulations, standards and other criteria provided in the Coachella 
Municipal  Code.  The  current General  Plan Update  Land Use  designation  for  the  project  site  is Urban 
Employment Center. Urban Employment Center land use designations are established to provide a range 
of employment uses  to help expand and diversify  the City’s economy and transform Coachella  from a 
small town into a full‐service City. These centers are the primary location for office and professional jobs, 
supported by retail, services and homes. 
 
Existing Zoning Designations 
 
The existing zone for project site is Manufacturing Service (M‐S), as designated by the City of Coachella. 
M‐S zones are intended to provide for and encourage the orderly development of light manufacturing, 
wholesaling,  and  commercial  service within  the  community.  Such  areas  are  vital  to  the  community’s 
economic health and well‐being. The provisions of this zone are intended to ensure that manufacturing 

Page 316

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

81 

service areas will be compatible with adjacent, non‐industrial development and will protect such areas 
from potential hazards of industrial development (Coachella Municipal Code Chapter 17.30).  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No  Impact.  The  project  site  is  currently  located  on  disturbed  land,  surrounded  by  existing, 

developed properties. Single‐family residential communities are  located north and west of the 
project; industrial uses, vacant lots and a residential community are located east of the project; 
and  residential,  agricultural,  and  vacant  lots  are  located  south  of  the  project.    Avenue  53 
delineates  the  property’s  northern  boundary,  Tyler  Street  partially  delineates  the  property’s 
eastern boundary, and Avenue 54 delineates the property’s southern boundary. The boundaries 
of the existing residential units that surround the project property are clearly separated from the 
project  site,  by  either  fencing  or  block  walls,  or  paved  roads.  The  existing  communities  are 
developed and operate independently from the project property. Therefore, the project site is 
not anticipated to physically divide an established community. No impact. 

 
b) Less  Than  Significant  Impact.  As  stated  previously,  the  subject  property  occurs  in  an  area 

designated  for  Urban  Employment  Center,  according  to  the  General  Plan  Map.  Urban 
Employment Centers land uses allow 30 to 65 dwelling units per acre (un/ac), and a floor area 
ratio (FAR) of 0.5 to 2.0.   
 
General Plan Consistency  
 
The project proposes  to process a Change of Zone  to  facilitate  the development of a housing 
community available within the Urban Employment Center land use designations established by 
the City of Coachella. Project design features and land use operations shall be consistent with the 
General Plan land use designations.  

 
Zoning Consistency 
 
The City’s Official Zoning Map identifies the project to be located in Manufacturing Service Zone 
(M‐S). M‐S zones are  intended to provide for and encourage the orderly development of  light 
manufacturing, wholesaling, and commercial service within the community. Such areas are vital 
to the community’s economic health and well‐being. The provisions of this zone are intended to 
ensure  that  manufacturing  service  areas  will  be  compatible  with  adjacent,  non‐industrial 
development and will protect such areas from potential hazards of industrial development.  
 
The approximately 117.6‐acre project proposes a Change of Zone (CZ) to change the current M‐S 
zone to R‐M Urban (25‐38 un/ac) on approximately 50.6 acres of the project site. R‐M Urban zones 
allow for 20 to 38 un/ac. The remaining 67 acres of the site will continue to operate under the M‐
S designation.  
 
Chapter 17.20 of the Coachella Municipal Code states that R‐M zones are intended to provide for 
the  establishment  and  expansion  of multiple‐family  residential  development  areas  at  various 
medium and high population densities and related community services. R‐M zones allows higher 
density  residential  developments  and  is  consistent  with  the  Urban  Neighborhood  land  use, 
designated  by  the  General  Plan.  The  increased  land  use  density  will  provide  much  needed 
affordable  housing  to  the  City  of  Coachella. M‐S  zones,  as  previously  stated,  are  intended  to 

Page 317

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

82 

provide  for  and  encourage  the  orderly  development  of  light manufacturing, wholesaling,  and 
commercial service within the community.  
 
The proposed R‐M Urban and M‐S zones are consistent with the existing General Plan land use 
designations of Urban Employment Center. As previously stated, Urban Employment Center land 
use designations permit 30 to 65 un/ac. 

 
The CZ would permit an increased density and intensity allowed on the project site, compared to 
the existing M‐S zoning designation. The proposed project would allow the development of much 
needed affordable housing units in the City.   
 
Future development will participate in Architecture Review as part of the entitlement process. 
Overall,  the  Change  of  Zone  will  comply  with  the  land  use  policies  provided  by  the  City  of 
Coachella to ensure impacts are less than significant.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 318

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

83 

XII. MINERAL RESOURCES  
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Result  in  the  loss  of  availability  of  a  known  mineral 
resource that would be of value to the region and the 
residents of the state?  

       

b)  Result  in  the  loss of availability of a  locally  important 
mineral  resource  recovery  site  delineated  on  a  local 
general plan, specific plan or other land use plan?  

       

(Sources:  Coachella  2035 General  Plan,  2015;  California Division  of Mines  and Geology,  1987;  Riverside  County 
General Plan, 2015) 

 
Setting 
 
Riverside County emphasizes the importance of mineral resources and its protection. For this reason, the 
State Mining and Geology Board (SMGB) listed and prioritized the mineral deposits in Riverside County. 
These Mineral  Resource  Zones  (MRZ)  help  identify mineral  deposits  that  need  to  be  protected  from 
encroaching urbanization and  land uses  incompatible with mining. The SMGB categorized  the mineral 
resources into six zones and identifies designation as having either a regional or a statewide economic 
significance. The purpose of these designations is to identify those areas that are of prime importance in 
meeting the future needs of the study region and protect these areas from a land use perspective.   
 
As described in Section VII of this document, the sedimentary units in the Coachella area are composed 
of a mix of water‐transported alluvial sand, silt, clay, and gravel derived from erosion of the adjacent hills 
and mountains and very fine‐grained ancient lake deposits. Very young, unconsolidated alluvial sediments 
line  the drainage  courses.  The existing and potential mineral  resources  in Coachella  include  sand and 
gravel, clay, oil and gas, and geothermal. 
 
The project site is located in the City of Coachella’s Light Industrial land use designations, specifically zoned 
as Manufacturing Services  (M‐S). The project proposes a Change of Zone from M‐S to Multiple Family 
Residential, Urban (R‐M, 20‐38 un/ac) on approximately 50.6 acres of the site. The remainder of the site 
(approximately  67  acres)  will  continue  to  operate  under  the  existing  M‐S  zoning  designation.  The 
proposed zones are consistent with  the project’s  land use designations of Urban Employment Center, 
established by the Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU). 
 
As stated throughout this document, the project site has been utilized for agricultural operations from 
the  1950s  to  recent  years.  The  project  site  is  currently  disturbed  due  to  the  development  of  the 
surrounding  land uses, and the previous agricultural operations  that  took place. According  to  the U.S. 
Department of Agriculture, the soil types present at the project site include Coachella fine sandy loam 
(CsA), Gilman silt loam (GfA), and Indio very fine sandy loam (It).  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a‐b)  No Impact. The project site is designated as Mineral Resource Zone 1 (MRZ‐1) by the State Mining 

and Geology Board. Available geological information indicates that areas within this designated 
zone have little likelihood of significant mineral resources (Riverside County General Plan 2015). 

Page 319

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

84 

The  project  site  also  occurs  in  an Urban  Employment  Center  land  use  designation  and  is  not 
designated for mineral resource land uses. The proposed zone change, therefore, will not result 
in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the region and the 
residents of the state. 

 
Due to the mineral resource designation by the State Mining and Geology Board, and the land use 
designation selected by the City, the proposed zone change is not expected to result in the loss of 
availability of a locally important mineral resource recovery site defined on a local general plan, 
specific  plans  or  other  land  use  plans.  No  project‐related  impacts  to  mineral  resources  are 
anticipated. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 320

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

85 

XIII. NOISE  
 
 
Would the project result in: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Generation  of  a  substantial  temporary  or  permanent 
increase  in  ambient noise  levels  in  the  vicinity of  the 
project  in excess of  standards established  in  the  local 
general  plan  or  noise  ordinance,  or  applicable 
standards of other agencies?  

       

b)  Generation  of  excessive  groundborne  vibration  or 
groundborne noise levels?  

       

c)  For  a  project  located  within  the  vicinity  of  a  private 
airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where such a plan 
has  not  been  adopted,  within  two  miles  of  a  public 
airport or public use airport, would the project expose 
people  residing  or  working  in  the  project  area  to 
excessive noise levels?  

       

(Sources: Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015) 
 

Setting 
 
Noise 
 
Noise is simply defined as “unwanted sound.” Sound becomes unwanted when it interferes with normal 
activities, causing physical harm or causing adverse effects on health. Noise is measured on a logarithmic 
scale of pressure level known as a decibel (dB). An A‐weighted decibel (dBA) is an expression of the relative 
loudness of sounds in air as perceived by the human ear. In the A‐weighted system, the decibel values of 
sounds at  low frequencies are reduced compared with unweighted decibels,  in which no correction  is 
made for audio frequency. Excessive noise or prolonged exposure to noise can contribute to temporary 
and  permanent  impairments,  such  as  hearing  loss,  fatigue,  stress,  sleep  deprivation,  anxiety,  and 
annoyance. Although noise has been accepted as a necessary by‐product of urban development, it can 
become an environmental hazard. A variety of components of the urban environment generate noise; 
these include construction equipment and activities, motor vehicles, air traffic, mechanical equipment, 
household  appliances,  and other  sources.  Figure 4.10‐1  in  the Coachella General  Plan Update  (CGPU) 
Environmental  Impact  Report  (EIR)  outlines  common  indoor  and  outdoor  noise  levels.  The  figure  is 
provided below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 321

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

86 

Figure XIII‐1 Examples of Typical Sound Levels 

 
Source: City of Coachella, Noise Technical Appendix, Figure 1, 2015.  

 
Noise transmission is affected by a variety of factors, such as temperature, wind speed and direction, as 
well as the type of ground surface. Soft ground surfaces tend to reduce sound levels better than hard 
surfaces. This reduction of sound intensity caused by surfaces, walls, vegetation, or other material is called 
attenuation. A drop off rate of 4.5 dBA per doubling distance is typical across soft ground. In comparison, 
hard  ground,  such  as  concrete,  stone,  and  hard  packed  earth  reduce  sound  by  3.0  dBA  per  doubling 
distance. Effective noise barriers, such as walls or berms, can help reduce noise levels by 10 to 15 decibels. 
These types of barriers can provide relief from traffic noise. Vegetation, on the other hand, is less effective 
for reducing noise levels. For a noise barrier to work, walls need to be high enough and long enough to 
block the view of a road. 
 
The State of California requires each city and county to adopt Noise Elements as a part of their General 
Plan. In addition to the 12 Land Use Categories included in the Noise Element, there are 4 Community 

Page 322

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

87 

Noise Equivalent Level’s (CNEL), in order to interpret the compatibility of the 12 Land Use Categories. Zone 
A  (Green)  –  Clearly  Compatible,  Zone B  (Yellow)  – Normally  Compatible,  Zone C  (Orange)  – Normally 
Incompatible, Zone D (Red) Clearly Incompatible. The four zones of compatibility are dependent on the 
Land Use Categories (Figure 10‐1 Coachella General Plan Update). Figure 10‐1 from the CGPU is provided 
below.  
 

Figure 10‐1 Coachella Land Use/Noise Compatibility Matrix 

 
 
Noise levels are generally low in agricultural and rural areas, and higher in more urbanized areas. Noise in 
eastern Coachella Valley is generally related to linear sources, or “noise corridors,” such as roadways and 
railroads, or to aircraft. Within the General Plan area, principal noise corridors are major roadways such 
as Highway 111 and Highway 86/86S; Southern Pacific Railroad; Harrison Street and Polk Street; and the 

Page 323

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

88 

Jacqueline Cochran Regional Airport. Other  sources  of  vehicular  noise  include  the  local  streets  in  the 
General  Plan  area.  Transportation noise  is  concentrated  along  these  roadways  and  can  vary with  the 
volume of traffic, the vehicular speed, the vehicular mix, and the roadway cross‐section. 
 
The  project  site  is  located  on  the  northwest  corner  of  Avenue  54  and  Tyler  Street.  As  part  of  the 
development of the Noise Element of the General Plan, noise level measurements were collected at 11 
different  locations  throughout  the  City.  The  measurement  locations  were  selected  on  the  basis  of 
proximity to major noise sources, noise sensitivity of nearby land uses, and obtaining a representative 
sample of different noise environments throughout the community. The closest noise measurement to 
the  project  site  occurred  at  Shady  Lane  Park,  at  the  northeast  corner  of  Avenue  52  and  Shady  Lane 
(approximately 0.40 miles north of the project site) at 10:22 a.m. The noise level measurement at this 
location was 62.7 dBA. The second closest measurement to the project site occurred at Harrison Street, 
south of Valley Road  (approximately 0.54 miles northwest of  the project site). This measurement was 
taken at 1:56 p.m. The noise level measurement at this location was 68.6 dBA. Contours of 70 dBA are 
rated normally compatible with residential land use categories. According to the City’s Noise Technical 
Appendix, high traffic volumes do not occur on Avenue 53, Avenue 54, or Tyler Street (north, south, and 
east of the project, respectively). 
 
Interior and exterior noise standards for the City of Coachella are outlined in Table 4.10‐3 in the Noise 
Element of  the CGPU EIR and displayed below.  In Coachella,  interior  and exterior noise  standards  for 
residential communities are 45 dB (interior) and 65 dB (exterior).  
 

Table XIII‐1 Coachella Interior and Exterior Noise Standards 

 

Page 324

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

89 

 
 
Vibration 
 
Vibration  is  sound radiated through  the ground. The rumbling sound caused by  the vibration of  room 
surfaces  is  called  groundborne  noise.  Groundborne  vibration  is  almost  exclusively  a  concern  inside 
buildings  and  is  rarely  perceived  as  a  problem  outdoors.  Groundborne  vibration  related  to  human 
annoyance is generally related to root mean square (RMS) velocity levels expressed in vibration decibels 
(VdB).  However,  construction‐related  groundborne  vibration  in  relation  to  its  potential  for  building 
damage can also be measured in inches per second (in/sec) peak particle velocity (PPV), as determined by 
the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) (2006).  
 
The background vibration velocity level in residential and educational areas is usually around 50 VdB. The 
vibration velocity level threshold of perception for humans is approximately 65 VdB. A vibration velocity 
level of 75 VdB  is  the approximate dividing  line between barely perceptible and distinctly perceptible 
levels for many people. Most perceptible indoor vibration is caused by sources within buildings, such as 
operation of mechanical equipment, movement of people, or  the slamming of doors. Typical outdoor 
sources  of  perceptible  groundborne  vibration  are  construction  equipment,  steel‐wheeled  trains,  and 
traffic on rough roads. If a roadway is smooth, the groundborne vibration of traffic is rarely perceptible. 
The range of  interest  is from approximately 50 VdB, which is the typical background vibration velocity 
level, to 100 VdB, which is the general threshold where minor damage can occur in fragile buildings.  
 
The project site is located on approximately 117.6 acres on the northwest corner of Avenue 54 and Tyler 
Street. Surrounding  land uses  includes residential communities  to the north and west;  industrial uses, 
residential  and vacant  lots  to  the east; and  residential,  agricultural,  and vacant  lots  to  the  south. The 
project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  from  the  existing  designation  of Manufacturing  Service  (M‐S)  to 
Multiple  Family  Residential,  Urban  (R‐M,  20‐38  un/ac)  on  approximately  50.6  acres  of  the  site.  The 
remaining 67 acres will continue to be designated under the existing M‐S zone. The land use designation 

Page 325

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

90 

for the project property is Urban Employment Center. The existing land use designations are compatible 
with the proposed Change of Zone.  
 
The project does not currently propose development on the project property and a site plan does not 
currently exist. However, analysis of noise generated by the proposed zone changes is provided in this 
Noise discussion. All future activities within the project property will be required to adhere to the City’s 
Noise Ordinance. Project‐related impacts to noise and vibration will be less than significant. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a)  No  Impact.  As  stated  above  in  the  Setting,  the  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  on 

approximately 50.6 acres of the site from M‐S to R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac). The remainder of the 
site does not propose a Change of  Zone and will  continue  to be  designated M‐S.  The project 
property  is  currently  disturbed  and  vacant,  however,  previous  onsite  operations  included 
agricultural uses. Land uses surrounding the project includes residential communities, industrial 
uses, vacant lots, and agricultural lots.   

 
  According  to  the  CGPU,  noise  sources  in  the  City  can  be  divided  into  two  basic  categories, 

transportation  sources  (primarily  traffic)  and  non‐transportation  sources;  however, 
transportation sources are by  far  the  largest contributor  to noise  in Coachella. Project‐related 
construction and operational noise impacts are discussed in greater detail below.  
 
Construction 
 
Construction of future development would include development of residential and industrial uses 
on  approximately  117.6  acres  of  land  previously  used  for  agriculture.  Construction  activities 
include  site  preparation  (i.e.,  clearing,  watering  the  site),  grading,  building  construction,  and 
paving the site; all activities that impact the noise environment.  
 
Sensitive  receptors  are  located  near  to  the  potential  project  construction  site  of  future 
development. In order to mitigate the potential noise impacts generated by construction, the City 
of  Coachella  established  hours  of  construction  permitted  for  projects  adjacent  to  sensitive 
receptors. The restriction on hours of construction would keep any such construction activities at 
the nearest sensitive receptor from significantly interfering with people’s sleep or morning and 
evening activities. Section 7.04.070 of the Coachella Municipal Code (CMC) specifically exempts 
noise sources associated with construction, erection, demolition, alteration, repair, addition to or 
improvement  of  any  building,  structure,  road  or  improvement  to  realty,  provided  that  such 
activities take place during daytime hours, as follows: 

 
  October 1st through April 30th 
    Monday – Friday: 6:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 
    Saturday/Sunday/Holidays: 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
 
  May 1st through September 30th 
    Monday – Friday: 5:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 
    Saturday/Sunday/Holidays: 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
 

Page 326

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

91 

During construction, future development shall follow common industry standards that will help 
limit  noise  level  increases.  For  example,  construction  equipment,  fixed  or  mobile,  should  be 
equipped and properly operating and maintained mufflers and the engines should be equipped 
with shrouds. Approved haul routes shall be used to minimize exposure of sensitive receptors to 
potential  adverse  levels  from  hauling  operations.  Construction  equipment  shall  be  in  proper 
working  order  and  maintained  to  reduce  backfires.  To  maintain  normal  noise  levels  during 
construction and vehicle movement on/off the project site, the staging area(s) will be required to 
maintain a safe minimal distance from the nearby residences to avoid high noise levels.  
 
Additionally,  future  construction  traffic  and  equipment  are  also  anticipated  to  generate noise 
along access routes during future development of the site. The larger pieces of heavy equipment 
would be moved onto  the development during  their associated construction activity  (i.e.,  site 
preparation, grading, etc.). Daily transportation of construction workers and the hauling materials 
both on and off the project site are expected to cause increases in noise levels along surrounding 
roadways.  However,  vehicle  movement  on/off  the  project  site  shall  occur  within  the  City 
designated construction times.  

 
  Operation 
 

The Change of Zone project proposes Urban Employment Center land use designations. Primary 
project‐related operational noise sources will include vehicular traffic accessing the site, grounds 
maintenance equipment, and heating ventilation and air  conditioning  (HVAC) units. Stationary 
noise and traffic noise generated by the proposed project are discussed subsequently.  
 
Stationary Noise  
 
Stationary noise generated by the proposed project’s R‐M and M‐S zones will include activities 
normally associated with residential communities. These activities include the operation of HVAC 
units, people talking, parking area noise, car alarms, trash pick‐ups, and landscaping and property 
maintenance equipment (i.e. lawn mowers). People talking at a normal level typically has a noise 
level of 60 to 65 dBA, while louder activities such as operating HVAC equipment and car alarms 
typically  lie within the moderately loud range of 65 to 80 dBA, and garbage trucks can be very 
loud at 100 dBA. However, these activities are typically temporary and intermittent; therefore, 
stationary noise generated by  the proposed project  is not anticipated  to  increase  the existing 
ambient noise environment substantially. 
 
Table 4.10‐3 in the CGPU EIR’s Noise Element outlines the interior and exterior noise standards 
for the various land uses within the City (this table is also included in the Setting discussion of this 
Noise section). Per Table 4.10‐3, residential land uses are permitted to have a maximum exterior 
noise standard of 65 dB (energy average CNEL), and interior noise standard of 45 dB. The 45 dB 
noise level for residential interiors is the requirement with closed windows (excluding bathrooms, 
toilets, closets, and corridors). Interior noise can be mitigated by using standard building materials 
during construction of the residential structures.  
 
The  outdoor  environment  is  limited  to  private  yard  of  single  family  residence, multi‐purpose 
private patio or balcony which is served by means of exit from inside; mobile home park, hospital 
patio, park’s picnic area, school’s playground, and hotel and motel recreation area. The Coachella 
Land Use/Noise Compatibility Matrix (CGPU, Figure 10‐1) defines noise levels up to 70 CNEL within 

Page 327

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

92 

residential developments (single‐family, duplex, and multiple family) to be normally compatible. 
Noise  levels  exceeding  70  dBA  CNEL  are  categorized  as  normally  incompatible  and  clearly 
incompatible in residential land uses.  
 
Per the Noise Element in the CGPU, the goal is to create a community where excessive noise from 
stationary  sources  is  minimized  through  policies  such  as  the  City  noise  ordinance  and  noise 
control. Chapter 7.04.030 of the Coachella Municipal Code states that regardless of whether an 
objective measurement by sound level meter is involved, it shall be unlawful for any person to 
make, continue, or cause to be made or continued, within the city limits any disturbing excessive 
or offensive noise or vibration which causes discomfort or annoyance to any reasonable person 
of normal sensitivity residing in the area or that is plainly audible at a distance greater than fifty 
(50) feet from the sources point for any purpose. The following ten‐minute average sound level 
limits, unless otherwise specifically indicated, shall apply as indicated in the following table as it 
relates to a fixed noise source. 
 

Zone  Time 
Applicable Ten‐Minute Average 

Decibel Limit (A‐weighted) 

Residential – All Zones 
6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.  55 

10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.  45 

 
Maintenance  of  the  project  site  is  anticipated  to  include  activities,  such  as  landscaping  and 
gardening, that create a stationary source of noise. Chapter 7.04.075 of the Coachella Municipal 
Code states that noise associated with property maintenance activity and all portable blowers, 
lawnmowers, edgers, or similar devices shall be prohibited except during the following hours: 
 

Date  Permitted Hours of Property Maintenance 

October 1st through April 30th  Monday – Sunday: 9:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

May 1st through September 30th 
Monday – Friday: 8:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

Saturday and Sunday: 9:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

*Property maintenance activities shall not occur on holidays. 

 
Notwithstanding  the hours of permitted operations,  such equipment  that  constitutes a public 
nuisance  may  be  abated  as  otherwise  provided  in  the  Noise  Control  Chapter  of  the  City’s 
Municipal Code.  
 
Stationary noise generated by the project’s M‐S zone will include activities normally associated 
with industrial developments. These activities include the operation of HVAC units, people talking, 
parking area noise, car alarms, delivery trucks, and machinery. As previously stated, people talking 
at  a  normal  level  typically  has  a  noise  level  of  60  to  65  dBA,  while  louder  activities  such  as 
operating HVAC equipment and car alarms typically lie within the moderately loud range of 65 to 
80 dBA, and garbage trucks can be very loud at 100 dBA. However, these activities are typically 
temporary  and  intermittent.  Industrial  activities,  such  as  packaging  and manufacturing would 
occur inside buildings, therefore, reducing noise levels generated from those activities. Stationary 
noise  generated  by  the  M‐S  zone  is  not  anticipated  to  increase  the  existing  ambient  noise 
environment substantially. 

 

Page 328

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

93 

The project proposes residential and industrial uses on approximately 117.6 acres. The project is 
currently located within the City’s Manufacturing Service (M‐S) zoning designation. However, the 
project proposes a Change of Zone from M‐S to Multiple Family Residential, Urban (R‐M, 20‐38 
un/ac)  on  approximately  50.6  acres.  The  remaining  67  acres  of  the  site  will  continue  to  be 
designated M‐S.   The  proposed  zones  are  consistent with  the  land  uses  designations  for  the 
project,  which  is  Urban  Employment  Center.  The  project  proposes  increased  development 
intensities for the residential portion of the site; however, the noise  levels are not anticipated 
exceed the City’s noise compatibility level for residential properties.  
 
Future development will include building materials and noise attenuating devices, such as block 
walls  and  landscaping,  in  order  to  decrease  noise  generated  by  the  project.  Additionally,  the 
project  will  comply  with  the  City’s  Noise  Ordinance  which  designates  times  permitted  for 
operation of the project (i.e., property maintenance). Future development will not introduce a 
land use that will exceed the allowable noise levels in residential areas. Additionally, the project’s 
proposed zones comply with existing land use designations for the project, and the surrounding 
area. Therefore, the project will not generate a substantial temporary or permanent increase in 
ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the project.  
 
Traffic Noise 
 
The  project  proposes  Multiple‐Family  Residential  and  Manufacturing  Services  zones  on 
approximately  117.6  acres.  The  vehicle  mix  will  be  comparable  with  existing  vehicles  on 
surrounding roads and within the vicinity of the project. The industrial uses on the project site 
would result in an increase in traffic noise, since it would offer employment opportunities to the 
site. A discussion of onsite and offsite vehicle traffic noise is provided subsequently.  

 
Onsite Traffic Noise 
 
Vehicular use related to residential properties typically include commuter vehicles. The project 
proposes R‐M Urban and M‐S zones on the 117.6‐acre property. Residential communities typically 
do not generate high levels of traffic noise in a neighborhood due to the decreased traffic speeds, 
traffic calming designs, and pedestrian pathways generally designed for residential communities. 
These features keep traffic noise levels low and maintains the ambient noise environment typical 
for residential communities. The residential portion of the project will not generate a substantial 
increase in ambient noise levels. The residential portion of the project will increase the existing 
ambient noise level due to the proposed land use, however, the implementation of traffic calming 
designs, pedestrian features, and low vehicle speeds will ensure that the increase of noise level is 
not substantial.    
 
Traffic generated by the industrial zone at the site would likely increase the noise environment in 
the area nominally. Onsite traffic generated by industrial uses would consist of employees arriving 
and departing from the property, and possibly deliveries, depending on the industrial facility. The 
M‐S zone proposed at  the project site will  include a buffer  from the residential zones, so that 
noise  generated  from  industrial‐activities  are  reduced.  Additionally,  traffic  generated  by  the 
future industrial portion of the project would occur during the permitted hours of operation and 
would cease during the nighttime hours. At the time of writing, a specific industrial development 
is not proposed onsite.  Future development on  the project would be  reviewed by  the City of 
Coachella.  

Page 329

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

94 

 
As previously stated, Urban Employment Center land uses promotes a range of employment uses 
to help expand and diversify the City’s economy and transform Coachella from a small town to a 
full‐service city. The desired employment uses are office and research and development rather 
than industrial uses such as manufacturing, distribution, and warehouse. The employment uses 
are supported by retail, service, and similar uses. Residential uses are allowed in residential‐only 
buildings  or  in  a  mixed‐use  configuration  with  ground‐floor  retail.  Therefore,  this  land  use 
anticipates the increase of traffic in the area.  
 
Impacts relative to the Change of Zone are not expected.  

 
Offsite Traffic Noise 
 
Operation of future development would result in an increase of vehicular traffic on the existing 
surrounding roadways, Avenue 53 (north), Tyler Street (east), and Avenue 54 (south) due to the 
increased land use densities. As stated in the Setting discussion of this Noise section, noise level 
measurements were collected at 11 different locations throughout the City for the development 
of  the Noise Element  in  the CGPU. The measurement  locations were  selected on  the basis of 
proximity  to  major  noise  sources,  noise  sensitivity  of  nearby  land  uses,  and  obtaining  a 
representative sample of different noise environments throughout the community. The project 
site  is  located on the northwest corner of Avenue 54 and Tyler Street. According to the Noise 
Technical Appendix, high traffic volumes do not occur on the roadway segments adjacent to the 
project site  (Avenue 53, Tyler Street, or Avenue 54). As part of  the development of  the Noise 
Element of the General Plan, noise level measurements were collected at 11 different locations 
throughout the City. The measurement locations were selected on the basis of proximity to major 
noise  sources, noise  sensitivity of nearby  land uses,  and obtaining a  representative  sample of 
different noise environments throughout the community. The closest noise measurement to the 
project site occurred at Shady Lane Park, at the northeast corner of Avenue 52 and Shady Lane 
(approximately 0.50 miles north of the project site) at 10:22 a.m. The noise level measurement at 
this  location  was  62.7  dBA.  The  second  closest measurement  to  the  project  site  occurred  at 
Harrison Street, south of Valley Road (approximately 0.64 miles northwest of the project site). 
This measurement was taken at 1:56 p.m. The noise level measurement at this location was 68.6 
dBA. Contours of 70 dBA are rated normally compatible with residential land use categories. The 
CGPU  EIR  analyzes  noise  sections  throughout  the  City  to  establish  existing  conditions.  The 
surrounding  roadways  were  not  analyzed  for  the  CGPU  EIR,  since  the  roadways  are  not 
anticipated to generate a substantial increase in traffic noise levels, at City buildout.  
 
A local government has little direct control of transportation noise at the source. State and federal 
agencies  have  the  responsibility  to  control  vehicle  noise  emission  levels.  The  most  effective 
methods local governments have to mitigate transportation noise is through land use planning 
that reduces vehicle trips and physical interventions that reduce the impact of the noise on the 
community (e.g., building and site design that shields sensitive receivers from noise sources).  
 
Although noise barriers and setbacks have historically been common methods of protecting noise 
sensitive  land  uses  from  excessive  transportation‐related  noise  in many  communities,  recent 
attempts  to  emphasize  pedestrian‐friendly  design  and  mixed‐use  development  have  led  to 
consideration  of  alternative  strategies  for  dealing  with  transportation‐related  noise  sources. 
These alternative strategies include land use planning to reduce and slow (or “calm”) vehicle trips, 

Page 330

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

95 

and  incorporation of  noise  attenuating  features  into  the  architectural  design of  projects.  Low 
vehicle speeds will be implemented in the residential community.  

 
The project site  is currently designated  for Urban Employment Center  land use  in the General 
Plan. Properties within this land use designations allows for the exterior noise levels of 65 dBA 
CNEL and greater. The proposed project is consistent with surrounding land uses, and therefore, 
will not  result  in unacceptably high noise  levels  requiring mitigation. The City  requires  that all 
projects  conform  to  all  applicable  General  Plan  goals  and  policies  and  will  include  noise 
attenuation  strategies  in  its  review  of  the  project‐specific  design.  No  impacts  relative  to  the 
Change of Zone are anticipated.  

   
b)  No Impact. Ground‐borne vibration and/or ground‐borne noise generated during construction of 

future development could be felt by adjacent land uses. The Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) 
May 2006 Transit Noise and Vibration  Impact Assessment,  states  that  temporary  construction 
create  “frequent”  vibration  events  and  a  threshold  of  72  VdB  for  frequent  events  affecting 
residences and buildings where people normally sleep. 

   
  Sensitive  receptors  are  located  near  to  the  potential  project.  The  restriction  on  hours  of 

construction  would  keep  any  such  construction  activities  exceeding  72  VdB  at  the  nearest 
sensitive  receptor  from  significantly  interfering  with  people’s  sleep.  Section  7.04.070  of  the 
Coachella Municipal Code (CMC) specifically exempts noise sources associated with construction, 
erection, demolition, alteration,  repair, addition  to or  improvement of any building,  structure, 
road or improvement to realty, provided that such activities take place during daytime hours, as 
follows: 

 

Date  Permitted Hours of Construction 

October 1st through April 30th 
Monday – Friday: 6:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

Saturday/Sunday/Holidays: 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

May 1st through September 30th 
Monday – Friday: 5:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. 

Saturday/Sunday/Holidays: 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

 
The primary  source of  ground‐borne  vibration will  be operation  of  heavy  equipment,  such  as 
grading  vehicles;  however,  the  impacts  will  be  temporary  and  will  end  once  construction  is 
complete. Construction of future development will involve the temporary operation of vehicles 
and  equipment  which  could  result  in  localized,  short‐term  vibration  increases  during  the 
permitted hours of construction established by the City.  

 
Additionally, all construction equipment staging will be located within the temporary construction 
limits, while vehicular and equipment access to the construction site would be restricted to only 
the approved entry points that minimize disturbance to local traffic.  

   
  The transport of workers, equipment, and building materials to and from the construction site 

will  incrementally  increase noise  levels  along  the  roadways  leading  to  and  from  the  site.  The 
increase, although temporary  in nature, could be audible to noise receptors  located along the 
roadways utilized for this purpose. Even though there could be a relatively high single event noise 
exposure potential with passing  trucks  causing  annoyance,  the  effect on ambient  noise  levels 

Page 331

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

96 

would be substantially less than 3 dBA when truck noise (87 dBA at 50 feet) is added to existing 
noise levels and averaged over a 24‐hour period. 

   
Neither the County nor the affected cities have vibration standards for temporary construction, 
but the County’s General Plan Noise Element does contain the human reaction to typical vibration 
levels.  Vibration  levels with  peak  particle  velocity  of  0.787  inches  per  second  are  considered 
readily  perceptible  and  above  0.1968  in/sec  are  considered  annoying  to  people  in  buildings. 
Riverside County General Plan Policy 15.3 identifies a motion velocity perception threshold for 
vibration due to passing trains of 0.01 inches per second (in/sec) over the range of one to 100 Hz.  
 
No impact is anticipated relative to the Change of Zone. 

   
c)  No Impact. The project is  located approximately 1.50 miles north from the Jacqueline Cochran 

Regional Airport and is located outside of the 65, 60, and 55 CNEL noise contours associated with 
this facility. No impacts are expected relative to the Change of Zone. 
 

Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
   

Page 332

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

97 

XIV. POPULATION AND HOUSING 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an 
area,  either  directly  (for  example,  by  proposing  new 
homes  and  businesses)  or  indirectly  (for  example, 
through extension of roads or other infrastructure)?  

       

b)  Displace  substantial  numbers  of  existing  people  or 
housing, necessitating the construction of replacement 
housing elsewhere?  

       

(Source:  Coachella  2035  General  Plan,  2015;  E‐5  Population  and  Housing  Estimates  prepared  by  the  California 
Department of Finance; E‐8 Historical Population and Housing Estimates prepared by the California Department of 
Finance; SCAG: Profile of the City of Coachella [2019]) 
 

Setting 
 
According to the California Department of Finance (DOF), the City of Coachella had a total population of 
40,704 people in 2010. Based on the 2020 DOF population and housing estimates, the City of Coachella’s 
current total population is approximately 47,186, which is an approximately 16 percent increase from the 
City’s population in 2010. The City of Coachella’s population accounts for approximately 1.9 percent of 
the County of Riverside’s total population of 2,442,304 people (2020). In 2018 the median age in the City 
of  Coachella  was  30.8,  while  the  median  age  in  Riverside  was  35  (SCAG  Local  Profiles,  Coachella). 
Additionally, the number of jobs in Coachella in 2017 was 9,785; an approximately 9.2 percent increase in 
jobs since 2016.  
 
Table XIV‐1 shows the increase in number of households (total and occupied housing units) between 2000 
and 2020, according to the DOF Population and Housing Estimates.  In 2000, Coachella had 5,024 total 
households which increased to 10,631 total households by 2020, representing a 111.6 percent increase in 
20 years.  
 

Table XIV‐1 Total Households, 2000 to 2020 

Jurisdiction  Household  2000  2020  # Increase  % Increase 

County of Riverside  
Total  584,674  856,124  271,450  46.4 

Occupied  506,218  746,160  239,942  47.4 

City of Coachella  
Total  5,024  10,631  5,607  111.6 

Occupied  4,807  10,126  5,319  110.6 
Source: California Department of Finance E‐8 Historical Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 
1990‐2000; E‐5, Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2011‐2020.  

 
There are three housing types in the City of Coachella, as presented in Table XIV‐2, Total Dwelling Units 
by  Type  of  Structure,  2000  to  2020.  The  housing  units  include  single  family  units,  consisting  of  both 
detached and attached units; multifamily units, consisting of apartments, duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, 
plus; and mobile homes.  
 
 
 

Page 333

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

98 

Table XIV‐2 Total Dwelling Units by Type of Structure, 2010 to 2020 

Building Type 
2000  2020  Change 2000‐2020 

Units  % of Total  Units   % of Total  Units  % Change 

Single Family  3,419  68.0  7,838  73.7  4,419  +129.2 

Multifamily  1,150  22.9  2,164  20.3  1,014  +88.2 

Mobile Home  455  9.1  629  6.0  174  +38.2 

Total Dwelling Units  5,024  100  10,631  100  5,607  +111.6 
Source: California Department of Finance E‐8 Historical Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 
1990‐2000; E‐5, Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2011‐2020.  

 
In  2020,  the  City  of  Coachella  had  a  total  of  10,631  total  housing  units,  in  which  10,126  units 
(approximately 95 percent of units), were occupied. Conversely, 505 units, or 5 percent, were registered 
as vacant in 2020 by the DOF. This vacancy rate may be due to the seasonal, recreational, or occasional 
use of homes that is popular in the Coachella Valley. The average household size in the City of Coachella 
is 4.65 persons.  
 
The project proposes a Change of Zone on approximately 117.6 acres of land at the northwest corner of 
Avenue  54  and  Tyler  Street.  The  site  previously  operated  as  agricultural  land;  however,  agricultural 
operations has stopped. The site is currently located within the City’s Manufacturing Service (M‐S) zoning 
designation. The project proposes a Change of Zone on approximately 50.6 acres of the site from the M‐
S  designation  to  R‐M Urban  (20‐38  un/ac).  The  remaining  67  acres will  not  change  their M‐S  zoning 
designation.   
 
The Change of  Zone proposed  for  the project  is  consistent with  the Coachella General Plan  Land Use 
designations within the project area. Currently, the project is located within the City’s Urban Employment 
Center. Urban Employment land use designations permit residential densities between 30 to 65 un/ac. 
The proposed R‐M Urban zone permit 20 to 38 units per acre (un/ac). Therefore, the proposed project 
would permit an average of approximately 1,467.4 dwelling units on approximately 50.6 acres proposed 
for R‐M zones. This is illustrated in Table XIV‐3.  
 

Table XIV‐3 Potential Project Units 

Proposed Zone  Acreage  Allowed DU  Mid Density  Total UN/AC 

R‐M Urban   50.6  20‐38 un/ac  29 un/ac  1,467.4 

M‐S  21.7  ‐‐  ‐‐  ‐‐ 

M‐S (Buffer 
Area) 

45.3  ‐‐  ‐‐  ‐‐ 

Total  1,467.4 

*For purposes in the analysis of this Initial Study, Mid density dwelling units are utilized. 

 

R‐M Urban  Total Potential Units 

Min* Unit  1,012 

Mid Unit  1,467.4 

Max Unit  1,922.8 
*Min = Minimum number du (20 in R‐M Urban), Mid = Medium/middle du 
(29 in R‐M Urban), and Max = Maximum du (38 in R‐M Urban) 

 

Page 334

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

99 

The proposed project could generate a tenant population of 6,823 (mid un), when referencing the 4.65 
persons per household in the City. The potential population generated from the project (6,823 persons) 
represents approximately 13 percent increase of the City’s current population. It is anticipated that some 
of the project tenants served by the future development will be existing residents from within the City of 
Coachella and/or from neighboring incorporated and unincorporated areas. The net population increase 
resulting from the project is expected to be less than 13 percent. Additionally, the project site is located 
in the City of Coachella’s Urban Employment Center  land use designations, as established in the City’s 
General Plan. Urban Employment Centers allow for density intensities of 30 to 65 dwelling units per acre. 
Therefore,  the maximum number of allowable dwelling units on  the 117.6‐acre project  site would be 
7,644 dwelling units  (117.6  acres  x  65 un).  The number of  dwelling units  for  the  future development 
develop fewer dwelling units than that allowed in Urban Employment Centers, per the City General Plan. 
Therefore, the proposed development and associated tenant population are not expected to conflict with 
the  City’s  land  use  composition,  zoning,  housing  diversity,  or  other  regulatory  policies.  The  project  is 
expected  to meet  the  General  Plan  objective  for  Urban  Employment  Center  land  use  designation  by 
contributing to the housing diversity within a walkable environment to retail and industrial uses. 
 
The project does not currently propose development on the 117.6‐acre property and a site plan does not 
currently exist. However, analysis of future development on population and housing are provided in this 
discussion. 
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No Impact. As stated in the Setting, the project site is located in the City’s General Plan Urban 

Employment Center land use designation. Per the Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU), Urban 
Employment Center designations are established to provide a range of employment uses to help 
expand and diversify the City’s economy and transform Coachella from a small town into a full‐
service City. These centers are the primary location for office and professional jobs, supported by 
retail, services and homes. Permitted land uses within Urban Employment Centers includes office, 
research and development,  live‐work, multifamily residential, and support retail. Development 
intensities in this land use range from 30 to 65 un/ac.  
 
The project’s currently zoning designation includes M‐S; therefore, the project proposes a Change 
of Zone to change the zoning designation on approximately 50.6 acres of the site from M‐S to R‐
M  Urban  (20‐38  un/ac).  The  remainder  of  the  site  will  continue  to  be  designated  M‐S.  The 
proposed R‐M designation would increase development intensity since the project would reduce 
the M‐S zone. However, the densities allowed within R‐M Urban zones are consistent with the 
development  intensities  permitted  in  Urban  Employment  Centers,  as  distinguished  in  the 
Coachella General Plan Update.  
 
The CGPU Environmental Impact Report analyzed future growth under Chapter 4.13, Population 
and Housing. Figure 4.13‐2 in the EIR forecasts a population of 135,000 by year 2035. As of January 
2020, the City of Coachella had a population of 47,186 (California Department of Finance). As a 
result of project build‐out,  the  future development could add up  to approximately 6,823 new 
residents  to  the  City,  for  an  approximate  City  population  of  54,009.  This  is  an  increase  of  13 
percent  and  still  below  the  projected  2035  population  forecast  of  135,000.  Although  future 
development would contribute to the growth within the City of Coachella, significant growth to 
population, housing and employment is already anticipated in the City’s General Plan and EIR.  
 

Page 335

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

100 

Furthermore, the project site is within an area that is fully served by existing infrastructure, public 
services and utilities. As a result, development of the project would not cause potential growth 
inducing effects by extending utilities into an undeveloped area.  
 
No impacts are anticipated relative to the Change of Zone.  
 

b) No  Impact.  The entire property  is  currently disturbed and vacant  land designated by  the City 
General Plan as Urban Employment Center. The project area was previously utilized as agricultural 
land. Based on historical aerial imagery, a structure was located on the approximately 4.7‐acre 
site, located on the northwestern portion of the project property. However, this structure was 
demolished, and does not exist onsite. Residential dwellings do not currently exist on the project 
site;  therefore,  the  proposed  project  would  not  displace  any  existing  housing  or  require 
replacement housing. No impacts are anticipated. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 

Page 336

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

101 

XV. PUBLIC SERVICES  
 
 
Would the project result in: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

Substantial  adverse  physical  impacts  associated  with  the 
provision  of  new  or  physically  altered  governmental 
facilities, need  for new or physically  altered governmental 
facilities,  the construction of which could cause  significant 
environmental  impacts,  in  order  to  maintain  acceptable 
service  ratios,  response  times  or  other  performance 
objectives for any of the public services: 

       

a)  Fire protection?          

b)  Police protection?          

c)  Schools?          

d)  Parks?          

e)  Other public facilities?          

 

Setting 
 

Fire Protection: 
The  City  of  Coachella  contracts with  Riverside  County  Fire Department  (RCFD)  for  a  full  range  of  fire 
protection services provided 24‐hours a day, 7‐days a week. The RCFD is staffed with a combination of 
County and State of California Department of Forestry & Fire Protection employees. They operate 96 fire 
stations that serve 1,360,000 residents over 6,970 miles of Riverside County. The City of Coachella has 
one Fire station, Battalion 6, Coachella Fire Station No. 79, located at 1377 6th Street and approximately 1 
mile from the site.  Fire Station No. 79 is staffed by 18 full time personnel, 10 volunteer firefighters, and 
10 explorer cadets. Six  firefighters are on duty at  times. The Station  is equipped with  two Type 1  fire 
engines which includes a staff of three persons per engine per day.    
 
It  is the goal of the RCFD fire service to have the first engine company arrive on the scene within five 
minutes 90 percent of the time. Response times to emergency calls within the City average approximately 
four minutes or less 80% of the time. 
 
Police: 
Law enforcement services are provided to the City of Coachella through a contractual agreement with 
Riverside  County  Sheriff’s  Department.  The  Sheriff’s  department  provides  24‐hour  municipal  police 
services  associated  with  a  City  police  department.  The  Sheriff’s  station  is  located  at  86‐625  Airport 
Boulevard, approximately 2.25 miles southeast of the subject property. Per the City’s General Plan EIR, 
the Coachella Police Department has 36 sworn officers and 2 non‐sworn, totaling 38 positions. 24 of these 
positions  are  dedicated  to  the  patrol  division  with  the  remaining  deputies  dedicated  to  special 
assignments such as the Community Action Team, a School Resources Officer, and Gang and Narcotics 
Enforcement.  The Coachella Police Department divides the City into three beats. The Patrol Division of 
the department covers an area of 30 square miles.     
 

Page 337

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

102 

Schools: 
The project site  falls within  the boundary of  the Coachella Valley Unified School District  (CVUSD). The 
nearest elementary school is Valley View Elementary School located approximately 0.33 miles northeast 
of the project site, at 85270 Valley Road. Bobby Duke Middle School located at 85358 Bagdad Avenue is 
the closest secondary school, approximately 0.55 miles from the project site. Coachella Valley High School 
is approximately 1.70 miles southwest of the project site. 
 
Parks:   
The Coachella Valley Recreation and Park District (CVRPD) provide park and recreational services to the 
City.  Per the City of Coachella General Plan EIR (2015), there are seven public parks located within the 
City of Coachella, totaling approximately 60.3 acres.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No  Impact.  The  approximately  117.6‐acre  project  proposes  a  Change  of  Zone  (CZ)  of 

approximately 50.6 acres of the project site from Manufacturing Service (M‐S) to R‐M Urban (20‐
28 un/ac). The remaining 67 acres of the project would not change its existing zoning designation 
of  M‐S.  The  proposed  project  is  located  on  an  infill  site  surrounded  by  existing  residential 
neighborhoods to the north and west,  industrial uses to the east, and agricultural, vacant, and 
residential to the east and south. The site is currently within an area that is provided with fire 
protection and emergency services by Riverside County Fire. The proposed CZ would permit the 
development of 20 to 38 un/ac in the proposed R‐M Urban zone. M‐S zones allow a wide variety 
of commercial uses, goods, and services.  
 
The proposed zone changes would allow for a development that would result in an increase in 
emergency and public service calls for fire services; however, based on the project sites proximity 
to Fire Station 79 (approximately 1 mile), the project would not require new or expanded facilities. 
Moreover, to ensure adequate emergency fire protection services, the City of Coachella maintains 
a mutual aid agreement with surrounding City and County  jurisdictions. There are three other 
existing  stations  that  are within  the  proximity  of  the  City.  These  include  Fire  Station  No.  39, 
located outside of the City limits at the Jacqueline Cochran Airport in Thermal, Fire Station No. 70 
located at Avenue 54 and Madison Street in La Quinta, and Fire Station No. 86, located at Jackson 
Street and Dr. Carreon Boulevard in Indio. Fire Station 39 is approximately 2.25 miles away from 
the  project  site,  Fire  Station  70  is  approximately  4.50  miles  away  and  Fire  Station  86  is 
approximately 4.0 miles away. 
 
Through the Regional Fire Serve System, the City of Coachella received an immediate response 
from the outlying stations, including personnel and equipment for any major event or multiple 
events that may occur within the City. The City also participates in a cost sharing agreement with 
the Cities of Indio, La Quinta, and Riverside County for the use of the 100’ ladder truck located at 
Fire Station 86 in Indio. 
 
As previously stated, the project proposes a Change of Zone of approximately 50.6 acres of the 
117.6‐acre site. A site plan of the project is not currently provided; however, it can be concluded 
that development of the site would result in an increase in service and emergency service calls. 
Therefore, analysis of  the proposed residential zone  impact on  fire services  is provided  in this 
discussion. Development on the project site would be required to be designed to comply with all 
applicable fire safety requirements, to include, installation of fire hydrants, and sprinkler system 

Page 338

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

103 

and construction provisions contained in Title 14, California Building Code, and Riverside County 
Fire Department Standards. Additionally, future development would be required to comply with 
the City’s Development Impact Fees in place at the time of construction. Payment of these feels 
helps offset impacts by providing revenue for necessary improvements to ensure acceptable fire 
facilities, response times, equipment and personnel are maintained. The project will be required 
to annex into the City’s Communities Facilities District for Fire Services, which is a special tax used 
to  pay  for  public  services.  Therefore,  no  significant  impacts  to  fire  protection  services  are 
expected relative to the Change of Zone.   
 

b) No Impact. The project proposes a CZ on approximately 50.6 acres of the project site from M‐S 
zone to R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac). The remaining 67 acres of the project will not change its existing 
zoning  designation.  A  site  plan  of  the  project  is  not  currently  provided;  however,  it  can  be 
concluded  that development of  the site would  result  in an  increase  in  service and emergency 
service calls, due to its increase in density. Therefore, analysis of the proposed residential zone 
impact on police services is provided in this discussion. 
 
Future  development  of  the  project  will  increase  calls  and  demand  for  police  and  emergency 
services.  However,  this  demand  is  not  expected  to  hinder  the  City’s  ability  to  provide  police 
services  or  create  demands  that would  require  the  construction  of  a  new  police  station.  The 
project is located in a developed in an urban area, surrounded by existing development that is 
currently served by  the Riverside County Sheriff’s Department. The project will be required to 
comply with the City’s Development Impact Fees in place at the time of construction. These fees 
on new development allow the City to continue to finance public facilities which goes towards the 
funding of various public services, including police. It also assists in offsetting impacts by providing 
enough revenue for necessary emergency service improvements to ensure acceptable police and 
fire  response  times,  equipment,  and  personnel  are  maintained.  Future  development  will  be 
required  to annex  into  the City’s Communities  Facilities District  for Police  Services, which  is  a 
special tax used to pay for public services.  
 
The Change of Zone will contribute no impacts to fire protection services.   
 

c)   No Impact. Public education services are provided to the City of Coachella by the Coachella Valley 
Unified School District. The project proposes a Change of Zone from M‐S to R‐M Urban (20‐38 
un/ac) on approximately 50.6 acres of the site. The proposed Change of Zone is consistent with 
the existing land use designations: Urban Employment Center. With the proposed Change of Zone, 
the project site could allow an average of approximately 1,398 dwelling units on the site (see the 
Population and Housing section for further discussion). This is assuming that the site develops the 
mid‐density dwelling units onsite. Per the 2020 CA Department of Finance, the average persons 
per household  (PPH)  is  4.65 persons. At  full  buildout,  future development of  the  site  has  the 
potential  to  generate  approximately  1,062  new  students  based  on  the  District’s  Student 
Generation Rate (Table XVI‐1).  

 
Table XV‐1 CVUSD District Wide Student Generation Rate 

School Type  Dwelling Units  Generation Rate*  Students Generated** 

Elementary School  1,467  0.3974  583 

Middle School  1,467  0.1207  177 

High School  1,467  0.2058  302 

Total New Students 1,062 

Page 339

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

104 

*Source: 2020 CVSUSD Fee Justification Study for New Residential and Commercial/Industrial Development, May 5, 2020 

**Student Generated numbers were rounded. 

 
  The addition of 1,062 new students is not anticipated to cause a substantial impact to the District 

nor would additional school facilities need to be constructed as a result of the proposed project. 
The District currently has school capacity to house approximately 21,004 students as calculated 
by the District. Elementary school facilities are sufficient to house 12,216 students in kindergarten 
through sixth grade, middle school  facilities are sufficient  to house, 2,828 students  in seventh 
through eighth grade, high school capacity is sufficient for 5,960 students in ninth through twelfth 
grade.  

 
  Per the 2020 CVUSD Fee Justification Study, a capacity analysis was conducted for the 2019/2020 

school year and the District has excess capacity at its elementary and high school to accommodate 
students  from  new  development.  Middle  schools  were  over  capacity  by  90  students  for  the 
2019/2020 school year. Moreover, school age children may also attend several private schools 
located in the Coachella Valley. 

 
  Assembly Bill 2926 and Senate Bill 50 (SB 50) allow school districts to collect “development fees” 

for  all  new  construction  for  residential/commercial  and  industrial  use. At  the  time of writing, 
development fees are $4.08/sq.ft. to residential and $0.66/ sq.ft for commercial. Monies collected 
are used for construction and reconstruction of school facilities. The legislation was enacted to 
mitigate  the  impacts  to  schools by providing  funds  for  the  construction of  additional  facilities 
based on  the additional demand created by new development.  Should  future construction be 
proposed, the property would be required to comply with CVUSD development fees. No impacts 
to local schools are expected relative to the Change of Zone. 

 
d) No Impact. The City of Coachella offers a diverse range of park and recreation facilities. The City 

operates eight parks, one tot lot, two community centers, one boxing club and a swimming pool. 
As discussed in the Recreation section (XVI) of this document, the proposed project would not 
create additional demand for public park facilities or result in the need to modify existing or the 
construction of new park facilities. Therefore, no impacts are expected.  
 

e) No Impact.  No increase in demand for government services or other public facilities is expected 
beyond those discussed in this section. No impacts to other public facilities are expected.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
   

Page 340

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

105 

XVI. RECREATION 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional 
parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial 
physical deterioration of  the facility would occur or be 
accelerated?  

       

b)  Does the project include recreational facilities or require 
the construction or expansion of  recreational  facilities, 
which  might  have  an  adverse  physical  effect  on  the 
environment?  

       

(Sources: Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015) 

 
Setting  
 
Parks and open space provide for the preservation, continued growth and enhancement of Coachella’s 
parklands, recreational areas and surrounding open spaces. Open spaces are areas intended to remain 
essentially  open  with  limited  or  no  development.  This  includes  spaces  used  for  passive  recreation, 
resource protection and/or hazard avoidance. Parks include greenways, developed parks and other areas 
primarily used for recreation. Typically, these areas are characterized by a high degree of open area and 
a limited number of buildings. Parks frequently include sports fields, playground equipment, and picnic 
areas, sitting areas, concession businesses, open turf, natural areas, trails, and public golf courses. The 
City provides a variety of recreation facilities and currently has eight parks, one tot lot, two community 
centers, one boxing club and a swimming pool. The parks are funded by the Coachella parks and recreation 
foundation.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a‐b)  No Impact. The approximately 117.6‐acre project proposes a Change of Zone from Manufacturing 

Service (M‐S) to R‐M Urban (20‐38 un/ac) on 50.6 acres of the project site. The remaining 67 acres 
will not change the current M‐S zoning at the site. Future development on the project site would 
be required to comply with the City’s parkland in lieu fee (Quimby) and other development impact 
fees.  The  future  residents  and  guests  generated  by  future  development  may  lead  to  an 
incremental increase in physical deterioration of City public recreational facilities. However, this 
impact could be reduced if the project proposes open space and community recreational areas 
(i.e., parks, playgrounds, etc.). 

 
With the compliance of the City’s fees, no impacts are expected relative to the Change of Zone.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
 

Page 341

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

106 

XVII. TRANSPORTATION 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Conflict  with  a  program  plan,  ordinance  or  policy 
addressing  the  circulation  system,  including  transit, 
roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities?  

       

b)  Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15064.3, subdivision (b)?  

       

c)  Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design 
feature (e.g., sharp curves or dangerous intersections) or 
incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)?  

       

d)  Result in inadequate emergency access?          

(Sources: Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015; Coachella General Plan Update EIR, Traffic Section, 2013) 
 

Setting    
 
The project  is  located south of Avenue 53 and north of Avenue 54 in the City of Coachella. The site  is 
currently  disturbed, with  agricultural  operations  on  approximately  112.9  acres  of  the  site  and  vacant 
disturbed uses on approximately 4.7 acres. Surrounding properties include residential to the north and 
west, a manufacturing facility to the east, and a combination of vacant land, farmland, and residential 
properties  to  the  south.  The  property’s  northern,  eastern,  and  southern  boundaries  are  physically 
delineated by paved roadways, while the western boundary is delineated by an unpaved roadway. The 
project proposes a Change of Zone  from the existing Manufacturing Services  (M‐S)  to Multiple Family 
Residential, Urban (R‐M, 20‐38 un/ac) on 50.6 acres of the site. The remainder of the site (approximately 
67 acres) will not change the zone. Development of the project site is not proposed at the time of writing.  
 
Access  to  the  site  is  primarily  provided  by Avenue  54.  The  following  analysis  evaluated  the  potential 
circulation system deficiencies that may result from potential development of the site within the proposed 
zoning designations. The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual (9th Edition, 
2012) rates were used to determine trip generation of the proposed project.  
 
Level of Service 
Level of Service (LOS) is a measure of transportation system performance based upon the ratio of traffic 
volume  relative  to  the  capacity  of  the  roadway  or  intersection.  The  volume‐to‐capacity  ratio  (V/C) 
indicates the overall performance of the roadway segment or intersection and corresponds to a rating of 
A through F identifying its level of capacity utilization and relative level of congestion. LOS A represents 
free‐flow traffic with little or no delay whereas LOS F represents a breakdown of traffic flow and a high 
incidence of delay. According to the TIA, the City of Coachella has established LOS D as the acceptable LOS 
for its intersections. Therefore, any intersection operating at LOS E or F will be considered deficient for 
the purposes of the analysis. 
 
Vehicle Miles Travelled (VMT)  
Vehicle Miles Travelled is a measure of the amount of travel for all vehicles in a geographic region over a 
given period of time, typically a one‐year period. The analysis of Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) (SB743) 

Page 342

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

107 

attributable  to  a  project  in  CEQA  went  into  full  effect  statewide  on  July  1,  2020.  According  to  the 
Governor’s  office  of  Planning  and  Research  (OPR)  proposed  CEQA  Guideline  implementing  SB  743, 
projects that decrease vehicle miles traveled in a project area compared to existing conditions should be 
considered  to  have  a  less  than  significant  transportation  impact.  The  California  Air  Pollution  Control 
Officers Association (CAPCOA) publishes a resource for Local Government to assess emission reductions 
from  Greenhouse  Gas  Mitigation  Measures.  The  CAPCOA  report  recognizes  that  land  use  planning 
provides the best opportunity to influence GHG emissions through a reduction in overall VMT. 
 
Goals  for  reducing Greenhouse Gasses  (GHG) have been  the primary motivation  for  the  shift  to VMT 
measures.  Reductions  in  VMT  produce many  other  potential  benefits  such  as  reductions  in  other  air 
pollutant emissions, water pollution, wildlife mortality and traffic congestion, as well as improvements in 
safety and health and savings in public and private costs. 
 
The City’s Climate Action Plan (CAP) includes the following Reduction Target/Goal: Establish a per service 
population 2020 emissions reduction target of 15% below 2010  levels and a 2035 emissions reduction 
target of 49% below 2010 levels. The CAP states that the combustion of gasoline and diesel fuels by the 
transportation  sector  contributed  the  largest  proportion  of  emissions  in  Coachella.  Transportation 
gasoline use resulted in 41% of the community total of GHG emissions in 2010.  The CAP further states 
that  lowering  transportation  emissions  requires making  vehicles  and  their  fuels  cleaner,  reducing  the 
length of driving trips, managing the demand for travel, and providing alternatives such as walking, biking 
and transit for travel.  
 
According to the National Center for Sustainable Transportation, a number of cities, regions and states 
across the United States have begun to deemphasize vehicle delay metrics such as LOS. In their place, 
policymakers are considering alternative transportation  impact metrics  that more closely approximate 
the true environmental impacts of driving. VMT is one metric that is increasingly being utilized.  
 
Goals  for  reducing Greenhouse Gasses  (GHG) have been  the primary motivation  for  the  shift  to VMT 
measures.  Reductions  in  VMT  produce many  other  potential  benefits  such  as  reductions  in  other  air 
pollutant emissions, water pollution, wildlife mortality and traffic congestion, as well as improvements in 
safety and health and savings in public and private costs. 
 
TUMF 
The Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fee (TUMF) Ordinance became effective July 1, 1989. The TUMF 
program  is a component of  the  twenty‐year Measure Α, sales  tax program managed by  the Coachella 
Valley Association of Governments (CVAG) and approved by voters in November 1988. In 2002, a thirty‐
year extension was approved by Riverside County voters and resulted in an expiration date of 2039.  
 
Under the TUMF, developers of residential, industrial and commercial property pay a development fee to 
fund transportation projects that will be required as a result of the growth the projects create. TUMF will 
be required as a Condition of Approval for any future development project.  
 
The City of Coachella implements a Development Impact Fee (DIF). The proposed project is located within 
the City of Coachella and any proposed future development will therefore be subject to the DIF. Eligible 
facilities for funding the City DIF program are identified on the County of Riverside’s Public Needs list.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 
 

Page 343

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

108 

a‐b)   No Impact. The project applicant proposes to process a zone change for approximately 50.6 acres 
of the 117.6‐acre project site from Manufacturing Services (M‐S) to Multiple Family Residential, 
Urban (R‐M, 20‐38 un/ac). Currently the project property consists primarily of agricultural, and 
vacant land. The remaining 67 acres of the site does not propose a change of zone. 

 
  The property  is  located south of Avenue 53 and north of Avenue 54. Avenue 54 serves as the 

Project Site’s primary source of access. This roadway is currently paved with two lanes, curb and 
gutter, forming the southerly boundary of the project.   

 
  As required by SB 743, VMT replaced the former metric used to analyze traffic impacts which was 

LOS. According to Table 1 of the Policy, retail project types would result in a significant impact if 
the project caused a net increase in the total existing VMT for the region.  

 
  With the implementation of SB 743, intersection LOS is not calculated to determine transportation 

impacts,  however  it  provides  information  regarding  intersection  capacity  and  general  plan 
consistency for the City. 

   
  LOS 

Average Daily Trips (ADT) refers to the total number of vehicles that travel a defined segment of 
roadway over a twenty‐four‐hour period. The standard most often used to evaluate the operating 
conditions  of  the  transportation  system  is  called  Level  of  Service  (LOS).  LOS  is  a  qualitative 
assessment of the quantitative effect of factors such as: speed and travel time, traffic volume, 
geometric  features,  traffic  interruptions,  delays,  freedom  to  maneuver,  driver  comfort  and 
convenience, and vehicle operating costs. LOS compares existing traffic volumes (V) with available 
roadway capacity (C). LOS allows operating conditions to be characterized as LOS “A” through LOS 
“F”, where  LOS  “A”  represents  the most  favorable  free  flow  conditions  and  LOS  “F”  the  least 
favorable forced flow driving condition. The LOS categories are based on relative levels of driver 
acceptability of various delays. A given lane or roadway may provide a wide range of service levels, 
depending upon traffic volumes and speeds. 
 
Roadway capacity has been defined as  the maximum number of vehicles that can pass over a 
given roadway during a given time under prevailing roadway and traffic conditions. The capacity 
of a roadway is handling the maximum traffic volume that it can accommodate while maintaining 
an acceptable level of driver satisfaction. The City of Coachella has defined Level of Service “D” as 
the performance threshold for roadway segments and intersections.  
 
According to the City of Coachella’s General Plan Traffic Impact Study, Avenue 54 is designated as 
a Collector Road. Collector Roads are defined in the General Plan as streets meant to serve as 
intermediate  facilities,  connecting  local  areas  to  regional  mobility  corridors.  Collectors  will 
prioritize bicycles and pedestrians through facility design and speed management. Bus and Shuttle 
transit  services  can  be  provided  on  collectors,  and  vehicles  will  use  them  for  accessibility, 
however, these modes are not prioritized  in the corridor. Collector Roads typically have travel 
lanes ranging from 11 to 12 feet in width. The General Plan roadway designations are determined 
based on projected traffic numbers. Any future development to occur onsite will be required to 
develop a Final Street Improvement Plan Set which will be reviewed and approved by the City.  
 
The Coachella Valley Association of Governments Coachella Valley Traffic Counts Interactive GIS 
Map details the traffic counts throughout the Coachella Valley. The intersection of Harrison/Cesar 

Page 344

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

109 

Chavez  Street  and Avenue  54 was  used  for  the  purposes  of  this  analysis.  Avenue  54,  east  of 
Harrison/Cesar Chavez Street, had a traffic count of 2,645 eastbound and 2,843 westbound, for a 
total of 5,488. 
 
Avenue 54 has two lanes and is therefore considered a Minor Collector Road. According to the 
Coachella General Plan Traffic  Impact  Study,  a Minor Collector  road has a maximum  two‐way 
traffic volume (ADT) of 12,000. Avenue 54, the sites primary source of access, has an AM V/C of 
0.721, and PM V/C of 0.880 for a LOS of C. This would result in an overall capacity of approximately 
16,650 for the adjacent portion of Avenue 54.  

 
The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Rates – 9th Edition was utilized to 
compare  the  potential  maximum  trip  generation  of  the  approved  land  use,  Manufacturing 
Services,  and  the  proposed  land  uses, Multiple  Family  Residential  (R‐M) Urban  and M‐S.  The 
guidance provides the following Rates for the land uses: 
 

 Table XVI‐1 ITE Trip Generation Rates – 9th Edition 

Description/ITE Code  Units 
ITE Trip Generation Rates 

Weekday  AM  PM 

Manufacturing Services / 140  Acres  38.88  7.44  8.35 

Multi‐Family Homes / 220  DU*  6.65  0.51  0.62 

Mid‐Rise Residential with 1st Floor 
Commercial / 231 

DU  N/A  0.67  0.78 

* DU = Dwelling Unit 

 
The following assumptions are utilized for the purpose of this CEQA document: 
 

Table XVI‐2 Project Assumptions Based on Proposed Land Uses 

Land Use 
Allowable 
Density 

Acreage  Units (max)* 

Existing: Manufacturing Services / 140  ‐‐  117.6  ‐‐ 

Multi‐Family Homes (Urban) / 220  20‐38 DU/AC  50.6  1,922 

M‐S / 140  ‐‐  21.7  ‐‐ 

M‐S Buffer Area  ‐‐  45.3  ‐‐ 
* Max density dwelling unit number was utilized in the analysis of future development‐generated trips to 
analyze the worst‐case scenario.  
 

Table XVI‐3 Estimated Maximum Total Generated Trips 

Description/ITE Code (Max. Density 
Allowed) 

ITE Trip Generation Rates1 

Weekday  AM  PM 

Existing: Manufacturing Services / 140  4,572  875  982 

Multi‐Family Homes (Urban) / 220  12,781  980  1,192 

M‐S / 140  844  161  181 

M‐S Buffer Area       

Difference2  9,053  266  391 
Notes: 1. The max dwelling unit number was used for the table to analyze the worst‐case scenario. 
             2. The difference between the proposed and existing land uses.  
 

Page 345

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

110 

As shown in Table XVI‐3, if a future R‐M Urban, or M‐S project is submitted with a mid‐estimated 
FAR, average daily trips are estimated to be more than two times higher than a Manufacturing 
Services  project  of  maximum  allowable  density.  This  sample  analysis  does  not  include  a  trip 
distribution  estimate,  which  would  distribute  traffic  impacts  appropriately  throughout  area 
roadways.  As  mentioned  previously,  no  development  is  currently  proposed  on  the  subject 
property.  

 
Future  Development  Projects  will  require  case‐by‐case  analysis  to  determine  appropriate 
mitigation relative to estimated project trip generation. Future Traffic Analyses may be required 
at  the  time  of  project  submittal.  The  City  has  the  ability  to  establish  a  variety  of  conditions 
including fair share contributions to improvements to the circulation system. Impacts relative to 
trips  in  exceedance of  rates  utilized  to  determine  current  roadway design  parameters will  be 
addressed by appropriate conditions of approval as determined by the reviewing agencies.  
 
Prior to approval of future development projects,  including offsite street design standards and 
the projects fair share portion of offsite street improvements will be reviewed by the City as part 
of project processing. As a Standard Condition, future applicants shall complete adjacent roadway 
improvements as designated by the General Plan or the City Engineer.  
 
The Transportation Uniform Mitigation Fee (TUMF) Ordinance became effective July 1, 1989. The 
TUMF program is a component of the twenty‐year Measure A, sales tax program managed by the 
Coachella Valley Association of Governments  (CVAG) and approved by voters  in November of 
1988. In 2002, a thirty‐year extension was approved by Riverside County voters and resulted in 
an expiration date of 2039. 
 
Under  the  TUMF,  developers  of  residential,  industrial  and  commercial  property  pay  a 
development fee to fund transportation projects that will be required as a result of the growth 
the projects create. TUMF will be required as a Condition of Approval for any future development 
project. 
 
Circulation  and  parking  will  be  required  to  be  consistent  with  City  Parking  standards  as 
determined by City Staff.  
 
City  review of  development  projects  is  expected  to  result  in  appropriate  conditions  based on 
future project descriptions. Following implementation of conditions, future development projects 
are not anticipated to conflict with an applicable plan, ordinance or policy establishing measures 
of effectiveness for the performance of the circulation system.  
 
VMT 
Riverside County Identifies RIVTAM as the appropriate tool for conducting VMT analysis for land 
use projects in Riverside County. RIVTAM considers interaction between different land uses based 
on socio‐economic data such as population, households, and employment.  
 
Travel activity associated with total VMT is normally extracted from the “without Project” and 
“with Project” RIVTAM model run for 2012 and 2040 conditions, then interpolated for baseline 
(2020) conditions. This methodology is commonly referred to as “boundary method” and includes 
the total VMT for all vehicle trips with one or both trip ends within a specific geographic area. The 
“boundary method” VMT per service population for the CVAG subregion is utilized to normalize 

Page 346

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

111 

VMT  into  a  standard  unit  for  comparison  purposes,  focusing  on  the  total  population  and 
employment  in  the  Coachella  Valley.  VMT  for  the  area  is  calculated,  total  area  VMT  is  then 
normalized by dividing by the respective service population (i.e., population and employment of 
the Coachella Valley).  
 
Future development projects effect on VMT (for non‐residential uses) is not considered significant 
if it results in a cumulative link‐level boundary CVAG VMT per service population decrease under 
the plus project condition compared to the no project condition. For Residential Uses, VMT per 
capita exceeding a level of 15 percent below the current jurisdictional baseline VMT per capita. 
For new retail and other land use projects, utilizing a threshold consistent with the net total VMT 
of the jurisdiction.  
 
There is currently no development proposed for the subject property. The proposed zone change 
is expected to result in no impacts relative to CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3.  

 
c) No Impact. In its current condition, the undeveloped project property is bordered by the paved 

alignment of Avenue 54 on the south and Avenue 53 on the north. The easterly and westerly 
portions of  the project are bounded by unpaved  roadways,  followed by existing development 
owned by others. In addition, part of the easterly portion of the site is bounded by Tyler Street. 
To  provide  proper  access  to  future  development,  off‐site  design  and  proposed  off‐site 
improvements would be required as part of project approval in order to ensure the needs of the 
site are met. Circulation design will undergo City and Fire Department review before approval to 
ensure  that  the  local development standards  for  roadways,  in  interior and exterior circulation 
designs, are met without resulting in traffic safety impacts including hazardous design features. 
Future projects will not include sharp curves or dangerous intersections. The proposed land use 
would  be  consistent  with  existing  land  uses  throughout  the  neighboring  community.  No 
incompatible uses will result from future development. No impacts associated with the proposed 
zone change are expected.  
 

d) No  Impact.    Future  development  projects  will  be  required  to  provide  adequate  access  to 
emergency response vehicles, as required by the City of Coachella and in accordance with the Fire 
Department  review  and  requirements.  Site  plan  review  would  include  in‐depth  analysis  of 
emergency access to the site to ensure proper access to facilities. As mentioned previously, future 
development projects are expected to obtain access from Avenue 54. The design details of future 
vehicular driveways will be reviewed and approved by the Riverside County Fire Department.  

Future  development  of  the  residential,  manufacturing/industrial,  or  manufacturing  services 
zonings  would  be  required  to  provide  proper  premises  identification  with  legible  site  name, 
address numbers, and clear signage indicating site access points. Operational fire hydrants and 
extinguishers are also required in accordance with Chapter 15.24 of the Coachella Municipal Code 
(California  Fire  Code).  Off‐site  project  improvements  will  involve  paving  along  the  project’s 
perimeter  within  the  required  rights‐of‐way  and  according  to  the  City’s  designated  street 
standards.  

The proposed zone change will not result in impacts relative to emergency access. No impacts are 
anticipated. 

Mitigation Measures: None required 

Page 347

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

112 

XVIII. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a) Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in 
the significance of a Tribal cultural resource, defined in 
Public  Resource  Code  Section  21074  as  either  a  site, 
feature, place, cultural landscape that is geographically 
defined  in  terms  of  the  size  scope  of  the  landscape, 
sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California 
Native American tribe, and that is:                                  

       

i) Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register 
of  Historical  Resources,  or  in  a  local  Register  of 
historical  resources  as  defined  in  Public  Resource 
Code Section 5020.1(k), or; 

       

ii) A  resource  determined  by  the  lead  agency  in  its 
discretion and supported by substantial evidence, to 
be  significant  pursuant  to  criteria  set  forth  in 
subdivision  (c)  of  Public  Resources  Code  Section 
5024.1.  In  applying  the  criteria  set  forth  in 
subdivision  (c)  of  Public  Resources  Code  Section 
5024.1,  the  lead  agency  shall  consider  the 
significance  of  the  resource  to  a  California  Native 
American Tribe.   

       

(Sources: 2035, Coachella General Plan Update).  

 
Setting 
 

As discussed in the Cultural Section of this Initial Study, the Coachella Valley is a historical center of Native 
American  settlement,  where  U.S.  surveyors  noted  large  numbers  of  Indian  villages  and  rancherías, 
occupied  by  the  Cahuilla  people,  in  the  mid‐19th  century.  The  Takic‐speaking  Cahuilla  are  generally 
divided by anthropologists into three groups, according to their geographic setting: the Pass Cahuilla of 
the  San  Gorgonio  Pass‐Palm  Springs  area,  the Mountain  Cahuilla  of  the  San  Jacinto  and  Santa  Rosa 
Mountains and the Cahuilla Valley, and the Desert Cahuilla of the eastern Coachella Valley.  
 
The Cahuilla were primarily hunters and gatherers who exploited nearly all of the resources available in a 
highly developed seasonal mobility system. They were adapted to the arid conditions of the desert floor, 
the lacustral cycles of Holocene Lake Cahuilla, and the environments of the nearby mountains. When the 
lake was full, or nearly full, the Cahuilla would take advantage of the resources presented by the body of 
fresh water. Once  the  lake  had  desiccated,  they  utilized  the  available  terrestrial  resources.  They  also 
migrated to the higher elevations of the nearby mountains to take advantage of the resources and cooler 
temperatures available in that environment.  
 
The City of Coachella contains a significant amount of archaeological  resources due to  its  rich cultural 
history and historical settlements within its boundaries. It was once the site of Native Americans tribal 
land and some tribal land still exists there. The Native American population is still present in Coachella. 
Per Figure 4.4‐2 in the Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU) Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR), 

Page 348

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

113 

most of the City is designated as “medium sensitivity to historical resources sensitivity”. This is due to the 
City’s historical, cultural, and archaeological resources.  
 
The proposed project site occupies approximately 117.6 acres of land that is classified as agricultural, and 
vacant disturbed land. The site has been graded and disturbed since prior to 1953, according to historical 
aerial imagery.  

 
Discussion of Impacts 

a i‐ii)  No Impact. As discussed previously throughout this document, the project site currently consists 
of approximately 117.6 acres zoned for Manufacturing Services (M‐S). The project is proposing a 
Change of Zone (CZ) from the M‐S designation to Multiple Family Residential, Urban (R‐M, 20‐38 
un/ac)  on  approximately  50.6  acres  of  the  site.  The  remaining  67  acres  does  not  propose  to 
change the M‐S zone.   

 
  As discussed in the Cultural Resources section of this Initial Study, there are no known or observed 

historic resources as defined in Section 15046.5 of the CEQA Guidelines that would be adversely 
affected  by  the  proposed  zone  change.  This  includes  known  or  observable  objects,  buildings, 
structures,  sites,  areas,  places,  records,  or manuscript which  a  lead  agency  determines  to  be 
historically accurate. According to the National Register Database and Research, historic buildings 
do not exist within or near the project site. In addition, historic aerial imagery from 1953 to the 
present do not indicate the existence of any buildings within the project vicinity. Therefore, no 
man‐made  features  were  known  to  be  present  in  the  project  area  prior  to  then.  The  aerial 
photographs  further demonstrate  that  the project  area has been primarily  used as  farmlands 
since 1953, alternating between fallow and vegetative cycles until present day. The entire site has 
been extensively disturbed in the past, and no other features, site, or artifacts more than 50 years 
of age have been encountered. 

 
  Public  Resources  Code  21074  identifies  “Tribal  Cultural  Resources”  as  “sites,  features,  places, 

cultural landscapes, sacred places, and objects with cultural value to a California Native American 
Tribe” and that are either included or determined to be eligible for inclusion on the national, state, 
or local register of historic resources, or that are determined by the lead agency, in its discretion, 
to be significant when taking into consideration the significance of the resource to a California 
Native American Tribe. 

 
  As previously discussed, the project is proposing a zone change from Manufacturing Services (M‐

S)  to  Multiple  Family  Residential  (R‐M)  Urban  on  approximately  50.6  acres  of  the  site.  The 
remaining  67  acres  of  the  site  will  maintain  its  current  M‐S  zoning  designation.  The  City  of 
Coachella and the Coachella Valley have a long history of tribal settlement; there is potential for 
future  development  to  encounter  Tribal  Resources.  Prospective  development  would  require 
further environmental analysis and a project specific cultural assessment, at which time the NAHC 
would be contacted for sacred land research and contact information for local Tribes would be 
provided. No impacts to Tribal Resources are anticipated as a result of the zone change. 

 
  AB 52 Consultation was conducted by the City of Coachella from February 8, 2021 through March 

8, 2021. There were no formal requests for consultation submitted by the Native American tribal 
governments of  interest during  the 30‐day  review period. After  the 30‐day  review period was 
over, a letter was received from the Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians (ACBCI) Tribal Historic 

Page 349

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

114 

Preservation Office (THPO). The letter, dated March 11, 2021, stated that the project area is not 
located within the boundaries of the ACBCI Reservation, however, the site is located within the 
Tribe’s Traditional Use Area. For this reason, the ACBCI THPO requested the following: 

 

 Formal government to government consultation under California Assembly Bill No. 52. 

 A cultural resources  inventory of the project area by a qualified archaeologist prior to any 
development activities in the area. 

 A  copy  of  the  records  search  with  associated  survey  reports  and  site  records  from  the 
information center.  

 Copies  of  any  cultural  resources  documentation  (report  and  site  records)  generated  in 
connection with this project.  

 
Future development of the site would be required to provide the above‐listed items to the ACBCI 
THPO at the time of development. The submittal of the reports and documentation to the ACBCI 
THPO would result  in less than significant impacts to tribal cultural resources. However, at the 
time of writing, development of the site is not proposed for the change of zone project. Therefore, 
impacts of the proposed project to tribal cultural resources would not be significant.  

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
 
 
   
 
   

Page 350

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

115 

XIX. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS 
 
 
Would the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Require or result in the relocation or construction of new 
or  expanded  water,  wastewater  treatment  or  storm 
water  drainage,  electric  power,  natural  gas,  or 
telecommunications  facilities,  the  construction  or 
relocation  of  which  could  cause  significant 
environmental effects?   

       

b)  Have  sufficient  water  supplies  available  to  serve  the 
project and reasonable foreseeable future development 
during normal, dry and multiple dry years?  

       

c)  Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment 
provider which  serves or may  serve  the project  that  it 
has adequate capacity  to  serve  the project's projected 
demand  in  addition  to  the  provider's  existing 
commitments?  

       

d)  Generate  solid  waste  in  excess  of  State  or  local 
standards,  or  in  excess  of  the  capacity  of  local 
infrastructure,  or  otherwise  impair  the  attainment  of 
solid waste reduction goals?  

       

e)   Comply with federal, state, and local management and 
reduction  statutes  and  regulations  related  to  solid 
waste?  

       

 
Setting 
 
Water 
Groundwater is the primary source of domestic water supply in the Coachella Valley; the Coachella Water 
Authority (CWA) provides over 8,000 municipal water service connections and over 2,128 million gallons 
(MG)  of  water  to  customers  in  their  service  area.  CWA’s  existing  water  system  consists  of  different 
pressure  zones,  groundwater  wells,  storage  reservoirs,  booster  pumping  stations,  and  distribution 
facilities. Groundwater is pumped from six wells within the City’s distribution system. The total capacity 
of active wells is approximately 11,400 gallons per minute (gpm). CWA has three storage reservoirs within 
the City, with a total reservoir capacity of approximately 10.5 MG. CWA’s distribution system network 
consists of approximately 120 miles of pipeline, which ranges from 4‐inches to 36‐inches in diameter.  

 
Wastewater 
Wastewater services are provided to the City by the Coachella Sanitary District. The City of Coachella’s 
sewer system consist of approximately 90 miles of sanitary sewers that collect local flows generated from 
the City’s residential, commercial, and industrial areas and discharge to the City’s Avenue 54 wastewater 
treatment plan (WWTP) with a capacity of 4.5 million gallons per day (MGD).   
 
 
 
Solid Waste 

Page 351

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

116 

The City of Coachella contracts with Burrtec Waste and Recycling Services. Burrtec provides an array of 
services and offers residents containers for landfill waste, green waste, and recyclables. Residential and 
commercial waste and recycling is taken to the Coachella Valley Transfer Station. Waste from the Transfer 
Station  is  then taken to a permitted  landfill or  recycling  facility outside of  the Coachella Valley. These 
include Badlands Landfill and the Lamb Canyon Landfill.  
 
Discussion of Impacts 

a) No  Impact.  The  approximate  117.6‐acre  project  property  is  currently  disturbed  due  to  the 
development of the surrounding land uses as well as the agricultural uses onsite. As discussed 
throughout this document, the project is requesting a Change of Zone (CZ) from its current land 
use designation of Manufacturing Services (M‐S) to Multiple Family Residential, Urban (R‐M, 20‐
38 un/ac) on 50.6 acres of the site. The remaining 67 acres will not change its existing M‐S zoning 
designation. No site plans or entitlements for development are proposed at this time. 
 
The Coachella Water Authority (CWA) and the Coachella Sanitary District provides domestic water 
and wastewater services to the City of Coachella. Groundwater is the primary source of domestic 
water supply in the Coachella Valley; CWA provides potable water to the City by pumping from 
six wells within the City’s distribution system. The total capacity of active wells is approximately 
11,400 gallons per minute (gpm). CWA has three storage reservoirs within the City, with a total 
reservoir  capacity  of  approximately  10.5 MG.  CWA’s  distribution  system  network  consists  of 
approximately 120 miles of pipeline, which range from 4‐inches to 36‐inches in diameter.    
 
The City of Coachella 2015 Sewer System Master Plan Update states that flows generated from 
the  City’s  residential,  commercial,  and  industrial  areas  discharge  to  the  City’s  Avenue  54 
wastewater  treatment  plant  (WWTP) with  a  capacity of  4.5 million  gallons per day  (MGD).  In 
addition, the City maintains about 90 miles of sanitary sewers ranging in size from 4‐inches to 54‐
inches in diameter.  
 
The disturbed project site is currently not supported by an existing stormwater drainage system. 
Based on the local natural topography, runoff from the undeveloped property would have the 
propensity to flow toward the south and southeast without the benefit of any existing drainage 
controls.  Project  implementation would not  result  in physical  improvements,  such  that would 
alter the on‐site drainage conditions or contribute runoff water to the local facilities. Compared 
to the manufacturing services land uses, future new development under the proposed R‐M, and 
M‐S  designations  can  be  anticipated  to  involve  a  more  extensive  use  of  the  property  to 
accommodate the types of buildings, facilities, and operations allowable by the proposed zone 
change.  
 
Future project‐specific development will be subject to the City’s entitlement and environmental 
review process to assess the nature and intensity of potable water and wastewater use, as well 
as all of the opportunities to incorporate water conservation measures. Development of any kind 
would  be  expected  to  implement  water  conservation  measures  to  reduce  impacts  to  local 
groundwater supplies. These measures may include low‐flow plumbing fixtures, drought‐tolerant 
(native) outdoor landscaping, and water‐efficient irrigation systems.  
 
Project  specific  domestic  water  and  wastewater  improvements  necessary  to  serve  future 
development would be identified by the CWA and the Coachella Sanitation District and included 

Page 352

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

117 

as conditions of approval by the City of Coachella during the City’s standard review process. The 
zone  change  would  not  trigger  the  need  for  the  construction  of  additional  new  water  or 
wastewater  treatment  facilities of  expansion of  these  facilities. No  impacts  are expected  as  a 
result of the proposed zone change.  
 

b) No Impact. CWA’s 2015 Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) has been prepared to conduct 
long term water supply and water resource planning to ensure reliability in water service that is 
sufficient to meet the needs of its consumers in their service area. Per the CWA 2015 UWMP, the 
total  pumping  capacity  of  active wells  is  approximately  11,400  gpm or  16.5 mgd.  CWA has  a 
current baseline water demand rate of 204 gallons per capita per day (GPCD). CWA’s actual water 
usage  is  142  gpcd  and  is  40.8%  lower  than  the  targeted  reduction  for  2015  and  2020.  It  is 
anticipated  that  future  users will  continue  to  achieve  a  lower  GPCD  average  usage  across  all 
customer  classes  due  to  implementation of  plumbing  code  and  updated  landscape ordinance 
requirements.  The City’s Municipal Code has several ordinances in place to ensure water supply 
and efficiency measures are in place.  Additionally, any development within the project area will 
be  required  to  comply with  the  City’s  Landscape  Development  Guidelines  and would  include 
water efficient landscaping. Compliance with these guidelines and City ordinances will ensure that 
future development reduces water demand to meet CWA’s target demands. 
 
The UWMP estimates a population projection out to 2035, the 2020 population is estimated at 
55,783. The current population of the City of Coachella is 47,186 persons (2019 Department of 
Finance Population and Housing Estimates) which is still below the UWMP population estimates. 
The  project  site  is  vacant,  and  therefore,  is  not  currently  utilizing  domestic  water  services 
provided by CWA. As stated in the previous discussion, the project is requesting a Change of Zone 
(CZ)  from  its  current  land use designation of Manufacturing Services  (M‐S)  to Multiple  Family 
Residential  (R‐M) Urban  on  approximately  50.6  acres  of  the  site, while  the  remaining  67 will 
maintain its current M‐S zoning designation. The project does not propose any development at 
the time of writing. Development of either R‐M or M‐S designations will add to the demand of 
water supplies. However, potential demand is expected to be incremental and could be served by 
the existing water supply.   
 
Future project‐specific development will be subject to the City’s entitlement and environmental 
review  process  to  assess  the  nature  and  intensity  of  potable  water,  as  well  as  all  of  the 
opportunities  to  incorporate  water  conservation  measures.  Project  specific  domestic  water 
improvements necessary to serve future development would be identified by CWA and included 
as conditions of approval by the City of Coachella during the City’s standard review process. No 
impacts are expected as a result of the proposed project. 
 

c) Less than Significant Impact. The project is requesting a Change of Zone (CZ) from its current land 
use  designation  of  Manufacturing  Services  (M‐S)  on  approximately  50.6  acres  of  the  site  to 
Multiple Family Residential (R‐M) Urban. The remaining 67 will maintain its current M‐S zoning 
designation.  The  project  does  not  propose  any  development  at  the  time  of  writing.  Any 
wastewater generated by future development of the project site will be conveyed to CWA Avenue 
54 Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP). This WWTP has a capacity of 4.5 million gallons per day 
(mgd). The City’s collection system includes 90 miles of sanitary sewer and two pumping stations. 
Wastewater from the City is conveyed to the Avenue 54 WWTP, which treats an average of 2.9 
mgd and has a capacity of 4.5 mgd. As previously discussed, future development of the project is 
expected to moderately increase wastewater flows, however, the site will be subject to the City’s 

Page 353

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

118 

entitlement and environmental review process to assess and mitigate these impacts. No impacts 
to wastewater are expected relative to the Change of Zone.  
 

d) No Impact. The City of Coachella contracts with Burrtec Waste and Recycling Services to provide 
regular trash, recycling, and green waste pickup. The proposed project does not currently involve 
any  entitlements  for  development.  However,  solid  waste  generated  by  future  residential 
development would generate an incremental increase in solid waste volumes during short‐term 
construction  and  long‐term  operational  activities.  Solid  waste  generated  by  the  future 
development would be hauled to the Coachella Valley Transfer Station. Waste from this transfer 
station  is  then sent  to a permitted  landfill or  recycling  facility outside of  the Coachella Valley. 
These  include Badlands  Landfill  and  the  Lamb Canyon Landfill.  These  facilities  are  required  to 
comply with federal, state, and local statutes and regulations related to solid waste. CalRecycle 
data indicated that these landfills have 40‐50% of their remaining estimated capacity. Therefore, 
future development would be  required  to comply with all  applicable  solid waste  statutes and 
regulations as a result of development on the project site. No impacts are anticipated relative to 
the Change of Zone. 
 

e) No Impact. The City of Coachella contracts with the Burrtec Waste and Recycling Services to serve 
the solid waste disposal needs of the City,  including the undeveloped project site. The project 
does not propose any entitlements for development of the site at this time. The proposed land 
use change and any future development of the project site will comply with all applicable solid 
waste  statutes  and  guidelines.  No  impacts  are  expected  relative  to  solid  waste  statutes  and 
regulations. 

 
Mitigation Measures: None required 
   

Page 354

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

119 

XX. WILDFIRE 
 
 
If  located  in  or  near  state  responsibility  areas  or  lands 
classified as very high fire hazard severity zones, would the 
project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Substantially  impair  an  adopted  emergency  plan  or 
emergency evacuation plan?  

       

b)  Due  to  slope,  prevailing  winds,  and  other  factors, 
exacerbate  wildfire  risks,  and  thereby  expose  project 
occupants to, pollutant concentrations from a wildfire 
or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire?  

       

c)  Require  the  installation  or  maintenance  of  associated 
infrastructure  (such  as  roads,  fuel  breaks,  emergency 
water  sources,  power  lines  or  other  utilities)  that may 
exacerbate  fire  risk or  that may  result  in  temporary or 
ongoing impacts to the environment?  

       

d)  Expose people or structures to significant risks, including 
downslope or downstream  flooding or  landslides,  as  a 
result  of  runoff,  post‐fire  slope  instability,  or  drainage 
changes?  

       

 
(Sources: The City of Coachella 2035 General Plan, 2015) 

 
Setting  
 
A wildfire is an unplanned fire that burns in a natural area such as a forest, grassland, or prairie. Wildfires 
are often caused by humans or lightening and are exacerbated by steep slopes, dense vegetation (fuel), 
and dry and windy weather conditions. When these conditions are present, a wildfire can burn quickly 
and over a vast area, damaging hillsides, essential infrastructure, and homes and buildings. 
 
A wildland urban interface (WUI) is the line, area, or zone where structures and other human development 
meet or intermingle with undeveloped wildland or vegetation fuels. People and man‐made structures in 
WUI areas are more susceptible to the impacts of wildfires due to their adjacency to areas that provide 
fuel to wildfires, such as forests with dense vegetation. The project site is located on approximately 56.9 
acres of previously disturbed land. The project proposes a Change of Zone from Manufacturing Service 
(M‐S) to Multifamily Residential (R‐M) Urban on 50.6 acres of the project site. While the remaining 67 
acres will maintain the existing M‐S zoning designation. Impacts of wildfires to the proposed project is 
discussed below.  
 
a‐d)  No Impact. The site is currently characterized as disturbed land that was previously utilized largely 

for agricultural operations, since before 1953. The property ceased agricultural operations and is 
currently  fallow.  The  topography  at  the  site  is  defined  as  relatively  flat.  The  properties 
surrounding  the  project  site  are  characterized  by  both  developed  and  undeveloped  uses. 
Residential  communities  are  located  to  the  north  and  west;  industrial  uses,  a  residential 
neighborhood, and vacant lots are located to the east; and residential, agricultural, and vacant 
lots are located to the south. Avenue 53 delineates the property’s northern boundary, Tyler Street 

Page 355

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

120 

partially delineates  the property’s eastern boundary, and Avenue 54 delineates the property’s 
southern boundary.  

 
According to Cal Fire’s Fire and Resource Assessment Program the proposed project site is not 
located within a Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zone (VHFHSZ) in a Local Responsibility Area (LRA), 
or a Fire Hazard Severity Zone (FHSZ) in a State Responsibility Area (SRA). Additionally, Chapter 7, 
Disaster  Preparedness,  Response  and  Recovery,  of  the  Technical  Background  Report  for  the 
Coachella General Plan Update (CGPU) Environmental Impact Report (EIR), claims that wildfires 
are not prevalent in the City. Wildfires occur rarely in or near the developed areas in the valley 
floor.  Urban  fires  are  particularly  dangerous  in  heavily  developed,  older  areas,  where 
unsprinklered  buildings  not  constructed  of  fire‐resistant  materials  are  located  close  together 
(Technical Background Report, page 7‐2). Impacts of wildfires in or around the project area are 
not anticipated.  

   
  According to the Technical Background Report wildfires in the Coachella region typically start in 

the mountains  or  foothills  to  the  east,  and  in  the  San  Jacinto Mountains  to  the west. Minor 
vegetation fires have occurred to the south, in the Thermal area. These fires have historically not 
impacted  the  City  of  Coachella. With  the  future  development  of  the  hillsides,  in  the  eastern 
portion  of  the General  Plan  area,  there will  be  an  increased  potential  for wildfires  to  impact 
development, especially if the prevailing winds at the time fan the fires so that they spread onto 
the  urban‐wildland  fire  interface.  If  this  happens,  evacuation  of  the  potentially  affected 
neighborhoods may be required. In general, evacuees would take roads leading toward the more 
developed areas of the City, to the west and south of the hillsides.  

 
The CGPU identifies major evacuation routes in the City. The routes include: Avenue 48, Avenue 
50, Avenue 52, Route 86, Harrison Street, Grapefruit Boulevard, and Interstate 10 (I‐10) freeway. 
The closest major evacuation routes to the project site are Grapefruit Boulevard and Avenue 52, 
which lies approximately 0.40 miles northeast, and 0.48 miles north of the project, respectively. 
The proposed project will not significantly alter the existing circulation pattern in the project area 
or adversely impact evacuation plans, considering the site is currently surrounded by developed 
homes and existing paved improvements.  
 
Vehicular access to the project property would occur on the existing roadways, Avenue 53, Tyler 
Street, and Avenue 54. Emergency access to the project would occur along these roadways during 
project  operation.  Prior  to  project  development,  access  and  site  plans will  be  required  to  be 
submitted to the Fire Department for review in order to assure that the project does not interfere 
with emergency access. As a result, the project is not expected to impair an adopted emergency 
response plan or emergency evacuation plan. No impacts are anticipated. 

 
  Wildfire risk is related to a number of parameters, including fuel loading (vegetation), fire weather 

(winds,  temperatures, humidity  levels  and  fuel moisture  contents) and  topography  (degree of 
slope). Steep slopes contribute to fire hazards by intensifying the effects of wind and make fire 
suppression difficult. Fuels such as grass are highly flammable because they have a high surface 
area to mass ratio and require less heat to reach the ignition point. The topography of the project 
site is relatively flat, due to its previously graded nature and operation as agricultural land. Steep 
slopes do not occur on the project site. Therefore, project site is not expected to expose project 
occupants to pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled spread of a wildfire. 

 

Page 356

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

121 

The  proposed  project would  include  development  of  infrastructure  (water,  sewer,  and  storm 
drainage).  The  proposed  improvements would  allow  for  decrease  fire  risk  relative  to  existing 
conditions.  The  project  would  not  impair  implementation  of  or  physically  interfere  with  an 
adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation plan. As a result, the project is not 
expected  to  require  the  installation  or  maintenance  of  associated  infrastructure  that  may 
exacerbate fire risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment. 

 
The property is located in an urbanized area. Landslides include rockfalls, deep slope failure, and 
shallow slope failure are not likely to occur at the project site, due to the absence of steep slopes. 
Factors  such  as  the  geological  conditions,  drainage,  slope,  vegetation,  and  others  affect  the 
potential for landslides. The project site is relatively flat; therefore, the potential for a landslide in 
the project site is essentially non‐existent. As a result, the project is not expected to expose people 
or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream flooding or landslides, as a 
result of runoff, post‐fire slope instability, or drainage changes and no impact is expected to result 
from the project. 

 

Mitigation Measures: None required 

Page 357

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

122 

XXI. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE 
 
NOTE:  If there are significant environmental impacts which cannot be mitigated and no feasible project alternatives 
are available, then complete the mandatory findings of significance and attach to this initial study as an appendix.  
This is the first step for starting the environmental impact report (EIR) process. 
 

 
 
 
Does the project: 

Potentially 
Significant 
Impact 

Less Than 
Significant With 

Mitigation 
Incorporated 

Less Than 
Significant 
Impact 

No Impact 

a)  Have the potential to substantially degrade the quality 
of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of 
a  fish  or  wildlife  species,  cause  a  fish  or  wildlife 
population  to  drop  below  self‐sustaining  levels, 
threaten  to  eliminate  a  plant  or  animal  community, 
substantially reduce the number or restrict the range of 
a  rare  or  endangered  plant  or  animal  or  eliminate 
important examples of the major periods of California 
history or prehistory?  

       

b)  Have  impacts  that  are  individually  limited,  but 
cumulatively  considerable?  ("Cumulatively 
considerable" means that the incremental effects of a 
project  are  considerable  when  viewed  in  connection 
with  the  effects  of past  projects,  the  effects  of other 
current  projects,  and  the  effects  of  probable  future 
projects) 

       

c)  Have  environmental  effects  which  will  cause 
substantial  adverse  effects  on  human  beings,  either 
directly or indirectly?  

       

 
Discussion of Impacts 
 
a) No Impact.  As concluded in the Biological and Cultural Resources Sections of this Initial Study, 

the proposed project would result in no impacts. The Change of Zone on 50.6 acres of the site is 
compatible with  the City  of  Coachella General  Plan  and  its  surroundings.  The project will  not 
significantly degrade the overall quality of the region’s environment, or substantially reduce the 
habitat of a wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self‐sustaining levels, 
threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a 
rare of endangered plant or animal community. The project site has been previously disturbed 
over the years and development of the site would not eliminate  important examples of major 
periods  of  the  California  History  or  pre‐history.    Based  upon  the  information  provided  in  the 
biological  and  cultural  sections  within  this  Initial  Study,  approval  and  implementation  of  the 
project  is  not  expected  to  substantially  alter  or  degrade  the  quality  of  the  environment  and 
mitigation measures included in this document will reduce potential impact to less than significant 
levels.   

 
 

Page 358

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

123 

b)  No Impact.  The proposed project and its location are found to be adequate and consistent with 
existing federal, state, and local policies and is consistent with the City of Coachella General Plan 
and surrounding land use. Approval and implementation of the proposed project will result in no 
impacts related to cumulatively considerable impacts.     

 
c)  No Impact.  As discussed in the various sections throughout this Initial Study, the proposed project 

would not include a land use that could result in substantial adverse effects on human beings. The 
City’s detailed review process will ensure  that applicable guidelines are being  followed. Based 
upon the findings provided in this document, no impacts are expected.   

 
Mitigation Measures: None Required  
   

Page 359

Item 26.



INITIAL STUDY/NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

City of Coachella   Avenue 53 Re-Zone Project 
September 2021  Initial Study/Negative Declaration 

124 

References 
 

City of 2015 Coachella General Plan, 2035 and General Plan EIR 
 
CWA 2015 Urban Water Management Plan 
 
City of Coachella 2015 Sewer System Management Plan 

City of Coachella Municipal Code  

Riverside County General Plan, 2015 
 
California Division of Mines and Geology, 1987 
 
CalEEMod Version 2016.3.2 
 
City of Coachella Climate Action Plan, June 2014 

California Scenic Highway Mapping System 

Riverside County Important Farmland 2014 Map  
 
CalRecycle Solid Waste Information System  
 
 
 

Page 360

Item 26.



ORDINANCE NO. 1187 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA APPROVING CHANGE OF ZONE (CZ 21-02) FOR THE 

AVENUE 53 CHANGE OF ZONE PROJECT FROM M-S 

(MANUFACTURING SERVICE) TO R‐M URBAN (MULTIPLE-

FAMILY RESIDENTIAL, 20‐38 DU/AC), ON APPROXIMATELY 50.6 

ACRES OF 118 ACRES OF VACANT, AGRICULTURAL LAND 

LOCATED SOUTH OF AVENUE 53, NORTH OF AVENUE 54, AND 

WEST OF TYLER STREET (APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 778‐390‐005, 

and 778‐390‐007). CITY-INITIATED; APPLICANT. (1ST Reading) 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project, as set forth in Environmental Assessment (EA 

21-02) and Change of Zone (CZ 21-02) consists of the above-referenced application on 

approximately 118 acres of vacant agricultural land located south of Ave 53, north of Ave 

54, and west of Tyler St. (APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 778‐390‐005, and 778‐390‐

007); and the Project seeks to bring the properties into compliance with the General Plan’s 

“Land Use and Community Character Element”; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the General Plan Land Use Map policies, call for the subject property 

to include multi-family residential uses, and to create an urban pattern that includes short 

blocks with good street connectivity and pedestrian amenities; and, 

 

WHEREAS, Prior to the approval of this Change of Zone (CZ 21-02), the project 

site contains the M-S (Manufacturing Service) zone which does not allow for the housing 

types envisioned by the General Plan; and, 

 

WHEREAS, to bring the site into compliance with the General Plan, and to comply 

with the City’s Housing Element re-zoning requirements, the City of Coachella 

Development Services Department with the consent of the Property Owner proposes to 

create the following Zoning District: 

 

 R-M Urban (Multiple-Family Residential, 25-38 DU/AC)  

 

WHEREAS, the City completed Environmental Assessment/Initial Study (EA 21-

02) for the Proposed Project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, as 

amended; and, 
 

WHEREAS, based on this Environmental Assessment/Initial Study the City has 

made a determination that the Project will not have a significant impact on the environment 

and has prepared a Negative Declaration for this Project; and, 

 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Intent to Adopt a Negative Declaration was posted with 

the County Clerk and the proposed Mitigated Negative was made available for a 20-day 

public review period commencing on August 9, 2021 and ending on August 30, 2021; and, 

 

Page 361

Item 26.



Ordinance No. 1187 – 1st Reading 

Page 2 

 

WHEREAS, interested and concerned individuals and public agencies had the 

opportunity to review and comment on the proposed Negative Declaration; and, 

 

WHEREAS, findings of the Initial Study indicated that the Proposed Project would 

not create any significant impacts to the environment; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Project would not be detrimental to the general health, 

safety and welfare of the community. 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed public hearing 

on Change of Zone No. 21-02 and EA 21-02 on September 1, 2021 to consider staff 

recommendations and prior written and oral testimony regarding the project and 

recommended to the City Council adoption of a negative declaration and approval of 

Change of Zone No. 21-02; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on Change 

of Zone No. 21-02 and Environmental Assessment 21-02 on October 13, 2021 in the 

Council Chambers, 1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California to consider staff 

recommendations and prior written and oral testimony regarding the project and wherein 

the public was given an opportunity to testify; and, 

 

WHEREAS, a Negative Declaration was prepared in accordance with the 

California Environmental Quality Act, as amended. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1.  That the City of Coachella Official Zoning Map be amended as shown on the 

attached Change of Zone 21-02 Map marked “Exhibit A” from M-S (Manufacturing 

Service) to R-M Urban (Multiple-Family Residential, 20-38 DU/AC), on approximately 

50.6 acres of 118 acres of vacant, agricultural land located on the north side of Avenue 53, 

North of Avenue 54, and West of Tyler Street (APN: APN: 778‐390‐003, 778‐390‐004, 

778‐390‐005, and 778‐390‐007). 

 

SECTION 2.  Compliance with the Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”). As the 

advisory body for the Project, the Planning Commission has reviewed and considered the 

information contained in the Negative Declaration, Initial Study, comments received, and 

other documents contained in the administrative record for the Project.  The Planning 

Commission recommends that the City Council find that the Negative Declaration, Initial 

Study and administrative record contain a complete and accurate reporting of the 

environmental impacts associated with the Project. The Planning Commission further 

recommends that the City Council find that the Negative Declaration and the Initial Study 

have been completed in compliance with CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines, and the City 

of Coachella’s Local CEQA Guidelines. 

 

SECTION 3. Findings on Environmental Impacts.  Based on the whole record before it, 

Page 362

Item 26.



Ordinance No. 1187 – 1st Reading 

Page 3 

 

including the Negative Declaration, Initial Study, the administrative record and all other 

written and oral evidence presented, the City Council finds that all environmental impacts 

of the Project are insignificant as outlined in the Negative Declaration and Initial Study.  

The City Council finds that there is no substantial evidence in the administrative record 

supporting a fair argument that the Project may result in any significant environmental 

impacts.  The City Council finds that the Negative Declaration contains a complete, 

objective, and accurate reporting of the environmental impacts associated with the Project 

and reflects the independent judgment and analysis of the City Council. 

 

SECTION 4. Wildlife Resources. Pursuant to Fish and Game Code Section 711.4(c), all 

project applicants and public agencies subject to CEQA shall pay a filing fee for each 

Proposed Project, as specified in subdivision 711.4(d) for any adverse effect on wildlife 

resources or the habitat upon which wildlife depends unless a “no effect” finding is made 

by the California Department of Fish and Game.  This fee is due and payable as a condition 

precedent to the County Clerk’s filing of a Notice of Determination. 

 

SECTION 6. Findings for Change of Zone 21-02.  The City Council does hereby approve 

of Change of Zone (CZ 21-02) with the findings listed below:  

 

Findings for Change of Zone 21-02: 

 
1. The Project is consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and implementation 

measures of the Coachella General Plan 2035.  The site has a General Neighborhood 

land use designation and is part of the Subarea 5 – Airport District policies, that allows 

for the proposed development.  The proposed change of zone is in keeping with the 

policies of the Urban Employment Center land use classification and the Project is 

internally consistent with other General Plan policies for this type of development.  
 

2. The Project complies with the applicable land use regulations and development 

standards of the City’s Zoning Code. The Project complies with applicable sections of 

the General Plan and Section 17.80 of the City of Coachella Municipal Code in that the 

subject property is vacant land that will be developed in accordance with the R-M, Urban 

(Multiple-Family Residential, 25-38 DU/AC) zoning development standards and the site 

has conforming width and depth, is generally flat, and can accommodate intensive urban 

development as anticipated in the future. 
 

3. Every use, development of land and application of architectural guidelines and 

development standards shall be considered on the basis of the suitability of the site for a 

particular use or development intended, and the total development, including the 

prescribed development standards, shall be so arranged as to avoid traffic congestion, 

ensure the protection of public health, safety and general welfare, prevent adverse effects 

on neighboring property and shall be in accord with all elements of the general plan. The 

proposed change of zone is compatible with existing surrounding land uses that include 

a variety of residential, institutional, and light industrial uses. There is access to Avenue 

53 and Avenue 54, which are arterial roadways that can accommodate the future 

traffic/circulation needs of the site. 

 

Page 363

Item 26.



Ordinance No. 1187 – 1st Reading 

Page 4 

 

4. The Project will be compatible with neighboring properties with respect to land 

development patterns and application of architectural treatments.  Surrounding 

properties to the project site include residential single-family neighborhoods, vacant 

properties in unincorporated Riverside County.  Armtec Defense Products complex is 

on Heavy Industrial zoned property and the residential zoning created by this change of 

zone would establish a 750-foot distance buffer. As such, the Project will be in keeping 

with the scale, massing, and aesthetic appeal of the existing area and future development.  

 

5. The Project will not create any significant impacts to the environment based upon a 

complete and accurate reporting of the environmental impacts associated with the 

Project contained in the Negative Declaration, Initial Study, and administrative record.  

The Negative Declaration and the Initial Study have been completed in compliance with 

CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines, and the City of Coachella’s Local CEQA 

Guidelines. 

 

Section 7. SEVERABILITY. The City Council declares that, should any provision, section, 

paragraph, sentence or word of this ordinance be rendered or declared invalid by any final 

court action in a court of competent jurisdiction or by reason of any preemptive legislation, 

the remaining provisions, sections, paragraphs, sentences or words of this ordinance as 

hereby adopted shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

Section 8. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after its 

second reading by the City Council. 

 

Section 9. CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Ordinance 

and shall cause it to be published and circulated in the City of Coachella. 

 
 ORDINANCE PASSED AND APPROVED on this ___th day of June 2021. 

 

  

 

            __________________________   

                                                    Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________                                              

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

____________________________                                              

Carlos Campos, City Attorney 

 

Page 364

Item 26.



 

 

I, Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk, City of Coachella, California, certify that the foregoing 

Ordinance No. 1187 was introduced by the City Council at a regular meeting of the City 

Council held on the 13th day of October 2021, and was adopted on the __th day of _____ 2021, 

by the following vote: 

          

  

AYES: 

 

 NOES: 

 

 ABSENT: 

 

 ABSTAIN: 

 

            ___________________________                                         

            Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

 

  

Page 365

Item 26.



 

EXHIBIT A 

 

AVENUE 53 CHANGE OF ZONE PROJECT – CHANGE OF ZONE EXHIBITS 

 

 

Page 366

Item 26.



 

 

 

 
 

Page 367

Item 26.



 1 

 

STAFF REPORT 

                                10/13/2021 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Gabriel Perez, Development Services Director  

SUBJECT: Kismet Coachella Dispensary – A request to consider an appeal of Planning 

Commission’s decision to deny a 12-month Time Extension for Conditional Use 

Permit No. 305 to convert an existing vacant commercial tenant space into a 

3,050 square foot cannabis dispensary with 750 square feet for check-in and 

waiting area, 1800 square feet of retail display area and 500 square feet of rear 

storage, inventory control and packaging to be located in Building 1 located at 

1639 and 1645 6th Street; and a 4,500 square foot coffee shop, art display and 

office/event space to be located in Building 2 located at 1657 and 1669 6th Street. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council continue the appellant’s request consideration of the appeal of 

the Planning Commission’s denial of the Conditional Use Permit time extension as requested by the 

appellant to the City Council meeting of October 27, 2021. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

On January 22, 2020 the Planning Commission recommend approval of Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 

305 for the Kismet Coachella Project to convert four existing vacant tenant spaces on the north side of 

6th Street into the following uses: a 3,050 square foot cannabis dispensary that includes the following 

uses: a 750 square feet area for check-in and waiting area; 1800 square feet of retail display area and 

500 square feet of rear storage, inventory control and packaging that would be located in Building No. 

1. A 4,500 square foot coffee shop, art display and office/event space is proposed to be located in 

Building No. 2. 

 

Additionally, the City Council on February 26th, 2020 approved CUP 305 and Change of Zone No. 18-

07 (1st reading), to add the RC (Retail Cannabis) overlay zone to the existing C-G (General Commercial) 

zone on Building 1 located at 1639 and 1645 6th Street. 

 

The following exhibits illustrated the existing project site and proposed use of the site and building. 

  

Page 368

Item 27.



 2 
Page 369

Item 27.



 3 

The photograph below is looking north at the existing buildings from Sixth Street. The retail 

cannabis business is proposed for this building. 

 

 

 

 

The photograph below is looking at Building #2 that is proposed for the coffee shop, art display 

and office/event space. 

 

 

 

Page 370

Item 27.



 4 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 371

Item 27.



 5 

The overall project and streetscape including both buildings is illustrated below: 

 

 
 

The dispensary is proposed for Building 1 as illustrated and described below: 

 

Page 372

Item 27.



 6 

 

The proposed coffee shop, art displays and office/event space is illustrated and described 
below. 

 
 

Artist renderings of the completed buildings are illustrated on the two exhibits below: 
 

 

 

Page 373

Item 27.



 7 

 
 

 

The exhibit below shows the view towards the rear of the building looking at the proposed 

parking lot. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 374

Item 27.



 8 

 

The two exhibits below illustrate the interior of the cannabis dispensary. 

 

 
 

 
 

The above exhibit illustrates the proposed coffee bar, check in reception and waiting area of the 

proposed cannabis dispensary.  

 

 

Page 375

Item 27.



 9 

REQUEST FOR TIME EXTENSION: 

  
Pursuant to Zoning Ordinance Section 17.74.050, a conditional use that has been granted, but not 

exercised within one year may be renewed for three one-year time extension if an application 

stating reasons for renewal is filed prior to one year after the effective date of the conditional use 

approval.  The applicant submitted a letter dated April 3, 2021 (attached) requesting a 12-month 

time extension for CUP 305 and Change of Zone No. 18-07, which approved the operation of 

Cannabis Dispensary facility. The applicants state that the time delay is in construction and 

correcting structural issues, lack of response from Imperial Irrigation District and have not been 

successful in finalizing any lease agreements. 

The Planning Commission considered the time extension request on June 16, 2021 and denied the 

time extension for the CUP Permit and the Change of Zone.  The Planning Commission has 

discretion to approve time extension requests for approved CUP’s where there is a justification for 

the delay in construction activity, and where the project continues to be in keeping with City 

policies and the public interest. After the Planning Commission meeting, Planning staff 

communicated with the City Attorney to determine if a time extension can be granted to a Change 

of Zone since the Municipal Code does not identify that a Change of Zone expires.  Since a Change 

of Zone does not expire the RC Overlay would remain on the property.  Staff removed the Change 

of Zone from the time extension request. Retail cannabis businesses would not be able to operate 

at the site without receiving initial authorization to apply for a Conditional Use Permit after a 

successful ranking through a competitive cannabis retail round established by the City Council.   

After further communication between Planning staff and the City Attorney subsequent to the June 

16, 2021 Planning Commission, it was also determined that only Edward Sapigao could file for 

the time extension request due to the special nature of CUPs for storefront retail cannabis sales.  

These CUPs require initial review and authorization under selection criteria established by the City 

Council to apply for a CUP, which include submission of a complete application with business 

specific information such as a business plan and security plan.  Mr, Sapigao’s application was 

reviewed and ranked under selection criteria for Retail Round #1 which included:  

1. Location and Neighborhood Compatibility 

2. Security Plan  

3. Qualification/Experience of Professionals  

4. Building Façade and Interior Improvements  

5. Community Benefits  

 

Typically CUPs run with the land and cannot be used in another location. In the case of retail 

cannabis businesses in the City of Coachella, the authorization to submit for City Council approval 

of the CUP is based on the credentials of the original applicant and their ability to be successfully 

ranked by the ad-hoc committee according to selection criteria identified by the City Council.   

 

Recently, the City Council directed staff to take a strict approach with the Retail Cannabis 

applicants that have not diligently pursed construction, or licensing of the approved dispensary. 

The compelling reason for this involves the City’s loss of retail cannabis tax based due to the 

failure of the owners to execute the project. 

 

Page 376

Item 27.



 10 

CONCLUSIONS: 

 
The applicants have had ample time to obtain permits and purse construction diligently over the 

past 17 months. The justification for construction delays issues are not sufficient to allow a 

continued loss of taxation revenue. In fact retail cannabis businesses have been classified as 

“essential businesses” by the State of California in enforcing the temporary closures of public 

assembly and other businesses. 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Adopt Resolution No. 2021-61 to affirm the Planning Commission decision to deny a 12-

month extension for Conditional Use Permit No. 305 with the findings and attached 

conditions of approval. 

2. Take no action.  

3. Continue this item as requested by the appellant and provide staff with direction.  

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 

 

Staff recommends Alternative #3 as noted above to the City Council Meeting of October 27, 2021. 

 

 

Attachments:   1. Appellant Request for Continuance October 3, 2021 

  2. Resolution No. 2021-61 

  3. Appellant Letter 

  4. City Council Staff Report CUP 305, CZ 18-06- February 26, 2020 

  5. Retail Round #1 Selection Criteria (Reso 2020-23) 
  

 

 

 

Page 377

Item 27.



Page 378

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 1



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-61  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

AFFIRMING PLANNING COMMISSION’S DECISION AND DENYING A 12-

MONTH TIME EXTENSION FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 305, A 

REQUEST TO CONVERT AN EXISTING VACANT COMMERCIAL 

TENANT SPACE INTO A 3,050 SQUARE FOOT CANNABIS DISPENSARY 

AND 4,500 SQUARE FOOT COFFEE SHOP, ART DISPLAY AND 

OFFICE/EVENT SPACE LOCATED AT 1639, 1645, 1657 AND 1669 6TH 

STREET; APPLICANT: CHERYL THOMAS.  

 

WHEREAS, Cheryl Thomas filed an application for a 12-month time extension for 

Conditional Use Permit No. 305 (CUP 305): a request for a 3,050 square foot cannabis dispensary 

including 750 square feet for check-in and waiting area, 1,800 square feet of retail display area 

and 500 square feet of rear storage, inventory control and packaging to be located in Building 1 

located at 1639 and 1645 6th Street; and a 4,500 square foot coffee shop, art display and 

office/event space to be located in Building 2 located at 1657 and 1669 6th Street (“Project”); and,  

 

WHEREAS, the City Council completed an initial environmental assessment of the above 

matter in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) when Conditional 

Use Permit 305 and Change of Zone 18-06 was approved on February 26, 2020 and determined 

that the Project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303(c) that 

exempts conversion of existing small structures from one use to another where only minor 

modifications are made to the exterior of the structure; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the Project is conditionally permitted pursuant to Chapter 17.47 of the 

Coachella Municipal Code, subject to additional findings for Conditional Use Permits; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission considered the time extension request of CUP No. 

305 and CZ 18-06 on June 16, 2021 at the Coachella Permit Center, 53-990 Enterprise Way, 

Coachella, California regarding the proposed Project; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission on June 16, 2021 voted to deny the time extension 

request for Conditional Use Permit 305 and CZ 18-06; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the applicant filed an appeal to the City Council of the Planning 

Commission’s decision to deny the 12-month time extension request for CUP 305 and CZ 18-06; 

and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing to consider the 

appeal by Cheryl Thomas for CUP No. 305 on October 13, 2021 at the Coachella City Council 

Chambers at 1515 6th Street, Coachella, California regarding the proposed Project; and,  

 

WHEREAS, City staff requested the City Council not consider the appeal of CZ 18-06 

since a change of zone does not expire and the underlying RC Overlay zone continues to remain 

in place by Ordinance; and,  

Page 379

Item 27.



Resolution No. 2021-61 

Page 2 

 

 

WHEREAS, at the City Council hearing, the Applicant and members of the public were 

present and were afforded an opportunity to testify regarding the Project.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 

Coachella, California does hereby affirm the Planning Commission’s decision to deny a time 

extension request for Conditional Use Permit No. 305, subject to the findings listed below.  

 

Section 1. The above recitals are hereby incorporated by reference.  

 

Section 2. At its regular meeting on October 13, 2021, the City Council conducted a public 

hearing on the appeal of the Planning Commission decision to deny a time extension for 

Conditional Use Permit for the operation of a 3,050 square foot cannabis dispensary including 750 

square feet for check-in and waiting area, 1,800 square feet of retail display area and 500 square 

feet of rear storage, inventory control and packaging to be located in Building 1 located at 1639 

and 1645 6th Street; and a 4,500 square foot coffee shop, art display and office/event space to be 

located in Building 2 located at 1657 and 1669 6th Street.  

 

Section 3. Based upon the administrative record which includes the appeal application, 

maps, and diagrams of the property, the oral and written evidence presented at the hearing, and 

upon the independent discretion and criteria enumerated by Section 17.74.015(B) of the Coachella 

Municipal Code, the City Council finds as follows:   

 

A. Edward Sapigao (on behalf of Kismet Organic Cultivation) was the applicant for 

Conditional Use Permit 305, his application was submitted for completeness review, 

and was reviewed under Round 1 selection criteria determined by the City Council 

through Resolution 2018-07 for cannabis retailers and retail microbusinesses, which 

included submission of a business plan and security plan.  Edward Sapigao was granted 

the ability to submit for development review of a CUP, among 9 other businesses, for 

storefront cannabis retail based on Mr. Sapigao’s application ranking by a 3-member 

ad-hoc committee that demonstrated compliance with the selection criteria established 

by the City Council such as 1) location and Neighborhood Compatibility 2) Security 

Plan 3) Qualification/Experience of Professionals 4) Building Façade and Interior 

Improvements 5) Community Benefits. Edward Sapigao provided written 

communication that he has no further interest in whether or not the time extension is 

approved. 

 

B. Construction has not commenced or been diligently pursued toward completion as 

proposed in tenant improvements identified in the exhibits for Conditional Use Permit 

305. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 13th day of October 2021. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor  

Page 380

Item 27.



Resolution No. 2021-61 

Page 3 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Carlos Campos 

City Attorney  

Page 381

Item 27.



Resolution No. 2021-61 

Page 4 

 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

CITY OF COACHELLA 

) 

) ss. 

) 

 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2021-61 was duly adopted by 

the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on the 13th day of 

October 2021, by the following vote of Council: 

 

AYES:  

   

NOES:    

   

ABSENT:  

 

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC  

Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

Page 382

Item 27.



Page 383

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 3



STAFF REPORT

2/ 26/ 2020

To: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members

FROM: Luis Lopez, Development Services Director

SUBJECT: Kismet Coachella Dispensary

SPECIFICS: a) Ordinance No. 1146 approving Change of Zone No. 18- 07 that proposes to
add the RC ( Retail Cannabis) overlay zone to the existing C -G ( General
Commercial) zone on Building 1 located at 1639 and 1645 6th Street. ( First

Reading) 

b) Resolution No. 2020- 09 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 305 to

convert an existing vacant commercial tenant space into a 3, 050 square foot
cannabis dispensary with 750 square feet for check- in and waiting area, 
1800 square feet of retail display area and 500 square feet of rear storage, 
inventory control and packaging to be located in Building 1 located at 1639
and 1645 6"' Street; and a 4, 500 square foot coffee shop, art display and
office/ event space to be located in Building 2 located at 1657 and 1669 6th
Street. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the City Council approve the Kismet Coachella project by taking the following
actions: 

20. 

1) Introduce for first reading, by title only, Ordinance No. 1146 to add the RC ( Retail Cannabis) 
overlay zone to the existing C -G ( General Commercial) zone on Building 1 located at 1639 and
16456 1h Street. 

2) Adopt Resolution No. 2020- 09 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 305 that proposes to
convert existing vacant commercial tenant space into a 3, 050 square foot cannabis dispensary
with 750 square feet for check- in and waiting area, 1, 800 square feet of retail display area and
500 square feet of rear storage, inventory control and packaging to be located in Building 1
located at 1639 and 1645 6th Street; and a 4, 500 square foot coffee shop, art display and
office/ event space to be located in Building 2 located at 1657 and 1669 6th Street. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

The Kismet Coachella Project is proposing to convert four existing vacant tenant spaces on the north
side of 6th Street into the following uses: a 3050 square foot cannabis dispensary that includes the
following uses: a 750 square feet area for check- in and waiting area; 1800 square feet of retail display
area and 500 square feet of rear storage, inventory control and packaging that would be located in
Building No. 1. A 4500 square foot coffee shop, art display and office/ event space is proposed to be
located in Building No. 2. 

1Page 384

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



BACKGROUND' 
20" 

The above referenced applications are proposed within four existing commercial buildings at 1639, 
1645, 1657 and 1669 Sixth Street as illustrated on the following aerial photograph: 

2Page 385

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

The photograph below is looking north at the existing buildings from Sixth Street. The retail
cannabis business is proposed for this building. 

The photograph below is looking at Building # 2 that is proposed for the coffee shop, art display
and office/ event space. 

Page 386

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



History of the Existing Buildings

20. 

According to information obtained from Riverside County, the four lots on which the buildings
exist were recorded on June 1, 1902 and the buildings were constructed around 1930. Staff has

reviewed the building permits that have been issued for the property. ( see attachment 4) The

first record of a building permit was issued on November 30, 1972 for the refurbishing of a
women' s clothing store. On June 18, 1975 a permit was issued for a sign for the United Farm
Workers and on April 4, 1978 a permit was issued to repair the roof. The next building permits
were issued in 2013 to retrofit wall anchorage and re -roof the buildings. Additional permits

were issued in 2015 for interior demolition and asbestos remediation. The last building permit
was issued on April 23, 2019 for alterations and additions to demolish and discard all interior, 

non-bearing" walls, framing, electrical outlets and HVAC, remove or grind down to slab
anchor bolts flush. The Applicant has stated that these buildings have been vacant for at least

twenty years. 

Overview of the Kismet Coachella Proiect (CUP 305) 

The project proposes the following uses as shown on the site plan below: a 3050 square foot
cannabis dispensary including 750 square feet for check- in and waiting area, 1800 square feet
of retail display area and 500 square feet of rear storage, inventory control and packaging to be
located in Building 1 located at 1639 and 1645 6th Street; and a 4500 square foot coffee shop, 
art display and office/event space to be located in Building 2 located at 1657 and 1669 6th
Street; and a new 8 space parking lot including 1 disabled space in the rear of the building with
new landscaping and a new trash enclosure. 

MPage 387

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



D', I-, IV

rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr e Wmrrrrrrr rrrrrrrr f wrrrrrr rn ; W 

rrrrrrrrrrrrwi
rrrrrrrrr rr

f
J,. j

I t YE, 1fA [ f 4LP, 41 i

RETAVLY k F(, E F] 
fs" 4.; i•.. lri G 1GY lA ; rw w"„ I 1 E r ' : P” 

ff
w

t

v, 

maxv aoilmw, vwti «, amrgwp w+ w ea ,
aa, m. x;. m n

As seen from the exhibit below, the Applicant is proposing the following modifications to the
outside of the buildings: new smooth Spanish stucco texture; a new curved awning over the
dispensary building; new gates across the driveway with a curbed arbor over the driveway area
and new signs over each of the proposed uses. 

The overall project and streetscape including both buildings is illustrated below: 

5

20. 

fn')"A , J; dL` 

I„

wuw4u

M, v,! u

ir
t

G. evututu

Drry
y

ry
ryU

W kdWllWitP 

Yhww v, wv, 

f  

NBry Ibl+. 

N

l

D', I-, IV

rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr e Wmrrrrrrr rrrrrrrr f wrrrrrr rn ; W 

rrrrrrrrrrrrwi
rrrrrrrrr rr

f
J,. j

I t YE, 1fA [ f 4LP, 41 i

RETAVLY k F(, E F] 
fs" 4.; i•.. lri G 1GY lA ; rw w"„ I 1 E r ' : P” 

ff
w

t

v, 

maxv aoilmw, vwti «, amrgwp w+ w ea ,
aa, m. x;. m n

As seen from the exhibit below, the Applicant is proposing the following modifications to the
outside of the buildings: new smooth Spanish stucco texture; a new curved awning over the

dispensary building; new gates across the driveway with a curbed arbor over the driveway area
and new signs over each of the proposed uses. 

The overall project and streetscape including both buildings is illustrated below: 

5

20. 

Page 388

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Front Elevations

along 61' Street

N. . . .... ..... 7 - , -- T

OTHSTRECTSCAPE FACAM UPGAA09, 

X1639 645

2, 30(), 5, F ' 750, SF

16,57 # 1, 6,619

200T" , 30() 2, 30() S,F

The dispensary is proposed for Building I as illustrated and described below: 

FIXT TEWIC") 

Building I -- Dispensary
16,39 61111 Street --, 2,.300 5F

1645 6111 Street — "750 SF

These two aiddresses are adjoinkig and consWered one b0ding. 

K) smet has conte -61 of these two biuiUngs ) n agreement with the property owner. 

Page 389

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

The proposed coffee shop, art displays and office/ event space is illustrated and described
below. 

H TI 1'i I TIS° r.TI. NOW

FIM", 'IIA

I - 

Artist renderings of the completed buildings are illustrated on the two exhibits below: 

Page 390

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

The exhibit below shows the view towards the rear of the building looking at the proposed
parking lot. 

Page 391

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

The two exhibits below illustrate the interior of the cannabis dispensary. 

The above exhibit illustrates the proposed coffee bar, check in reception and waiting area of the
proposed cannabis dispensary. 

Page 392

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



DISCUS SION/ ANALYSIS : 

Environmental Setting: 

The site is designated as being within the Downtown Center on the 2035 Coachella General
Plan as illustrated on the exhibit below: 

The project site is zoned General

Commercial ( C -G) as illustrated on the

exhibit below. Surrounding properties to the
north, south and west are zoned C -G

General Commercial). 

Surrounding land uses to the north, south, 
east and west of the site consist of

commercial land uses. 

Consistency with the Coachella General

Plan

The proposed project is

Downtown Center land use

the General Plan 2035 Land

within the

designation of

Use Element. 

The project is consistent with the

10

20. 

Page 393

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



development intensity permitted by the Downtown Center land use category. 

Consistency with the ( C -G) General Commercial Zone

20. 

The parcels in question were created in 1902 within the jurisdiction of Riverside County, 44

years before the City incorporated in December 1946. 

As stated previously, the buildings were constructed around 1930, before the current

development standards of the General Commercial ( C -G) zone were enacted by the City of
Coachella. 

Because the buildings were constructed prior to the General Commercial ( C -G) zoning standards

were established within the City of Coachella, they do not meet the current standards for
minimum lot width, minimum side yard setback, nor does the project meet the requirement for a

15 foot front yard setback, as the buildings were constructed on the front and side yard property
lines. 

Consistency with Section 17. 54. 010 Parking and Landscaping Requirements

The total square footage of the proposed project is 7550 square feet. Based on the Municipal

Code, a total of 19 parking spaces would be required. As mentioned earlier in the staff report, the

buildings were constructed around 1930. The site plan includes a total of 8 parking spaces, 11
less than what the Municipal Code requires. 

The Planning Department has retained a consultant that is currently conducting a block by block
assessment of downtown parking needs based on current land uses and build out anticipated by
the General Plan as well as the Pueblo Viejo Plan. This study will lead to overall parking

recommendations for the downtown area. As stated previously, based on the size of the lots and
the size of the existing buildings, it would be impossible for any proposed retail use to provide

the required number of off-street parking spaces. 

Section J of Section 17. 54.010 specifies the landscaping requirements for projects within the
City. Because the lots were created and the buildings constructed before these standards were in
existence it is impossible for the proposed project to meet the requirements of this section. 

Section 17. 54. 010, J4 requires that internal landscaping equal a minimum 5% of the parking

area. The Applicant is proposing landscaping within the parking area at the rear of the buildings, 
in excess of the 5% required by the Municipal Code. 

The Planning Department considers the existing buildings a non -conforming use and as such, the

Director has the discretion of allowing the proposed uses to proceed without adherence to the

above reference specific zoning standards. 

Furthermore, the existing building will be brought up to all current building codes prior to the

issuance of a certificate of occupancy. 

11Page 394

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Consistency with Section 17. 47: RC Retail Cannabis Overlay Zone

20. 

The proposed project is within Sub -Zone 1 as identified within Chapter 17. 47 of the Municipal

Code. The project meets the property development standards as identified in Section 17. 47. 060, 

A-E as outlined below, except for Standard F 1 and F2 regarding adherence to on and off-site

parking: 

17. 47. 060 - Property development standards. 

A. Project Area/ Lot/ Building Height Requirements. Except as specified in the applicable

development agreement, CUP or regulatory permit, the project area, lot size, lot coverage
and building height requirements of the underlying zone shall apply. 

B. No Drive -Thio Retail Cannabis Facilities. No retail cannabis business within the RC

Overlay Zone shall operate " drive-thru", " drive up", " window service" or similar facilities

whereby a customer can order, purchase and receive retail cannabis without leaving his or
her vehicle. 

C. No Non -Storefront Retailers. No retail cannabis business within the RC overlay zone shall
be operated as " non -storefront" or " delivery only". Delivery may only be approved as
ancillary to the operation of a permitted cannabis retail business which is physically located
within the RC overlay zone and which primarily provides cannabis to customers on the
premises. 

D. Distance Restrictions. No retail cannabis business within the RC overlay zone shall be
located within two hundred fifty (250) feet of any public or private school ( K- 12), day care
center or youth center. The distance shall be measured from the nearest point between any
part of the building containing the retail cannabis business to any lot line of the other use. 
For purposes of this paragraph, the following definitions shall apply: 

1. ' Day care center" means any child day care facility other than a family day care home, 
and includes infant centers, preschools, extended day care facilities and school age child
care centers. 

2. " Youth center" means any public or private facility that is primarily used to house
recreational or social activities for minors, including, but not limited to, private youth
membership organizations or clubs, social service teenage club facilities, video arcades, 
or similar amusement park facilities. 

E. Location of Customer Entrance. No retail cannabis business shall have a customer entrance

that is adjacent to or directly across the street from a residentially zoned lot. 

F. On- Street/ Off-Street Parking and Loading. 

1. Off -Street Parking and Loading. Off-street parking and loading facilities for a retail
cannabis business shall be provided in accordance with the provisions of Section

17. 54. 010- C ( 1) of this title. 

2. On -Street Parking and Loading. On -street parking or loading shall be prohibited for a
retail cannabis business. 

12Page 395

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



The proposed conditional use permit meets all the above development standards except for

Standard Fl, off-street parking and F2 -On -Street parking. A discussion on overall downtown

parking is discussed previously in the staff report. 

Architectural Review/Building Materials

The artist renderings on pages 6, 7 and 8 of this staff report provide an overview of the

modifications and enhancements proposed for the two buildings. 

Landscaping

The project proposes two new landscape planters in the rear parking lot: One is adjacent to the
rear of the building and the other is adjacent to the block wall at the rear property line. The
parking area includes 5506 square feet of pavement area. Of that area the project proposes 2099
square feet of landscaped area, or 38%, in excess of the 5% required by the Municipal Code. 

Because the buildings were constructed around 1930 and are considered non -conforming
structures, conformance to current City landscaping standards is not possible. Specifically, since

the buildings were constructed to the front property line, construction of a 15 foot landscaped
planter is not possible. 

L = 1, 099 SF

5, 506- s1' 

MV- 

13

20. 

Page 396

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



The City has determined that the project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality
Act ( CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 ( C) that exempts the conversion of

existing small structures from one use to another where only minor modifications are made to the
exterior of the structure. 

CORRESPONDENCE

The City has not received any correspondence for the proposed project

ALTERNATIVES: 

1) Approve Conditional Use Permit No. 305 and Change of Zone No. 18- 07 with the

findings and conditions as recommended by the Planning Commission and Staff. 

2) Deny Conditional Use Permit No. 305 and Change of Zone 18- 07. 

3) Continue these items and provide staff and the applicant with direction. 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE( S): 

It is staff' s recommendation that the City Council open the public hearing and allow input from
all proponents and opponents of the proposed project. Because the proposed Project is in

conformance with the City' s General Plan and the proposed use would be consistent with the
Municipal Code and compatible with the surrounding uses in the area, it is staff s

recommendation that the proposed project be approved by taking the following actions: 

1. Motion to introduce for first reading, by title only, Ordinance No. 1146, approving
Change of Zone 18- 07 with the attached findings. 

2. Motion to adopt Resolution No. 2020- 09 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 305
with the findings and attached conditions of approval. 

Attachments: 

Attachment No. 1: Ordinance No. 1146 for CZ 18- 07

Attachment No. 2: Resolution No. 2020- 09 for CUP 305

Attachment No. 3: Exhibit A: Conditions of Approval for CUP 305

Attachment No. 4: Historical Building Permits

14

20. 

Page 397

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



ORDINANCE NO. 1146

20. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF

COACHELLA APPROVING CHANGE OF ZONE 18- 07 TO ADD THE

THE RETAIL CANNABIS OVERLAY ZONE ( RC) TO THE EXISTING

GENERAL COMMERCIAL ZONE ( C -G) ON PROPERTY LOCATED

AT 1639 AND 1645 SIXTH STREET; ED SAPIGAO, APPLICANT. 

WHEREAS, Ed Sapigao ( on behalf of Kismet Organic Cultivation) filed an

application for Change of Zone 18- 07 on property located at 1639 and 1645 Sixth Street, 
and attendant applications Conditional Use Permit 305, Assessor' s Parcel No. 778- 061- 

009 (" Project"); and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed public hearing
on Change of Zone 18- 07 and CUP 305 on November 6, 2019 at the Coachella Permit

Center, 53- 990 Enterprise Way, Coachella, California and recommended that the City
Council approve Change of Zone 18- 07 and CUP 305; and, 

WHEREAS, the Applicant and members of the public were present and were

afforded an opportunity to testify regarding the Project; and, 

WHEREAS, the Project is permitted pursuant to Chapter 17. 47 of the Coachella

Municipal Code, and the attendant applications for a Conditional Use Permit to allow the

Project; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed use is necessary or desirable for the development of
the community, is consistent with the objectives of the City' s General Plan, and is not
detrimental to the existing uses or the uses specifically permitted in the zone in which the
proposed use is to be located; and, 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on
Change of Zone 18- 07 and CUP 305 on February 26 2020 at the Coachella City Hall, 
1515 6"' Street, Coachella, California and allowed public testimony; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the

proposed development; and, 

WHEREAS, the site for proposed use relates properly to streets which are
designed to carry the type and quantity of traffic to be generated by the proposed use; 
and, 

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from the provisions of the California

Environmental Quality Act, as amended; and, 

WHEREAS, the conditions as stipulated by the City are necessary to protect the
public health, safety and welfare of the community. 

Ordinance No. 1 146

Page 1

Page 398

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF

COACHLLA CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDANIN AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. That the City of Coachella Official Zoning Map be amended as shown on the
attached Change of Zone 18- 07 map marked " Exhibit A" from C -G ( General

Commercial) to CG -RC ( General Commercial with the Retail Cannabis Overlay zone) on
property located at 1639 and 1645 Sixth Street, with the findings listed below: 

Findings for Change of Zone 18- 07: 

1. The Project is consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and implementation

measures of the Coachella General Plan 2035. The site has a Downtown Center land

use designation that allows for the proposed development. The proposed change of

zone is in keeping with the policies of the Downtown Center land use classification
and the Project is internally consistent with other General Plan policies for this type
of development. 

2. The Project is in compliance with the applicable land use regulations and

development standards of the City' s Zoning Code. The site plan proposes a cannabis
retail business. The Project complies with applicable C -G ( General Commercial) and

Section 17. 47. 020 property development standards as proposed. 

3. Every use, development of land and application of architectural guidelines and

development standards shall be considered on the basis of the suitability of the site for
a particular use or development intended, and the total development, including the
prescribed development standards, shall be so arranged as to avoid traffic congestion, 

ensure the protection of public health, safety and general welfare, prevent adverse
effects on neighboring property and shall be in accord with all elements of the general
plan. The proposed change of zone is compatible with existing surrounding land uses
that include commercial land uses. 

4. The Project will be compatible with neighboring properties with respect to land
development patterns and application of architectural treatments. The plans submitted

for this Project propose a cannabis business that is permitted in the C -G ( General

Commercial) zone pursuant to an approved Conditional Use Permit. Surrounding
properties to the project site include commercial land uses. As such, the Project will

be in keeping with the scale, massing, and aesthetic appeal of the existing area and
future development. 

5. The Project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant
to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 ( C) that exempts the conversion of existing
small structures from one use to another where only minor modifications are
made to the exterior of the structure. 

Section 2. SEVERABILITY. The City Council declares that, should any provision, section, 
paragraph, sentence or word of this ordinance be rendered or declared invalid by any final

Ordinance No. 1 146

Page 2

Page 399

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



court action in a court of competent jurisdiction or by reason of any preemptive legislation, 
the remaining provisions, sections, paragraphs, sentences or words of this ordinance as

hereby adopted shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall take effect thirty ( 30) days after it' s
second reading by the City Council. 

Section 4. CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this
Ordinance and shall cause it to be published and circulated in the City of Coachella. 

ORDINANCE PASSED APPROVED and ADOPTED this 26th day of February
2020. 

Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor

ATTEST: 

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Carlos Campos

City Attorney

Ordinance No. 1146

Page 3

20. 

Page 400

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

I, Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk, City of Coachella, California, certify that the
foregoing Ordinance No. 1146 was adopted by the City Council at a regular meeting
held on the 26th day of February 2020, by the following roll call vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk

Page 401

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

EXHIBIT A" 

Existing Zoning: C -G ( General Commercial) 

Proposed Zoning: CG -RC ( General Commercial -Retail Cannabis Overlay

Page 402

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020- 09

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF

COACHELLA APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. CUP 305

TO CONVERT EXISTING VACANT COMMERCIAL TENANT SPACE

INTO THE FOLLOWING USES: A 3050 SQUARE FOOT CANNABIS

DISPENSARY INCLUDING 750 SQUARE FEET FOR CHECK-IN AND

WAITING AREA, 1800 SQUARE FEET OF RETAIL DISPLAY AREA

AND 500 SQUARE FEET OF REAR STORAGE, INVENTORY CONTROL

AND PACKAGING TO BE LOCATED IN BUILDING 1 LOCATED AT

1639 AND 1645 6TH STREET; AND A 4500 SQUARE FOOT COFFEE

SHOP, ART DISPLAY AND OFFICE/ EVENT SPACE TO BE LOCATED

IN BUILDING 2 LOCATED AT 1657 AND 1669 6TH STREET; LOCATED

IN THE C -G ( GENERAL COMMERCIAL ZONE); KISMET ORGANIC, 

APPLICANT. 

WHEREAS, Ed Sapiago ( on behalf of Kismet Organic Cultivation) filed an application

for Conditional Use Permit 305 to convert existing vacant commercial tenant space into the
following uses: a 3050 square foot cannabis dispensary including 750 square feet for check- in
and waiting area, 1800 square feet of retail display area and 500 square feet of rear storage, 
inventory control and packaging to be located in Building 1 located at 1639 and 1645 6th Street; 
and a 4500 square foot coffee shop, art display and office/ event space to be located in Building 2
located at 1657 and 1669 6th Street; Assessor' s Parcel No' s. 778- 061- 009 and 778- 061- 010

Project"); and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed public hearing on
CUP No. 305 on November 6, 2019 at the Coachella Permit Center, 53- 990 Enterprise Way, 
Coachella, California and recommended that the City Council approve Conditional Use Permit
No. 305; and, 

WHEREAS, the Applicant and members of the public were present and were afforded

an opportunity to testify regarding the Project; and, 

WHEREAS, the Project is permitted pursuant to Chapter 17. 38 of the Coachella

Municipal Code, and the attendant applications for Conditional Use Permit and a Change of

Zone to allow the Project; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed use is necessary or desirable for the development of the
community, is consistent with the objectives of the City' s General Plan, and is not detrimental
to the existing uses or the uses specifically permitted in the zone in which the proposed use is
to be located; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the

proposed development; and, 

Page 403

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

WHEREAS, the site for proposed use relates properly to streets which are designed to
carry the type and quantity of traffic to be generated by the proposed use; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed project is exempt from the California Environmental

Quality Act, as amended; and, 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing on CUP No. 
305 on February 26, 2020 at the Coachella City Hall, 1515 6th Street, Coachella, California
and allowed public testimony; and, 

WHEREAS, the conditions as stipulated by the City are necessary to protect the
public health, safety and welfare of the community. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of
Coachella, California does hereby approve of Conditional Use Permit No. 305, subject to the
findings listed below and the attached Conditions of Approval for the Kismet Coachella

Project ( contained in " Exhibit A" and made a part herein). 

Findings for Conditional Use Permit No. 305

1. The Project is consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and implementation measures

of the Coachella General Plan 2035. The site has a Downtown Center land use designation

that allows for the proposed development. The proposed uses on the site are in keeping
with the policies of the Downtown Center land use classification and the Project is

internally consistent with other General Plan policies for this type of development. 

2. The Project is in compliance with the applicable land use regulations and development

standards of the City' s Zoning Code. The site plans proposes a cannabis microbusiness
including an indoor cannabis lounge where cannabis products will be sold and consumed. 
The Project complies with applicable CG -RC ( General Commercial -Retail Cannabis

Overlay) zoning standards as proposed. 

3. Every use, development of land and application of architectural guidelines and

development standards shall be considered on the basis of the suitability of the site for a
particular use or development intended, and the total development, including the
prescribed development standards, shall be so arranged as to avoid traffic congestion, 

ensure the protection of public health, safety and general welfare, prevent adverse effects
on neighboring property and shall be in accord with all elements of the general plan. The
Project site is within the Downtown Center land use designation of the City' s general plan. 
This category provides for a broad spectrum of commercial and residential land uses. The
proposed uses are compatible with existing adjacent land uses. 

4. The City has determined that the project is exempt from the California Environmental
Quality Act ( CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 ( C) that exempts the

conversion of existing small structures from one use to another where only minor
modifications are made to the exterior of the structure. 

Resolution No. 2020- 09

Page 404

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 26" day of February 2020. 

Steven A. Hernandez

Mayor

ATTEST: 

Angela M. Zepeda

City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Carlos Campos

City Attorney

Resolution No. 2020- 09

20. 

Page 405

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA ) 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2020- 09 was duly adopted by
the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on this

26th

day of
February 2020 by the following vote of the City Council: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

Andrea J. Carranza, MMC

Deputy City Clerk

Resolution No. 2020- 09

20. 

Page 406

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

EXHIBIT A" 

INCLUDING A RETAIL CANNISBIS DISPENSARY AND COFFEE SHOP. 

ART DISPLAY AND OFFICE/ EVENT SPACE

CUP 3051

General Conditions

Conditional Use Permit No. 305 is contingent upon City Council approval of the attendant
Change of Zone 18- 07 application. Conditional Use Permit No. 305 hereby approves the
following uses: A 3050 square foot cannabis dispensary including 750 square feet for check- in
and waiting area; 1800 square feet of retail display area and 500 square feet of rear storage, 
inventory control and packaging located in Building 1 located at 1639 and 1645 Sixth Street; 
and a 4500 square foot coffee shop, art display and office/ event space located in building 2
located at 1657 and 1669 Sixth Street. The applicant shall secure building permits for tenant
improvements for the new businesses through the City' s Building Division and the Riverside
County Fire Marshal' s office prior to the commencement of business activities. Hours of
operation for the cannabis dispensary retail business may be from 7: 00 am to 10: 00 pm daily, 
unless otherwise restricted by the State of California. The owner shall procure a City Cannabis
Regulatory Permit and a State License prior to commencement of business activities. 

2. Conditional Use Permit No. 305 shall be valid for 12 months from the effective date of said

City Council approvals unless the applicant requests an extension of time and granted by the
Planning Commission. Issuance of building permits and pursuit of construction will vest the
Conditional Use Permit. 

The construction of all new structures shall be in conformance with construction drawings and

landscaping plans designed in accordance with the Kismet Coachella Project and the
conditions of approval imposed below: 

a All exterior building materials and colors shall substantially match the exhibits
submitted with the Kismet Coachella Project Development applications. 

h All fencing or garden walls shall be subject to issuance of a separate building permit
by the City Building Division. 

C. All parking lot lighting for the Project shall be consistent with the architectural
design exhibits of the Project, as approved by the Development Services Director. 

d All masonry/ wrought iron perimeter walls and garden walls shall be consistent with
the submitted plans, subject to review by the Development Services Director, and
subject to the City' s Building Codes. 

Page 407

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



4. All plans, as shown, are considered " conceptual," subject to revisions as called out by the
conditions of this resolution. The plans shall not be stamp -approved until all conditions
requesting revisions have been satisfied during the building plan check process. Any
substantial changes to the plans, including changes shown on future building permit plans
deemed by Staff to not be within substantial conformance with this approval, will require an
amendment to the approval of the conditional use permits, including architectural features, 
materials and site layout. 

20. 

5. The project shall comply with all applicable codes, laws and regulations, regardless of
whether they are listed in these conditions. This includes conformance with the requirements
of the adopted U.B. C., U.P. C., U.M.C., N.E.C., including all requirements of the South Coast
Air Quality Management District, the Riverside County Fire Department and any
requirements by any other agency having jurisdiction on the project. 

6. The applicant shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City of Coachella, its officials, 
officers, employees, and agents from and against any claim, action, or proceeding against the
City, its officials, officers, employees or agents to attack, set aside, void or annul any project
approval or condition of approval of the city concerning this project, including but not
limited to any approval or condition of approval or mitigation measure imposed by the City
Council or Planning Commission. The City shall promptly notify the applicant of any claim, 
action, or proceeding concerning the project and the City shall cooperate fully in the defense
of the matter. The City reserves the right, at its own option, to choose its own attorney to
represent the City, its officials, officers, employees and agents in the defense of the City
Attorney, within five days of the effective date of this approval. 

7. All plan submittals are the responsibility of the developer; this includes plan submittals to the
City of Coachella, the Riverside County Fire Department or to other agencies for whom plan
review and approval is required. 

8. Prior to the issuance of building permits, grading or construction, the following mitigation
measures shall be implemented: 

a) In the event any onsite structures are demolished, an asbestos inspection of onsite
structures shall be conducted by a qualified professional in accordance with currently
accepted methods and protocols. The inspection shall include, but not be limited to

2Page 408

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

visual inspection, sampling, and laboratory analysis for the presence of asbestos
products, including asbestos - containing material ( ACM) and asbestos - containing

construction material ( ACCM). Polarized Light Microscopy and other methods
consistent with the US EOA 600 method shall be applied to this investigation. A

comprehensive report that documents methods, findings, and appropriate mitigation

measures and/ or recommendations shall be provided to the City. 

b) In the event any onsite structures are demolished, a lead- based paint inspection of
onsite structures shall be conducted by a qualified professional in accordance with
currently accepted methods and protocols. Inspections shall be carried out in

accordance with US Department of Housing and Urban Development ( HUD) 

guidelines, as well as OSHA Lead Exposure in Construction, Code of Federal

Regulations, Title 29, Section 1926. The inspection shall include, but not be limited

to visual inspection, sampling, and analysis of materials suspected of containing lead
paint or other lead- based materials and coatings. A comprehensive report that

documents methods, findings, and appropriate mitigation measures and/ or

recommendations shall be provided to the City. 

c) Prior to the start of any activity that might disturb materials potentially containing
asbestos, lead, and/ or other hazardous or potentially hazardous materials, a qualified
and licensed contractor shall be hired to complete necessary abatement procedures. 
All demolition and other project related actions that might potentially disturb
hazardous materials shall be performed by properly trained and qualified personnel. 
Remediation actions are expected to include but will not be limited to the following: 

1. Each part of the building from which asbestos is being removed shall, as
appropriate, be sealed off in order to prevent contamination of the other area. 

Methods of area containment may include polyethylene film, duct tape, negative
air pressure machines and other appropriate means depending on the type of
asbestos materials encountered. 

2. Specially designed vacuum cleaners that are designed for asbestos containment
class H) can be safely used when cleaning up during and after asbestos removal. 

3. Removed asbestos and materials with embedded or coated with asbestos shall, 

as appropriate, be double wrapped in plastic and driven to a landfill. 

d) If surficial or buried materials within the project site are found to contain potentially
hazardous materials ( such as: asbestos - containing material, lead- based paint, 

and mercury or PCB -containing material) such materials shall be removed properly
prior to any further site disturbance in the affected area, and disposed of at

appropriate landfills or recycled, in accordance with the regulatory guidance
provided in California Code of Regulation ( CCR) and following the requirements of
the Universal Waste Rule ( 40 CFR part 9). 

e) During project construction and implementation, the handling, storage, transport, and

3Page 409

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

disposal of all chemicals, including herbicides and pesticides, runoff, hazardous
material and waste used on, or at, the project site, shall be in accordance with

applicable local, state, and federal regulations. 

f) Vapor Encroachment Screening shall be conducted in accordance with the ASTM
Standard E2600- 10 Standard Guide for Vapor Encroachment Screening on Property
Involved in Real Estate Transactions to identify the likelihood of migrating vapors to
encroach on the subject property, thereby creating a Vapor Encroachment Condition
VEC). A complete report of findings and recommended mitigation measures, if any, 

shall be provided to the City prior to the issuance of building permits. 

g) A vapor intrusion risk evaluation shall be conducted in accordance with most recent

version of the CalEPA Department of Toxic Substances Control' s " Final Guidance

for the Evaluation and Mitigation of Subsurface Vapor Intrusion to Indoor Air" to

identify the likelihood of vapor intrusion into future buildings and potential impacts
on indoor air quality. A complete report of findings and recommended mitigation
measures, if any, shall be provided to the City prior to the issuance of grading and
building permits. 

h) The applicant shall provide the City with copies of permits required by the South
Coast Air Quality Management District, or a written confirmation that no permits are
necessary. 

i) The applicant shall satisfy all requirements of the Fire Department relating to
construction, operation, and emergency response. No building permits shall be issued, 
and no occupancy of the buildings shall be permitted prior to written approval by
the Fire Department. 

Engineering — Grading and Drainage: 

9. Site access improvements shall be in conformance with the requirements of Title 24 of the

California Administrative Code. This shall include access ramps for off-site and on- site

streets as required. 

10. If the applicant is planning to build a wall, separate permits shall be required for wall
construction. The maximum height of any wall shall be limited to six ( 6) feet as measured
from an average of the ground elevations on either side. 

Engineering — Street Improvements: 

11. Applicant shall construct all off-site and on- site improvements including street pavement, 
curb, gutter, sidewalk, street trees, perimeter walls, perimeter landscaping and irrigation, 
storm drain, street lights, and any other incidental works necessary to complete the

9Page 410

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

improvements. Driveways shall conform to City of Coachella standards for commercial
driveways with a minimum width of 24. 00 feet and curbed radius entrances. 

12. Applicant shall obtain an encroachment permit for any improvements constructed within
public right- of-way including alleys. 

Engineering - Sewer and Water Improvements

13. Sewer & Water Improvement Plans prepared by a California Registered Civil Engineer shall
be submitted for engineering plan check and City Engineer approval. 

14. Applicant shall construct all off-site and on- site water improvements and any other incidental
works necessary to complete the improvements

Engineering — General: 

15. Applicant shall take into consideration City' s project titled " Grapefruit Boulevard Urban

Greening & Connectivity Project" and match improvements proposed for Grapefruit Blvd. 
Engineering department will provide direction on this matter. 

16. The developer shall submit a Fugitive Dust Control and Erosion Control plan in accordance

with Guidelines set forth by CMC and SCAQMD to maintain wind and drainage erosion and
dust control for all areas disturbed by grading. Exact method( s) of such control shall be subject
to review and approval by the City Engineer. No sediment is to leave the site. Additional
securities, in bond form, in amount of $2,000. 00 per acre of gross area, and a one time cash

deposit of $2,000.00 are required to insure compliance with this requirement. No work may be
started on or off site unless the PM -10 plan has been approved, the original plans, and

executed dust control agreement, are filed in the engineering department at the City of
Coachella. 

17. The applicant shall pay all necessary plan check, permit and inspection fees. Fees will be
determined when plans are submitted to the City Engineering Department for plan check. 

18. Applicant shall comply with the valley wide NPDES permit requirements including but not
limited to submittal of a Preliminary WQMP for plan review accompanied by a $ 3, 000

plancheck deposit and a Final WQMP for final approval including executed maintenance
agreement. All unused plan check fees will be refunded to the applicant upon approval of

the Final WQMP. 

Engineering — Comleption: 

19. " As -built" plans shall be submitted to and approved by the City Engineer prior to acceptance
of the improvements by the City. All off-site and on- site improvements shall be completed to
the City Engineer prior to acceptance of improvements for maintenance by the City. 

5Page 411

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

20. Prior to issuance to of certificate of occupancy, all public improvements, including
landscaping and lighting of the retention basins, and landscaped areas along the exterior
streets, shall be completed to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

Environmental Compliance: 

21. The applicant shall comply with the following items prior to issuance of building permits: 

a) Verify that asbestos has been mitigated and submit disposal and closure plan

b) Submit detailed plumbing and mechanical plans

c) Facility required to submit a source control survey; 

d) Backflow devices; will require Reduced Pressure Principle Device ( RP) within 12

inches of water service installed to protect water supply from contamination or
pollution; 1

e) Install separate AMI metering system for each building; 

f) Install separate AMI water service meter for irrigation system; 

g) The project must implement the State' s drought mandate which prohibits irrigation with

potable water outside newly constructed homes and buildings that is not delivered by
drip or microspray systems; 

22. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall pay all Development Fees to
the City; including outside agency fees such as sewer water and utilities. Copies of receipts
shall be provided to the Development Services Department prior to permit issuance. 

23. The applicant shall be responsible for paying all applicable development and processing
plan check, inspection, etc.) fees associated with this project. 

24. The applicant shall pay all required water connection fees. 

Coachella Valley Unified School District

25. The Coachella Valley Unified School District is authorized by the State Legislature to levy
developer fees on commercial development. The Applicant or successor in interest shall pay
fees in effect at the time of building permit issuance. The fees collected will be used to assist
in the housing of students within the District. 

0Page 412

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

26. The owner/ operator of the retail cannabis business shall assign an employee to act as parking
monitor to direct vehicles to parking spaces during business hours to improve traffic safety. 

27. The applicant shall obtain separate sign permits for all wall signs. All signs may be channel
lettering or logo signs with " halo' lighting and reduced illumination or backlit with gooseneck
lamps. 

7Page 413

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



BUILDING PERMIT , No 2 9-9-3
CITY OF GbACHELLA, CALIF IA

A-61' 

OWNER• QYi. BC

INSPECTION RECORD x, A1R CONDITIONING PERMIT ' 

EXCAVATION & SETBACKS: ' 

Pour no l oncrate unfit

signed here: INT, ' DATE_'. 

AMOUNT CLASSIFICATION'. 

20 - 
PERMIT

APPLIANCES

SETBACKS` AIR DUCTS -
y

4 FOOTINGS VENTS, 

a

CONTR' ACTOR'- FORMS. OR STEELf VENT DUCTS' 

CONCRETE SLAB" FLOOR: 

Do not you ' untiI signed

yx

COMPRESSORS

JOB ADDRESS'"" ` - ' ' ' :' 

LOT' t ",.
BLK TRACT

ARCHITECTr

r, - 

ENGINEER

COILS

TOWERS, 
ELECTRIC Gnwrkr. 

COOLERS
PLUMBING Gnwrky ' 

PRE COOLERS
SLAB HEIGHT' 

SPECIAL INSP

ELECT GROUND - 
OTHER: 

CRUSHED ROCK
PURPOSE OF PERMIT

F_ 

TOTAL FEE

ROUGH INSPECTIONS;: °
J ' 

Cover - no work until. signed
Special Notes. " 

PLANCK _ SPECIAL, INSP ' 
y . 

AIR' COND PLUMB-' ELECT' 

LOT SIZE .. - .. BLDG. SIZE

VALUATION -` FOOTAGE

OCCUPANCY GROUP -- USE ZONE • - 

TYPE CONSTR. ".' FIRE ZONE

SETBACK - FRONT = REAR - SIDE

CURBING ••- TYPE' V CEMENT

PATE REC. DATE APP. G --'I

APPROVER BY r

SPECIAL NOTES: 

EL ECTRIC -' 
T

ELECTRICAL PERMIT
k

PLUMBING

T & P vAwE

GAS LINES '  AMOUNT, CLASSIFICATION FEE

A/ C 8 HEATING .' PERMIT. " 

ATTIC ACCESS • . SERVICE

ATTIC VENTS w ONE CENT, RATE

GARAGE VENTS hCENT RATE , 

FRAMING '- F. IXTURES' ' 

ROOF. NAILING -_ GENERATORS

OTHER: • APPLIANCES— ;.. 

t

4

r

OWNER - BUILDER' ' :' CONTRACTOR

I certify that in the -performance of the work for which this. permit
is issued l, sholl. not• employ any person - in violation', oFthe work - 
M an' s compensation' laws. of California. 

Lhereby acknowledge tHat I- have read, this application and" state
that the above ia' correct- and agre'e. to comply. with all City
Ordinances ond• State laws applicable.; 

Signed: (
r

SPECIAL INSPECTION: 

Cover no work u_ntil' sjgned ' 

MISIC. 

fMOTORS- 
R

OUTLETS ' 

INSULATION SIGNS' _ 

CONSTR:' POL' E
LATH .& PLASTER

Cover no work ,until signed
TRANSFORMERS

ANNUAL PERMIT. - 
EXT LATH

SPECIAL• INSP
INT LATH

OTHER.. 

FEES PLAN CK AUIL kG
e SHOWER BACKING. 

TOTAL OF ALL -FEES MOO CORNER BEAD + 

VENEER ANCHORS

NOTICE - TO CONTRACTORS & SUB -CONTRACTOR' S FIIdiSH INSPECTION::' 
Do not: occupy until signed

Final inspectiori, of this - job may be withheld uniil all contractors ELECTRICAL' s ' 

or. sub: contractors' Havin' g'- performed work under the, above build- PLUMBING

ing; permit, have signed thi' s- card below as having - valid Coachella' ; GAS
6usinass !' icenses. 

A/ C -&: HEATING

GRADING', 
BUILDING

SEWERS - 4 v SEWAGE r- 

FRAMING' 
CURBING

ROOFING " -- PARKING ;, 

PLUMBING DOOR CLOSER. `` 

LATHING*`` T,& P. VALVE

FLOORING - `• '
OTHER. 

TILES "' 3

PAV) NG ' + 

PAINTING' PLASTERING

OTHER' -" CABINETS

CEMENT GLAZING

MASONRY ' ' "- , SHE ET. METAL ' 
ELECTRIC INSULATION

ff Page 17 .. 
HEATING OTHER,- ' 

TOTAL FEE

5peoial' Notes:' 

PkUMBING PERMIT. 1. 

AMOUNT CLASSIFICATION'', " FEE

PERMIT ' 

FIXTURES

SEWER. 

PRIVATE SEWER
r WA' TER' HEATER

GAS PIPING

WATER ' PIPING

DRAINAGE

SPRINKLERS

OTHER: 

TOTAL FEE

Special Notes

r • - "' 

j ''' 
HARD. COPY .MUST' BE POSTED ` ON BUILDING S1TE' -'` 

1

r

I

Page 414

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



z

k

BllILDLNGPERlIIIlT No.  3 6 1
C1T +`? F' 40'ACHELLk; CAL1 IA' ` r _ 

P_kon X714}.: AU& 39$- 610
ti,, _ c/ 2: 

s„ 

OWNER, Q19I' r 1tiY'687 cf ` :, jE i "' 

AIR,- CONDITIONING, INSPECTION RECORD

l

PERMIT, w , 

EXCAVATION & SETBACKS • . 

Pour, no, concFete, until'„ 

signed here. 9 INT. DATE

AMOUNT,= CL-ASSlFICATt0i1

20" 
PERMIT '" 

APPLIANCES' 

SET S+ 
y

AIR DUCTS

1 CsJ• ove jtiidi0 Q11A r F0OTI_; GS VENTS. F

CONTRACTOR' 8@l# FORMS OR' STEEL. '.. ` VENT DUCTS - 

i63

Y

CONCRETE SLAB FLOOR: ` 

14not' pour ntil signed

Y

COMPRESSaRsl

JOB ADDRESS_ 5 + *. r Coc'<ch8

LOT 6 BLK— TRACT
r _ • 

ARCHITECT - -:
7a

COILS + 

TOWERS'' . 
ELECTRIC Gn"wrk.• F; s

OOLERS' • ' COOLERS'- 
PLUMBING' Gnwrk

PRE COOLERS- 
SLAB HEIGHT

ENGINEER
z

1' 

SPECIAL INSP., 

ELECT GROUND
OTHER:- 

CRUSHED ROCK

ROUGH: INSPECTfONS: 

Until
rCover ' no work until signed L

PURPOSE. - OF PERMIT RQbui` bi39 building. _ 
y yds

TOTAL .FEE

Notes-.— 5—• Notes: 

PLAN . CKT, TSPECIAL INSP

AIR COND PLUMB ELECT

LOT: SIZE BLDG , SIZE

VALUATION----'- FOOTAGE

OCCUPANCY GROUP USE ZONE

TYPE CONSTR. * FIRE - ZONE` 

SETBACK -FRONT' REAR' SIDE` 

CURBING 1s TYPE V::CEMENT

DATE RECII- 301.72" -- , DATE APP.":. ' • 7? 
APPROVED BY Joe > alanirie ' i r

EL ECTI2IC " 

ELECTRICAL, PERMIT
PLUMBING =' 

T`& P. V.ALVE,'= 
GAS LINES AMOUNT CLASSEFICATION FEE' -' 

A/ C & HEATING ; PERMIT

ATTIC' ACCE$ S SERVICE

ATTIC, VENTS ONE CENT RATE

GARAGE VENTS, 
A

i CENT, R̂ATE -" 

FRAMING. " ' FIXTURES

SPECIALuNDTES: = ROOF NAILING= GENERATORS

OTHER: APPLIANCES: 

OWNER - BUILDER CONTRACTOR

I certify -that in the'' petformance of` thn work' for, whicFi this" permit
is' issued Fshall not emylWany person irr violation of the work- 
men' s• compensation laws of, California. men' s

I hereby acknowledge that] have raad this=application and ' state ' 
that the - above is- correct, and agree.` to• comply with all City
Ordinances and Slate' Iawd applicable. •,' '' 

a

r L

s.. y . Signed

fil

x. fr+t .% r

SPECIAL INSPECTION: 

Cover` no work' until' signed `' 

MISC. 

MOTORS' ' 

INSULATION +•^ - 0

UTL`E' TS.- 4 , OUTLETS.- 

SIGNS;:, n' ti

CD NST,R POLE . 
LATH & PLASTER

y• 

Cover' no work' ûntil si ne,d v9

TRANSFORMERS

PERMIT
EXT LATH'

ANNUAL, 

NSP
INT LATH

OTHEIR
r

FEES: PLAN: CIC ILDING

TOTAL* OF ALL` FEES
F :. 

SHOWER - BACKING: 

CORNER BEAD
TOTAL- FEE

VENEER ANCHORS

NOTICE TO CONTRACTORS •& SUB -CONTRACTORS. FINISH -INSPECTION: 
Do not occupy until signed r ;+: 

Final inspection, of this job. may be" withheld until all contractors ELECTRICAL

or sub- contrcctnrs' having- performad„ work under the above build. PLUMBING _ 

ing permit ha`ya signed this card 6eIawtos'• having valid Coachella GAS ,`. 

business licensee: 
A/ C & . HEATING , 

RADING
r _` BUILDING ” 

EWERS .- ,, 
SEWAGE:' 

FRAMI " 
CURBING 4

ROOFIN

a :"- 

PARKING

PLUMB 1. DDDR CLOSER . 

LATHING &•
P' VALVE

FLOORIN ; 
OTHER: 

TILES BY
PAVING = 

PAINTING PLASTERING

OTHER ""— CABINETS

CEMENT GLAZING

EMIASONRY` ° a SHEET METAL

ECTRICy
s

IN56LATL.
ION

PB( 0 177
4 ` ' OTHER:• H% A•TING--------------------- 

Special- Notes; 

PLUliIBING PERMIT ' 

AMOUNT - CLASSIFICATION FEE

PERMIT-,, , 

FIXTURES

SEWER', 

PRIVATE° SEWER

WATER HEATER'< 
GAS PIPING. 

WATER . PIPING` 

DRAI NAGE . T
SPRINKLERS

I- OTHER: 

T'OTAL FEE

Special Notes  

i

r

HARD, COPY MUST BE,. POSTEfl 014 BUILDING SITE , 4. ; 

Page 415

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



BUILDING PERMIT

CITYVF COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA
P ione ( 714 398. 6131 N° 4071

OWNER - " 6+_ -- 

INSPECTION RECORD AIR CONDITIONING PERMIT _ 

EXCAVATION & SETBACKS: 

Pour no concrete until

signed here. INT. DATE

AMOUNT CLASSIFICATION E

PERMIT
20

APPLIANCES

SETBACKS AIR DUCTS

FOOTINGS VENTS

NTRACTOR >* _, •„__•„___ FORMS OR STEEL VENT DUCTS

CONCRETE SLAB FLOOR-. 

Do not pour until signed

CdMPRESSORS

JOB ADDRESS__' 161960 OtO

LOT BLK TRACT

ARCHITECTCOOLERS

COILS

ELECTRIC Gnwrk
TOWERS

PLUMBING Gnwrk
pRE_ COOLERS

SLAB HEIGHT
ENGINEER

INSP

ELECT GROUND
SPECIAL

CRUSHED ROCK
PURPOSE OF PERMIT TOTAL FEE

ROUGH INSPECTIONS- 

Cover no work until signed
Spacial Notes: 

PLAN CK SPECIAL INSP

AIR COND PLUMB ELECT

LOT SIZE BLDG. SIZE

VALUATION WNW FOOTAGE

OCCUPANCY GROUP USE ZONE

TYPE CONSTR. FIRE ZONE

SETBACK- FRONT REAR SIDE

CUR8ING TYPE V CE E T

DATE REC. DATE APP, 

APPROVED BY

SPECIAL NOTES: 

ELECTRIC

ELECTRICAL PERMIT
PLUMBING

T & P VALVE

GAS LINES AMOUNT CLASSIFICATION FEE

A/ C & HEATING PERMIT

ATTIC ACCESS,-- SERVICE

ATTIC VENTS ONE CENT RATE

GARAGE VENTS s CENT RATE

FRAMING FIXTURES

ROOF NAILING GENERATORS

OTHER: APPLIANCES

OWNER- BUILDER CONTRACTOR

certify that in the performance of the work for which this permit
is issued I shall not employ any person in violation of the work- 

s compensation laws of California. 

reby acknowledge that I have read this application and state
thot the above is correct and agree to comply with all City
Ordinances and State laws applicable. 

yam`, y , 

i'- 
Signed: Y> 

a'' ._..;/- OTHER: 

SPECIAL INSPECTION: 

Cover no work until signed

MISC. 

MOTORS

OUTLETS

INSULATION SIGNS

CONSTR POLE
LATH & PLASTER: 

Cover no work until signed
TRANSFORMERS

ANNUAL PERMIT
EXT LATH

SPECIAL INSP. 
INT LATH

FEES: PLANCK But. DING_ 
SHOWER BACKING

TOTAL OF ALL FEES
CORNER BEAD

VENEER ANCHORS

NOTICE TO CONTRACTORS & SUB- CONTRACTORS FINISH INSPECTION: 
Do not occupy until signed

Final inspection of this job may be withheld until all contractors ELECTRICAL ' 

or sub. contr' actors having performed work under the above build- PLUMBING

ing permit have signed th' card below as having valid Coachella GAS

business licensee. ] J
A/ C & HEATING

GRADING
BUILDING

SEWERS
SEWAGE

FRAMING
CURBING

ROOFING
PARKING

PLUMBING
DOOR CLOSER

LATHING
T & P VALVE

FLOORING

11OTHEk. 
TILES

NG - •} 

ING PLASTERING

R

CABINETSNTGLAZINGi
MASONRY SHEET ME

fLECTRIC INSULATI Pang 17F# 

HEATING OTHER:• 

TOTAL FEE

Special Notes: 

PLUMBING PERMIT

AMOUNT CLASSIFICATION FEE

PERMIT

FIXTUR ES

SEWER

PRIVATE SEWER

WATER HEATER

GAS PIPING

WATER PIPING - 

DRAINAGE

SPRINKLERS

OTHER: 

TOTAL FEE

Special Notes

HARD COPY MUST BE POSTED ON BUILDING SITE

Page 416

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



CITY OF COACHELLA of DATE: 1,012912013

BUILDING PERMIT , PERMIT NO: BL -2013- 01- 0.9443 20

COMMUNITY, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES USE ZONE: General Commercial

OCCUPANCY: CONSTR TYPE: SQ FT: 
Inspection Request Require 24 Hour Notice

760) 398- 3002

Project Address: 1667 STH ST Project Valuation: $ 30, 000. 00

COACHELLA CA 92236 PARCEL #: 76526201Q

LOT #: 9

Applicant' s. Name: GENEVIEVE THOMAS TRACT M 0. 00

Owner's Name: 

Owners Address: 

Contractor' s Name: 

Contractor' s Address: 

Contact Person: 

Project Name: 

GENEVIEVE THOMAS

PO BOX 6

COACHELLA CA 92236

Phone: ( 760) 899- 0984

Fax

Phone: 

Fax: 

Business Lic: 

State Licence: 

Contact Phone: 

Permit Type: MISCELLANEOUS BUILDING PERMIT

Description of Work: RETROFIT WALL ANCHORAGE AND REROOF. BUILDINGS AT 1667, 1657, 1639, 1645 AND 1647
Condition: SIXTH STREET

FEE( S): 

BUILDING FEE $ 502. 50 Plan Check Fees $ 567. 50 Strong Motion Instrumentation $ 6. 30

Senate Bill 1473 $ 2. 00

TOTAL FEES: $ 1, 078. 30

CERTIFICATION APPEARING ON APPLICATIONS The issuance of this permit is based upon plans and specifications filed

I have carefully examined the above completed " Application and Permit" and do with the City of Coachella and shall not prevent the building official from
hereby certify that all information hereon is true and correct, and I further certify and thereafter requiring the , correction of errors in said plans and
agree, if a permit . is issued, to comply with all City, County, and State laws specifications.. 
governing building construction, whether specified herein or not, and I hereby agree Every permit issued by the Building Official under the provisions of this
to save, indemnify and keep harmless the City of Coachella against liabilities, Code shall expire by limitation and become null and void, if the building or
judgments, costs and expenses which may in any way accrue against said City in work authorized by such perm" is not commenced within 180. days from
consequence of the granted of this permit. the date of such pe it, or if e bu' Idin or work authorized by such

permit is susppn or a a doned any bm after ffia work is
Al

Applicant Signature) 

Planning
Page 417

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



r

BUILDING PERMIT NO. 

CITY OF COACHELLA, CA

1515 SIXTH STREET

COACHELLA, CA. 92236 ( 760) 398- 3002

Building Address: 

Applicant

Mailing Address: 

City: Zip: Tel: 

Owner: 

Mailing Address` 

City: Zip: Tel: 

Contractor: 

Mailing Address: 

City: Zip: Tel: 

State Lic..- Ciass: City License #: 

LICENSED CONTRACTOR' S DECLARATION

I hereby affirm under penalty of perjury that I am licensed under

provision of Chapter 9 ( commencing with Section 7000) of Division 3

of the Business and Professions Code, and my license is in full force

and effect. 

License Class: 

Date: Contractor: 

License #: 

OWNER -BUILDER DECLARATION

hereby affirm under penalty of perjury that I am exempt from the

contractor' s License Law for the following reason ( Sec. 703. 1. 5, 

3usiness and Professions Code: Any city or county which requires a

ermit to construct, alter, improve, demolish or repair any structure, 

rior to its issuance, also requires the applicant for such permit to file

3 signed statement that he or she is licensed pursuant to the

revisions of the Contractor' s License Law ( Chapter 9 ( commencing

vith Section 7000) of Division 3 of the Business and professions Code) 

sr that he or she is exempt there from and the basis for the alleged

xemption. Any violation of Section 7031. 5 by any applicant for a
ermit subjects the applicant to a civil penalty of not more than five

undred dollars ($ 500),): 

d I, as owner of the property, or my employees with wages as

their sole compensation, will do the work, and the structure is

not intended or offered for sale ( Sec. 7044, Business and

Professions Code: The Contractor' s License Law does not appl

to an owner of property who builds or improves thereon, and

who does such work himself or herself or through his or her own

employees provided that such improvements are ntt intended

or offered for sale. If, however, the building or impr t is

sold within one year of completion, the owner -build
20" 

e

the burden of proving that he or she did not build or improve for

the purpose of sale.). 

I, as owner of the property, am exclusively contracting with

licensed contractor' s to construct the project ( Sec. 7044, 

business and Professions Code: the Contractor' s License Law

does not apply to owner of property who builds or improves

thereon, and who contracts for such projects with a

contractor( s) licensed pursuant to the Contractor' s License

Law.). 

L I am exempt under Sec. B & P C for this reason

WORKER' S COMPENSATION DECLARATION

I hereby affirm under penalty of perjury one of the following

declarations: 

El I have and will maintain a certificate of consent to self -insure for

workers' compensation, as provided for by section 3700 of the

Labor Code, for the performance of the work for which this

permit is issued. 

E I have and will maintain workers' compensation insurance, as

required by Section 3700 of the Labor Code, for the

performance of the work for which this permit is issued. My

workers' compensation insurance carrier and policy number are: 

Carrier: Policy # 

This section need not be completed if the permit is for one

hundred dollars ($ 100) or less). 

E I certify that in the performance of the work for which this

permit is issued, I shall not employ any person in any manner so

as to become subject to the workers' compensation laws of

California, and agree that if I should become subject to the

workers' compensation provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor

Code, E shall forthwith compiy with those provisions. 

Date: Applicant: 

WARNING: Failure to secure workers' compensation coverage is

unlawful, and shall subject an employer to criminal pena#ties

and civil fines up to one hundred thousand dollars ($ 100, D00), in

addition to the cost of compensation, damages as provide for in

Section 3706 of the Labor Code, Interest, and Attorney' s fees. 

CONSTRUCTION LENDING AGENCY

I, hereby affirm under penalty of perjury that there is a

construction lending agency for the performance of the work for

which this permit is issued ( Section 3097, Civ. Q. 

Lender' s Name

Address: 

I certify that I have read this application and state that the

above information is correct. I agree to comply with all city and. 

county ordinances and state laws relating to building

struction and hereby authorize representatives of this city to
180: jer upon the above- mentioned property for inspection

purposes. 

Date:, ~. jy, Applicant Signature:.. 

Page 418

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



CITY OF COACHELLA OF

BUILDING PERMIT

COMMUNITY& DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

Inspection Request Require 24 Hour Notice

760) 398- 3002

DATE:. 08! 1312015

PERMIT NO: BL -2015. 08- 11162
USE ZONE: 

OCCUPANCY: CONSTR TYPE: SO FT: 

Project Address: 1639 6TH ST Project Valuation: $ 0. 00

f COACHELLA CA 92236 PARCEL #: 
LOT #: 

Applicant' s Name: ij CALACON, INC. TRACT #: . 

Owner's Name: GENEVIEVE THOMAS

Owner' s Address: 1639 6TH ST Phone: ( 760) 275-4995

COACHELLA CA92236 Fax: 

Contractor' s Name:; Phone:" itao- 2.15 yckcl

Contractor's Address: Fax: 
9

t Business Lie: 

N# State Licence: 

Contact Person: scct+ a" Contact Phone: 

Project Name: 

Permit Type:'. DEMOLITION PERMIT

Description of Work: DEMOLITION PERMIT

Condition: 

FEE( S): 
DEMO

eo: 

TOTAL FEES: $ 368. 00

368. 00

CERTIFICATION APPEARING ON APPLICATIONS The

ined the above completed ' Application and Permitand do

wiissuance
of this permit is based upon plans and specifications filet

I have carefully exam" th the City of Coachella and shall not prevent the building official fron• a

hereby certify that allj lnformation hereon is true and correct, and I further certify and thereafter requiring the correction of errors in said plans ant" 
agree, if a permit is Issued, to comply with all City, County, and State laws specifications. 
governing building construction, whether specified herein or not, and I hereby agree Every permit issued by the. Building Official under the provisions of this
to save, indemnify and keep harmless the City of Coachella against liabilities, Code shall expire by limitation and become null and void, if. the building oi. 
judgments, costs and expenses which may in any way accrue against said City in work authorized by such permit is not commenced within 180 days frorr
consequence ol the granted of this permit. the date of such permit,' or if the building or work authorized by suet

permit is - suspended or abandoned 4t any time after the work i; 

r7k-e 
ppllcant Signature) 

wilding

Page 181

Planning

Page 419

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Di yy-0

TY OF COACHELLA  
III -T] 1Nt' vPi± RMIT

A 1• 2oi5

131 1. 
AIT _ arfa.-----.------ 

OCCUPANCY: CONSTR TYPE: SQ FT: 

INSPECTION REQUEST REQUIRE . 24 HOUR NOTICE

760) 398- 3002

COMMITNITY.'& DEVELOPMENT. SERVICES

Praject' Address: Project Valuation: 1740

Direcci6n del Proyectb: Evaluacion• del- Prcnrecto..:' 

PARCELiI PIJ
j' I OT#: 

Applicant' s Name: G. N " z:U I zVr''`-n" a S TRACTM
OP

Nombre del' Solicilonle , , Phone Number:'
U

Owner' s Hames. ' 
I

Numbero de Telefono

Nombreldel Propietario: APN
Owner' s Address: Fax: 

Direccioti del Propiei.ario e sr Cjq q  o Far.' 

Contractor' s Name: eA6j Phone. Nutiibei: 
Cr) 

to
DT s` S

Nombre del CowraPista J
Nunlbero de TelefgnbJ

Contractor' s Address: 
SI, -)- S00 , QZ11 t a"' fm.3. 11 ,

y

Dirrecian" del Contratista: f7--  
Cb  

I I/ lYb LA , c71.' 1 r f

Contact (Person: Sco ft M m 5 4F

Persona de. Conlacto 7(ad) ar?j —IPTS
Project Name/ Nombre dO Pr-ovectn: 
Permit Type/ Tipo de Perrniso: 
Description of Work/ Descri cidn de los trabajos: 

Condit ionlCondiciorf: yyyvn n er' ((Je

aSlaf Bus Lie/ Licencia: - D 9 30-3
State Lic/ Licencia: del Estado:- 

Contact Phone: T) tob 5 - YJ JS
Telefono de Contaclo: 

SWiA l C a3q I X145 l I U qJ1 J 1057, 10 o7
ELECTRICAL MECHANICAL PLUMBING

OF SVCS 600 V/ UP TO 200 AMPS ACI BOILERS UP TO IOOK BTU OF. BACKFLOW DEVICES — 2" 

OF SL' CS 600 V/ OVER 200 AMPS A/ C BROILERS I OOK- 500K BTU OF BACKFLOW DEVICES?= 2" 

OF-SVcS' 600 V/ OVER 1000 Amps 4 ACIBROILERS 500K RTU - I M BTU OF PLUMBING FIXTURES' 

OF TEMP POWER SERMES AG BROIL£ RS 1- A BTU- 1. 75m BTU OF PRIVATE SEWAGE DISPOSAL

OF, SUB= POLES 4 AC/BROILERS OVER 1. 75ki BTU OFSEPTICTANKS

OF UECT GENERATORS/ RIDES OF AIC UNITS OF. SEWER' CONNEC:TIONS

OF 1300TH LIGHTING 13 OF AIR HANDLERS < I Ok CFM OF WATER SERVICE

OF M TURES FOR REPAIR/ ALT OF AIR HKNDLERS > I OK CFM OF WATER HEATERS

OF ELECTRICAL FIXTURES OF APPLIANCE VENTS OF GAS SYSTF-M.S

OF RESIDENTIAL APPLLLtvCES OF FURNACES UP TO 1 OOK BTU' OF VACUUM/BACKFLOW DEVICES

OF RECEPTACLES/ SWITCHESIOUTLETS OF FURNACES OVER 100K I3TU OF LA11 NSPMKLERS

OF POWER APPARATUS OF f\ clNERATOR.S- DOMESTIC SIA*Ikl t\' G POOL/ PUBLIC POOL

OF PRIVATE SWAIM1NG POOLS) OF EXIIAUST FANS OF S11' ll IMING POOLIPUBLIC SPA

t COMM. FLANGE HOODS OF SWIMMING POOUPRIVATE POOL

OF SWIMMING POOIJPRI VATE SPA

OF INDUST WASTE INTERCEPTOR

CERTMICATlf) N APPEARING ON APPLICATIONS

have caseful1% examined she above completed' Applicnilon and Permit' and do herebyCoachella
certify that oil information hereon is true and tonna, and 1 further certify and agree, if a

permit is issued, to comply wish all City, County, and State laws gos erning building
construction, wheilin specified herein os not, and I hereby agree tv we, indrmnifti and se p

harmlesi the City of Coachella against liabilities, iudgmcnts, costs and expenses which may
is any way accrue againx[ uld City in consequence of the (; ranted of This permit. 

The issuance of this permit is bind upon plans and a•+edfieatium filed will, the City of
and slafi eat pre, cm the building ofliviad From themliflcr nquinag the contow of

ecurs in slid plaits and spseificaiiom Every permit issued by the Huilding Official under the

provisions of this Code shall expire by timitadivn and li s oms null and void, if the buifding oa

ark authoriu-d 6y such pemsil isnot commenced +' irhin I g0 days lion the date of such
perrnil, w if the building or work authorized b% such permit is suspended w abandoned at any
lime atle" he work i. cnmmenred for a nrriM of 180 days

I

Building

Applicaty tSignatureaping

Page 182
Page 420

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

INSPECTION REPORT

ASBESTOS

Conducted at

1639- 1667 — 6' St. 

Coachella, CA

Prepared for

Genevieve Thomas

P. O. Box 6

Coachella, CA 92236

Prepared by

MASTERS ENVIRONMENTAL INC. 

44719 ALEXANDRIA VALE, 

INDIO, CA 92201

ASBESTOS CONSULTANT

03- 3365 — GREGORY MASTERS

CALIFORNIA LEAD INSPECTOR/ ASSESSOR # 18638

August 11, 2015

Page 422

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

DATE OF SURVEY: 

LOCATION: 

ASBESTOS SURVEY

July 27, 2015

1639- 1667 — 6"' St. 
Coachella, CA

BY: 

Gregory Masters
California Certified Asbestos Consultant # 03-3365
Masters Environmental Inc. 

44719 Alexandria Vale

Indio, CA 92201

760- 200- 2900

Survey authorized by: 

Methods: 

Genevieve Thomas

P. O. Box 6

Coachella, CA 92236

All materials in the structures that were suspected of containing asbestos were
sampled according to specified protocols. Samples were sent to a NAVLAP

accredited laboratory, Patriot Environmental Laboratory Services, Fullerton, CA -- 
Lab code 200358- 0. They were analyzed by Polarized Light Microscopy according to
Bulk Analysis Protocol EPA 6001R- 931116. The laboratory report is attached to this
message for your inspection. Collection of suspect ACM' s followed the National

Emissions Standards of Hazardous Air Pollutants ( NESHAPS) protocol for sample

collection for a demo Iitionlrenovation survey. 

Bulls Sampling of Asbestos
Bulk samples of all homogeneous materials from identified areas containing suspect
ACM were collected. A homogeneous material is defined as a surfacing material, 
thermal system insulation ( TSI), asbestos -containing construction material or

miscellaneous material that is uniform in use, color, texture and age of construction. 

As materials were identified, bulk samples were placed into individual sampling
bags. Each sample was given a discreet identification number and recorded on

chain -of -custody forms. 

Page 423

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



1

Sampling Table: 

Sample Location Description Friable Quantity Condition Asbestos

1665 - 61St. 

009 Office # 1 Drywall & T.C. F TBD Good ND

002 Office # 1 F Good ND

003 Hall o F Good ND

004 Insulation Brown, floor NF 20 cu, ft Good ND

005 Ceiling Popcorn ceiling F 75 sq. ft, Good 5% Chrys

006` F Good 5% Chrys

007 F Good 5% Chrys

Popcorn ceiling Popcorn ceiling debris

20. 

Page 424

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

p. 3

1667 — 
6th

St

008 Floor 9x9 floor tile NF 1334 sq. ft Good ND

009. 1 Mastic NF Good ND

010 Ceiling Drywall & T. C. F 437 sq. ft Good ND

011 F Good 1 % Chrys

012 F Good 1 % Chrys

9x9 floor tiles that test ( surprise!) negative for asbestos

Page 425

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

p. 4

1647 — 6" St. 

013 Ceiling Drywall & T. C. F 247 sq. ft Good 1 % Chrys

014. F Good 1 % Chrys

015 F Good 1% Chrys

1000 point count

Asbestos samples that test positive for asbestos at < 1 % are re - tested

by the laboratory with a process called POINT COUNT. 

Patriot Environmental Laboratory Services was instructed to re - test
by POINT COUNT a drywall sample from 1647 and 1667. These

were put through the process. Results: Each sample tested at

less than 0. 1 % asbestos. 

Therefore, the drywall may be removed by ordinary workers who are not
asbestos removal certified. 

1639, 1645 — 
6th

St. 

0161 Office # 1 Drywall & T. C. F 3700 sq.ft Good NO

017 Hall, site 1 F Good NO

018 Hall, site 2 1 F
F Good NO

019 Bathroom 12x12 floor the NF 55 sq. ft Good ND

020 1 Mastic NF Good NO

1000 point count

Asbestos samples that test positive for asbestos at < 1 % are re - tested

by the laboratory with a process called POINT COUNT. 

Patriot Environmental Laboratory Services was instructed to re - test
by POINT COUNT a drywall sample from 1647 and 1667. These

were put through the process. Results: Each sample tested at

less than 0. 1 % asbestos. 

Therefore, the drywall may be removed by ordinary workers who are not
asbestos removal certified. 

Page 426

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



20. 

p. 5

RESULTS: 

The popcorn ceiling tested positive for Chrysotile asbestos at 5%. There

is about 75 sq. ft on the ceiling. The rest is in floor debris, which is therefore
considered contaminated. Whether on the ceiling or on the floor, It must
removed by certified workers who are trained, and who use safe and
approved methods. 

No guarantees are offered or implied. 

We appreciate the opportunity to serve your asbestos needs, and look
forward to working with you again. 

C, 77--e ri rt7 --

77

24

Masters Environmental Inc. 760- 200- 2900

44719 Alexandria Vale 760- 200- 2901 FAX

Indio, CA 92201 emastersCRsonic. net

Page 427

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Certificate of Analysis

PLM Asbestos Identification

to -1- 714- 894- 4944

fr,ae - 888- 7. 33- 4398

fax - 714- 898- 7498

WWW. patriotlalr. corn

1041 S. Placentia Avenue, Ft lle: on, CA 92831

Masters Environmental Report Number: 

44719 Alexandria Vale Project Number: 

Indio, CA 92201
Project Name; 

Project Location; 

sew  20. 

12AM
Environmental Uboratory Services. Inc, 

576263

2392

1639- 1667 6th St

Coachella CA

Date Collected: 7/ 27/ 2015 Collected By: 

Date Received: 8! 6/ 2015 Claim Number: 

Date Analyzed: 8! 6! 2015 PQ Dumber: 

Date Reported: 8/ 7/ 2015 Number of Samples: 2

Lab/ Client ID/ Layer Location Material Description Color Composition (%) 

576263- 001 Ceiling Drywall and Taping Beige 90% Sulfate

Oil Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Chrysotile < 0. 1 % 

Total Asbestos < 0. 1% 

576263- 002 Ceiling Drywall and Taping Beige 80% Sulfate

013
Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Chrysotile < 0. I % 

Total Asbestos < 0. 1% 

Note: Sample( s) was/ were analyzed following the EPA Point Count method using 1000 points to
meet the Cal OSHA Detection Limit of 0. 1%. 

Melissa Sandoval - Analyst Ian Reyes - Approved By

Bulk sample( s) submitted was ( were) analyzed in accordance with the procedure outlined in the US Federal Register 40 CFR 763, Subpart F, Appendix
A; EPA- 600lR- 931116 ( Method for Determination of Asbestos in Building Materials), and EPA- 600IM4- 82- 020 ( US EPA Interim Method for the
Determination of Asbestos in Bulk Insulation Samples). Samples were analyzed using Calibrated Visual Estimations ( CUES); therefore, results may not be
reliable for samples of low asbestos concentration levels. Samples of wall systems containing discrete and separable layers are analyzed separately and
reported as composite unless specifically requested by the customer to report analytical results for individual layers. This report applies only to the items
tested. Results are representative of the samples submitted and may not represent the entire material from which the samples were collected. " None
Detected" means that no asbestos was observed in the sample. " tel%" ( less than one percent) means that asbestos was observed in the sample but the

concentration is below the quantifiable level of 1%. This report was issued by a NIST/ NVLAP ( Lab Code 200358- 0) and CADOHS- FLAP ( Cert. No. 

2540) accredited laboratory and may not be reproduced, except in full without the expressed written consent of Patriot Environmental Laboratory Services, 
Inc. This report may not be used to claim product certification, approval or endorsement by NIST, NVLAP, ELAP or any government agency. 

Page 1 of I

Page 428

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



01Y} Cavyw rc+ es r T-ev o -e6 mAsien

CHAIN OP CUSTODY 20. 

Lab Usu 0* 
l part f fember: 

ASTERS ENVIRONMENTAL ect#: - 2-. 2_ 

44118 ALEXANDRIA VALE: Project Meme: 

EIMDEO CA 92101 Locsoon: 03 -- t T • L# 1
780,ZbE1490Gam le Collecdw Data: -- 7

Contact Phone: pmerveoe: 

AJC FET cwm #: # 

nB: 

iquesimd JTumaroerind Time
Rush Same Other

0V DUMP NIOSH 7400A  

bukeabeetas) EPAWWR- 63MO E
CARS 436 I" 1

Point Count 400 rim; -57 olcAL wrmgdw a mwm m of a2 Am wmamand ' 
Polnt Count 10 - TCLP requires a Mfr* nsrr of 22 hm dunanXrtd

Cravbne k RedUdon cuhm m 5-7 egya fummwd

qo mo AA Palrvt Air Casette, Dust Wips Waste VVsba %ode Mies. Solids EPA 3Q60BI7420mad A1108H 1Mrntiod
Ito p la As neaeassary Mr tAspoaal L3 Nate: Meow provfds at Iasat 20000 grams rapper, V2 - 1 b) 

i
by Flame AA of sampfe for neaesssry eaalyaea. 

orindiv kw) tests by request

1: TTLC ToW Threshold by EPA 3060B mod  
2 MCICAL WET True 22 CCR Chi 1 Argde, 6 App 2 13
3: TCLP EPA 1211 Q

Page 429

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Certificate of Analysis

PLM Asbestos Identification

PAIR
Environmental Laboratory Services, Inc, 

574927

2392

1639- 1667 6th St

Coachella CA

20

Lab/ Client ID/ Layer Location Material Description Color Composition (%) 

574927- 001 Office l Drywall and Joint Beige 80% Sulfate

001 Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 002 Office 1 Drywall and Joint Beige 80% Sulfate

002 Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Total Asbestos ' None Detected

574927- 003 Hall Drywall and Joint Beige 80% Sulfate

003
Compound 101/ 0 Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 404 Insulation Insulation Brown 1 DO% Cellulose

004

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 005 Ceiling Popcorn Ceiling Beige 75% Carbonate

005
15% Vermiculite

5% Paint

Chrysotile 5 % 

Total Asbestos 5 % 

Page I of 5

t+1- 714-899.8900

free. - 888- 743- 4998

tax - 714- 894- 7098

wtw r. l atr iutlai. cvn 
1041 S. Placentia Avenue, Fullerton, CA 92839

Masters Environmental Report Number: 

44719 Alexandria Vale Project Number: 

Indio, CA 92201
Project Name: 

Project Location: 

Date Collected: 7/ 27/ 2015 Collected By: 

Date Received: 7/ 28/ 2015 Claim Number: 

Date Analyzed: 7/ 29/ 2015 PO Number: 

Date Reported: 7/ 29/ 2015 Number of Samples: 

PAIR
Environmental Laboratory Services, Inc, 

574927

2392

1639- 1667 6th St

Coachella CA

20

Lab/ Client ID/ Layer Location Material Description Color Composition (%) 

574927- 001 Office l Drywall and Joint Beige 80% Sulfate

001 Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 002 Office 1 Drywall and Joint Beige 80% Sulfate

002 Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Total Asbestos ' None Detected

574927- 003 Hall Drywall and Joint Beige 80% Sulfate

003
Compound 101/ 0 Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 404 Insulation Insulation Brown 1 DO% Cellulose

004

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 005 Ceiling Popcorn Ceiling Beige 75% Carbonate

005
15% Vermiculite

5% Paint

Chrysotile 5 % 

Total Asbestos 5 % 

Page I of 5

Page 430

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Certificate of Analysis

PLM Asbestos Identification

Masters Environmental

44719 Alexandria Vale

Indio, CA 92201

Report Number: 

Project Number: 

Project Name: 

Project Location

20. 

tel - 71899- 8900

free - 888- 733- 0998

fax - 714- 899- 7098

verwx.patriotlab.com

1041 S. Placentia Avenue, Fullerton, CA 92831

574927

2392

1639- 1667 6th St

Coachella CA

Date Collected: 7/ 27/ 2015 Collected By: 

Date Received: 7/ 28/ 2015 Claim Number: 

Date Analyzed: 7/ 29/ 2015 PO Number: 

Date Reported: 7/ 2912015 Number of Samples: 20

Lab/ Client ID/ Layer Location Material Description Color Composition (%} 

574927- 006 Ceiling Popcorn Ceiling Beige 75% Carbonate

006 15% Vermiculite

5% Paint

Chrysotile 5 % 

Total Asbestos 5 % 

574927- 007 Ceiling Popcorn Ceiling Beige 75% Carbonate

007 15% Vermiculite

5% Paint

Chrysotile 5 % 

Total Asbestos 5 % 

574927- 008 Floor 90 Floor Tile Black 100% Non - 

008 Fibrous Material

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 009

009

Total Asbestos

Floor

None Detected

Tile Mastic Black 100% Tar

574927- 010 Ceiling Drywall and Tape Beige 90% Sulfate

010 Compound 7% Cellulose

3% Glass Fibers

Total Asbestos None Detected

Page 2 of 5

Page 431

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Certificate of Analysis

PLM Asbestos ldentillieation

Masters Environmental

44719 Alexandria Vale

Indio, CA 92201

Report Number: 

Project Number: 

Project Name: 

Project Location

20. 

tel - 714499- 8940

free - 888- 743- 4998

fax - 714-899- 1098

www.patriotiah. com

1041 S. Placentia Avenue, Fullerton, CA 92831

574927

2392

1639- 1667 6th St

Coachella CA

Date Collected: 7127/ 2015 Collected By: 

Date Received: 7/ 28/ 2015 Claim Number: 

Date Analyzed: 7/ 29/ 2015 PO Number: 

Date Reported: 7129/ 2015 Number of Samples: 20

Lab/ Client ID/ Layer Location Material Description Color Composition (%) 

574927- 011 Ceiling Drywall and Tape Beige 80% Sulfate

Oil Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Chrysotile < 1 % 

Total Asbestos < 1% 

574927- 012 Ceiling Drywall and Tape Beige 80% Sulfate

012 Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5 % Paint

Chrysotile < 1 % 

Total Asbestos < 1% 

574927- 013 Ceiling Drywall and Tape Beige 80% Sulfate

013
Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Chrysotilc < 1 % 

Total Asbestos < 1% 

574927- 014 Ceiling Drywall and Tape Beige 80% Sulfate

014 Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Chrysotile < 1 % 

Total Asbestos < 1% 

Page 3 of 5

Page 432

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Certificate of Analysts

PL.NI Asbestos Identification

Masters Environmental

44719 Alexandria Vale

Indio, CA 92201

Date Collected: 7/ 27/ 2015

Date Received: 7/ 28/ 2015

Date Analyzed; 7/ 29/ 2015

Date Reported: 7/ 29/ 2015

Report Number: 

Project Number: 

Project Name: 

Project Location

Collected By: 

Claim Number: 

PO Number: 

Number of Samples: 

20. 

tel - 714- 899- 8900

free - 888- 743- 0998

fax - 714- 899- 7098

www.patFiotiab. com

1041 S. Placentia Avenue. Fullerton. CA 92831

574927

2392

1639- 1667 6th St

Coachella CA

20

Lab/ Client ID/ Layer Location Material Description Color Composition (%) 

574927- 015 Ceiling Drywall and Tape Beige 80% Sulfate

015
Compound 10% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

5% Paint

Chrysotile < 1 % 

Total Asbestos < 1% 

574927- 016 Office 1 Drywall and Tape Beige 86% Sulfate

016
Compound 7% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

2% Paint

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 017 Hall Suite 2 Drywall and Tape White 86% Sulfate

017
Compound 7% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

2% Paint

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 018 Hall Suite 3 Drywall and Tape White 86% Sulfate

018
Compound 7% Cellulose

5% Carbonate

2% Paint

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 019 Bathroom 12x12 Floor Tile Beige 100% Non - 

019
Fibrous Material

Total Asbestos None Detected

Page 4of5

Page 433

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



Certificate of Analysis

PLM Asbestos Identifleation

Masters Environmental

44719 Alexandria Vale

Indio, CA 92201

Date Collected: 7/ 27/ 2015

Date Received: 7/ 28/ 2015

Date Analyzed. 7/ 29/ 2015

Date Reported: 7/ 29/ 2015

Report Number: 

Project Number: 

Project Name: 

Project Location: 

Collected By: 

Claim Number: 

PO Number: 

Number of Samples: 

20. 

tel - 714- 899- 8900

free - 888- 713- 8988

fax - 714- 099- 7098

wwvw.patriotiab.corn

1041 S. Placentia Avenue. Fullerton. CA 92831

574927

2392

1639- 1667 6th St

Coachella CA

20

Lab/ Client 1D/ Layer Location Material Description Color Composition (%) 

574927- 020 Bathroom Mastic Yellow 100% Non - 

020 Fibrous Material

Total Asbestos None Detected

574927- 010 Sample Contained Drywall Only

1l iANllC

Melissa Sandoval - Analyst Ian Reyes - Approved By

Bulk sample( s) submitted was ( were) analyzed in accordance with the procedure outlined in the US Federal Register 40 CFR 763, Subpart F, Appendix

A; EPA -600/ R-931116 ( Method for Determination of Asbestos in Building Materials), and EPA -600/ W- 82- 020 ( CJS EPA Interim Method for the
Determination of Asbestos in Bulk Insulation Samples). Samples were analyzed using Calibrated Visual Estimations ( CUES); therefore, results may not be
reliable for samples of low asbestos concentration levels. Samples ofwall systems containing discrete and separable layers are analyzed separately and
reported as composite unless specifically requested by the customer to report analytical results for individual layers_ Thia rgmrt applies only to the items
tested. Results are representative of the samples submitted and may not represent the entire material from which the samples were collected. " None
Detected" means that no asbestos was observed in the sample. "< 1 %" ( less than one percent) means that asbestos was observed in the sample but the

concentration is below the quantifiable level of I %/ This report was issued by a NISTINVLAP ( Lab Code 200358- 0) and CADOHS- FLAP ( Cert. No. 

2540) accredited laboratory and may not be reproduced, except in full without the expressed written consent of Patriot Environmental Laboratory Services, 
Inc_ This report may not be used to claim product certification, approval or endorsement by NIST, NVLAP, ELAP or any govemment agency. 

Page 5 of 5

Page 434

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



a

CHAIN OFCUSTODY
Page of

L- eT

Lab Use Only
Report Number: 

MASTERS ENVIRONMENTAL Pro ect#: 2— 

71944719 ALEXANDRIA VALE

INDIO, CA 92201

Project Dame: 

Location: i (j--3 ( 4 7 • - 4
780- 200 2900 Sample Collection Date: 7--2.7 —1' 5 - 
Contact Phone: Preservative: 

760- 399. 6769 CELL Atirtitlorized By: 

Paint, Air Cassette, Dust Wipe, Waste Water 5nila Miac. Solids EPA 306DB1T420mod, NIOSH 7082mod

760-200- 2901 ( FAX PO#: Ciairn #; 

Special Instructions: 

or individual treats by request - 

jAna ysls Aquas Turnaround Time

2: STLCICAL WET Tide 22 CCR Chi l Article 5 App 2

PCM ( flbermano NIOSH 74" ® 48HR Q
PLM ( Wkastrestos) EPA6001R- 931118 72HR

CARE + 436

Point Count 400 Q We: 4TLCICAL WET requires a mf raw of 52 tus turnwound

Point Count 1000 0 - 7CLP requires a minimum of 22 hrs fumarwnd
Gravimetric Reduction- Odluresreguim 5-7 days tumemund

Lead b Flame AA Paint, Air Cassette, Dust Wipe, Waste Water 5nila Miac. Solids EPA 306DB1T420mod, NIOSH 7082mod
Lead Waste Profile As necessary for disposal Lj Note: Please provlda at least 200- 500 grams ( ai?prox. 112 - 1 lb) 

followed by Flame AA ofsample for necessary analyses. 

or individual treats by request - 

1: TrLC Total Threshold by EPA 3050E mod  
2: STLCICAL WET Tide 22 CCR Chi l Article 5 App 2

3: TCLP EPA 1311

N

20. 

1* 

Page 435

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



4"E: 041231,2019PERMIT NO: 20. 
2

13344
j C, NNCC(JPAN

13

COAC fiELLA C 92236
Applicant' s N. rne: 

nn

Oaf's Name: (" ALACON INC. PARCEL k

OM101"s Address, ENEVIEvE THOMAS
NOT' : 

1639 6THST
ttT N Ed N CO22 je

Phone", (x"00) 26 4rsr` tt" NDN. 
C" : 

ON d INC, ro
tri

60800 AVENIDA LA CUMBRe
MOUNTAIN CENT N N oft' (760) 27& 499,5

2 r

SCOTTMABE State i . 

Prmit N rrr. 0 2" 4

Dese'ription 0,( 
Nom; 

NENON"S AND ADDITIONS

m

N 04l

N
OUTLETS N'4 N1N CW

NIS
OVE GN NN NN ND "' NON -SEARING" WALL$ MING, N To  , 

SN

O. N N ChOck Fees
tw dN 28 . NO $

trong Motion Irtstrum ru fd ru

PLICATIO
The Issuance of1bls permit 4

NyIN ru aN  . with City N" 
a

h ll and shell not pont Dh  001ding i1 from

bor co * 40 reafter roquffing Ova wrr efldn of w said plans and

N' 00n is In

Page 436

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



1639/ 67 6TIl ST, DEMOLISH AND DISCARD ALL INTERIOR, " NOWHEARING" WALLS, FRAMING, 
ELEc' rRICAL OUTLETS AN HVAC, REMOVE OR GRIND DOWN TO SLAB ANCHOR EXULTS FLUSH TO FINISHAS PER ATTACHED APPROVED PLANS, 

Page 437

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



CITY OF COACHELLA
BUILDINC1 PERMIT
COMMUNITY & I) EVII'l,OPM,I,"N'I' SER,Vl(' ES
Project Address. ... . . 

L irecci6n del Pnifye 

Applicant' s h iffme: OALAI( OrJ -"- 
Nombre de t Solic ijante

I - 

Owner' s Narne: 64 
Mombre del Propietario, 
OwnerlsAddress: 

Direccion del Propjejaj°jo

Contractor' s Name: 
Nonibre del Conlrahvta
Contractor' s Address: hopIj C aDirrecion del

q I oj Cr i,;Yn,, 

C'untactPer' son: sarc-,7 
Persona de Coilte1cto

Pr OJoict Name/ Noinbre del Proyeeto: 
PerujitType/ J'jp0 de Permiso: NF) -b
Description of' Workffiescripci6n de, If)s 11 a
CanditionlCondicitpl: 

OF

Wcaw. 

C:) F

or" 

W, W, 

V orr I

OFF' JUVATE
M

W

MECHANICAL

A -d -BROILERS 50OK"i;RT-1

20. 

a

THAI; 

PERM M

USE ZONE 

OCCUPANCY: CONSTR TYPL SQ FT: 

INSPECTION REQULST REQWRE 24 HOUR Nona
760) 398- 3002

WIT; f,ject Valuation: 
Evaluacifin ( lei pj-e
PAW"' E, L# 

LOTM

TRACIV. 

1- 1IT - NPhone Numbe E , -, 

Numbero ck, n ) n; r2lzlJ42, 

Fax: APR 1. 5 ? 1, 9
Mzv: 

BU LWNG DEP', 

PhoncNumber: 

Numbero de ' rerlefopj

24w w& c Fa x. '
O,- 

Fax: 

Bus LiclLicencia: 

State Lfel/ ic,enciakd E 141do: 
C Phc - onto

Tifd fbno dcp (", 
ew s S; 

onlacto: 

6t t- 0 --%, a vv 61 6J4
Ye 4AY0

alta0 fy_ 

OF AIC UNJ' fS

uwdw
OF AIR. H S I OK CFM

YE, P LIANCE VENTS

OF FURNACES UP 10 1000, B, I,tj
TEEUMA-

ICES
OVEAt I OOK IM f

0XIMCMION APPEARINGON APPLICATIONS
hKIT cOMMY " atnafted the nfnr, a,, umpjsjed ' Applictition and Petinit- and do hereby
certify ghee 411 igiiWMAkaul heMM is Ime and conerd, and I funhol ctiff And AgIce if apet whit is okXd, to oninply Path aD City, (, 4rujjy, j, hvad Sjoune IAWS gq) vepluY 'g, buddrn 

W,,,,,, mayin any v, ay mvuc hgailm ,,aid City in coumquence. Of1he yrhated afflik prop. ani. 

dr OF PRI Sa, SAQE OISPOL
far' SE ILC. TAN YS

ej JA 4AIW

Tek s

OF VACUITM BACEF' LOW

ol" 

il OF

TIO iMMarice of this pennit it hasod upon plans and SpecificationN filed with fix City of
Coachella and shidt list pre" eta the huiWing official fiam thereafter m4oiritt'R th, carnejkn Of
cm q in said plans and qw6ficatims, Every pernnh issued by Ow BuMng () ffisdal ujjdcn th, 
PrOviduns ofihis Cod, OaM LxPfiyc 1yY hawation and bMume null ted void„ ifthe taithii. g erp
wcnk audm6zed by such pt,nvt it Wlt un mmenevA within 180 days thirij the date of sKh
perinit" w if the Wilding ( n ", Ork

pup sRch FerMit is SwPended or abandoned dii anyrime 901r, 1he
for A eind of I Hi") dng

BlAchitp, 

Page 438

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



UILDING PLAN CHECK CORREC-7r-ION.S
13AN C P  C tCQLt: 

1639 6"' st, 
Plan Check

6c,"
t Coachella organic

Cityf. C) Coachelli
corMrwnity I)ev(.,Iop. 

servicc, 
251 q slrrttr t

O Ichejja, "
eet, 

236

Date* 04/ 22/ 2019

L Provide a clear scope of work on cover sheet. 
2, Size any conduit to be installed as shown on plans, 
3, Show use of adjacent suites and list total aMOLjnt of square footage to be altered or, 

demolished, 

4, Provide a recycling plan for, waste as required by CGBC 5. 408. 

Plan Checker: 

Page 439

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



V

20. 

city of Coachella
Community Dew lop, 

Services

1515 Sjx,q,i Street

Coachella, CA. 922 6

760) 398- 3002

gUILDING PLAN CHECK CORRICTIONI

1. 639 6t" St. 
Review W 1

Date: 04/ 22/ 2019
Plan Check W. TBD

gplica ant: Coachella Organic

1. Provide a clear scope of work on cover sheet. 

2, Size any conduit to be installed as shown on plans. 
3, Show use of adjacent suites and list total amount of square footage to be altered or

demolished. 

4. Provide a recycling plan for waste as required by CGBC 5, 409. 

Plan Checker: -- ml n hum rt

Page 440

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



City of Coachella
utility, 20-1

1515 6th Strupt
Coat,,tv'lla CA 1715

760- 0:2702
Welcome

0002- 0008 Gwil T, 
0412412019 MUM

INSPECTIONS

BCALACON
INT

L- 2019- 04- 13344
ILI 1ATIONS AND 011100
1619% BIH ST, DEMOLISH

ANI) DISCARD M
pending

Item: 2019- 003344
201; 

payint Id: 00065

to) .11
subtotal 1" I

votal

300, V 1
CHO

Ci,,eck Numb or2,CS 38 ----- 
000

ctlange due

paid W CALACON INC, 

ctMTOMER COPY
ouplIGATE RECEW

ihank you for your wMent
GraMs por BU PHO

ctMTOMER COPY
ouplIGATE RECEW

Page 441

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



BUILDING PF'IRMITNO. 

0171 f if COMA 11114A CA
1515 SIXTH STRI' ll" A" 

COA(,,.,fIr-,,LLA, CA: 92236 ( 610) 398- 3002

Applicant

Mailing Address: 

city Tel:_ 

Mailing Address: 

Gty: ---- T e I

Contractor. A,e- 7(. P. a

Mailing Acldress

Tel(, 70city:, P.)..Pus 14

slate Lic" & classn City Licen M.-. 

lJILEENSED NLR WS
J CL R!_ TIQN

i hereby affirm under penalty of perjury that I am licensed under
provision of ChapU! r 9 ( corrmiencing with Section 7000) of Orvision 3

of the , Business and Professions Code, and my license is in full force

and effect, 

License Class'. License It: 

DaW Contractor: 

OWNER- BU-ILQERQECLAR, kTl( 2N

1, hereby affirm under penalty of perjury that I ; area exempt from the
Contractor' s License Law for, the following reason ( Sec, 703, 11-. 5, 

Business and Professions Code: Any city or county which requires a

permit to construct, alter, improve, demolish or repair any structure, 

prior to its issuance, also requires the applicant for such permit to file
a signed. statement that he or she is licensed pursuant to, the

provisions of the Contractor' s License Law ( Chapter 9 ( commencing

with Section 7000) of Division 3 of the Business arid professions Code) 

or that he or she is exempt there from and the basis for the alleged

exemption. Any violation of Section 7031- 5 by any applicant for, a
pertnit subjects the applicant to a civil penalty of' not more than five, 

liundred dollars ($ 500),): 

L3 i, as owner of, the property, or my employees with wages as

their sole compensation, will do the work, and the structure is

not intended or offered for sale ( Sec. -10414, Business and

Professions Code. The Contractor' s License Law does not al: 

to an owner of: property who builds or improves thercWon, 

aFpa
who does such work himself or herself or through his or her own

employees provided that such improvements are not intended

or offered for sale. if, frowever, the building or imprqvernent is

sold within one year of completion, the owner- build' 20. e

the burden of pvoving that he or she did not build or forL J
the purpose of sale,), 

1, as owner of the property, am excluMvely contracting with

licensed contractor' s to construct the project ( Sec, 7044, 

business and Professions Code: the Contractor' s License Law

does not apply to owner of proper ty who builds oi improves
thereon, and who contracts for such projects with a

contractor( s) licensed pursuant to the Contractor' s License

Law,.). 

J I am exempt under Sec. B & P C for this reason

Date: Owner: 

WORKEWS COMPENSA,rION DECLARATION

I hereby affirro tinder penalty of perjury one of the following
declarations: 

I have and will maintain a certificate of consent to self -insure for

workers' compensation, as provided for by section 3700 of the

Labor Code, for the performance of the work for which this

permit is issued. 

I have and will maintain workers' cornpensation inSUrance, as

MqUired by Section 3700 of the Labor Code, for the
performance of the work for which this permit is issued, My

workers' co s I' on instInce carrro and policy number are 

ACarrier: ------ - - Policy It_ 7. 
This section need not be completed if' the permit is for one

hundred dollars ($ 100) or less). 

La I certify that in the performance of the work for which this
permit is issued, I shall not employ any person in any manner so

as to become subject to the workers' compensation laws of

California, and agree that if I should becorne subject to the

workers' compensation provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor

Code, I shall forthwith comply with those provisions. 

DaW--, 

IM&BAING: Failure to secure workers' compensation coverage is
unlawful, and shall subject an employer to criminal penalties

and civil fines up to one hundred thousand dollars ($ 100, 000), in

addition to the cost of compensation, damages as provide for in

Section 3706 of the labor Code, Interest, and Attorney' s fees, 

LAGENCY

1, hereby affirm tinder penalty of perjury that there is as

construction lending agency for the performance of the work for
which this permit is issued ( Section 3097, Civ. Q. 

Lender' s Name ... . . ........... 

Address:. ........ . 

I I certify that I have read this applicaflon arid state that the
above information is correct. I agree to comply with all city and

county ordinances and state laws relating to building

construction and hereby authorize representatives of this city to

2041rater
upon the above- mentioned property for inspection

urposes, 

DaW Applicant Slgnature: 
Page 442

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 4



EXHIBIT 66A99

Selection Criteria — Retailers and retail microbusinesses: 

The City of Coachella is located at the eastern end of the Coachella Valley and enjoys a rich cultural
heritage known for its entrepreneurial families and engaged youth population. It is the City Council' s
desire to promote potential cannabis businesses that will further the economic development goals of the

community in order to create jobs, provide a stronger tax base, and enhance the public health and
wellness of the community. With the adoption of Ordinance Nos. 1114, 1115, and 1120 setting the
zoning and regulatory framework for new retailers and retail microbusinesses, the City anticipates that
there may be more applications for cannabis business conditional use permits than allowed under the
City regulations. Therefore, the City has enacted, through Resolution, the following process for
prioritizing applications. 

1. Completeness Review

All retailers and retail microbusinesses are required to submit a Conditional Use Permit ( CUP) 

application, with fee, to the City' s Development Services Department. Applications will be
reviewed for " completeness" to ensure that applicants have submitted all the required

information necessary for review of the application. Only applications received by the first week
of May, 2018 (" initial review and prioritization period") and deemed complete will move on for

review under the City' s selection criteria, unless exempted through a Development Agreement. 
After the initial review and prioritization period, additional applications will be reviewed and

processed according to date the application is accepted as complete and will not be subject to the
review and prioritization process. Persons and/ or entities that are currently involved or have been
involved in the past 6 months with an active court proceeding adverse to the City are ineligible to
apply for a CUP. 

11. Selection Criteria

The following selection criteria will be used by the Development Services Department to
evaluate and prioritize CUPs for retailers and retail microbusinesses. Selection criteria are each
worth a maximum of 10 to 30 points, with a grand total of 100 points possible. To obtain the

point, the applicant must demonstrate compliance with each criterion listed in the section below. 

Location and Neighborhood Compatibility ( Up to 30 Points) 
a. Has the landowner provided written authorization for a retailer or retail microbusiness, and

provided the applicant with a lease agreement? 

b. Is the proposed retailer or retail microbusiness property not the subject of any outstanding
code enforcement activity? 

c. Is the location more than the minimum 250 feet distance from existing schools, daycare
centers, and youth centers? 

d. Has the applicant provided a detailed description of how the premises and exterior building
areas will be managed so as to avoid nuisance, loitering, and other negative impacts on
surrounding properties? 

e. Does the applicant identify adequate odor control measures? 
f. Does the applicant demonstrate compliance with parking and landscaping regulations? 

Page 443

Item 27.

gperez
Text Box
Attachment 5



2. Security Plan ( Up to 10 Points) 
a. Is a detailed security plan provided that includes descriptions for effective fire prevention, 

suppression, HVAC and alarm systems? 

b. Does the security plan identify all required elements contained in Chapter 5. 69 and
adequately address security for the particular site and operation? 

3. Qualifications/Experience of Professionals ( Up to 25 Points) 
a. Does the applicant provide a viable business plan in accordance with Chapter 5. 69? 

b. Do the principals demonstrate bona fide business experience? 

c. Does a principal, director, officer, or applicant of the business have a primary residence in
the City of Coachella where he/ she has been residing for the past 36 months? 

d. Does the applicant commit to hiring City of Coachella residents for 50% of all hires? 

e. Does the applicant commit to sponsoring an established City of Coachella community- based
organization and/ or youth program? 

4. Building Fagade and Interior Improvements ( Up to 20 Points) 
a. Does the applicant provide a detailed tenant improvement plan that identifies compliance

with California Building and Fire Codes? 
b. Are the interior improvements attractive and in keeping with. City policies and contemporary

retail industry standards? 
c. Is the applicant committing to exterior fagade improvements that will enhance the

surrounding areas? 

d. Does the applicant provide a detailed architectural plan for building fagade improvements? 

Community Benefits ( Up to 15 Points) 
a. Does the applicant propose to operate a new business in the RC Overlay zone, in addition to

the proposed cannabis retailer or cannabis retail microbusiness, which includes one or more

of the following business types: 
Restaurant

Coffee Shop
Retail Bookstore

Art Studio / Museum

Wine Bar or Micro -Brewery Pub
Boutique Hotel / Bed and Breakfast

b. Does the applicant provide an effective community outreach plan for nearby and adjacent
land uses, and does the applicant describe credible benefits to the overall community, local
economy, and any community or non-profit contributions or affiliations? 

c. Does the applicant provide any additional community benefits described in either their
business plan or other documentation submitted as part of the CUP? 

III. Lottery

Applications for retailer or retail microbusinesses which receive tie scores from the selection

criteria will be entered in to a lottery. 

80237. 00840\ 30443144. 2

Page 444

Item 27.


	Top
	Item 5.	Meeting Minutes of September 8, 2021 (City Council)
	CouncilMinutes-09-08-2021

	Item 8.	Fire Prevention Presentation, "Learn the Sounds of Fire Safety"
	2021 Fire Prevention Week

	Item 9.	Code Enforcement Officer Appreciation Week
	Code Enforcement Officer Appreciation Week

	Item 11.	Voucher Listing — EFT's/Replacement Checks/Permit Refunds/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2021-22 Expenditures as of October 13, 2021, $4,894,265.53.
	211013 Warrant Register

	Item 12.	Ordinance No. 1183 (2nd Reading - Change of Zone 20-07) to change the zoning from R-S (Single Family Residential) and R-M (Multiple Family Residential) to R‐M Urban (20‐38 du/ac), R‐M General (20‐25 du/ac), and Neighborhood Commercial (C‐N) on approximately 56.9 acres of vacant, agricultural land located on the north side of Avenue 52, east and west of Education Way (APN: 763-060-048).  City-Initiated.
	(1) CC Staff Rpt 10-13-21
	(2) Ord No 1183 - 2nd Reading

	Item 13.	Resolution No. 2021-59, Acknowledging Receipt of Fire Department's Annual Compliance Report
	Staff Report Fire SB 1205
	Resolution 2021-59 Coachella-Fire - SB-1205
	Bill Text - SB-1205 Fire protection services_ inspections_ compliance reporting_

	Item 14.	Resolution No. 2021-63 approving the inflation adjustment for the Transportation Unified Mitigation Fee for FY 2021/22.
	(1) CC Staff Report - TUMF
	(2) Attach 1 - Reso 2021-63
	(3) Exhibit A
	(4) Attach 2 - Notice from CVAG

	Item 15.	Approve an Art in Public Places Proposal for a Glazed Tile Mural by Marnie L. Navarro Depicting the Bond Between Parents and their Children in the Amount of $20,000
	Staff Report - Glazed Tile Mural by Marnie L Navarro
	Art in Public Places Application - Marnie L. Navarro
	Biography - Marnie Navarro

	Item 16.	Authorize the Development Services Department to advertise a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for Professional Planning Consultant Services
	(1) CC Staff Report -  RFQ Planning Services 1
	(2) Coachella - Draft RFQ Consultant Planning Services

	Item 17.	Treasurer's Report
	Staff Report - Investment Report June 2021
	Investment Report June 2021

	Item 18.	Investment Report - July 2021
	Staff Report - July 2021 Investment Report
	July 2021 Investment Report

	Item 19.	Authorize City Manager to execute a Lease Agreement with Desert Recreation District for use of office space at City Hall.
	Agenda - Lease w DRD 10 13 21
	Lease Agreement - City and DRD 10 13 21

	Item 20.	andrew simmons
	ENHANCED CROSSWALKS ST-123 Staff Report
	ENHANCED URBAN GREENING CROSS WALKS

	Item 21.	Authorize appropriation from Undesignated General Fund Reserves for the Veterans’ Pancake Breakfast, in the amount of $12,000.
	Agenda - Veterans Pancake Breakfast 10 13 21

	Item 22.	Adopt resolution approving a job title change for Streets Superintendent/Emergency Services Coordinator to Streets Supervisor and approving the salary scale for both the Parks Supervisor and Streets Supervisor at Grade 34.
	Agenda - Reclassification of Street Superintendent to Street Supervisor 10 13 21
	Resolution - Job Title Change Streets Supervisor 101321
	HR - Street Supervisor JD 101321

	Item 23.	Provide staff direction for 2021 Hometown Heroes Honorees.
	Agenda - Hometown Heroes Recommendation 2021

	Item 24.	Approve Option 1 or Option 2 of an Art in Public Places Proposal for a Vietnam War Memorial Art Mural by Autumn Martino (Artist - $13,000) and Pedro Salcido (Artistic Director - $1,000) for a Total Amount of $14,000
	Staff Report - Vietnam Veterans Memorial Mural by Autumn Martino
	Application

	Item 25.	Approve an Art in Public Places Proposal for a Mural of Dolores Huerta by Michael Angelo Hernandez in the Amount of $15,000
	Staff Report - Mural of Dolores Huerta
	Application

	Item 26.	Adopt Resolution No. 2021-60 approving a Negative Declaration (EA 21-02) and Introduce for 1st reading, by title only, Ordinance No. 1187 approving Change of Zone (CZ 21-02) for the Avenue 53 Re-zone Project
	(1) CC Staff Rpt 09-29-21
	(2) ATTACH 1 - Reso No 2021-60
	(3) EXHIBIT A  - 2625 Avenue 53 Rezone IS ND_09-20-2021
	(4) Attach 2 - Ord No 1187 - 1st Reading

	Item 27.	Kismet Coachella Dispensary – A request to consider an appeal of Planning Commission’s decision to deny a 12-month Time Extension for Conditional Use Permit No. 305 to convert an existing vacant commercial tenant space into a 3,050 square foot cannabis dispensary with 750 square feet for check-in and waiting area, 1800 square feet of retail display area and 500 square feet of rear storage, inventory control and packaging to be located in Building 1 located at 1639 and 1645 6th Street; and a 4,500 square foot coffee shop, art display and office/event space to be located in Building 2 located at 1657 and 1669 6th Street.
	(1) CC Staff Report -  CUP 305- Kismet Coachella Dispensary Time Extension
	(2) Attachment 1 - Cheryl Thomas Continuance Request
	Resolution No 2021-61 CUP 305 Denial
	(4) Attach 3 - Appeal Letter - Cheryl Thomas
	(5) Attach 4 - Feb 26 2020 CC Staff Report
	(6) Attach 5 - Retail Round #1 - Reso 2018-07 Round 1 Criteria

	Bottom

